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In the opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the Bonds will be exempt from personal income taxes imposed by
the State of New York or any political subdivision thereof, including the City. Assuming continuing compliance
with the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, as described herein, interest on the Bonds
will not be includable in the gross income of the owners thereof for Federal income tax purposes. See “SEC-
TION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—Tax Exemption” herein for certain provisions of the Code that may affect the tax
treatment of interest on the Bonds for certain Bondholders.

$674,345,000

The City of New York

General Obligation Bonds, Fiscal 1994 Series D
Dated: Date of Delivery Due: As-shown below.

The Bonds will be issued as registered bonds and, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Ca.,
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Bonds. Purchasers will not receive certificates representing their ownership interest in the Bonds purchased. See
“SECTION II: THE BonDs—Bond Certificates”.

Interest on the Bonds will be payable semi-annually, beginning February 15, 1994 and on each August 15 and
February 15 thereafter.t The Bonds can be purchased in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple
thereof. The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity as described in “SECTION II: THE BONDS—
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Interest Interest

August 15 Amount Rate Yield August 15 Amount Rate Yield
1993+ $23,170,000 3 % 3.00% 2004 $34,755,000 5% % 5.60%
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2003 34,755,000 5% 5.50

t Principal and interest due on the Bonds maturing in 1993 are payable on December 1, 1993.
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No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the City or the Underwriters to give
any information or to make any representations in connection with the Bonds or the matters described herein,
other than those contained in this Official Statement, and, if given or made, such other information or represen-
tations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the City or the Underwriters. This Official
Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the
Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or
sale. The information and expressions of opinion contained herein are subject to change without netice, and
neither the delivery of this Official Statement, nor any sale made hereunder, shall, under any circumstances,
create any implication that there has been no change in the matters described herein since the date hereof. This
Official Statement is submitted in connection with the sale of the Bonds referred to herein and may not be
reproduced or used, in whole or in part, for any other purpose. The-Underwriters may offer and-sell Bonds to-
certain dealers and others at prices lower than the offering prices stated on the Cover Page hereof. The offering
prices may be changed from time to time by the Underwriters. No representations are made or implied by the City
as to any offering by the Underwriters or others of any derivative instruments.

The factors affecting the City’s financial condition are complex. This Official Statement should be consid-
ered in its entirety and no one factor considered less important than any other by reason of its location herein.
Where agreements, reports or other documents are referred to herein, reference should be made to such
agreements, reports or other documents for more complete information regarding the rights and obligations of
parties thereto, facts and opinions contained therein and the subject matter thereof.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT
OF
THE CITY OF NEW YORK

This Official Statement provides certain information concerning The City of New York (the “City”) in
connection with the sale of $674,345,000 aggregate principal amount of the City’s General Obligation Bonds,
Fiscal 1994 Series D (the “Bonds”).

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

The Bonds will be general obligations of the City for the payment of which the City will pledge its faith
and credit. All real property subject to taxation by the City will be subject to the levy of ad valorem taxes,
without limitation as to rate or amount, to pay the principal of, applicable redemption premium, if any, and
interest on the Bonds.

The City, with a population of approximately 7.3 million, is an international center of business and
culture. Its non-manufacturing economy is broadly based, with the banking and securities, life insurance,
communications, publishing, fashion design, retailing and construction industries accounting for a significant
portion of the City’s total employment earnings. Additionally, the City is the nation’s leading tourist
destination. Manufacturing activity in the City is conducted primarily in apparel and printing.

The national economic downturn which began in July 1990 adversely affected the local economy, which
had been declining since late 1989. As a result, the City experienced job losses in 1990 and 1991 and real
Gross City Product (GCP) fell in those two years. In order to achieve a balanced budget as required by the
laws of the State of New York (the “State”) for the 1992 fiscal year, the City increased taxes and reduced
services during the 1991 fiscal year to close a then projected gap of $3.3 billion in the 1992 fiscal year which
resulted from, among other things, lower than projected tax revenue of approximately $1.4 billion, reduced
State aid for the City and greater than projected increases in legally mandated expenditures, including public
assistance and Medicaid expenditures. Beginning in 1992. the improvement in the national economy helped
stabilize conditions in the City. Employment losses moderated toward year-end and real GCP increased,
boosted by strong wage gains. The City now projects, and its current four-year financial plan assumes, that
the City’s economy will continue to improve during calendar year 1993 and that a modest employment
recovery will begin by the end of this calendar year.

For each of the 1981 through 1993 fiscal years, the City achieved balanced operating results as reported
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), and the City’s 1994 fiscal year
results are projected to be balanced in accordance with GAAP. The City was required to close substantial
budget gaps in recent years in order to maintain balanced operating results. There can be no assurance that
the City will continue to maintain a balanced budget as required by State law without additional tax or other
revenue increases or reductions in City services, which could adversely affect the City’s economic base.

Pursuant to the laws of the State, the City prepares a four-year annual financial plan, which is reviewed
and revised on a quarterly basis and which includes the City’s capital, revenue and expense projections and
outlines proposed gap-closing programs for years with projected budget gaps. For information regarding the
current financial plan, see “SECTION I: RECENT FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENTS” and “SECTION VII: 1994-1997
FINANCIAL PLAN”. The City is required to submit its financial plans to review bodies, including the New York
State Financial Control Board (“Control Board”). For further information regarding the Control Board and
State laws which provide for oversight and, under certain circumstances, control of the City’s financial and
management practices, see “SECTION III: GOVERNMENT AND FINANCIAL CONTROLS—City Financial Man-
agement, Budgeting and Controls—Financial Emergencv Act”.

The City depends on the State for State aid both to enable the City to balance its budget and to meet its
cash requirements. As a result of the national and regional economic recession, the State’s tax revenues for
its 1991 and 1992 fiscal years were substantially lower than projected. The State completed its 1993 fiscal year
with a cash-basis positive balance of $671 million in the State’s General Fund (the major operating fund of
the State). The State’s 1994 fiscal year budget, as enacted, projects a balanced General Fund. There can be
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no assurance that there will not be reductions in State aid to the City from amounts previously projected or
that State budgets in future fiscal years will be adopted by the April 1 statutory deadline and that such
reductions or delays will not have adverse effects on the City’s cash flow or result in additional City
expenditures. See “SECTION I: RECENT FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENTS—The State”.

The Mayor is responsible for preparing the City’s four-year financial plan, including the City’s current
financial plan for the 1994 through 1997 fiscal years (the “1994-1997 Financial Plan” or “Financial Plan™);
The City’s projections set forth in the Financial Plan are based on various assumptions and contingencies
which are uncertain and which may not materialize. Changes in major assumptions could significantly affect
the City’s ability to balance its budget as required by State law and to meet its annual cash flow and financing
requirements. Such assumptions and contingencies are described throughout this Official Statement and
include the timing of any regional and local economic recovery, the impact on real estate tax revenues of the
current downturn in the real estate market, wage increases for City employees consistent with those assumed
in the Financial Plan, employment growth, provision of State and Federal aid and mandate relief, and the
impact on the New York City region of the tax increases contained in President Clinton’s economic plan. See
“SECTION VII: 1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN”.

Implementation of the Financial Plan is also dependent upon the City’s ability to market its securities
successfully in the public credit markets. The City’s financing program for fiscal years 1994 through 1997
contemplates the issuance of $11.7 billion of general obligation bonds primarily to reconstruct and rehabili-
tate the City’s infrastructure and physical assets and to make capital investments. In addition, the City issues
revenue and tax anticipation notes to finance its scasonal working capital requirements. The success of
projected public sales of City bonds and notes will be subject to prevailing market conditions, and no
assurance can be given that such sales will be completed. If the City were unable to sell its general obligation
bonds and notes, it would be prevented from meeting its planned capital and operating expenditures.

The City Comptroller and other agencies and public officials have issued reports and made public
statements which, among other things, state that projected revenues may be less and future expenditures
may be greater than those forecast in the Financial Plan. In addition, the Control Board staff and others have
questioned whether the City has the capacity to generate sufficient revenues in the future to provide the level
of services included in the Financial Plan. It is reasonable to expect that such reports and statements will
continue to be issued and to engender public comment. See “SECTION VII: 1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN—
Certain Reports”. For information concerning the City’s credit rating, see “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMA-
TION—Ratings”.

The factors affecting the City’s financial condition and the Bonds described throughout this Official
Statement are complex and are not intended to be summuarized-in this Introductory Statement. This Official
Statement should be read in its entirety.



SECTION I: RECENT FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENTS

Fiscal Year 1993

The City achieved balanced operating results as reported in accordance with GAAP for the 1993 fiscal
year. For further information, see “SECTION VI: FINANCIAL OPERATIONS”.

1994-1997 Financial Plan

On November 22, 1993, the City submitted to the Control Board the Financial Plan for the 1994 through
1997 fiscal years, which is a modification to a financial plan submitted to the Control Board on August 30,
1993 (the “August Financial Plan”) and which relates to the City, the Board of Education (“BOE”) and the
City University of New York (“CUNY”). The 1994-1997 Financial Plan projects revenues and expenditures
for the 1994 fiscal year balanced in accordance with GAAP. The 1994-1997 Financial Plan sets forth actions,
which were outlined in the City’s August Financial Plan, to close a previously projected gap of approximately
$2.0 billion in the 1994 fiscal year. The gap-closing actions for the-1994 fiscal year included agency-actions-
aggregating $666 million, including productivity savings and savings from restructuring the delivery of City
services; service reductions aggregating $274 million; the sale of delinquent real property tax receivables for
$215 million; discretionary transfers from the 1993 fiscal year of $110 million; reduced debt service costs
aggregating $187 million, resulting from refinancings and other actions; $150 million in proposed increased
Federal assistance; a continuation of the personal income tax surcharge, resulting in revenues of $143 mil-
lion; $80 million in proposed increased State aid, which is subject to approval by the Governor; and revenue
actions aggregating $173 million. For information concerning changes since the August Financial Plan,
which. are reflected in the Financial Plan, see “SECTION VI: FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—Forecast of 1994
Results”.

The Financial Plan also sets forth projections for the 1995 through 1997 fiscal years and outlines a
proposed gap-closing program to close projected budget gaps of $1.7 billion, $2.5 billion and $2.7 billion for
the 1995 through 1997 fiscal years, respectively. The projections include $150 million of increased Federal
assistance in cach of the 1995 through 1997 fiscal years and the continuation of the personal income tax
surcharge, resulting in revenues of $420 million, $446 million and $471 million in the 1995, 1996 and 1997
fiscal years, respectively. The proposed gap-closing actions include City actions aggregating $640 million,
$814 million and $870 million in the 1995 through 1997 fiscal years, respectively; $100 million and $200 mil-
lion in proposed additional Federal assistance in the 1996 and 1997 fiscal years, respectively; savings from
various proposed mandate relief measures and the proposed reallocation of State education aid among
various localities, aggregating $175 million, $325 million and $475 million in the 1995 through 1997 fiscal
years, respectively; $131 million, $291 million and $291 million of increased State assistance in the 1995, 1996
and 1997 fiscal years, respectively, which could include savings from the proposed State assumption of
certain Medicaid costs or various proposed mandate rclicf measures and other unspecified Federal, State or
City actions of $784 million, $983 million and $863 million in the 1995 through 1997 fiscal years, respectively.

Various actions proposed in the Financial Plan, including the proposed continuation of the personal
income tax surcharge beyond December 31, 1995 and the proposed increase in State aid, are subject to
approval by the Governor and the State Legislature, and the proposed increase in Federal aid is subject to
approval by Congress and the President. The State Legislature has in previous legislative sessions failed to
approve proposals for the State assumption of certain Medicaid costs, mandate relief and reallocation of
State education aid, thereby increasing the uncertainty as to the receipt of the State assistance included in
the Financial Plan. If these actions cannot be implemented, the City will be required to take other actions to
decrease expenditures or increase revenues to maintain a balanced financial plan. The Financial Plan has
been the subject of extensive public comment and criticism particularly regarding the sale of delinquent
property tax receivables, the amount of State and Federal aid included in the Financial Plan and the
inclusion of non-recurring actions. See “SECTION VII: 1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN—Certain Reports”.

In May 1993, the Mayor appointed a panel of three experts to study the discrepancy between the City’s
projected expenditures and revenues in the 1995 through 1997 fiscal years and to make recommendations for
achieving structural balance. The panel is expected to relcase its recommendations on or about December 1,
1993.



The present Mayor and City Comptroller are leaving their respective offices on December 31, 1993.
Early next year, the Mayor-elect is expected to prepare a preliminary Budget for the City’s 1995 fiscal year
and a modification to the Financial Plan for the City’s 1994 through 1997 fiscal years. The modification to the
Financial Plan will reflect changes proposed by the Mayor-elect, and will be required to project balanced
operating results for the City in the 1994 fiscal year and to set forth measures to be taken to achieve balanced
operating results in the 1995 fiscal year, based on then current financial and other data.

On August 4, 1993, the City Comptroller issued a report on the financial plan submitted to the Control
Board on August 6, 1993 that identified risks of $340 miltion, $1.5 billion, $2.0 billion and $2.2 billion in fiscal
years 1994 through 1997, respectively. On October 21, 1993, the City Comptroller issued an update to her
August 4, 1993 report which found that recent City actions had reduced the potential fiscal year 1994 budget
gap by $60 million, to $280 million, from the projection contained in her August report. See “SEC-
TION VII: 1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN—Certain Reports”.

Collective Bargaining Agreements

On January 11, 1993, the City announced a settlement with a coalition of municipal unions, including
Local 237 of the International Brotherhood of Teamsters (“Local 2377), District Council 37 of the American
Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees (“District Council 37””) and other unions covering
approximately 44% of the City’s workforce. The settlement, which has been ratified by the unions, includes a
total net expenditure increase of 8.25% over a 39-month period, ending March 31, 1995 for most of these
employees. On April 9, 1993 the City announced an agreement with the Uniformed Fire Officers Associa-
tion (the “UFOA”) which is consistent with the coalition agreement and which has been ratified. On
August 30, 1993, the BOE and the City announced an agreement with the United Federation of Teachers
(“UFT”). The agreement, which has been ratified by the UFT members, is generally consistent with-the
coalition agreement. However, while the coalition agreement covers a period of 39 months, the UFT
agreement is for 48%2 months. The Financial Plan reflects the costs for all City-funded employees associated
with these settlements and provides for similar increases for all other City-funded employees. Additional
expenditures aggregating $42 million for fiscal year 1995 and $79 million for each year thereafter have been
added to the Financial Plan to provide funding for the additional 9%> months provided for under the UFT
agreement.

The Financial Plan provides no additional wage increases for City employees after their contracts expire
in the 1995 and 1996 fiscal years. Each 1% wage increase for all employees commencing in the 1995 and 1996
fiscal years would cost the City an additional $30 million for the 1995 fiscal year, $135 million for the 1996
fiscal year and $150 million each year thereafter above the amounts provided for in the Financial Plan.

In the event of a collective bargaining impasse, the terms of wage settlements could be determined
through the impasse procedure in the New York City Collective Bargaining Law, which can impose a binding
scttlement. See “SECTION VII: 1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN—Assumptions—Expenditure Assumptions—
1. Personal Service Costs”.

The State

As a result of the national and regional economic recession, the State’s tax receipts for its 1991 and 1992
fiscal years were substantially lower than projected. In addition, the Governor’s Executive Budget for the
State’s 1993 fiscal year (commencing April 1, 1992) identified a potential budgetary imbalance for the State’s
1993 fiscal year of $4.8 billion (after providing for repayment of $531 million of short-term deficit notes, but
without giving effect to any remedial actions reflected in the State’s budget). To correct such potential
imbalance, the State took various actions for its 1992 and 1993 fiscal years, which included reductions in
State aid to localities from amounts previously projected. The State completed its 1993 fiscal year with a
positive margin of $671 million in the General Fund which was deposited into a tax refund reserve account.

The 1993-94 State Financial Plan, which is based upon the enacted State budget, projects a balanced
General Fund. The second quarterly update to the 1993-94 State Financial Plan was released on October 29,
1993. The Division of the Budget. has cautioned, however, that its projections are subject to the risk that
actual economic growth may be weaker than- projected. For further information concerning the State,
including the State’s credit ratings, see “SECTION VII: 1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN—Assumptions”.



SECTION II: THE BONDS

General

The Bonds will be general obligations of the City issued pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the
State and the New York City Charter (the “City Charter”) and in accordance with a certificate of the Deputy
Comptroller for Finance. The Bonds will mature and bear interest as described on the cover of this Official
Statement and will contain a pledge of the City’s faith and credit for the payment of the principal of,
redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds. All real property subject to taxation by the City will
be subject to the levy of ad valorem taxes, without limitation as to rate or amount, to pay the principal of,
redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds.

The terms of the Bonds provide for their defeasance prior to maturity by the deposit in trust with a bank
or trust company of sufficient cash or cash equivalents to pay when due all principal of, applicable redemp-
tion premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds to be defeased.

Payment Mechanism

Pursuant to the New York State Financial Emergency Act for the City of New York (the “Financial
Emergency Act” or the “Act”), a general debt service fund (the “General Debt Service Fund” or the “Fund”)
has been established for City bonds and certain City notes. Pursuant to the Act, payments of the City real
estate tax must be deposited upon receipt in the Fund, and retained under a statutory formula, for the
payment of debt service (with exceptions for debt service, such as principal of seasonal borrowings, that is set
aside under other procedures). While the statutory formula has recently resulted in retention of sufficient
real estate taxes to comply with the City Covenants (as defined in “SECTION II: THE BONDs—Certain
Covenants and Agreements”), the statutory formula may not necessarily result in retention of sufficient real
estate taxes to comply with the City Covenants, in part because most real estate taxes are now due on
different dates from those in effect when the formula was adopted. The City will comply with the City
Covenants either by providing for retention of real estate taxes in excess of the statutory requirements-or by
making payments into the Fund from other cash resources. The principal of and interest on the Bonds will be
paid from the Fund until the Act expires on July 1, 2008. Subsequently, principal of and interest on the Bonds
will be paid from a separate fund or funds maintained in accordance with the City Covenants. Since its
inception in 1978, the Fund has been fully funded at the beginning of each payment period.

If the Control Board determines that retentions in the Fund are likely to be insufficient to provide for
the debt service payable therefrom, it must require that additional real estate tax revenues be retained or
other cash resources of the City be paid into the Fund. In addition, the Control Board is required to take
such action as it determines to be necessary so that the money in the Fund is adequate to meet debt service
requirements.

The rights of the owners of Bonds to receive interest, principal and redemption premium, if any, from
the City could be adversely affected by a restructuring of the City’s debt under Chapter 9 of the Federal
Bankruptcy Code. No assurance can be given that any priority of holders of City securities (including the
Bonds) to payment from money retained in the Fund or from other cash resources would be recognized if a
petition were filed by or on behalf of the City under the Federal Bankruptcy Code or pursuant to other
subsequently enacted laws relating to creditors’ rights; such money might, under such circumstances, be
available for the payment of all City creditors generally. Judicial enforcement of the City’s obligation to
make payments into the Fund, of the obligation to retain certain money in the Fund, of the rights of holders
of bonds and notes of the City to money in the Fund, of the obligations of the City under the City Covenants
and of the State under the State Pledge and Agreement and the State Covenant (in each case, as defined in
«§ECTION 11: THE BONDS—Certain Covenants and Agreements”) may be within the discretion of a court.
For further information concerning certain rights of owners of Bonds against the City, see “SECTION VIII:
INDEBTEDNESS—City Indebtedness”.

Enforceability of City Obligations

As required by the State Constitution and applicable law, the City pledges its faith and credit for the
payment of the principal of and interest on all City indebtedness. Holders of City debt obligations have a
contractual right to full payment of principal and interest at maturity. If the City fails to pay principal or



interest, the holder has the right to sue and is entitled to the full amount due, including interest to maturity at
the stated rate and at the rate authorized by law thereafter until payment. Under the General Municipal
Law, if the City fails to pay any money judgment, it is the duty of the City to assess, levy and cause to be
collected amounts sufficient to pay the judgment. Decisions indicate that judicial enforcement of statutes
such as this provision in the General Municipal Law is within the discretion of a court. Other judicial
decisions also indicate that a money judgment against a municipality may not be enforceable against
municipal property devoted to public use.

Certain Covenants and Agreements

The City will covenant that: (i) a separate fund or funds for the purpose of paying principal of and
interest on bonds and interest on notes of the City (including required payments into, but not from, City
sinking funds) shall be maintained by an officer or agency of the State-or by a bank or trust company; and
(ii) not later than the last day of each month, there shall be on deposit in a separate fund or funds an amount
sufficient to pay principal of and interest on bonds and interest on notes of the City due and payable in the
next succeeding month. The City currently uses the debt service payment mechanism described above to
perform these covenants. The City will further covenant to comply with the financial reporting requirements
of the Act, as in effect from time to time.

The State pledges and agrees in the Financial Emergency Act that the State will not take any action that
will impair the power of the City to comply with the covenants described in the preceding paragraph (the
“City Covenants”) or any right or remedy of any owner of the Bonds to enforce the City Covenants (the
“State Pledge and Agreement”). The City will include in the Bonds the covenant of the State (the “State
Covenant”) to the effect, among other things, that the State will not substantially impair the authority of the
Control Board in specified respects to be the independent monitor of the fiscal affairs of the City. In the
opinion of Bond Counsel, the enforceability of the City Covenants, the State Pledge and Agreement and the
State Covenant may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws
affecting creditors’ rights heretofore or hereafter enacted and may also be subject to the exercise of the
State’s police powers and of judicial discretion in appropriate cases.

Optional Redemption
The Bonds will be subject to redemption at the option of the City on or after August 15, 2003, in whole
or in part, by lot within each maturity, on any date, at the following redemption prices, plus accrued interest
to the date of redemption:
Redemption Price

Redemption Dates as Percentage of Par
August 15, 2003 through August 14,2004 ........ ... .. ccciiiiiiiinn... 101%2%
August 15, 2004 through August 14,2005 ........ ... ...ccciiiiiiiiinn... 100%
August 15, 2005 and thereafter ...l co i 100

The City may select amounts and maturities of Bonds for redemption in its sole discretion.
On and after any redemption date, interest will cease to accrue on the Bonds called for redemption.

Use of Proceeds

The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used for refunding purposes including certain expenses
of the City incurred in connection with the issuance and sale of the Bonds. The proceeds from the sale of the
Bonds are expected to be used to refund the bonds identified in Appendix C hereto by providing for the
payment of the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on such bonds to the extent and to the
payment dates shown. The proposed refunding is subject to the delivery of the Bonds.

Bond Certificates

The Bonds will be issued as registered bonds. The Bonds maturing in 1993 will be issued in denomina-
tions of $5,000 or an integral multiple thereof and principal of and interest on such Bonds will be payable in
lawful money of the United States of America at the office of the Fiscal Agent. The Bonds maturing in 1994
and thereafter will be payable as described in “Book-Entry Only System” below. As used in “Book-Entry Only
System”, “Bonds” means all Bonds maturing in 1994 and thereafter.



Book-Entry Only System
The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, will act as securities depository for the
Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully-registered bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s
partnership nominee). One fully-registered Bond certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Bonds,
each in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will be-deposited with DTC.

DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a “banking
organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a
“clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing
agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC
holds securities that its direct participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the
settlement among Participants of securities transactions, such as transfers and pledges, in deposited securi-
ties through electronic computerized book-entry changes in Participants’ accounts, thereby eliminating the
need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include securities brokers and
dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is owned by a
number of its Direct Participants and by the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock Exchange,
Inc., and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Access to the DTC system is also available to
others such as securities brokers and dealers, banks, and trust companies that clear through or maintain a
custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants™). The
Rules applicable to DTC and its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will
receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each
Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records.
Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase, but Beneficial Owners
are expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic
statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner
entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries
made on the books of Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive
certificates representing their ownership interests in Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry
system for the Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Participants with DTC are registered in the
name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in
the name of Cede & Co. effect no change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual
Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose
accounts such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Participants will
remain responsible for keeping-account of their holdings-on-behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants
to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be
governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in
effect from time to time.

Redemption notices shall be sent to Cede & Co: If less than all of the Bonds within-a maturity are being-
redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such
maturity to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. will consent or vote with respect to Bonds. Under its usual procedures,
DTC mails an omnibus proxy (the “Omnibus Proxy”) to the City as soon as possible after the record date.
The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose
accounts the Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Principal, redemption premium, if any, and interest payments on the Bonds will be made to DTC.
DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts on the payment date in accordance with their
respective holdings shown on DTC’s records unless DTC has reason to believe that it will not receive
payment on the payment date. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing



instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in
bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC,
the Fiscal Agent, or the City, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from
time to time. Payment of principal, redemption premium, if any, and interest to DTC is the responsibility of
the City or the Fiscal Agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants shall be the responsibility
of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners shall be the responsibility of Direct
and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depository with respect to the Bonds at any
time by giving reasonable notice to the City or the Fiscal Agent. Under such circumstances, in the event that
a successor securities depository is not obtained, Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered.

The City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or a
successor securities depository). In that event, Bond certificates will be printed and delivered.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained from
sources that the City believes to be reliable, but the City takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

Payments and Transfers
No assurance can be given by the City that DTC will make prompt transfer of payments to the
Participants or that Participants will make prompt transfer of payments to Beneficial Owners. The City is not
responsible or liable for payment by DTC or Participants or for sending transaction statements or for
maintaining, supervising or reviewing records maintained by DTC or Participants.

For every transfer and exchange of the Bonds, the Beneficial Owners may be charged a sum sufficient to
cover any tax, fee or other charge that may be imposed in relation thereto.

Discontinuance of the Book-Entry Only System

In the event that the book-entry only system is discontinued, the City will authenticate and make
available for delivery Bonds in the form of registered certificates. In addition, the following provisions would
apply: principal of the Bonds and redemption premium, if any, will be payable in lawful money of the United
States of America at the office of the Fiscal Agent, The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., if by hand, One Chase
Manhattan Plaza—Level 1B, New York, New York 10081, Attn: Municipal Bond Redemption Window; if by
mail, 4 Chase Metrotech Center, Brooklyn, New York 11245, Attn: Box 2020, or any successor fiscal agent
designated by the City and interest on the Bonds will be payable by wire transfer or by check mailed to the
respective addresses of the registered owners thereof as shown on the registration books of the City as of the
close of business on the last business day of the calendar month immediately preceding the applicable
interest payment date.



SECTION III: GOVERNMENT AND FINANCIAL CONTROLS

Structure of City Government

The City of New York is divided into five counties, which correspond to its five boroughs. The City,
however, is the only unit of local government within its territorial jurisdiction with authority to levy and
collect taxes, and is the unit of local government primarily responsible for service delivery. Responsibility for
governing the City is currently vested. by the. City Charter. in the Mayor, the City Comptroller, the City.
Council, the President of the Council and the Borough Presidents.

—T7The Mayor. David N. Dinkins, the Mayor of the City, took office on January 1, 1990 and will leave
office when his term expires on December 31, 1993. Rudolph W. Giuliani will become Mayor on
January 1, 1994. The Mayor is elected in a general election for a four-year term and is the chief
exccutive officer of the City. The Mayor has the power to appoint the commissioners of the City’s
various departments. The Mayor is responsible for preparing and administering the City’s annual
Expense and Capital Budgets (as defined below) and financial plan. The Mayor has the power to veto
local laws enacted by the City Council, but such a veto may be overridden by a two-thirds vote of the-
Council. The Mayor has powers and responsibilities relating to land use and City contracts and all
residual powers of the City government not otherwise delegated by law to some other public official
or body. The Mayor is also a member of the Control Board.

—The City Comptroller. Elizabeth Holtzman, the Comptroller of the City, took office on January 1,
1990 and will leave office when her term expires on December 31, 1993. Alan G. Hevesi will become
Comptroller on January 1, 1994. The City Comptroller is elected in a general election for a four-year
term and is the chief fiscal officer of the City. The City Comptroller has extensive investigative and
audit powers and responsibilities which include keeping the financial books and records of the City.
The City Comptroller’s audit responsibilities include a program of performance audits of City
agencies in connection with the City’s management, planning and control of operations. In addition,
the City Comptroller is required to evaluate the Mayor’s budget, including the assumptions and
methodology used in the budget. The City Comptroller is also a member of the Control Board and is
a trustee, the custodian and the delegated investment manager of the City’s five pension systems.

—The City Council. The City Council is the legislative body of the City and consists of the President of
the Council and 51 members elected for four-year terms who represent various geographic districts of
the City. Under the Charter, the City Councii must annually adopt a resolution fixing the amount of
the real estate tax and approve the City’s annual Expense Budget and Capital Budget (as defined
below). The City Council does not, however, have the power to enact local laws imposing other taxes,
unless such taxes have been authorized by State legislation. The City Council has powers and
responsibilities relating to franchises and land use and as provided by State law.

—The President of the Council. Andrew J. Stein, the President of the Council, took office on January 1,
1986, and was re-elected to a second term which commenced on January 1, 1990 and will leave office
when his term expires on December 31, 1993. The title of the office of the President of the City
Council will be changed to Public Advocate, effective January 1, 1994, pursuant to Local Law No. 19
for the year 1993. The powers and duties of the office will remain the same. Mark Green will become
Public Advocate on January 1, 1994. The President of the Council is elected in a general election for a
four-year term. The President of the Council may preside at meetings of the City Council without
voting power, except in the case of a tie vote. The President of the Council is first in the line of
succession to the Mayor in the event of the disability of the Mayor or a vacancy in the office. The
President of the Council appoints a member of the City Planning Commission and has various
responsibilities relating to, among other things, monitoring the activities of City agencies, the investi-
gation and resolution of certain complaints made by members of the public concerning City agencies
and ensuring appropriate public access to government information and meetings:

—The Borough Presidents. Each of the City’s five boroughs elects a Borough President who serves for a
four-year term concurrent with other City elected officials. The Borough Presidents consult with the
Mayor in the preparation of the City’s annual Expcnse Budget and Capital Budget. Five percent of



discretionary increases proposed by the Mayor in-the Expense Budget and, with certain exceptions,
five percent of the appropriations supported by funds over which the City has substantial discretion
proposed by the Mayor in the Capital Budget, must be based on appropriations proposed by the
Borough Presidents. Each Borough President also appoints one member to BOE and has various
responsibilities relating to, among other things, reviewing and making recommendations regarding
applications for the use, development or improvement of land located within the borough, monitor-
ing and making recommendations regarding the performance of contracts providing for the delivery
of scrvices in the borough, and overseeing the coordination of a borough-wide public service com-
plaint program.

On November 6, 1990, the voters of the borough of Staten Island voted to establish a charter commis-
sion for the purpose of proposing a charter under which Staten Island would secede from The City of New
York to become a separate City of Staten Island. A referendum approving the charter proposed by such
commission was approved by the voters of the borough of Staten Island on November 2; 1993: The charter
commission will now submit to the State Legislature proposed legislation enabling Staten Island to separatc
from the City. The Charter would take effect upon approval of such enabling legislation. Any such legislation
may be subject to l.gal challenge and would require approval by the United States Department of Justice
under the Federal Voting Righits Act. It cannot be determined at this time what the content of such proposed-
legislation will be, whether it will be enacted into law by the State Legislature, and if so, what legal challenges:
might be commenced contesting the validity of such legislation.

On November 2, 1993, the voters of the City approved a referendum amending the City Charter to
provide that no person shall be eligible to be elected to or serve in the office of Mayor, Public Advocate,
Comptroller, Borough President or Council member if that person had previously held such office for two or
more full consecutive terms, unless one full term or more has elapsed since that person last held such office.
This Charter amendment will apply only to terms of officc commencing after January 1, 1994, and is subject
to approval by the United States Department of Justice under the Federal Voting Rights Act.

City Financial Management, Budgeting and Controls

The Mayor is responsible under the City Charter for preparing the City’s annual expense and capital
budgets (as adopted, the “Expense Budget” and the “Capital Budget”, respectively, and collectively, the
“Budgets”) and for submitting the Budgets to the City Council for its review and adoption. The Expense
Budget covers the City’s annual operating expenditures for municipal services, while the Capital Budget
covers expenditures for capital projects, as defined in the City Charter. Operations under the Expensc
Budget must reflect the aggregate expenditure limitations contained in financial plans.

The City Council is responsible for adopting the Expense Budget and the Capital Budget. Pursuant to
the City Charter, the City Council may increase, decrease, add or omit specific units of appropriation.in the
Budgets submitted by the Mayor and add, omit or change any terms or conditions related to such appropria-
tions. The City Council is also responsible, pursuant to the City Charter, for approving modifications to the
Expense Budget and adopting amendments to the Capital Budget beyond certain latitudes allowed to the
Mayor under the City Charter. The Mayor has the power to veto any increase or addition to the Budgets or
any change in any term or condition of the Budgets approved by the City Council, which veto is subject to an
override by a two-thirds vote of the City Council. In addition, the Mayor has the power to determine the non-
property tax revenue forecast on which the City Counci! must rely in adopting a balanced City budget.

The City, through the Office of Management and Budget (“OMB”) and the Office of the Comptroller,
has developed and implemented sophisticated accounting, reporting, forecasting and internal control
systems.

OMB

OMB, with a staff of approximately 300 professionals, is the Mayor’s primary advisory group on fiscal
issues and is also responsible for the preparation, monitoring and control of the City’s Budgets and four-year
financial plans. In addition, the City prepares a Ten-Year Capital Strategy.

State law requires the City to maintain its Expense Budget balanced when reported in accordance with
GAAP. In addition to the City’s annual Expense and Capital Budgets, the City prepares a four-year financial
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plan which encompasses the City’s revenue, expenditure, cash flow and capital projections. All Covered
Organizations, as hereinafter defined, are also required to maintain budgets that are balanced when.
reported in accordance with GAAP. From time to time certain Covered Organizations have had budgets
providing for balanced operations on a cash basis but not balanced under GAAP.

To assist in achieving the goals of the financial plan and budget, the City reviews its financial plan
periodically and, if necessary, prepares modifications to incorporate actual results and revisions to projec-
tions and-assumptions to-reflect current information. The City’s revenue projections are continually re-
viewed and periodically updated with the benefit of discussions with a panel of private economists analyzing
the effects of changes in economic indicators on City revenues and information from various economic
forecasting services. The City conforms aggregate expenditures to the limitations contained in the financial
plan.

The Mayor’s Executive Budget for each of the 1986 through 1993 fiscal years received the Government
Finance Officers Association (the “GFOA”) Award for Distinguished Budget Presentation.

Office of the Comptroller

The City Comptroller is the City’s chief fiscal officer and-is responsible under the City Charter for
reviewing and commenting on the City’s Budgets and financial plans, including the assumptions and
methodologies used in their preparation. The City Comptroller, as an independently elected public official,
is required to report annually to the City Council on the state of the City’s economy and finances and
periodically to the Mayor and the City Council on the financial condition of the City and to make recommen-
dations, comments and criticisms on’ the- operations; fiscal policies,and,ﬁnancial,transactions of the City.
Such reports, among other things, have differed with certain of the economic, revenue and expenditure
assumptions and projections in the City’s financial plans and Budgets. See “SECTION VII: 1994-1997
FINANCIAL PLAN—Certain Reports™.

The Office of the Comptroller, with a professional staff of approximately 620, establishes the City’s
accounting and financial reporting practices and internal control procedures. The City Comptroller is also
responsible for the preparation of the City’s annual financial statements, which, since 1978, have been
required to be reported in accordance with GAAP.

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the Comptroller for the 1992 fiscal year, which
includes, among other things, the City’s financial statements for the 1992 fiscal year, has received the GFOA-
award of the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting, the thirteenth consecutive
year the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the Comptroller has won such award.

All contracts for goods and services requiring the expenditure of City moneys must be registered with
the City Comptroller. No contract can be registered unless funds for its payment have been appropriated by
the City Council or otherwise authorized. The City Comptroller also prepares vouchers for payments for
such goods and services and cannot prepare a voucher unless funds are available in the Budgets for its
payment.

The City Comptroller is also required by the City Charter to audit all City agencies and has the power to
audit all City contracts. The Office of the Comptroller conducts both financial and management audits and
has the power to investigate corruption in connection with city contracts or contractors.

The Mayor and City Comptroller are responsible for the issuance of City indebtedness. The City
Comptroller oversees the payment of such indebtedness and is responsible for the custody of certain sinking
funds.

Financial Reporting and Control Systems
Since 1978, the City’s financial statements have becn required to be audited by independent certified
public accountants and to be presented in accordance with GAAP. The City has completed thirteen
consecutive fiscal years with a General Fund surplus when reported in accordance with GAAP.

Both OMB and the Office of the Comptroller utilize financial monitoring, reporting and control
systems, including the Integrated Financial Management System and a comprehensive Capital Projects



Information System, which provide comprehensive current and historical information regarding the City’s
financial condition. This information, which is independently evaluated by each office, provides a basis for
City action required to maintain a balanced budget and continued financial stability.

The City’s operating results and forecasts are analyzed, reviewed and reported on by each of OMB and
the Office of the Comptroller as part of the City’s overall system of internal control. Internal control systems
are reviewed regularly, and the City Comptroller requires an annual report on internal control and accounta-
bility from each agency. Comprehensive service level and productivity targets are formulated and monitored
for each agency by the Mayor’s Office of Operations and reported publicly in a semiannual management
report.

The City has developed and utilizes a cash forecasting system which forecasts its daily cash balances.
This enables the City to predict more accurately its short-term borrowing needs and maximize its return on
the investment of available cash balances. Monthly statements of operating revenues and expenditures,
capital revenues and expenditures and cash flow are reported after each month’s end, and major variances
from the financial plan are identified and explained.

Financial Emergency Act

The Financial Emergency Act requires that the City submit to the Control Board, at least 50 days prior
to the beginning of each fiscal year (or on such other date as the Control Board may approve), a financial
plan for the City and certain State governmental agencies, public authorities or public benefit corporations
(“PBCs”) which receive or may receive monies from the City directly, indirectly or contingently (the
“Covered Organizations”) covering the four-year period beginning with such fiscal year. BOE, the New York
City Transit Authority and the Manhattan and Bronx Surface Transit Operating Authority (collectively, the
“Transit Authority” or the “TA”), the New York City Health and Hospitals Corporation (“HHC”) and the
New York City Housing Authority (the “Housing Authority” or “HA”) are examples of Covered Organiza-
tions. The Act requires that the City’s four-year financial plans conform to a number of standards. Unless
otherwise permitted by the Control Board under certain conditions, the City must prepare and balance its
budget covering all expenditures other than capital items so that the results of such budget will not show a
deficit when reported in accordance with GAAP. Provision must be made, among other things, for the
payment in full of the debt service on all City securitics. The budget and operations of the City and the
Covered Organizations must be in conformance with the financial plan then in effect.

From 1975 to June 30, 1986, the City was subject to a Control Period, as defined in the Financial
Emergency Act, which was terminated upon the satisfaction of the statutory conditions for termination,
including the termination of all Federal guarantees of obligations of the City, a determination by the Control
Board that the City had maintained a balanced budget in accordance with GAAP for each of the three
immediately preceding fiscal years and a certification by the State and City Comptrollers that sales of
securities by or for the benefit of the City satisfied its capital and seasonal financing requirements in the
public credit markets and were expected to satisfy such requirements in the 1987 fiscal year. With the
termination of the Control Period, certain Control Board powers were suspended including, among others,
its power to approve or disapprove certain contracts (including collective bargaining agreements), long-term
and short-term borrowings, and the four-year financial plan and modifications thereto of the City and the
Covered Organizations. After the termination of the Control Period but prior to the statutory expiration
date of the Financial Emergency Act on July 1, 2008, the City will still be required to develop a four-year
financial plan each year and to modify the plan as changing circumstances require. During this period, the
Control Board will also continue to have certain review powers and must reimpose a Control Period upon
the occurrence or substantial likelihood of the occurrence of any one of certain events specified in the Act.
These events are (i) failure by the City to pay principal of or interest on any of its notes or bonds when due or
payable, (ii) the existence of a City operating deficit of more than $100 million, (iii) issuance by the City of
notes in violation of certain restrictions on short-term borrowing imposed by the Act, (iv) any violation by
the City of any provision of the Act which substantially impairs the ability-of the City to pay principal of or.
interest on its bonds or notes when due and payable or 1ts ability to adopt or adhere to an operating budget
balanced in accordance with the Act, or (v) joint certification by the State and City Comptrollers that they

12



could not at that time make a joint certification that sales of securities in the public credit market by or for
the benefit of the City during the immediately preceding fiscal year and the current fiscal year satisfied its
capital and seasonal financing requirements during such period and that there is a substantial likelihood that
such securities can be sold in the general public market from the date of the joint certification through the
end of the next succeeding fiscal year in amounts that will satisfy substantially all of the capital and seasonal
financing requirements of the City during such period in accordance with the financial plan then in effect.

Financial Control Board Oversight

The Control Board, with the Municipal Assistance Corporation For The City of New York (“MAC”)
and the State Deputy Comptroller for The City of New York (“OSDC” or “State Deputy Comptroller”),
who is appointed by the State Comptroller, reviews and monitors revenues and expenditures of the City and
the Covered Organizations.

The Control Board is required to: (i) review the four-year financial plan of the City and of the Covered
Organizations and modifications thereto; (i) review the operations of the City and the Covered Organiza-
tions, including their compliance with the financial plan; and (iii) review long-term and short-term borrow-
ings and certain contracts, including collective bargaining agreements, of the City and the Covered
Organizations. The requirement to submit four-year financial plans and budgets for review was in response
to the severe financial difficulties and loss of access to the credit markets encountered by the City in 1975.
The Control Board must reexamine the financial plan on at least a quarterly basis to determine its
conformance to statutory standards.

During a Control Period, in addition to the requirements described above, the Control Board is
required to establish procedures with respect to the disbursement of monies to the City and the Covered
Organizations from the Control Board Fund created by the Act.

The members of the Control Board are Mario M. Cuomo, Governor of the State of New York
(Chairman); H. Carl McCall, Comptroller of the State of New York; David N. Dinkins, Mayor of The City of
New York; Elizabeth Holtzman, Comptrolier of The City of New York; and three members appointed by the
Governor, currently Heather L. Ruth, President of the Public Securities Association; Stanley S. Shuman,
Executive Vice President of Allen & Company, Incorporated; and Robert R. Kiley, President and Chief
Executive Officer of Fischbach Corporation. The Executive Director of the Control Board, who is appointed
jointly by the Governor and the Mayor, is Allen Proctor. The Control Board is assisted in the exercise of its
responsibilities and powers under the Financial Emergency Act by the State Deputy Comptroller which
position is currently vacant. Rosemary Scanlon has becn nominated for the position of State Deputy
Comptroller, and her appointment is subject to approval by the State Senate.
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SECTION IV: SOURCES OF CITY REVENUES

The City derives its revenues from a variety of local taxes, user charges and miscellaneous revenues, as
well as from Federal and State unrestricted and categorical grants. State aid as a percentage of the City’s
revenues has remained relatively constant over the period from 1980 to 1993, while unrestricted Federal aid.
has been sharply reduced. The City projects that local revenues will provide approximately 68.8% of total
revenues in the 1994 fiscal year while Federal aid, including categorical grants, will provide 12.4%, and State
aid, including unrestricted aid and categorical grants, will provide 18.8%. Adjusting the data for comparabil-.
ity, local revenues provided approximately 60.6% of total revenues in 1980, while Federal and State aid each
provided approximately 19.7%. A discussion of the City’s principal revenue sources follows. For information
regarding assumptions on which the City’s revenue projections are based, see “SECTION VII: 1994-1997
FINANCIAL PLAN—Assumptions”. For information regarding the City’s tax base, see “APPENDIX A—
ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL FACTORS”.

Real Estate Tax

The real estate tax, the single largest source of the City’s revenues, is the primary source of funds for the
City’s General Debt Service Fund. The City expects to derive approximately 44.1% of its total tax revenues
and 24.0% of its total revenues for the 1994 fiscal year from the real estate tax. For information concerning
tax revenues and total revenues of the City for prior fiscal years, see “SECTION VI: FINANCIAL OPERA-
TIONS—1989-1993 Statement of Operations”.

The State Constitution authorizes the City to levy a real estate tax without limit as to rate or amount
(the “debt service levy”) to cover scheduled payments of the principal of and interest on indebtedness of the
City. However, the State Constitution limits the amount of revenue which the City can raise from the real
estate tax for operating purposes (the “operating limit”) to 2.5% of the average full value of taxable real
estate in the City for the current and the last four fiscal years. The table below sets forth the percentage of the
debt service levy to the total levy. The most recent calculation of the operating limit does not reflect the
current downturn in the real estate market, which could substantially lower the operating limit in the future.
The City Council has adopted a distinct tax rate for each of the four categories of real property established by
State legislation. The rate per $100 of full valuation for the 1989 through 1994 fiscal years is based on the
average of the full value for the current fiscal year and the last four fiscal years.

COMPARISON OF REAL ESTATE TAX LEVIES, TAX LIMITS
AND TAX RATES

Percent
of Levy
Percent Within
Levy of Debt Operating Weighted Average
Within Debt Service Limit to Rate Per Tax Rate
Operating  Service Levy to Operating Operating  $100 of Full Per $100 of
Fiscal Year Total Levy(1) Limit Levy(2) Total Levy Limit Limit Valuation(3) Assessed Valuation
(Dollars in Millions)
1989 ...... $6,233.0 $4,996.3 $1,236.7 19.8% $ 6,808.5 73.4% $2.29 $ 9.74
1990 ...... 6,872.4 5,401.3 1,471.1 214 7,789.1 69.3 2.21 9.91
1991(4).... 7,681.3 6,154.7 1,526.6 19.9 9,109.3 67.6 2.11 10.25
1992 ...... 8,318.8 6,262.8 2,056.0 24.7 10,631.8 58.9 1.96 10.64
1993 ...... 8,392.5 6,469.9 1,922.6 22.9 11,945.0 54.2 1.76 10.63
1994 ...... 8,113.2 5,920.9 2,192.2 27.0 13,853.8 427 1.46 10.44

(1) As approved by the City Council.
(2) The debt service levy includes a portion of the total reserve for uncollected real estate taxes.

(3) Full valuation is based on the special equalization ratios (discussed below) and the billable assessed valuation. Special equalization
ratios and full valuations are revised periodically as a result of surveys by the Statc Board of Equalization and Assessment.

(4) Does not include supplemental levy of $61.7 million raised in mid-year for the Criminal Justice Fund.

Assessment
The City has traditionally assessed real property at less than market (full) value. The State Board of
Equalization and Assessment (the “State Board”) is required by law to determine annually the relationship
between taxable assessed value and market value which is expressed as the “special equalization ratio”. The
special equalization ratio is used to compute full value for the purpose of measuring the City’s compliance
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with the operating limit and general debt limit. For a discussion of the City’s debt limit, see “SEC-
TION VIII: INDEBTEDNESS—City Indebtedness—Limitations on the City’s Authority to Contract Indebted-
ness”. The ratios are calculated by using either a market value survey or a projection of market value growth
based on recent surveys. Ratios, and therefore full values, may be revised when new surveys are completed.
The ratios and full values used to compute the 1994 fiscal year operating limit, which are shown in the table
below, have been established by the State Board and include the results of the calendar year 1989 market
value survey. For information concerning litigation asserting that the special equalization ratios calculated
by the State Board in the 1991 calendar year violate state law because they substantially overestimate the full
value of City real estate for the purposes of calculating the operating limit for the 1992 fiscal year, and that
the City’s real estate tax levy for operating purposes in the 1992 fiscal year exceeded the State Constitutional
limit, see “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—TLitigation—Taxes™.

BILLABLE ASSESSED AND FULL VALUE OF TAXABLE REAL ESTATE(1)

Billable
Assessed
Valuation Special
of Taxable + Equalizaticn =
Fiscal Year Real Estate(2) Ratio Full Valuation(2)
1990 ... $70,252,467,843 0.1741 $403,517,908,346
1991 ... e 76,528,438,709- 0.1637 467,491,989,670.
1992 e e 78,660,903,551 0.1441 545,877,193,276
1993 i e 79,370,561,446 0.1254 632,939,086,491
1094 e e 78,364,554,204 0.1087 720,925,061,674

(1) Also assessed by the City, but excluded from the com utation of taxable real estate, are various categories of property exempt from
taxation under State law. For the 1994 fiscal E\;ear, the billable assessed value of real estate categorized by the City as exempt is
$59.3 billion, or 42.8% of the $138.7 billion billable assessed value of all real estate (taxable and exempt).

(2) These figures are derived from official City Council Tax Resolutions. These figures differ from the assessed and full valuation of
taxable real estate reported in the Annual Financial Report of the City Comptroller which excludes veteran’s property subject to
tax for school purposes (the value of such property is approximately $200 million in each year).

State law provides for the classification of all real property in the City into one of four statutory classes,
of which class one primarily includes one-, two-, and three-family homes. Class two includes certain other
residential property not included in class one, class three includes most utility real property and all other real
property is in class four. These laws have no effect upon the constitutional limitations on the City’s taxing
power. Once the tax levy is determined, the tax rate for each class is then fixed by the City Council after
taking into account physical changes in properties, the return of exempt properties to the tax rolls, and any
changes in classification. Any class’s share of the total tax levy is subject to limited adjustment to reflect
market value changes among the four classes since 1989. This adjustment was limited to a five percent
increase in class share for fiscal year 1994. Individual assessments on class one parcels cannot increase by
more than six percent per year or twenty percent over a five-year period. Market value increases and
decreases in classes two and four are generally phased in over a period of five years to determine the
transition assessed value. The phase-in of market value increases in class threec was eliminated in the 1986
fiscal year.

Class two and class four real property have three assessed values: actual, transition and billable. Actual
assessed value is established for all tax classes without regard to the five-year phase-in requirement applica-
ble to most class two and all class four properties. The transition assessed value reflects this phase-in. Billable
assessed value is the basis for tax liability, and.is.the lower of actual or transition assessments. Taxable
assessed value excludes any billable assessments of properties that are exempt from the real property tax. For
class one and class three real property, actual assessed value is equal to billable assessed value. Increases in.
class one market value in excess of applicable limitations are-not phased in-over subsequent years..

City real estate tax revenues may be reduced in future fiscal years as a result of tax refund claims
asserting overvaluation, inequality of assessment and illegality. For a discussion of various proceedings
challenging assessments of real property for real estate tax purposes, see “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMA-
TioN—Litigation—Taxes”. For further information regarding the City’s potential exposure in certain of
these proceedings, see “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Note H.
LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS—Judgments and Claims”.
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The State Board has certified class equalization rates and class ratios for the 1991 and 1992 assessment
rolls and special equalization ratios for the 1993 fiscal year. In addition, the City has received notice of the
final special equalization ratios for the 1994 fiscal year. The City believes that the State Board has overesti-
mated market values for class two and class four properties in calculating these rates and ratios. The City has
commenced proceedings challenging the class equalizationrates and class ratios: If the City prevails, and the
market values determined by the State Board for classes two and four are reduced, the City’s real property
tax levy would be affected in three ways. First, the operating limit would be lower for fiscal year 1993 and
thereafter. This is not expected to affect the level of property tax levy forecast during the period covered by
the Financial Plan. Second, “class ratios”, which are determined by the State Board and measure the ratio of
assessed value to market value, would change for class two and class four. These ratios are used in real
property tax certiorari proceedings involving allegations of inequality of assessments. Finally, “class equaliza-
tion rates”, also determined by the State Board, would also change. These rates are used to determine the
proportion of the total real property tax levy in a given year which is to be paid by each of the four classes-of-
real property in the City. A lowering of the market valuc determination by the State Board for classes two
and four could result in a substantial increase in tax refunds required to be paid by the City to taxpayers in
these classes. For further information regarding the City’s proceeding, see “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMA-
TION—Litigation—Taxes”.

The City Council has approved legislation creating a commission to study real property tax reform
relating to different tax burdens imposed on the owners of different classes of property and within each class,
and to issue a report by December 31, 1993 with recommendations for a more equitable real property tax
system to be phased in over a period of no less than ten years. For such recommendations to become
effective, the City Council must enact into local law those provisions governed by local law, subject to the
approval of the Mayor. In addition, the State Legislature, at the request of the Mayor and the City Council,
or the City Council alone, as provided by the Municipal Home Rule Law, must enact into State law those
provisions governed by State law.

Trend in Taxable Assessed Value

Over the past decade, real property tax revenues grew substantially. Because State law provides for
increases in assessed values of most properties to be phased into property tax bills over five-year periods,
these revenues increased and billable assessed values continued to grow through fiscal year 1993 even as
actual assessed real property values declined during the local recession. For the 1994 fiscal year, billable
assessed valuation. for taxable property decreased by approximately 1.25% over the $79.3 billion final
valuation for fiscal year 1993. Actual assessed valuation decreased approximately 3.0% in such year from the
prior fiscal year valuation of $81.7 billion. For the 1994 assessment year, a change was made to the
assessment percentages for class three property, resulting in a 46% increase in class three billable assessed
value. This change did not yield additional revenue to the City because the class three tax rate fell from
$12.79 per hundred dollars of assessed valuation in 1993 to $7.40 in 1994. After adjusting for the change in
assessment percentages, class three billable assessed values grew 2.7% in 1994 and assessed values for all
classes declined by 3.6%. Classes one and two declined approximately 1.0% and 2.0%, respectively, and
class four declined nearly 6.0% reflecting the fall-off in valuations of commercial properties.

The City forecasts growth in billable assessed values of 1.3% and 2.3% for fiscal years 1995 and 1996,
respectively. The forecasts assume a real estate market improvement that will be reflected in a stable
assessment in 1995 and a renewed phase-in of billable assessed values thereafter.

Collection of the Real Estate Tax
Real estate tax payments are due each July and January, with the exception of payments by owners of
real property assessed at $40,000 or less and cooperatives whose individual units on average are valued at
$40,000 or less which are paid in quarterly installments. An annual interest rate of 9% is imposed upon late
prior year payments on properties for which the annual tax bill does not exceed $2,750 and an interest rate of
18% is imposed upon late payments on all other properties. Payments for settlement of delinquencies are
required on a quarterly schedule.
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The real estate tax is accounted for on a modified accrual basis. Revenue accrued is limited to prior year
payments received or refunds made within the first two months of the following fiscal year. In deriving the
real estate tax revenue estimate, a reserve is provided for cancellations or abatements of taxes and for
nonpayment of current year taxes owed and outstanding as of the end of the fiscal year.

The City is entitled to foreclose delinquent tax liens by in rem proceedings after one year of delinquency
with respect to properties other than one and two-family dwellings and condominium apartments for which.
the annual tax bills do not exceed $2,750, as to which a three-year delinquency rule is in effect.

The following table sets-forth the amount of delinquent real estate taxes (owed and outstanding as of
the end of the fiscal year of levy) for each of the fiscal years indicated. Delinquent real estate taxes do not
include real estate taxes subject to cancellation or abatement under various exemption or abatement
programs. The City believes that delinquent real estate taxes have increased recently compared to prior fiscal
years as a result of the recession and the deterioration of the real estate market. The City anticipates that
delinquent real estate taxes will decrease as the City’s economy and real estate market recover.

REAL ESTATE TAX COLLECTIONS AND DELINQUENCIES
As OF END OF
FIsCcAL YEAR OF LEVY

Collections Delinquency
asa Delinquent- as a-

Cancellations Current Percentage as of end Percentage
Tax and Year Tax of Tax of Fiscal of Tax
Fiscal Year Levy(1) Abatements Collections(2) I;evy_ Year(3) I_x!_y

(Dollars in Millions)

1989 .. .ovieeeinnt 6,233.0 175.0 5,942.9 95.3 115.0 1.84
1990 ...ceeevvinnent 6,872.4 153.0 6,542.6 95.2 176.9 2.57
1991(4) ...evinennnn. 7,681.3 223.4 7,195.2 93.7 262.6 3.42
1992 .. 8,318.8 161.8 78178 94.0 339.2 4.08
1993 ...t 8,392.5 154.5 7,886.3 94.0 351.7 4.19
1994(5) .o ieeinnnnn 81132 155.6 7,648.0 94.3 309.6 3.82

(1) As approved by the City Council.

(2) Based on real property tax collections for each fiscal year, including the accrual period of July and August.
(3) These figures include taxes due on certain publicly owned property.

(4) Does not include supplemental levy of $61.7 million raised in mid-year for the Criminal Justice Fund.

(5) Forecast.

Other Taxes

The City expects to derive approximately 55.9% of its total tax revenues for the 1994 fiscal year from a
variety of taxes other than the real estate tax, such as: (i) the 4% sales and compensating use tax, in addition
to the State 4%4% retail sales tax imposed by the State upon receipts from retail sales of tangible personal
property and certain services in the City; (i) the personal income tax on City residents and the earnings tax
on non-residents; (iii) a general corporation tax levied on the income of corporations doing business in the
City; (iv) a banking corporation tax imposed on the income of banking corporations doing business in the
City; (v) the State-imposed stock transfer tax (while the economic effect of the stock transfer tax was
eliminated as of October 1, 1981, the City’s revenue loss is, to some extent, mitigated by State payments to a
stock transfer tax incentive fund); and (vi) a number of other taxes.

For local taxes other than the real property tax; the City may-adopt and amend local laws for the levy of
Jocal taxes to the extent authorized by the State. This authority can be withdrawn, amended or expanded by
State legislation. Without State authorization, the City may locally impose property taxes to fund general
operations in an amount not to exceed 214% of property values in the City as determined under a State
mandated formula. In addition, the State cannot restrict the City’s authority to levy and collect real estate
taxes outside of the 2¥4% limitation in the amount necessary to pay principal of and interest on City
indebtedness. For further information concerning the City’s authority to impose real property taxes, see-
“SECTION IV: SOURCES OF CITY REVENUES—Real Estate Tax”. Payments by the State to the City of sales tax
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and stock transfer tax revenues are subject to appropriation by the State and are made available first to MAC
for payment of MAC debt service, reserve fund requirements and operating expenses, with the balance, if
any, payable to the City.

Revenues from other taxes, including Audits and Criminal Justice Fund in the 1993 fiscal year increased
by $500 million or approximately 5.4% over the 1992 fiscal year, primarily due to increases in the personal
income tax, the region’s relatively strong wage rates, and the General Corporation, Banking Corporation
and Unincorporated Business Income Taxes. The following table sets forth revenues from other taxes by
category for each of the City’s 1989 through 1993 fiscal years.

1989 1990 1991 1992 1993
- - (In mons) _
Personal Income(1) ......ovviiniiiennniinn.n. $2,445 $2,532 $2,789 $3,223 $3,465
General Corporation ...........covviviennninnn. 1,113 954 950 964 989
Banking Corporation...........cocoveevieinan... 242 129 205 310 362
Unincorporated Business Income ................ 334 332 333 340 400
SalES i e 2,315 2,407 2306 2,262 2,372
Commercial Rent ........... ..ot 618 640 670 649 630
Real Property Transfer ...............ooiiinnt 202 210 141 123 125
Mortgage Recording ........ ..ot 214 154 137 121 118
UHLEY oot e 162 179 177 183 190
AlLOther(2) ...oooviii e 495 537 490 561 588
ABditS .o 314 439 444 528 525
Total ..o $8,454 $8,513 $8,642 $9,264 §9,764

(1) Personal Income Tax includes $110 of Criminal Justice Fund revenues in the 1993 fiscal year.

(2) All Other includes, among others, the stock transfer tax, OTB net revenues, cigareite, beer and liquor taxes, the hotel tax, the
automobile use tax and, for the 1993 fiscal year, $0.6 million of Criminal Justice Fund revenues.

Miscellaneous Revenues

Miscellaneous revenues include revenue sources such as charges collected by the City for the issuance
of licenses, permits and franchises, interest earned by the City on the investment of City cash balances,
tuition fees at the Community Colleges and fees for various other services, reimbursement to the City from
the proceeds of water and sewer rates charged by the New York City Water Board (the “Water Board”) for
delivery of water and sewer services and paid to the City by the Water Board for the water and sewer system,
rents collected from tenants in City-owned property and from the Port Authority of New York and New
Jersey (the “Port Authority”) with respect to airports, and the collection of fines. The following table sets
forth amounts of miscellaneous revenues for each of the City’s 1989 through 1993 fiscal years.

1989 1990 1991 1992 1993
- - (In mons) — )
Licenses, Permits and Franchises ................ $ 193 $ 189 $ 201 $ 210 $ 213
Interest Income ....ovvieinininiiiiiaaeeiiienn 194 194 167 133 87
Charges for Services .........coiveiiiieinnaenn. 286 299 337 369 397
Water and Sewer Payments(1) ................... 546 571 596 644 709
Rental Income ...ttt 187 207 169 158 162
Fines and Forfeitures.................coiiiit. 297 310 366 404 380
1011173 SR 367 464 426 411 607
Total o .vv e e $2,070 $2,234 §$2,262 $2,329 $2,555

(1) Beginning July 1, 1985, fees and charges collected from the users of the water and sewer system of the City became revenues of the
Water Board which holds a lease interest in the water and sewer system. The New York City Municipal Water Finance Authority
(the “Water Authority”) is empowered to issue debt to finance capital investment in the City’s water and sewer system. After
providing for debt service on Water Authority obligations and certain administrative costs, the Water Board pays the City for
ogcrating the water and sewer system and rental for the system in an amount corresponding to debt service on outstanding general
obligation bonds issued to finance water and sewer infrastructure.
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A portion of miscellaneous revenues in the 1989 fiscal year consisted of a transfer of $102 million from
the Police Officers and Firefighters Variable Supplement Funds to the General Fund in accordance with a
revised statutory formula for payments to such Funds and a transfer from the New York City Educational
Construction Fund (“ECF”) of $83 million in repayment of loans previously made by the City. The increase
in miscellaneous revenues for the 1990 fiscal year included $205 million made available to the City as a result
of a bond sale by the Battery Park City Authority and a debt refinancing by the New York State Housing
Finance Agency (“HFA”). The increase in miscellaneous revenucs for the 1991 fiscal year was due primarily
to a sale of property by the City to the Federal Government for $104 million and transfers of surplus funds
from the Public Development Corporation and the New York City Housing Development Corporation
(“HDC”) amounting to $62 million. The increase in miscellaneous revenues for the 1992 fiscal year is mainly
due to the one time collections from audits of $50 million and the sale of mortgages of $35 million. The
increase in miscellaneous revenues for the 1993 fiscal year is mainly due to a one time collection from the
transfer of surplus funds from the Rehabilitation Mortgage Insurance Corporation amounting to $23 mil-
lion, a litigation settlement amounting to $46 million and on-going payments from HHC amounting to
$161 million.

Unrestricted Intergovernmental Aid

Unrestricted Federal and State aid has consisted primarily of per capita aid from the State government.
These funds, which are not subject to any substantial restriction as to their use, are used by the City as
general support for its Expense Budget. State general revenue sharing (State per capita aid) is allocated
among the units of local government by statutory formulas which take into account the-distribution-of-the
State’s population and the full valuation of taxable real property. In recent years, however, such allocation
has been based on prior year levels in lieu of the statutory formula. For a further discussion of unrestricted
State aid, see “SECTION VII: 1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN—Assumptions—Revenue Assumptions—S5. Un-
restricted Intergovernmental Aid”.

The following table sets forth amounts of unrestricted Federal and State aid received by the City in each
of its 1989 through 1993 fiscal years.
1989 19;92 1991 1992 1993

(In Millions)

State Per Capita Aid .........oeemvmmiiiiiiiins $535 $535 $535 $534  $535
State Shared Taxes(1) .....oovvirmmniernerieniii s 47 47 20 27 8
(071175 (7)) P R R R R R EERREE 131 105 145 265 164

1017 DR $713 $687 $700 $826  $707

(1) State Shared Taxes are taxes which are levied by the State, collected by the State and which, pursuant to aid formulas determined by
the State Legislature, are returned to various communities in the State. Beginning on April 1, 1982, these payments were replaced
by funds appropriated pursuant to the Consolidated Local Highway Assistance Program, known as “C IPS™.

(2) Included in the 1989, 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993 fiscal years are $50 million, $58 million, $69 million, $75 million and $88 million,
respectively, of aid associated with the partial State takeover of long-term care Medicaid costs:

Federal and State Categorical Grants

The City makes certain expenditures for services required by Federal and State mandates which are
then wholly or partially reimbursed through Federal and State categorical grants. State categorical grants are
received by the City primarily in connection with City welfare, education, higher education, health and
mental health expenditures. The City also receives substantial Federal categorical grants in connection with
the Federal Community Development (“Community Development”) and the Job Training and Partnership
Act (“JTPA”). The Federal government also provides the City with substantial public assistance, social
service and education grants as well as reimbursement for all or a portion of certain costs incurred by the
City in maintaining programs in a number of arcas, including housing, criminal justice and health. All City
claims for Federal and State grants are subject to subsequent audit by Federal and State authorities. Federal
grants are also subject to audit under the Single Audit Act of 1984 by the City’s independent auditors. The
City provides a reserve for disallowances resulting from these audits which could be asserted in subsequent
years. For a further discussion of Federal and State categorical grants, see “SECTION VIL: 1994-1997
FINANCIAL PLAN—Assumptions—Revenue Assumptions—o. Federal and State Categorical Grants”.
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The following table sets forth amounts of Federal and State categorical grants received by the City for

cach of the City’s 1989 through 1993 fiscal years.

Federal

State

LU
(In Millions)

JEPA . $ 76 $ 74 §$ 73 $§ 86 § 128
Community Development(1) .........oominnn o on 223 234 227 187 193
Welfare ......oovviiii i e .. 1,531 1634 1,842 2,108 2111
Education ............cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiaa 512 611 667 744 867
Other . e 269 320 338 297 n
dotal. ..o $2,611 $2,873 $3,147 $3,422 $3,610
Welfare ..o $1,350 $1.482 §$1,620 $1,773 $1,767
Education ...........coovviiiiiiiiiiiianan . 2,791 3,072 3285 3072 3,309
Higher Education ..............ccoiiiiivinaan. ... 110 111 119 119 117
Health and Mental Health....................... e 218 244 237 201 189
Other ..o e e e 247 263 2500 270 279
Total ... e ... $4716 $5172 $5511 $5435 $5,661

(1) Amounts represent actual funds received and may be lower or-higher than the appropriation-of funds actually provided by the

Federal government for the particular fiscal year due either to underspending or the spending of funds carried forward from prior

fiscal years.
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SECTION V: CITY SERVICES AND EXPENDITURES

Expenditures for City Services

Three types of governmental agencies provide public services within the City’s borders and receive
financial support from the City. One category is the mayoral agencies established by the City Charter which
include, among others, the Police, Fire and Sanitation Departments. Another is the independent agencies
which are funded in whole or in part through the City Budgets but which have greater independence in the
use of appropriated funds than the mayoral agencies. Included in this category are certain Covered Organi-
zations such as HHC, the Transit Authority and BOE. A third category consists of certain PBCs which were
created to finance the construction of housing, hospitals, dormitories and other facilities and to provide
other governmental services in the City. The legislation establishing this type of agency contemplates that
annual payments from the City, appropriated through its Expense Budget, may or will constitute a substan-
tial part of the revenues of the agency. Included in this category are, among others, the HFA and the City
University Construction Fund (the “CUCF”). For information regarding expenditures for City services, see
“SECTION VI: FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—1989-1993 Statement of Operations”.

Federal and State laws require the City to provide certain social services for needy individuals and
families who qualify for such assistance. Aid to Families with Dependent Children (“AFDC”) supports
approximately 73.0% of the City’s public assistance caseload and receives approximately 50% Federal and
25% State reimbursement. In addition, Home Relief provides support for those who do not qualify for
AFDC but are in need of public assistance. The cost of Home Relief is borne equally by the City and the
State.

The Federal Government fully funds and administers a program of Supplemental Security Income
(“SSI”) for the aged, disabled, and blind which provides recipients with a grant based on a nationwide
standard. New York State law requires that this standard be supplemented with additional payments that
vary according to an individual’s living arrangement. Since September 30, 1978, the State has assumed
responsibility for the entire cost of both the State and City shares of this SSI supplement. State assumption of
the City’s share has been extended through September 1995.

The City also provides funding for many other social services such as day care, foster care, family
planning, services for the elderly and special employment services for welfare recipients some of which are
mandated, and may be wholly or partially subsidized, by ecither the Federal or State government.

The City’s elementary and secondary school system is operated under the general supervision of BOE,
with considerable authority over elementary and junior high schools also exercised by the 32 Community
School Boards. BOE is responsible to the State on policy issues and to the City on fiscal matters. The number
of pupils in the school system for the 1993-1994 school year is estimated to be 1,020,290. Actual enroliment
in fiscal years 1989 through 1993 has been 937,248, 939,638, 956,658, 973,263 and 995,465, respectively.
Between fiscal years 1989 and 1993, the percentage of the City’s total budget allocated to BOE has remained
relatively stable at approximately 25.25%; in fiscal year 1994 the percentage of the City’s total budget
allocated to BOE is projected to be 25.41%. See “SECTION VII: 1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN—Assump-
tions—Expenditure Assumptions—2. Other Than Personal Service Costs—Board of Education”. The City’s
system of higher education, consisting of its Senior Colleges and Community Colleges, is operated under the-
supervision of CUNY. The City is projected to provide approximately 34% of the costs of the Community
Colleges in the 1994 fiscal year. The State has full responsibility for the costs of operating the Senior
Colleges, although the City is required initially to fund these costs.

The City administers health services programs for the care of the physically and mentally ill and the
aged. HHC maintains and operates the City’s eleven municipal hospitals, five long-term care facilities, a
network of neighborhood health centers and the Emergency Medical Service. HHC is funded primarily by
third party reimbursement collections from Medicare, Medicaid, Blue Cross-Blue Shield and commercial
insurers, and also by direct patient payments and City appropriations.

Medicaid provides basic medical assistance to needy persons. The City is required by State law to
furnish medical assistance through Medicaid to all City residents meeting eligibility requirements estab-
lished by the State. The State’s budget for the 1984 fiscal year reduced the City’s share of Medicaid costs i
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1983 from its previous level of 25% of the cost of all Medicaid eligible care. The State commenced on
January 1, 1984 to assume over a three-year period all but 20% of the non-Federal share of long-term care
costs and all of the costs of providing medical assistance to the mentally disabled. The Federal government
will continue to pay approximately 50% of Medicaid costs for Federally eligible recipients.

The City’s expense budget has increased during the five-year period ended June 30, 1993, due to, among
other factors, the costs of labor settlements, the growth in the number of full-time City employees, higher
mandated costs, including increases in public and medical assistance, and the impact of inflation on various
other than personal service costs.

Employees and Labor Relations
Employees

The following table presents the number of full-time employees of the City, including the mayoral
agencies, BOE and CUNY, at the end of each of the City’s 1989 through 1993 fiscal years.

om0 1w 1993

Education ........ccovviiiiniiinniirnaennn. 84,754 86,224 86,071 83,863 86,981
POliCE . .oveiiieii e e 33,414 32976 34,401 34217 35,531
Social Services..........coviiiiiiiiin.. 29,227 31,491 31,404 28,890 28,810
City University ..........coovvvreiiiiaennns 3,828 3,843 3,864 3,516 3,682
Environmental Protection and Sanitation ... 17,812 18,300 17,366 16,560 16,714
FITE e i ittt vt e cerine e e aeee 13,320 12,769 12,679 12,571 12,537
AllOther .......coiiiii et 56,027 57,487 57,423 54,491 54,184
Total ooovvire e 238,383 243,090 243,208 234,108 238,439

The following table presents the number of full-time employees of certain Covered Organizations, as
reported by such Organizations, at the end of each of the City’s 1989 through 1993 fiscal years.

9 s 1w b 1%
Transit Aathority .................cooot 52,315 51,471 49,035 48,388 48,910
Housing Authority................coiinn 14,747 15,253 15,106 15271 16,294
HHC........c.o i 45115 46,194 45,717 45498 47738
Total(l) ....cocoveviiiiiiiannt 112,177 112,918 109,858 109,157 112,942

(1) The definition of “full-time employees” varies among the Covered Organizations and the City.

The foregoing tables include persons whose salaries or wages are paid by certain public employment
programs, principally programs. funded. under. JTPA, which. support. employees in non-profit and State
agencies as well as in the mayoral agencies and the Covered Organizations.

Labor Relations

Substantially all of the City’s full-time employees are members of labor unions. The Financial Emer-
gency Act requires that all collective bargaining agreements entered into by the City and the Covered
Organizations be consistent with the City’s current financial plan, except for certain awards arrived at
through impasse procedures. During a Control Period, and subject to the foregoing exception, the Control
Board would be required to disapprove collective bargaining agreements that are inconsistent with the City’s
current financial plan.

Under applicable law, the City may not make unilateral changes in wages, hours or working conditions
under any of the following circumstances: (i) during the period of negotiations between the City and a union
representing municipal employees concerning a collective bargaining agreement; (ii) if an impasse panel is
appointed, then during the period commencing on the date on which such panel is appointed and ending
sixty days thereafter or thirty days after it submits its report, whichever is sooner, subject to extension under
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certain circumstances to permit completion of panel proceedings; or (iii) during the pendency of an appeal
to the Board of Collective Bargaining. Although State law prohibits strikes by municipal employees, strikes
and work stoppages by employees of the City and the Covered Organizations have occurred.

For information regarding the City’s most recently negotiated collective bargaining settiement, as well
as assumptions with respect to the cost of future labor settlements and related effects on the 1994-1997
Financial Plan, see “SECTION VII: 1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN—Assumptions—Expenditure Assumptions—
1. Personal Service Costs”.

Pensions
The City maintains a number of pension systems providing benefits for its employees and employees of
various independent agencies (including certain Covered Organizations). For further information regarding
the City’s pension systems and the City’s obligations thereto, see “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—
Pension Systems”.

Capital Expenditures

The City makes substantial capital expenditures to reconstruct, rehabilitate and expand the City’s
infrastructure and physical assets, including City mass transit facilities, sewers, streets, bridges and tunnels,
and to make capital investments that will improve productivity in City operations. For additional information
regarding the City’s infrastructure, physical assets and capital program, see “SECTION VII: 1994-1997
FINANCIAL PLAN—Long-Term Capital and Financing Program” and “APPENDIX A—ECONOMIC AND SO-
CIAL FACTORS”.

The City utilizes a three-tiered capital planning process consisting of the Ten-Year Capital Strategy
(previously, the Ten-Year Capital Plan), the Four-Year Capital Program and the current-year Capital
Budget. The Ten-Year Capital Strategy, which is published once every two years in conjunction with the
Executive Budget, is-a long-term planning tool designed to reflect fundamental allocation choices and basic.
policy objectives. The Four-Year Capital Program translates mid-range policy goals into specific projects.
The Capital Budget defines specific projects and the timing of their initiation, design, construction and
completion.

On May 3, 1993, the City published a Ten-Year Capital Strategy for fiscal years 1994 through 2003 (the
“Ten-Year Capital Strategy”). The Ten-Year Capital Strategy totals $51.6 billion, of which approximately
93% will be financed with City funds. The Ten-Year Capital Strategy includes an assumption that the debt
service cost relating to $2.9 billion of the educational capital program for the ten-year period will be paid
from incremental building aid payments from the State, to which the City will be entitled as a result of the
scope of its capital program authorized for educational facilities. This aid requires an annual allocation and
appropriation from the State. Also, BOE has proposed a five-year capital program for fiscal years 1995
through 1999 which totals $7.5 billion. The Ten-Year Capital Strategy provides for $4.0 billion for BOE for
that period, as compared with $4.3 billion for the preceding five-year period. In addition, the State has
approved a $9.6 billion capital funding schedule for the Metropolitan Transportation Authority (the “MTA”)
for fiscal years 1992 through 1996, which contemplates a capital contribution by the City that is $500 million
higher than the amount provided for this purpose in the Ten-Year Capital Strategy.

The Ten-Year Capital Strategy also assumes that the debt service cost relating to approximately
$671 million of the future capital program for HHC through the 1997 fiscal year and $1.3 billion over the ten-
year period will be paid from incremental third party reimbursement to HHC as a result of capital
improvements coming into service during the period. In June 1993 HHC issued $550 million of bonds for
capital projects and other related purposes. The City expects that-incremental capital needs- of HHC through
fiscal year 1997 in the amount of $884 million will be financed by additional bonds issued by HHC rather
than with City general obligation bonds.

The Ten-Year Capital Strategy includes (i) $10.4 billion to construct new schools and improve existing
educational facilitics; (ii) $5.0 billion for expanding and upgrading the City’s housing stock; (iii) $2.3 billion
for reconstruction or resurfacing more than 12,000 lane miles of City streets; (iv) $1.6 billion for continued
City-funded investment in mass transit; (v) $3.7 billion for the continued reconstruction of all four East
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River bridges and over 333 other bridge structures; (vi) $1.4 billion for the major reconstruction of Elmhurst,
Kings County and Queens Hospitals; (vii) $758 million to expand current jail capacity; and (viii) $2.3 billion
for construction and improvement of court facilities.

The Financial Plan reduces the portion of the City’s capital program to be funded from tax-levy-
supported general obligation debt by approximately 25% in each-of the four years covered by the Financial
Plan. Such reductions are not reflected in the Ten-Year Capital Strategy described above.

Those programs in the Ten-Year Capital Strategy financed with City funds are currently expected to be
funded primarily from the issuance of general obligation bonds. Debt service on such bonds is paid out of the
City’s operating revenues. As well as the reduction noted above, from time to time in the past, during
recessionary periods when operating revenues have come under increasing pressure, funding levels for the
earlier years of the Ten-Year Capital Strategy have been reduced from those previously contemplated in
order to reduce debt service costs. For information concerning the City’s long-term financing program for
capital expenditures, see “SECTION VII: 1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN—Long-Term Capital and Financing
Program”.

The City’s capital expenditures, including expenditures funded by State and Federal grants, totaled
$18.6 billion during the 1989 through 1993 fiscal years. City-funded expenditures, which totaled $16.8 billion
during the 1989 through 1993 fiscal years, have been financed through the issuance of bonds by the City, the
Water Authority and, commencing in fiscal year 1993, HHC. The following table summarizes the major
categories of capital expenditures in the past five fiscal years.

1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 Total
— - " (In Millions)
Education......c.ccovvvreriiivnenennnn. $ 208 $ 380 $ 694 $ 681 § 754 § 2,717
Environmental Protection ............. 622 637 826 894 746 3,725
Transportation .............coovvvnennns 422 392 399 364 341 1,918
Transit Authority(1) ............oooelt 472 360 381 329 250 1,792
Housing .......coooviviniiiiiininians, 367 572 689 639 431 2,698
Hospitals ..........ocooiiiiiiiiiniann. 118 148 195 155 167 783
Sanitation . ....coiiii i 210 223 172 153 188 946
AN Other(2) ........ooviiiiiinnnennn. 724 1,039 877 678 740 4,058
Total Expenditures(3)........... $3,143 $3,751 $4,233 $3,893 $3,617 $18,637
City-funded Expenditures(4) .... $2,690 §$3,213 $3,946 $3,582 $3,395 $16,826

(1) Excludes the Transit Authority’s non-City portion of the MTA's Capital Program.
(2) All Other includes, among other things, parks, correction facilities, public structures and equipment.

(3) Total Expenditures for the 1989 through 1993 fiscal years include City, State and Federal funding and represent amounts which
include an accrual for work-in-progress. The ﬁ%ures for the 1989 through 1993 fiscal years are derived from the Comprehensive
Annual Financial Report of the Comptroller. Total expenditures for fiscal year 1993 include City, State, and Federal funding as
reported in the Financial Plan.

{4) City-funded Expenditures do not include an accrual and represent actual cash expenditures occurring during the fiscal year.

In October 1989, the City completed an inventory of the major portion of its assets and asset systems
which have a replacement cost of $10 million or more and a useful life of at least ten years, as required by the
City Charter. In May 1993, the City issued an assessment of the asset condition and a proposed maintenance
schedule for the inventoried assets. For information concerning a report which sets forth the recommended
capital investment to bring certain identified assets of the City to a state of good repair, see “SECTION VII:
1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN—Long-Term Capital and Financing Program”.
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SECTION VI: FINANCIAL OPERATIONS

The City’s General Purpose Financial Statements and the auditors’ opinion thereon are presented in
“ APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS”. Further details are set forth in the Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report of the Comptroller for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1993, which is available for
inspection at the Office of the Comptroller. For a summary of the City’s significant accounting policies, see
“ APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Note A”. For a summary of the
City’s operating results for the previous five fiscal years, see “SECTION VI: FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—
1989-1993 Statement of Operations”. Except as otherwise indicated, all of the financial data relating to the
City’s operations contained in this Official Statement, although derived from the City’s books and records,
are unaudited. In addition, the City’s independent certified public accountants have not compiled or
examined, or applied agreed upon procedures to, the forecast of 1994 results or the Financial Plan.

The estimates and projections contained in this Section and elsewhere in this Official Statement are
based on, among other factors, evaluations of historical revenue and expenditure data, analyses of economic
trends and current and anticipated Federal and State legislation affecting the City’s finances. The City’s
financial projections are based upon numerous assumptions and are subject to certain contingencies and-
periodic revision which may involve substantial change. Consequently, the City makes no representation or
warranty that these estimates and projections will be realized.
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1989-1993 Statement of Operations

The following table sets forth the City’s results of operations for its 1989 through 1993 fiscal years
reported in accordance with GAAP. The information regarding the 1989 through 1993 fiscal years has been.
derived from the City’s audited financial statements and should be read in conjunction with the notes
accompanying this table-and the City’s 1992 and 1993 financial statements included in “APPENDIX B—
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS”. The 1989 through 1991 financial statements are not separately presented in this
Official Statement. For further information regarding the City’s revenues and expenditures, see “SEC-
TION IV: SOURCES OF CITY REVENUES” and “SECTION V: CITY SERVICES AND EXPENDITURES”.

Fiscal Year(1)

1989 1990 1991 1992 1993
(In Millions)

Revenues and Transfers

Real Estate Tax(2)......covvveiviinininnannn.. $5943 $6543 $ 7251 $ 7818 §$ 7,886
Other Taxes(3) . .veevviiirniiiii i, 8,454 8,513 8,642 9,264 9,764
Miscellaneous Revenues .........ocvenevennnnn. 2,070 2,234 2,262 2,329 2,555
Unrestricted Federal and State Aid ............ 713 687 700 826 707
Federal Categorical Grants .................... 2,611 2,873 3,147 3,422 3,610
State Categorical Grants....................... 4,716 5,172 5,511 5,435 5,661
Less: Disallowances Against Categorical Grants . . (18) (85) (32) (72) (26)
Total Revenues and Transfers ........... $24,489 $25937 $27,481 $29,022 $30,157
Expenditures and Transfers
Social SEIVICES .. .onr it iiaernarennns $5355 $5932 $6,68 § 7,108 § 7430
Board of Education ...............oeininennt. 5,786 6,377 6,694 6,626 7,213
City University ..........ooeriiiniiniaiernnenns 266 299 313 458 71
Public Safety and Judicial...................... 3,174 3,523 3,494 3,586 3,759
Health Services. ...oovviniiiiiiieiiiiainnnenen 1,337 1,395 1,463 1,276 1,452
PenSIONS .« ittt i e e 1,742 1,693 1,479 1,370 1,427
Debt Service(3) «.ovvvniiiiiiiiiiiiii 1,324 1,205 1,503 2,502 2,069
MAC Debt Service Funding(3)................. 515 522 449 540 370
AllOther .. i e 4,984 4,986 5,395 5,552 5,861
Total Expenditures and Transfers ........ $24.483 $25932 $27,476 $29,018 $30,152
SUIPIUS(4) .ot B 6 5 % 5 % 4 $ 5

(1) The City’s results of operations refer to the City's General Fund revenues and transfers reduced by expenditures and transfers. The
revenues and assets of PBCs included in the City’s audited financial statements do not constitute revenues and assets of the City’s
General Fund, and, accordingly, the revenues of such PBCs, other than net New York City Off-Track Betting Corporation (“OTB”)-
revenues, are not included in the City’s results of operations. Expenditures required to be made by the City with respect to such
PBCs arc included in the City’s resuls of operations. For further information regarding the partichar PBCs included in the City’s
financial statements, see “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Note A",

(2) Real Estate Tax for the 1991, 1992 and 1993 fiscal years includes $56 million, $131 million and $127.3 million, respectively, of
Criminal Justice Fund revenues.

{3) Revenues include amounts paid and expected to be paid to MAC by the State from sales tax receipts, stock transfer tax receipts and
State per capita aid otherwise payable by the State to the City. Pursuant to State statute, these revenues flow directly from the State to
MAG, and flow to the City only to the extent not required by MAC for debt service on MAC bonds and any MAC notes and for MAC
operating expenses and reserve fund requirements. The City includes such revenues as City revenues and reports the amount retained
by MAC trom such revenues as “MAC Debt Service Funding”, although the City has no control over the statutory application of such
revenues to the extent MAC requires them. Estimates of City “Debt Service” include, and estimates of “MAC Debt Service Funding”
are reduced by, payments by the City of debt service on City obligations held by MAC. Other Taxes include transfers of net OTB
revenues. Other Taxes for the 1992 fiscal year includes $1.5 million of Criminal Justice Fund revenues from the City lottery. For further
information regarding the City’s revenues from Other Taxes, see “SECTION IV: SOURCES OF CITY REVENUES—Other Taxes”.

(4) The General Fund surplus is the surplus after discretionary transfers and expenditures. The City had General Fund operating
surpluses of $412 million, $570 million, $27 million, $253 million, $409 million before discretionary transfers and expenditures for
the 1993, 1992, 1991, 1990 and 1989 fiscal years, respectively.
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Forecast of 1994 Results

The following table compares the forecast for the 1994 fiscal year contained in the financial plan
submitted to the Control Board on August 30, 1993 (the “August 1993 Forecast”) with the 1994 modification
submitted to the Control Board on November 22, 1993 (the “November 1993 Forecast™). These forecasts

were prepared on a basis consistent with GAAF. Increase
(Decrease)
August November  from August
1993 1993 1993
Forecast (1) Forecast Forecast
REVENUES (In Millions)
Taxes

General Property TaX . .....oovvviveiinanniraaiaiiaaaanaanenes $ 7520 §$ 7,498 $ (22)(2

OthEr TAXES + o e eeeeteee e senseenaernneeanaeaansasnneannenans 9,439 9,483 44 (3

Tax Audit ReVEIMUE . ..o oriiiinr i iiiaa e, 553 553 —

Criminal Justice Fund ........ ... 350 350 —

Sale of Property Tax Receivables..............coooiienen. 215 215 —
Miscellaneous REVENUES .. ...o.veeviieneennevnmnnmeemaeinnennes 3,651 3,566 (85)(4
Unrestricted Intergovernmental Aid ................ooooiieiinne 451 529 78 (5

Anticipated Federal Actions..............ooooiiiiiiiniiiiienn, 150 150 —
Anticipated State ACHODS ........ccveveriiiiiiii s 80 80 —
Inter-Fund ReVENUES ... ...oveiiiniiiiiiaiiiaaiieaaaes 243 241 2)
Less: Intra-City REVENUES ... ovvvneeeriaiiirunnianeii e (693 (6843 9
Disallowances Against Categorical Grants.................. (15 15 —
Total City Funds ........ooiiinniii e $21,944  $26966 § 22
Federal Categorical Grants. ...........oooveiiviiinioneeieennans 3,569 3,767 198 6;
State Categorical GIants..........c.c..ooovivviimnnmeeeene.n. 5,734 5,852 118 (6
Total REVENUES - .o vvvninreierieaaonaaeanineaannnnens $31,247  $31,585 § 338
EXPENDITURES
Personal SEIVICE .. .vvne ettt e v et aaeaannee treenecaans $15,573  $15,618- §. 45 (7).
Other Than Personal Service ......oovveeeviiiieeviaiiensens 13,355 13,761 406 (8
Dbt SEIVICE v vvtiit i et e aeae e 2,177 2,055 (122)(9
MAC Debt Service Funding.........covirieniiiis coiiints 554 554 —
General ReSeIVe . ..o i aiainan e e 281 281 —
$31,040  $32,269° $ 329
Less: Intra-City EXpenses ........oooeeunnvviiniaies corennnenns $ (693) (684) 9
Total EXpenditures . .......ooviereereecre coomieneanns $31,247  $31,585 §$ 338
GAP TO BE CLOSED ...t vvvtaneeeeeetennananaaasnns aenianeaenas $ — $ — $—

(1) The City Council adopted a budget for the City’s 1994 fiscal ¥car on June 14, 1993. On July 2, 1993 the Mayor announced additional
expenditure reductions in the amount of approximately $131 million, which included a $50 million reduction in BOE expenditures,
a $30 million reduction in Personal Service costs and a $25 million reduction in Other Than Personal Services, for the City’s 1994
fiscal year beyond those incorporated in the adopted budget. Based on the adopted budget and the additional reductions
announced b%' the Mayor on July 2, 1993, the Cit{ submitted to the Control Board on August 6,1993 a financial plan for the 1954
through 1997 fiscal years which was subsequently revised on August 30, 1993 to reflect technical changes.

(2) The forecasted decrease in General Property Tax revenues reflects a larger provision for refunds, partially offset by the availability-
of $28 million of funds previously required in a progerty tax reserve that is now dormant. .

(3) The forecasted increase in Other Taxes is primarily due to projected increases in collections for the banking corporation tax of

$60 million and for the sales tax of $55 million due ‘to higher bank groﬁts and higher levels-of local consumption. These increases.

are offset by forecasted decreases in the personal income tax of $29 million, the general corporation tax of $20 million and the
unincorporated business tax of $16 million. All other taxes are lower by $6 mullion, primarily as a result of the failure to enact the

roa)os_ed Morggage Recording Tax on ﬁnancmis/[of cooperatives. . .

(4) Excluding the decrease in Intra-City Revenues, Miscellancous Revenues are projected to decrease by $76 million. The rojected
decreases are due in part to the elimination of $55 million in revenue associated with the restructuring of OTB and the reduction of
$52 million in projected revenue from fines. Offsetting these decreases is an increase in revenue from private grants of $31 million,

(5) The forecasted increase in Unrestricted Intergovernmental Aid of $78 million is in part due to claims for reimbursement of
Squlemental Security Income costs totalin, million, $15 million resulting from New York State Medicaid audits of pharmacy
billings and additional reimbursement of $20 million for highway improvement claims.

(6) The increase in Federal and State Categorical Grants is due in part to modifications that were processed from J uly to September, as
well as adjustments to the expenditure forecast. .

(7) The increase in Personal Service expenditures is partiallY due to additional overtime costs in the uniformed forces of $53 million
and $48 million for increment costs associated with the slowdown of attrition for police officers and firefighters, partially offset by
other changes to the expenditure forecast.

(8) The increase in Other Than Personal Service is primarily due to budget modifications that were processed from July to September,
as well as other revisions to the expenditure forecast, including increased costs in the Department of Social Services, offset by
savings from a reduction in prior years’ accrued expenditures.

(9) The decrease in Debt Service costs is primarily due to discretionary adjustments in payments between the 1993 and 1994 fiscal years
of $90 million, the payment of debt from $21 million of additional resources and reductions in short term interest costs of

$4 million.



SECTION VII: 1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN

The following table sets forth the City’s projected operations on a basis consistent with GAAP for the
1994 through 1997 fiscal years as contained in the 1994-1997 Financial Plan. This table should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes, “Actions to Close the Gaps” and “Assumptions”, below. For
information regarding recent developments, see “SECTION I—RECENT FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENTS”.

1994-1997
Fiscal Years(1)(2)
1994 1995 1996 1997
— " (In Millions) -
REVENUES
Taxes
General Property Tax .......coviiiiiiiinienneeiineenans $ 7498 $ 7554 $ 7,745 §$ 8119
Other Taxes(3) ... oovunviiiiiiin i e 9,483 9850 10,346 11,191
Tax Audit Revenue. ... ....oviiiiiiiiiiirieieeeiaainans, 553 503 503 503
Criminal Justice Fund(4) ...........oooiiiiiiiiiniaan, 350 437 455 —
Sale of Property Tax Receivables .................... ... 215 (20) — —
Miscellaneous Revenues. ........covvviveeinennenininnsn 3,566 3,288 3,117 3,096
Unrestricted Intergovernmental Aid ........................ 529 461 471 471
Anticipated Federal Actions ..............ccooiiiiiinn 150 150 150 150
Anticipated State Actions ..............iiiiiiiiiiin 80 — — —
Inter-Fund Revenues(S) ........oviuiiiiiiiiiinieieiannenn. 241 244 246 247
Less: Intra-City Revenues ...........cooiiiiiiiii s, (684) (785) (788) (794)
Disallowances Against Categorical Grants ............. (15) (15) 15) (15)
Total City Funds .........coovviiiiiiiieinaonn, $21,966 $21,667 $22,230 $22,968
Federal Categorical Grants ...........cooiieiiiie it 3,767 3,403 3,427 3,445
State Categorical Grants ........ e et et e, 5,852 5,926 6,038 6,170
Total Revenues(6) ......covvvrnnnreneernnnineannnn. $31,585 $30,996 $31,695 $32,583
EXPENDITURES
Personal SErvice(7). .. .cvuunriiiiieiinii i $15,618 $16,502 $17,061 $17,337
Other Than Personal Service .........ccovivieireencaninan.. 13,761 14,075 14,494 15,070
Debt Service(3) .. ovvvnvern ettt 2,055 2,725 3,014 3,206
MAC Debt Service Funding(3) .........oovvvvai i, 554 59 277 313
General ReseIve ..o vvtiiiiirrierevreanecnaniranirnneens - 281 150 150. 150
Total Expenditures .........ovovvviieerinnieieenn.. $32,269 $33,511 $34,996 $36,076
Less: Intra-City EXpenses...........ocvviiiiienianenaeennnns $ (684) $ (785) $ (788) $ (794)
Net Total Expenditures(6) .............ccoovvevennn $31,585 $32,726 $34,208 $35,282
GAP TO BE CLOSED . .. tititiieaseatanaeameeneans ceenens $ — $(1,730) $(2,513) $(2,699)
GAP-CLOSING PROGRAM
City ACHONS ...\ eeeenineee it et eiaiieeees eeeeans $ — $ 640 § 814 § 870
State Actions Including Mandate Relief............ ........ — 306 616 766
Federal ACtIONS . ..o vt ire i viiracneraaraannrane connanns — — 100 200
Other ACHONS. .ot ovtver e e e reeaaacennteanrcans onvvanas —_ 784 983 863
TOTAL GAP-CLOSING PROGRAM . ....ivvievaniineaineeaenanns $§ — $ 1,730 $ 2513 § 2,699

(1) The four-year financial plan for the 1993 through 1996 fiscal years, as submitted to the Control Board on June 11, 1992, contained
the following projections for the 1993-1996 fiscal years: ﬁ) for 1993, total revenues of $29.508 billion and total expenditures of
$29.508 billion; (it) for 1994, total revenues of $29.895 billion and total expenditures of $31.492 billion, with a gap to be closed of
$1.597 billion; (iii) for 1995, total revenues of $30.395 biilion and total expenditures of $32.092 billion, with a gap to be closed of
§1.69g billion; (iv) for 1996, total revenues of $31.430 billion and total expenditures of $33.676 billion with a gap to be closed of

2.246 billion.

(footnotes continued on next page)
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(footnotes continued from previous page)
The four-year financial plan for the 1992 through 1995 fiscal years, as submitted to the Control Board on July 12, 1991, contained
the following projections for the 1992-1995 fiscal years: (i) g(')r 1992, total revenues of $28.517 billion and total expenditures of
$28.517 billion; (i) for 1993, total revenues of $29.025 billion and total expenditures of $30.076 billion with a gap to be closed of
$1.051 billion; (il? for 1994, total revenues of $29.756 billion and total expenditures of $31.391 billion with a gap to be closed of
g{gﬁ l;)i_llllipn; and (iv) for 1995, total revenues of $30.226 billion and total expenditures of $31.970 billion with a gap to be closed of
. illion.
The four-year financial plan for the 1991 through 1994 fiscal years, as submitted to the Control Board on July 11, 1990, contained
the following projections for the 1991-1994 fiscal years: i) t}(,)r 1991, total revenues of $27.922 billion and total expenditures of
$27.922 billion; (ii) for 1992, total revenues of $29.142 billion and total expenditures of $30.112 billion with a gap to be closed of
$970 million; (iii) for 1993, total revenues of $30.705 billion and total expenditures of $31.516 billion with a gap to be closed of
gSl; milllion; and (iv) for 1994, total revenues of $32.308 billion and total expenditures of $33.180 billion with a gap to be closed of
872 million.

(2) The Financial Plan combines the operating revenues and expenditures of the City and certain Covered Organizations, includin
BOE and CUNY. The Financial Plan does not include the total operations of HHC, but does include the City’s subsidy to HH(%
and the City’s share of HHC revenues and expenditures related to HHC’s tole as a Medicaid provider. Certain other Covered
Organizations which provide governmental services to the City, such as the Transit Authority, are separately constituted, and their
accounts are not included; however, City subsidies and certain-other payments to these organizations are included. Revenues and
expenditures are presented net of intra-City items, which are revenues and expenditures arising from transactions between Cit
agencies. Until fiscal year 1989, Covered Organizations’ financial plans were required to be balanced on a cash basis. Starting witg
the 1989 fiscal year, Covered Organizations financial plans are required by the Act to be balanced when reported in accordance
with GAAP, For information concerning the Transit Authority, see “QECTION VII: 1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN-—Assumptions—
Expenditure Assumptions—2. Other Than Personal Service Costs—Transit Authority”.

(3) Revenues include amounts paid and expected to be paid to MAC by the State from sales tax receipts, stock transfer tax receipts and
State per capita aid otherwise pa{ablc by the State to the City. Pursuant to State statute, these revenues flow directly from the State
to MAC, and flow to the City only to the extent not require. by MAC for debt service on MAC bonds and any MAC notes and for
MAC operating expenses and reserve fund requirements. The City includes such revenues as Citillrcvenues and reports the amount
retained by MAC from such revenues as “MAC Debt Service Funding”, although the City has no control over the statuto%
application of such revenues to the extent MAC requiresthem. Estimates of City “Debt Service” include, and estimates of “MA
Debt Service Funding” are reduced by, anticipated payments by the City of debt service on City obligations held by MAC. Other
Taxes include transfers of net OTB revenues.

(4) Criminal Justice Fund revenucs comgrise $150 million, $150 million and $150 million from the eneral Yroperty tax receipts
Frojected for the 1994 through 1996 fiscal years, respectively; $120 million for each of 1995 and 1996 fiscal years from the Cit

ottery; and $200 million, $167 million and $185 million projected to be received from personal income tax for the 1994 throug
1996 fiscal years, respectively.

(5) Inter-fund revenues represent General Fund expenditures, properly inctudable in the Capital Budget, made on behalf of the
Capital Projects Fund pursuant to inter-fund agreements.

(6) The City’s operations refer to the City’s General Fund revenues reduced by expenditures. The revenues and assets of PBCs
included in the City’s audited financial statements do not constitute revenues and assets of the City’s General Fund, and,
accordingly, the revenues of such PBCs, other than net OTB revenues, are not included in the City’s operations. Expenditures
required to be made by the City with respect to such PBCs are included in the City’s operations. For further information regarding
the particular PBCs included in the City’s financial statements, see ‘*APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial
Statements—Note A”’.

(7) For an explanation of projected expenditures for personal service costs, see “SECTION V: CITY SERVICES AND EXPENDITURES—
Employees and Labor Relations”.

For fiscal year 1994, the Financial Plan includes $80 million of Anticipated- State Actions, of which
approximately half require no further approval. The Financial Plan also assumes the receipt of $150 million
of Anticipated Federal Actions in each of the 1994 through 1997 fiscal years. Approximately- half the.
Anticipated State Actions for fiscal year 1994 are subject to approval by the Governor, and the Anticipated
Federal Actions are subject to approval by Congress and the President.

Actions to Close the Gaps

The 1994-1997 Financial Plan reflects a program of proposed actions by the City, State and Federal
governments to close the gaps between projected revenues and expenditures of $1.7 billion, $2.5 billion and
$2.7 billion for the 1995, 1996 and 1997 fiscal years, respectively.

City gap-closing actions total $640 million in the 1995 fiscal year, $814 million in the 1996 fiscal year and
$870 million in the 1997 fiscal year. These actions include increased revenues and reduced expenditures from
agency actions aggregating $165 million, $439 million and $470 million in the 1995 through 1997 fiscal years,
respectively, including productivity savings and savings from restructuring the delivery of City services and
service reductions; possible BOE expenditure reductions aggregating $125 million in each of the 1995
through 1997 fiscal years; and reduced other than personal service costs aggregating $50 million in each of
the 1995 through 1997 fiscal years.

State actions proposed in the gap-closing program total $306 million, $616 million and $766 million in
each of the 1995, 1996 and 1997 fiscal years, respectively. These actions include savings from various
proposed mandate relief measures and the proposed reallocation of State education aid among various
localities totaling $175 million, $325 million and $475 million in each of the 1995, 1996 and 1997 fiscal years,
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respectively. These actions also include $131 million in 1995 and $291 million in each of 1996 and 1997 in
anticipated State actions which could include savings from the proposed State assumption of certain
Medicaid costs or various proposed mandate relief measures.

The Federal actions proposed in the gap-closing program are $100 million and $200 million in increased
Federal assistance in fiscal years 1996 and 1997, respectively.

Other Actions proposed in the gap-closing program represent Federal, State or City actions to be
specified in the future.

Various actions proposed in the Financial Plan, including the proposed continuation of the personal
income tax surcharge beyond December 31, 1995, and the proposed mandate relief, State assumption of
Medicaid costs and reallocation of State education aid, are subject to approval by the Governor and the
State Legislature, and the proposed increase in Federal aid is subject to approval by Congress and the
President. State and Federal actions are uncertain and no assurance can be given that such actions will in fact
be taken or that the savings that the City projects will result from these actions will be realized. The State
Legislature failed to approve the proposed Medicaid and certain mandate relief programs in the last session.
The Financial Plan assumes that these proposals will be approved by the State Legislature during the 1994
fiscal year. If these measures cannot be implemented, the City will be_required_to. take other actions to
decrease expenditures or increase revenues to maintain a balanced financial plan. The continuation of the
personal income tax surcharge through December 31, 1995 has been approved. See “SECTION VII:
1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN—Certain Reports”, “SECTION VII: 1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN—ASssumptions”
and “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—Ratings”.

The City’s projected budget gaps for the 1996 and 1997 fiscal years do not reflect the savings expected to
result from prior years’ programs to close the gaps set forth in the Financial Plan. Thus, for example,
recurring savings anticipated from the actions which the City proposes to take to balance the 1995 budget are
not taken into account in projecting the budget gaps for the 1996 and 1997 fiscal years.

Although. the City has maintained balanced budgets in each of its last thirteen fiscal years, and is
projected to achieve balanced operating results for the 1994 fiscal year, there can be no assurance that the
gap-closing actions proposed in the Financial Plan can be successfully implemented or that the City will
maintain a balanced budget in future years without additional State aid, revenue increases or expenditure
reductions. Additional tax increases and reductions in essential City services could adversely affect the City’s
economic base.

Assumptions

The 1994-1997 Financial Plan is based on numerous assumptions, including the recovery of the City’s
and the region’s economy beginning by the end of calendar year 1993 and the concomitant receipt of
economically sensitive tax revenues in the amounts projected. The 1994-1997 Financial Plan is subject to
various other uncertainties and contingencies relating to, among other factors, the extent, if any, to which
wage increases for City employees exceed the annual increases assumed for the 1994 through 1997 fiscal
years; continuation of the 9% interest earnings assumptions for pension fund assets affecting the City’s
required pension fund contributions; the willingness and ability of the State, in the context of the State’s
current financial condition, to provide the aid contemplated by the Financial Plan and to take various other
actions to assist the City, including the proposed State takeover of certain Medicaid costs and State mandate
relief; the ability of HHC, BOE and other such agencies 1o maintain balanced budgets; the willingness of the
Federal government to provide Federal aid; approval of the proposed continuation of the personal income
tax surcharge and the State budgets; adoption of the City’s budgets by the City Council in substantially the
form of the budgets proposed by the Mayor; the receipt of revenues from the City lottery in the amounts
projected in the Financial Plan; the ability of the City to implement contemplated productivity and service
and personnel reduction programs and the success with which the City controls expenditures; additional
expenditures that may be incurred due to the requirements of certain legislation requiring minimum levels of
funding for education; the City’s ability to market its securities successfully in the public credit markets; the
level of funding required to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990; and additional
expenditures that may be incurred as a result of deterioration in the condition of the City’s infrastructure.
Certain of these assumptions have been questioned by the City Comptroller and other public officials. See
“SECTION VII: 1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN—Certain Reports”. For further information concerning certain
legislation requiring minimum levels of funding for education, see “SECTION VII: 1994-1997 FINANCIAL
PLAN—Assumptions—Expenditure Assumptions—2. Other than Personal Service Costs—Board of
Education”.

As a result of the national and regional economic recession, the State’s tax revenues for its 1991 and
1992 fiscal years were substantially lower than projected. Consequently, the State tookvarious actions for its



1992 fiscal year, which included increases in certain State taxes and fees, substantial decreases in certain
expenditures from previously projected levels, including cuts in State operations and reductions in State aid
to localities, and the sale of $531 million of short-term deficit notes prior to the end of the State’s 1992 fiscal
year. The State’s 1992-93 budget was passed on time, closing an estimated $4.8 billion imbalance resulting
primarily from the national and regional economic recession. Major budgetary actions included a freeze in
the scheduled reduction in the personal income tax and business tax surcharge, adoption of significant
Medicaid cost containment or revenue initiatives, and reductions in both agency operations and grants to
local governments from previously anticipated levels. The State completed its 1993 fiscal year with a positive
margin of $671 million in the General Fund which was deposited into a tax refund reserve account.

The Governor released the recommended Governor’s Executive Budget for the 1993-94 fiscal year on
January 19, 1993. The recommended 1993-94 State Financial Plan projected a balanced General Fund.
General Fund receipts and transfers from other funds were projected at $31.6 billion, including $184 million
carried over from the State’s 1993 fiscal year. Disbursements and transfers from other funds were projected
at $31.5 billion, not including a $67 million repayment to the State’s Tax Stabilization Reserve Fund. To
achieve General Fund budgetary balance in the 1994 State fiscal year, the Governor recommended various
actions. These included proposed spending reductions and other actions that would reduce General Fund
spending ($1.6 billion); continuing the freeze on personal income and corporate tax reductions and on
hospital assessments ($1.3 billion); retaining moneys in the General Fund that would otherwise have been
deposited in dedicated highway and transportation funds ($516 million); a 21-cent increase in the cigarette
tax ($180 million); and new revenues from miscellancous sources ($91 million). The recommended Gover-
nor’s 1993-94 Executive Budget included reductions in anticipated aid to all levels of local government.

In comparison to the recommended 1993-94 Executive Budget, the 1993-94 State budget, as enacted,
reflects increases in both receipts and disbursements in the General Fund of $811 million.

The $811 million increase in projected receipts reflects (i) an increase of $487 million, from $184 million
to $671 million, in the positive year-end margin at March 31, 1993, which resulted primarily from improving
economic conditions and higher than expected tax collections, (ii) an increase of $269 million in projected
receipts, $211 million resulting from the improved 1992-93 results and the expectation of an improving
economy- and the-balance from- improved auditing and enforcement measures and other miscellaneous
items, (iii) additional payments of $200 million from the Federal government to reimburse the State for the
cost of providing indigent medical care, and (iv) the payment of an additional $50 million of personal income
tax refunds in the 1992-93 fiscal year which would otherwise have been paid in fiscal year 1993-94; offset by
(v) $195 million of revenue raising recommendations in the Executive Budget that were not enacted and thus
are not included in the 1993-94 State Financial Plan.

The $811 million increase in projected disbursements reflects (i)-an increase of $252 million-in- pro--
jected school aid payments, after applying estimated receipts from the State Lottery allocated to school aid,
(ii) an increase of $194 million in projected payments for Medicaid assistance and other social service
programs, (iii) additional spending on the judiciary ($56 million) and criminal justice ($48 million), (iv) anet
increase in projected disbursements for all other programs and purposes, including mental hygiene and
capital projects, of $161 million, after reflecting certain re-estimates in spending, and (v) the transfer of
$100 million to a newly established contingency reserve.

The second quarterly update to the 1993-94 State Financial Plan was released on October 29, 1993. The
update included increased estimates of receipts and disbursements from those set forth in the 1993-94 State
Financial Plan formulated on April 16, 1993, as modified by the first quarterly update issued on J uly 30, 1993.
The second quarterly update increased the potential year-end positive margin in the General Fund to
$38 million from the $5 million margin forecast in the first quarterly update. The short-term economic
forecast for the national economy contained in the second quarterly update is basically unchanged from July.
The forecast for the State economy calls for economic growth to begin late in calendar year 1993 with an
acceleration of gains in employment, income and wages anticipated in 1994. The State Division of the
Budget has cautioned, however, that its forecast for both the State and the national economies is subject to
uncertainties with respect to the level of consumer and business confidence, the effect of cutbacks in Federal
spending and the weakness in the European and Japanese economies, among other factors.
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The 1993-94 State budget, as enacted, included $400 million less in State actions than the City had
anticipated. As a result of adjustments to education aid formulas, the City received an additional $145 mil-
lion in education funds. However, the State Legislature failed to enact a takeover of local Medicaid costs,
other significant mandate relief items and certain Medicaid cost containment items proposed by the
Governor, which would have provided the City with savings. The adopted State budget increased sanctions
on social service programs; eliminated the pass-through-of a State surcharge on-parking tickets, cut reim-
bursement for transportation operations under the Consolidated Local Highway Assistance Program, and
required a large contribution in City funds to hold the MTA fare at the current level. In the event of any
significant reduction in projected State revenues or increases in projected State expenditures from the
amounts currently projected by the State, there could be an adverse impact on the timing and amounts of
State aid payments to the City in the future. For further information concerning the State, including the
State’s credit ratings, see “SECTION VII: 1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN—Assumptions”.

In certain prior fiscal years, the State has failed to enact a budget prior to the beginning of the State’s
fiscal year. A delay in the adoption of the State’s budget beyond the statutory April 1 deadline and the
resultant delay in the State’s Spring borrowing has in certain prior years delayed the projected receipt by the
City of State aid, and there can be no assurance that State budgets in future fiscal years will be adopted by the
April 1 statutory deadline.

The State has noted that its forecasts of tax receipts have been subject to variance in recent fiscal years.
As a result of these uncertainties and other factors, actual results could differ materially and adversely from
the State’s current projections and the State’s projections could be materially and adversely changed from
time to time.

On January 13, 1992, Standard & Poor’s Corporation (“Standard & Poor’s”) reduced its ratings on the
State’s general obligation bonds from A to A— and, in addition, reduced its ratings on the State’s moral
obligation, lease purchase, guaranteed and contractual obligation debt. Standard & Poor’s also continued its
negative rating outlook assessment on State general obligation debt. On April 26, 1993, Standard & Poor’s
revised the rating outlook assessment to stable. On June 15, 1993, Standard & Poor’s confirmed its
January 1992 rating and continued its outlook as stable with respect to the State’s general obligation bonds.
On January 6, 1992, Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”) reduced its ratings on outstanding limited-
liability State lease purchase and contractual obligations from A to Baal. On June 15, 1993, Moody’s
reconfirmed its A rating on the State’s general obligation long-term indebtedness.

The projections and assumptions contained in-the 1994-1997 Financial Plan are subject to revision.
which may involve substantial change, and no assurance can be given that these estimates and projections,
which include actions which the City expects will be taken but which are not within the City’s control, will be
realized. The principal projections and assumptions described below are based on information available in
October 1993. For information regarding certain recent developments, see “SECTION I: RECENT FINANCIAL
DEVELOPMENTS”.

Revenue Assumptions

1. GENERAL ECONOMIC CONDITIONS

In recent years, forecasting business and individual income taxes has been complicated by the difficulty
of estimating the effects of Federal tax reform and new State and local laws, as well as the difficulty of
assessing the impact of the current recession and the declines in employment since 1987 on the receipt of tax.
revenues. The Financial Plan now projects that the economy has stabilized and that there will be a modest
recovery beginning by the end of the 1993 calendar year. However, there can be no assurance that the City
will recover from the current recession at that time or to the extent assumed in the Financial Plan or that the
economically sensitive tax revenues projected in the Financial Plan to be received will be received in the
amounts anticipated.
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The following table presents a forecast of the key economic indicators for the calendar years 1993
through 1997. This forecast is based upon information available in October 1993.

FoRECAST OF KEY ECONOMIC INDICATORS

Calendar Years

U.S. ECONOMY _]_223_ _1_2‘! 29_5 1_92§ wl
Economic Activity and Income
Real GDP ($ billions of 1987 dollars) .................. 51222 52854 54225 55345 57008
Percent Change..........coovvvvniiiiinnienaannnns 2.7 32 2.6 2.1 3.0
Pre-tax Corporate Profits ($ billions) .................. 4371 4877 4739 4716 5109
Percent Change.......ooovveveeevrneeninaanneen. 10.6 11.6 (2.8) (0.5) 8.3
Personal Income ($ billions) .............oooiiiennt. 5389.0 5,693.8 6,0159 6,352.7 6,708.3
Percent Change..........coovvvnernieniaennnn. 4.7 5.7 57 5.6 5.6
Nonagricultural Employment (millions) ............... 110.1 1123 114.8 116.8 119.0
Change From Prior Year ............coccniininn 1.6 22 25 20 22
Unemployment Rate .........ooooiiiieiinieiinnn. 6.9 6.3 5.9 6.1 6.0
CPI-All Urban (1982-84=100) ........ccovvniraiennnt. 1447 1493 1542 1594 1647
Percent Change . ......ooevvereeneerninnaneennen. 31 3.2 33 3.4 33
3Month T-Bill Rate.....coovviniiiininneiiniieens, 30 32 32 2.9 35
CITY ECONOMY
Personal Income ($ billions) ..o 1842 1929 2017 2110 2223
Percent Change........ooveeevnniivnaninnenneen. 22 47 4.6 4.6 5.4
Nonagricultural Employment (thousands) ............. 32549 32552 3,268.6 32879 33148
Change From Prior Year ............coovieineenn (30.2) 0.3 13.4 19.2 26.9
Real Gross City Product ($ billions of 1987 dollars) ... 2181 2235 2275 2322 2390
Percentage Change ...........ccoevievveneeenonn. (2.3) 2.5 1.8 21 29
CPI-All Urban NY-NJ Area
(1982-84=100) . ...vvvvrmrnniriiinniin e 1547 1600 1656 1717 1781
Percent Change.........ocovveveninuernnnenecnnn. 31 34 35 3.7 37

SOURCE: OMB model for the City economy.

2. REAL ESTATE TAX

Projections of real estate tax revenues are based on a number of assumptions, including, among others,
assumptions relating to the tax rate, the assessed valuation of the City’s taxable real estate, the delinquency
rate, debt service needs, a reserve for uncollectible taxes and the operating limit. See “SECTION IV: SOURCES
oF CIty REVENUES—Real Estate Tax”.

The delinquency rate for the 1993 fiscal year was 4.19%. The 1994-1997 Financial Plan projects
delinquency rates of 3.82%, 3.35%, 2.91% and 2.82%, respectively, for the 1994 through 1997 fiscal years.
For information concerning the delinquency rate for prior years, see “SECTION IV: SOURCES OF CITY
REVENUES—Real Estate Tax—Collection of the Real Estate Tax”. For a description of proceedings seeking
real estate tax refunds from the City, see “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—Litigation—Taxes”. For
information concerning a commission created to study real property tax reform, see “SECTION IV: SOURCES
OF CITY REVENUES—Real Estate Tax—Assessment”.
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3. OTHER TAXES

The following table sets forth amounts of revenues (net of refunds) from taxes other than the real estate
tax projected to be received by the City in the 1994-1997 Financial Plan. The amounts set forth below include
projected tax program revenues and excludes the Criminal Justice Fund and audit revenues.

1994 1995 1996 1997
T 7 (in Miltions) —
Personal Income(1) .....ooveeiiiiiiiinienenniiiaae, $3,346 $3,574 §$ 3,783 § 4,231
General Corporation............coovvviverieenaaans 1,041 1,090 1,140 1,192
Banking Corporation ............coooeiiiiiiiiii 470 445 470 468
Unincorporated Business Income................ ...... 422 455 482 514
GBS . et 2,456 2,568 2,690 2,818
Commercial Rent ... ...t e 616 623 645 672
Real Property Transfer..............cooooiiiiin ooninn 142 150 164 179 -
Mortgage Recording ........c.ooovivniiiinnns vivnen - 126. 136 151 168
L0113 2 PRI REEEE 207 203 211 219
AlLOther(2) . .o.oeee it e 657 606 610 730
TOtal ot e e $9,483 $9,850 $10,346 $11,191

(1) Personal Income excludes amounts to be paid to the Criminal Justice Fund of $200 million, $167 miltion and $185 million in the
1994 through 1996 fiscal years, respectively. Personal Income includes revenues which would be generated by extension of an.
existing personal income tax surcharge amounting to $142 million, $415 million, $440 million and $4§0 million in the 1994 through
1997 fiscal years, respectively. The Financial Plan assumes renewal of the surcharge, which requires enactment of State legislation.

(2) All Other includes, among others, stock transfer tax, the OTB nct revenues, cigarette, beer and liquor taxes, the hotel tax and the-
automobile use tax. Stock transfer tax is $114 million in each of the 1994 through 1997 fiscal years. All Other excludes Criminal
Justice Fund revenues from the City lottery of $120 million in each of the 1995 and 1996 fiscal years, respectively.

The 1994-1997 Financial Plan reflects the following assumptions regarding projected baseline revenues
from Other Taxes: (i) with respect to personal income tax revenues, declining employment and sluggish wage
and non-wage income growth; (ii) with respect to the general corporation tax, stabilization in the outlook for
the manufacturing, trade and business service sectors and continued strength in the securities industry in the
1993 fiscal year, with moderate growth thereafter; (iii) with respect to the banking corporation tax, earnings
declining in the 1994 through 1996 fiscal years as an improving economy causes interest rate spreads to
narrow; (iv) with respect to the unincorporated business tax, continued strength in the securities industry
partially offset by further weakness in the service sector, and continued improvement in fiscal year 1994;
(v) with respect to the sales tax; growth below. the rate of inflation until the 1994 fiscal year based on the
projections for local employment and wage income; (vi) with respect to the mortgage recording and real
property transfer taxes, a slow recovery in the 1994 fiscal year and the proposed extension of the mortgage
recording tax to cooperatives; (vii) with respect to the commercial rent tax, declines in asking rental rates and-
negotiated contract rents for office space due to the glut of available space resulting from business reloca-
tions, failures, mergers and general downsizing as well as the proposed increase in the taxable thresholds;
and (viii) with respect to the All Other category, the current general economic forecast. The 1994-1997
Financial Plan also assumes the timely extension by the State Legislature of the current rate structures for
the non-resident earnings tax, for the resident personal income tax, for the general corporation tax, for the
two special sales taxes and for the cigarette tax. Legislation extending these taxes to December 31, 1995 has
been approved. The City intends to seek additional extensions through at least the 1997 fiscal year.
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4. MISCELLANEOUS REVENUES

The following table sets forth amounts of miscellaneous revenues projected to be received by the Cityin
the 1994-1997 Financial Plan.

1994 1995 1996 1997

~—  Tln Millions)
Licenses, Permits and Franchises ..............coooees $ 214 $ 209 § 211 § 209
Interest INCOME . v vvveereneneinrnranenssnansneecs cannss 74 91 105 112
Charges fOr SEIVICES .+ vuvnnnrirreeererinnuereess 400 397 391 393
Water and Sewer Payments(1) ......c.oooiviiients s 749 727 716 726
Rental INCOIME . o vvvrereereeriannaaeaeenaeas s 180 203 193 188
Fines and Forfeitures ... ooouveirveninainmaneriaennn 472 437 369 364
(01T S 793 439 344 310
Intra-City REVENUES . . ... 684 785 788 794
U o) D $3,566 $3,288 $3,117 $3,096

(1) Received from the Water Board. For further information regarding the Water Board, see “SECTION VII: 1994-1997 FINANCIAL
PraN—Long-Term Capital and Financing Program”.

The 1994-1997 Financial Plan projects that aggregate miscellancous revenues except for the “Other”
category will remain relatively stable with offsetting increases and declines. Rental Income is estimated to
increase in the 1994 through 1997 fiscal years due to the anticipated renegotiation of the airport lease with
the Port Authority. For the 1994 through 1997 fiscal years, the 1994-1997 Financial Plan provides that water
and sewer payments levied and collected by the Water Board will fully reimburse the City for the debt service
associated with general obligation bonds issued by the City for water and sewer system purposes. Other
Revenues in the 1994 fiscal year include $120 million from union contributions and $85 million from the
recovery of prior year FICA overpayments.

5. UNRESTRICTED INTERGOVERNMENTAL AID
The following table sets forth amounts of unrestricted intergovernmental aid projected to be received
by the City in the 1994-1997 Financial Plan.
1994 1995 1996 1997
(In Millions)

State Revenue Sharing.........ooovvevervivains covmmminnneces $293  $293 $293 $293
10 1T o N D 236 168 178 178
12 7 T $529 $461 $471 471

The “Other Aid” category mainly consists of $10 million annually of the Consolidated Local Highway
Assistance Program aid, approximately $88 to $107 million from aid associated with the State takeover of
long-term care Medicaid costs, $76 to $27 million of recoupment for welfare clients who were originally
denied disability assistance and $30 to $25 million from New York State fraud audits.

The receipt of State Revenue Sharing funds could be affected by potential prior claims asserted by the
State. For information concerning recent shortfalls.in projected State tax revenues and the possible impact
on State aid to the City, see “SECTION VII: 1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN—Assumptions”.
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6. FEDERAL AND STATE CATEGORICAL GRANTS
The following table sets forth amounts of Federal and State categorical grants projected to be received

by the City in the 1994-1997 Financial Plan.
1994 1995 1996 1997

(In Millions)

Federal
T PA e e e e $ 92 $ 74 % 74 § 74
Community Development(1) ...........oooainnnnn. 306 258 258 258
WWElFATE oottt i i 2,351 2,220 2237 2,251
EdUCation ..o ve oottt e eie e 709 675 675 675
[0 3111, U P 309 176 183 187
S 137 ) ARP $3,767 $3,403 $3,427 §3,445
State
7 Y < S $1,877 $1,923 $1,945 $1,964
EdUcation . oot eneeenanaaeneaeaaanns 3,343 3,424 3,503 3,591
Higher Education ............cooveiiiiinn. 162 126 128 122
Health and Mental Health................cooiiint 214 202 200 200
(07117= U 256 251 262 293
8 03 2 AP $5,852  $5,926 $6,038 $6,170

(1) This amount represents the projected annual level of new funds. U nspent Community Development grants from prior fiscal years
could increase the amount actually received.

The 1994-1997 Financial Plan assumes that all existing Federal and State categorical grant programs
will continue, unless specific legislation provides for theit termination or adjustment, and assumes increases
in aid where increased costs are projected for existing grant programs. For information concerning recent
shortfalls in projected State tax revenues and the possible impact on State aid to the City, see “SECTION ViI:
1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN—Assumptions”.

A major component of Federal categorical aid to the City is the Community Development program.
Pursuant to Federal legislation, Community Development grants are provided to cities primarily to aid low
and moderate income persons by improving housing facilities, parks and other capital improvements, by
providing certain social programs and by promoting economic development. These grants are based on a
formula that takes into consideration such factors as population, housing overcrowding and poverty.

As of September 30, 1993, approximately 11.37% of the City’s full-time employees (consisting of
employees of the mayoral agencies and BOE) were paid by JTPA funds, Community Development funds and
from other sources not funded by unrestricted revenues of the City.

The City’s receipt of categorical aid is contingent upon the satisfaction of certain statutory conditions and is
subject to subsequent audits, possible disallowances and possible prior claims by the State or Federal govern-
ments. The general practice of the State and Federal governments has been to deduct the amount of any
disallowances against the current year’s payment. While it may be legally possible for substantial disallowances of
aid claims to be asserted during the course of the 1994-1997 Financial Plan, the City believes, based on past
administrative and legislative actions, that it is unlikely that substantial disallowances would occur. The amounts
of such disallowances attributable to prior years declined from $124 million in the 1977 fiscal year to $8 million in
the 1993 fiscal year. This decrease reflects improved claims control procedures and favorable experience with the
level of disallowances in recent years. As of June 30, 1993. the City had an accumulated reserve of $189 million
for future disallowances of categorical aid. The 1994-1997 Financial Plan contains a provision for aid disallow-
ances of $15 million for each of the City’s 1994 through 1997 fiscal years.

On April 8, 1993, President Clinton formally submitted to Congress a budget for Federal fiscal year 1994. On
November 10, 1993, the last of thirteen appropriations bills for Federal fiscal year 1994 was approved by
Congess. All of the bills have been signed into law by the President. The appropriations provide higher funding
for a number of programs which benefit the City. These include additional transportation funds through the
Intermodal Surface Transportation Efficiency Act Program, Community Development Block Grant funds,
HOME Investment Partnership Program funds, and Head Start funds. Increases for a number of programs could
also yield additional Federal aid for the City. These programs include State Legalization Impact Assistance
Grants, a Supportive Housing Program, Tuberculosis Elimination Grants and HIV Education and Prevention
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Grants. There are several rescission bills and deficit reduction bills pending for Federal fiscal year 1994 and, while
it does not appear that their passage will have a substantial impact on the City, the City will continue to monitor
them until the final Federal budget is enacted.

Expenditure Assumptions
1. PERSONAL SERVICE COSTS

The following table sets forth projected expenditures for personal service costs contained in the 1994-1997
Financial Plan.

1994 1995 1996 1997

- ~(in Millions) -
Wages and Slaries ... «..o.onvenereraen $11,161 $11,261 $11,388  $11,458
PEDSIONS .+« « v v e e emaemeanensar e ssa e snsee e 1,499 1,438 1,515 1,433
Other Fringe Benefits ........ooooireemiminen oo 2,773 2,996 3,208 3,443
Reserve for Collective Bargaining(l) ........ooeooee «oev 186 808 951 1,001
TOAL « v e eee e 15,619 16,503 17,062 17,335

(1) The Reserve for Collective Bargaining is contained in the Miscellaneous Budget and provides funding for the prospective labor
settlements for all agencies.

The 1994-1997 Financial Plan projects that the authorized number of City-funded employees whose salaries:
are paid directly from City funds, as opposed to Federal or State funds, will decrease from an estimated level of
212,853 on June 30, 1994 to an estimated level of 208,228 by June 30, 1997, assuming the gap-closing program
contained in the Financial Plan is successfully implemented.

On January 11, 1993 the City announced a settlement with a coalition of 19 municipal unions for a 39-month
period that will extend into fiscal year 1995. The coalition of 19 unions includes District Council 37 and Local 237
and represents approximately 449 of the City’s workforce. This settlement, which has been ratified by the
unions, provides that employees will receive no wage increase during the first 18 months of the agreement, a 2%
increase in the 19th month of the agreement, another 2% increase in the 31st month of the agreement and a3%
increase in the 36th month of the agreement. Thus by the end of the term of the agreement the wage increase will
total 7.16%. Other benefits include a one-time bonus of $700, a one-time payment to union-administered welfare
funds of $125 per employee and retiree and annual increases to the welfare funds totalling $200 per employee
and retiree per year. As an offset to these costs, employees hired after the first wage increase will be hired at
salaries that do not include any of the increases; they will remain at those salaries for one year. If the value of all
of the benefits contained in the agreement are included, the total net increase by the end of the agreement period
is 8.25%. Subsequently, the City reached similar agreements with the United Probation Officers Association
which represents approximately 800 probation officers, the Professional Staff Congress (“PSC”) which
represents over 3,000 full-time and part-time professors at the community colleges of City University and the
UFOA which represents approximately 2,500 fire officers. The PSC agreement is retroactive to November 1,
1990 and will extend through June 30, 1995. The UFOA agreement is retroactive to November 1, 1990 and will
extend through April 30, 1995.

On August 4, 1992, the UFT filed a declaration of impasse with the New York State Public Employment
Relations Board (“PERB”). Hearings before a panel of fact-finders began on January 13 and concluded on
February 7, 1993. The panel issued its non-binding recommendations on April 28, 1993. The panel gave great
weight to the pattern established by the settlement with a coalition of municipal unions in January, which called
for increases totaling 8.25% for a thirty-nine month period and included a freeze on starting salaries for new
employees. In its report, the panel recommended the same increases for teachers, with the exception of the wage
freeze for starting salaries (which adds an additional 0.25% onto the cost). On August 30, 1993, BOE and the City
announced an agreement with the UFT. The agreement, which has been ratified by the UFT’s membership, is
generally consistent with the coalition agreement. However, while the coalition agreement is for a period of 39
months and provides for a freeze on starting salaries for new employees, the UFT agreement covers a 48Y; month
period and does not freeze starting salaries. For the first 39 months of the UFT agreement, the net expenditure
increase will total 8.5%, the increase recommended by the fact-finding panel. For the period beyond the first 39
months, the net expenditure increase is based on a mathematical proration and will amount to 2.06%. The
agreement also contains various educational reforms that will yield savings that are expected to help fund the
agreement.
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The 1994-1997 Financial Plan reflects the costs associated with the 39 ‘month settlements and provides for
similar increases for all City-funded employees. Additional sums in the amounts of $42 million for fiscal year 1995
and $79 million for each year thereafter have been added to the Financial Plan to provide funding for the
additional 9% months provided for under the UFT agreement.

The 1994-1997 Financial Plan also provides for the cost of wage increases for the correction officers who
reached a tentative agreement with the City on November 13, 1993 for a fifteen month period spanning the 1991
and 1992 fiscal years, based on the framework established by the 1991 police officers arbitration. The Financial
Plan provides no additional wage increases for City employees after the 1995 fiscal year. Each 1% wage increase
for all employees commencing in the 1995 or 1996 fiscal year would cost the City an additional $30 million for the
1995 fiscal year and $135 million for the 1996 fiscal year and $150 million each year thereafter above the amounts
provided for in the Financial Plan. The terms of wage settlements could be determined through the impasse
procedure in the New York City Collective Bargaining Law, which can impose a binding settlement.

The agreement with the coalition of municipal unions also calls for the implementation of at least six
workforce productivity initiatives in mid-1993; the savings produced by these initiatives will be shared with the
workers involved. A Productivity Advisory Council with members from business, academia and labor has been
established to advise the City concerning these and other initiatives.

On March 12, 1993, an impasse panel issued an interim award covering approximately 8,800 firefighters of
the Uniformed Firefighters Association (the “UFA”) for the fifteen month period beginning July 1, 1990. On
May 17, 1993 the panel issued its final award. The award conforms to the pattern set by other uniformed unions
for that fifteen month period and funding for the award is reflected in the 1994-1997 Financial Plan. On June 18,
1993, the New York City Board of Collective Bargaining affirmed the impasse panel’s final award following an
appeal by the UFA.

For a discussion of the City’s pension costs, see “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—Pension Systems”
and “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Note R”.

2. OTHER THAN PERSONAL SERVICE COSTS
The following table sets forth projected OTPS expenditures contained in the 1994-1997 Financial Plan.

1994 1995 _19_2§ 1997
(in Millions)

Administrative OTPS .....c.iivneiiieii i $ 6239 $6069 $6249 $ 6456

PUbLC ASSISLATICE + + v e v e vnvvnannraensensensaassnsnnns 3,144 3,234 3,293 3,348
Medical Assistance (Excluding City Medicaid Payments

1O 3 15 (©) T FCRIETETERELEE 1,860 2,046 2,272 2,534

HHC SUPPOTt « e ennninneeeesinnnnaninseeaans 978 1,110 1,024 1,050

0T T 1,541 1,617 1,657 1,685

TOAL .+ e eveeiiee e e 13762 14076 14495 15073

Administrative OTPS

The 1994-1997 Financial Plan contains estimates of the City’s administrative OTPS expenditures for general
supplies and materials, equipment and selected contractual services in the 1994 fiscal year. Thereafter, to account
for inflation, selected OTPS expenditures are projected to rise by approximately 3.8% in fiscal year 1995, 4.1% in
fiscal year 1996 and 4.0% in fiscal year 1997. However, it is assumed that the savings from a procurement
initiative will offset the need for funding projected increases in OTPS expenditures that result from the
accounting for infiation.
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Energy
The 1994-1997 Financial Plan assumes different rates of inflation for energy costs for each of the 1995
through 1997 fiscal years. Inflation rates for each of the 1995 through 1997 fiscal years are set forth in the

following table.
1o 199 1997
(In Millions)

Gasoline and Fuel Oil ... ..ot it e 50% 9.0% 10.0%
EleCHICIY . . o v v e e ettt e e e 3.0 50 7.0
NAtural Gas. . ooere et eei i eeeeeannrrannaeneetsineeannnn . 30 4.0 6.0

Total energy expenditures are projected at $433 million in the 1994 fiscal year, rising to $507 million in
the 1997 fiscal year. These estimates assume a constant level of energy usage, with the exception of varying
annual workload and consumption changes from additional buildings taken by the City through in rem tax
proceedings, the privatization initiative in the In-Rem Program and the annualization of fiscal year 1994
adjustments, where applicable.

Public Assistance

The average number of persons receiving income benefits under public assistance is projected to be
1,115,823 per month in the 1994 fiscal year. The 1994-1997 Financial Plan projects that the average number
of recipients will increase by 6.5% in the 1994 fiscal year from the average number of recipients in the 1993
fiscal year. The Financial Plan assumes that past trends of increases in the public assistance grant level will
continue during the 1994 fiscal year, with a projected annual increase in the average grant of 0.07%. Of total
public assistance expenditures in the City for the 1994 fiscal year, the City-funded portion is projected to be
$858.7 million. The City-funded portion of public assistance expenditures is projected to be $897.2 million in
the 1995 fiscal year, an increase of 4.4% from the 1994 fiscal year, increasing to $914.1 million in the 1997
fiscal year.

Medical Assistance

Medical assistance payments projected in the Financial Plan consist of payments to voluntary hospitals,
skilled nursing facilities, intermediate care facilities, home care and physicians and other medical practition-
ers. The City-funded portion of medical assistance payments is estimated at $1.784 billion for the 1994 fiscal
year and is expected to increase to $2.469 billion in the 1997 fiscal year. Such payments include, among other
things, City-funded Medicaid payments, but exclude City-funded Medicaid payments to HHC, as discussed
below. City Medicaid costs (including City-funded -Medicaid payments to-HHC) assumed in the 1994-1997
Financial Plan do not include Medicaid costs for the mentally disabled and 80% of the non-Federal share of
long-term care costs which have been assumed by the State. The 1994-1997 Financial Plan projects savings of
$549 million in the 1994 fiscal year due to the State having assumed such costs, and projects such savings will
increase to $622 million in the 1997 fiscal year.

Health and Hospitals Corporation

The 1994-1997 Financial Plan anticipates a decrease in the 1994 fiscal year of approximately $31 million
in the City subsidy portion of the total City funds provided to HHC from the 1993 fiscal year.

Support for HHC in the 1994-1997 Financial Plan includes City-funded Medicaid payments to HHC as
well as other subsidies to HHC. City-funded Medicaid payments to HHC are estimated at approximately
$609 million in the 1994 fiscal year and are projected to be approximately $626 million in the 1997 fiscal year.

HHC operates under its own section of the 1994-1997 Financial Plan as a Covered Organization.
HHC’s financial plan projects City-funded expenditures of $978 million for the 1994 fiscal year (including
debt service and lease payments), increasing to $1.050 billion in the 1997 fiscal year. The City-funded
expenditures in the 1994 fiscal year include $278 million of general City support, $609 million of Medicaid
payments to HHC and $90 million for certain intra-city payments. The HHC plan projects total expenditures
of $3.260 billion in the 1994 fiscal year, increasing to $3.541 billion in the 1997 fiscal year. The plan projects
no gaps between revenues and expenditures in the 1994 through 1997 fiscal years. These projections assume:
(i) an increase in wages of 2.0% in fiscal year 1994, and no increases in the 1995 through 1997 fiscal years;
(ii) a 1.6% increase in each of the 1994 through 1997 fiscal years in the cost of contracts with-affiliated
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medical schools (which provide some of the supervisory and professional staff for City hospitals);
(iii) increases in pension costs; (iv) an increase of 4.5% in fiscal year 1994, 4.7% in fiscal year 1995, 4.7% in
fiscal year 1996 and 4.7% in fiscal year 1997 in other than personal service costs (excluding fuel and per diem
nursing costs); and (v) a weighted Medicaid in-patient rate increase of 3.6%, 2.9%, 2.9% and 2.9% in fiscal
years 1994 through 1997, respectively. Significant changes have been and may be made in Medicaid,
Medicare and other third-party payor programs, which changes could have a material adverse impact on
HHC’s financial condition. President Clinton has recommended comprehensive changes to the current
health care system encompassing the delivery and financing of health care and related services: If enacted,;
such changes may adversely affect the operations of HHC, including its ability to compete for patients and
the level of reimbursemént it receives for medical services.

Other
The projections set forth the 1994-1997 Financial Plan for “Other” OTPS include the City’s contribu-
tions to the Transit Authority, the Housing Authority, CUNY and subsidies to libraries and various cultural
institutions. They also include projections for the cost of future judgments and claims which are discussed
separately below under “Judgments and Claims”. In the past, the City has provided additional assistance to
certain Covered Organizations which had exhausted their financial resources prior to the end of the fiscal’
year, No assurance can be given that similar additional assistance will not be required in the future.

Transit Authority

The City submitted to the Control Board on August 6, 1993 a financial plan for the Transit Authority
covering its 1993 through 1997 fiscal years (the “Transit Authority Financial Plan”). The TA fiscal year is the
calendar year. The Transit Authority Financial Plan projects for its 1993 fiscal year, among other things, a
cash-basis surplus of $1.7 million and operating expenses of approximately $3.6 billion. City assistance to the
TA is $632.1 million for the TA’s 1993 fiscal year. This plan includes an increase in the City’s contribution
over the previous plan of $91 million in 1993 and $65 million per year in the out-years in order to maintain
the fare at $1.25 until 1995.

For 1993, the TA originally projected a budget gap of approximately $265.9 million in the TAs 1993
fiscal year operating budget proposal submitted to the MTA on November 9, 1992. This proposal included
the assumption of the City’s paratransit program, Access-a-Ride, on July 1, 1993 at an expected net cost of
$5.1 million. The budget adopted by the MTA Board on December 18, 1992 incorporated a 20% increase in
Triborough Bridge and Tunnel Authority (the “TBTA”) tolls effective January 31, 1993 which is expected to
raise $43.7 million. Combined with modifications to cash flow adjustments, the budget gap was reduced to
$229.1 million.

Subsequently the MTA revised the TA's 1993 budget in April 1993 to reflect the State’s 1994 fiscal year
budget. The revised budget includes the additional City funds, a portion of the Petroleum Business Tax
revenues in the amount of $73.2 million, the restoration through November 1995 of the Corporate Tax
Surcharge and other MTA actions that will close the TA's budget gap in 1993.

The Transit Authority Financial Plan forecasts cash-basis gaps of $29.8 million, $471.9 million,
$613.4 million and $764.2 million in its 1994 through 1997 fiscal years, respectively, before implementation of
gap-closing actions. These gaps are not required to be funded in the City’s own financial plans. The gaps
projected for its 1994 to 1997 fiscal years in the Transit Authority Financial Plan occur, in part, because
expenditures are expected to increase by 22.4 percent between fiscal years 1993 and 1997 while revenues are
expected to increase by 1.7 percent during the same period. The plan assumes that the gaps beyond 1993 will
be closed in part through restoration by the end of 1995 of certain State taxes (which were restored only
through November 1995 by the State legislature) which will be available to the MTA, additional Federal,
State or local assistance, increased user charges, productivity measures, reduced service levels, additional
management actions, or some combination of these actions.

On April 5, 1993, the State Legislature approved and the Governor subsequently signed into law,
legislation authorizing a five-year $9.56 billion capital plan for the MTA for 1992 through 1996 including
approximately $7.4 billicn in projects for the TA, with the additional resources to be provided by additional
Federal, State and City capital funds, MTA bonds and other MTA resources. The MTA has submitted a
1992-1996 Capital Program based on this legislation for the approval of the MTA Capital Program Review
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Board (the “CPRB”), as State law requires. The State has assumed a City capital contribution $500 million
greater than the amount funded in the City’s Ten-year Capital Strategy. Unless the MTA identifies additional
resources, parts of the 1992-1996 Capital Program may be deferred or reduced.

If approved, the 1992-1996 Capital Program would supersede a one-year program adopted in 1992. The
1992-1996 Capital Program would succeed two previous five-year capital programs for the periods covering
1982-1986 and 1987-1991. The 1987-1991 Capital Program totaled approximately $8.0 billion, including
$6.2 billion for TA capital projects.

The MTA originally submitted its 1992-1996 Capital Program proposal to the CPRB for approval with
projected total spending of $10.0 billion, of which the TA portion was $7.7 billion. Due to questions about
how the funding gaps in the MTA’s proposed 1992-1996 Capital Program would be closed, the CPRB
disapproved the proposal “without prejudice” on December 27, 1991. Pending the approval of a 1992-1996
Capital Program, the MTA proceeded with first-half fiscal year 1992 capital projects for which funding was
available under existing authority. On March 9, 1992 the MTA submitted revised 1992-1996 Capital Program
proposals, which identified $6.7 billion in potential funding, most of which required action by various levels
of government. The resubmission included a funding gap of $3.3 billion, for which sources were not
identified. On April 10, 1992, the CPRB disapproved the resubmission “without prejudice.” Subsequently,
the MTA submitted to the CPRB a proposed one-year capital program for its 1992 fiscal year, consisting of
$1.635 billion of projects for the TA and the commuter systems combined, for which $1.6 billion of related
funding has been identified. The MTA’s submission was deemed approved by the CPRB on May 28, 1992 and
is consistent with the State’s enacted 1993 budget. The State required the MTA to submit to the CPRB by
October 1, 1992 a revised 1992-1996 Capital Program, and the MTA complied. This third submission
reduccd the overall program to $9.6 billion, for which $3.7 billion in funding sources was not identified. The
submission was disapproved “without prejudice” on December 30, 1992, again due to the funding shortfalls.

Board of Education

The Stavisky-Goodman Act requires the City to allocate to BOE an amount of funds from the total
budget either equal to the average proportion of the total budget appropriated for BOE in the three
preceding fiscal years or an amount agreed upon by the City and BOE. In the Financial Plan 25.41% of the
City’s budget is allocated to BOE for the 1994 fiscal year, exceeding the amount required by the Stavisky-
Goodman Act. The Financial Plan allocation to BOE reflects a reduction of $60 million in funding to be
provided to BOE by the City in 1994 from the amount appropriated to BOE in the City’s 1994 adopted.
budget. The City has reached agrecement with BOE identifying additional resources available to BOE in
1994, These resources will permit BOE to replace the substantial gap closing actions which were assumed in
the adopted budget to be met through reductions in BOE personnel. The agreement also implements the
$60 million reduction in City funding reflected in the Financial Plan. The additional resources identified for
BOE will not require any net increase in the City’s tax levy supported budget in 1964.

The 1994-1997 Financial Plan assumes student enrollment to be 1,020,290, 1,044,088, 1,066,921,
1,086,993 in the 1994 through 1997 fiscal years, respectively.

Judgments and Claims

In the fiscal year ended on June 30, 1993, the City expended $231 million for judgments and claims. The
1994-1997 Financial Plan includes provisions for judgments and claims of $222 million, $243 million,
$253 million and $262 million for the 1994 through 1997 fiscal years, respectively. The City is a party to
numercus lawsuits and is the subject of numerous claims and investigations. The City has estimated that its
potential future liability- on ccount. of outstanding claims. against it as. of June 30, 1993 amounted to
approximately $2.2 billion. This estimate was made by categorizing the various claims and applying a
statistical model, based primarily on actual seitlements by type of claim during the preceding ten fiscal years,
and by supplementing the estimated liability with information supplied by the City’s Corporation Counsel.
For further information regarding certain of these claims, see “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—
Litigation™.

In addition to the above claims, numerous real estate tax certiorari proceedings involving allegations of
inequality of assessment, illegality and overvaluation are currently pending against the City. The City’s 1993
Financial Statements estimate that the potential exposure to the City in the certiorari proceedings, as of
June 30, 1993, could amount to approximately $268 million. Provision has been made in the Financial Plan
for estimated average refunds of $170 million in each of the 1994 through 1997 fiscal years. For further
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information concerning these claims, certain remedial legislation related-thereto and the City’s estimates of:
potential liability, see “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—Litigation—Taxes” and “APPENDIX B—FINAN-
CIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Note H”.

The United States Environmental Protection Agency and the City have entered into a consent decree
which includes the agreement by the City to have a permanent sewage sludge disposal planr by December 31,
1998. The 1994-1997 Financial Plan includes $100 million in each of fiscal years 1994 through 1997 to cover
the estimated cost of sludge disposal. The Ten-Year Capital Strategy includes over $1.0 billion for the
construction of long-term disposal facilities. The construction of sludge dewatering facilities, which are
considered the first stage of land-based sludge disposal, was completed in fiscal year 1993 at a cost of
approximately $850 million. All costs associated with sludge disposal are expected to be funded by user
charges paid by the users of the water and sewer systems of the City or the proceeds of revenue bonds
secured by these fees. Such user charges are currently assumed in the 1994-1997 Financial Plan.

3. DEBT SERVICE

Debt service estimates for the 1994 through 1997 fiscal years include estimates of debt service costs on
outstanding City bonds and notes and future debt issuances based on current and projected future market
conditions. These estimates reflect the debt service savings from the refunding to be effected with the
proceeds of the Bonds.

4. MAC DEBT SERVICE FUNDING

MAC debt service funding estimates are reduced by anticipated payments by the City of debt service on
City obligations held by MAC.

The City estimates that MAC’s February 1992 refunding will make available $200 million in the
aggregate in fiscal years 1994 and 1995, which may be made available to the City if MAC, the City and the
Governor agree on the use of such funds. The Financial Plan does not include the receipt of these funds.

5. GENERAL RESERVE

The 1994-1997 Financial Plan includes a reserve of $281 million in fiscal year 1994 and $150 million in
each of the 1995 through 1997 fiscal years.

Certain Reports

From time to time, the Control Board staff, MAC, OSDC, the City Comptroller, various Federal
agencies and others issue reports and make public statements regarding the City’s financial condition,
commenting on, among other matters, the City’s financial plans, projected revenues and expenditures and
actions by the City to eliminate projected operating deficits. Some of these reports and statements have
warned that the City may have underestimated certain expenditures and overestimated certain revenues and
have suggested that the City may not have adequately provided for future contingencies. Certain of these
reports have analyzed the City’s future economic and social conditions and have questioned whether the City
has the capacity to generate sufficient revenues in the future to meet the costs of its expenditure increases
and to provide necessary services. It is reasonable to expect that such reports and statements will continue to
be issued and to engender public comment. It is expected that the staff of the Control Board, the City
Comptroller and OSDC will issue reports in the near future reviewing the 1994-1997 Financial Plan.

The City Comptroller issued a report on the state of the City’s economy on December 15, 1992. The
report projected that the City’s- economy would slowly- follow- the natienal economy out of recession: The
report noted that, from the peak employment level in April 1989 through September 1992, the City lost more
than 350,000 jobs. The report stated that job loss, while continuing, had decelerated and that the productivity
of persons employed in the City had risen rapidly in 1992. The report also noted that Gross City Product had
stopped declining in 1992. The report projected that job losses would continue to occur in the City in 1993,
but that Gross City Product would rise. The report noted that increased productivity and Gross City Product
had led to raises for those persons with jobs, but that new jobs were not being created for the unemployed.
The City Comptroller warned that this phenomenon was increasing the disparity between the employed and
the unemployed and that the City needed to stimulate job growth to allow the unemployed to become
productive members of the economy.
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In her previous economic reports, the City Comptroller had stated that the recession in the City’s
economy began earlier and was more devastating than the national recession. The reports stated that the
local recession began in the wake of the October- 1987 stock market crash and that the subsequent upheaval
in the financial services sector had adverse effects on the rest of the City’s economy. The national recession
that followed emphasized the weaknesses in the local economy, especially the high cost of doing business in
the City. Such weaknesses include inflation higher than the national average, reflected in both wages and
rents, a higher state and local tax burden than the national average and concerns above the quality of life and
quality of services in the City. The problems in the local economy have forced and will continue to force
businesses seeking to lower costs to consider relocating out of the City, decisions that are made easier by
improvements in telecommunications technology and declines in the real cost of air travel. The result was an:
acceleration of the loss of businesses and jobs from the City.

The reports forecast that overall employment in the City’s export industries that provide goods and
services to the rest of the country and the world, such as financial services, communications media, corporate
headquarters and producers and distributors of goods, would decline in 1992. These job losses were expected
to have a devastating effect on the City’s local service industries. The combined effect was reduced personal
income tax collections by the City and also reduced consumer spending, thereby affecting sales and business
tax collections. At the same time, the local recession caused increased demand for social services provided by
the City.

The Comptroller also noted that the City economy’s reliance on the financial services sector would keep
the City from participating fully in the increase in manufacturing and trading activity projected to lead the
nation out of its recession. The report also noted that the loss of manufacturing jobs, and a decline in
retailing jobs, means there are fewer entry-level jobs available for unskilled workers, putting greater burdens
on the City’s social services. The report concluded that the structural weaknesses in the City’s economy
would persist and affect tax collections adversely throughout the 1990s.

The City Comptroller’s Office issued a report on September 30, 1992 detailing the causes of, and the
effects on the City’s economy from, the relocation of corporate headquarters away from the City. The report
explained that each corporate headquarters has a multiplier effect on the City economy because such
headquarters use services provided by the local economy, such as advertising, banking, communications and
real estate. Therefore, a-move by a corporate headquarters out.of the City means the local economy suffers
from the loss of not only the jobs of the persons employed by the corporation, but also the jobs of the persons
who provided such services to the corporation. The report predicted that State and local tax increases in
fiscal years 1991 and 1992 will continue to drive headquarters from the City.

On August 4, 1993, the City Comptroller issued a report on the-financial plan-which was-submitted.to-
the Control Board on August 6, 1993 that identified risks of $340 million, $1.5 billion, $2.0 billion and $2.2
billion in fiscal years 1994 through 1997, respectively. The City Comptroller’s estimate of risks to the fiscal
year 1994 budget is based on the uncertainty of (i) receiving all the Federal aid anticipated, (ii) completing
the sale or reorganization of OTB in fiscal year 1994 and (iii) winning approval to eliminate preparation time
for certain teachers and on higher projections of spending on overtime. Additional risks in the out years of
such financial plan include unspecified State and Federal aid in the gap-closing program and lower projec-

tions from the City lottery.

On October 21, 1993, the City Comptroller issued a report on the financial plan then in effect that found
that recent City actions had reduced the potential fiscal year 1994 budget gap by $60 million to $280 million
from the projection contained in her August report. Positive developments included (i) elimination of the
preparation time risk through the contract settlement with the UFT, and (ii) a reduction in the uncertainty
regarding portions of the Federal aid anticipated. Offsetting these developments were (i) poorer than
anticipated tax collections for July through September and (i) higher than anticipated expenditures.

In other reports, the City Comptroller has warned that State and local tax increases in a recession can
have adverse effects on the local economy and can prolong the recession. She has also expressed concerns
about the effects on the City’s economy and budgets of rapidly increasing water and sewer rates, decreasing
rental payments in future years from the Port Authority under the leases for LaGuardia and Kennedy
airports, the dependence on increased aid from the State and Federal Governments for the gap-closing
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program, the escalating costs of judgments and claims, federal deficit reduction measures and the increasing
percentage of future years’ revenues projected to be consumed by debt service, even after reductions in the
capital program.

In her reports, the City Comptroller has called for improved productivity, increased competition in the
City contracting process, greater savings from attrition, the consolidation of agencies, the use of savings from
reduced pension fund contributions and the consideration of furloughs and wage deferrals to close the
budget gaps.

On August 10, 1993, OSDC released a report on the financial plan which was submitted to the Control
Board on August 6, 1993. The report stated that expenditures for the 1994 fiscal year could be higher by
$240 million, due primarily to higher City payments to HHC and overtime costs in the uniformed services,
and that revenues could be lower by $182 million, resulting primarily from lower estimated tax receipts,
lower estimated revenues from the sale or restructuring of OTB and the need for additional reserves for
disallowances for Federal and State aid. The report noted that additional uncertainties for the 1994 fiscal
year included $150 million of projected Federal aid and $215 million from the sale of real estate tax
receivables.

With respect to the 1995 through 1997 fiscal years, the report noted that the budget gaps projected in
such financial plan could rise by $556 million, $561 million and $515 million in the 1995, 1996 and 1997 fiscal
years, respectively, primarily reflecting higher City payments to HHC, higher overtime costs in the uni-
formed services, increased spending for BOE and lower than anticipated tax receipts, principally from the
City lottery, the personal income tax and general corporation tax. The report noted that additional uncer-
tainties for the 1995 through 1997 fiscal years included the amount of projected State and Federal aid that
would ultimately be received by the City. The report noted that these gaps will increase even further to the
extent that the City incurs increased collective bargaining costs after the expiration of the current contracts
in the middle of the 1995 fiscal year. The report further notes that the gap-closing program for the 1995
through 1997 fiscal years has not yet been fully developed by the City and relies heavily on Federal and State
assistance. The report concluded that, with the growth in spending projected to exceed the growth in
revenues, the City faces a formidable challenge as it seeks to maintain annual budget balance and moves
towards recurring structural balance.

On October 15, 1993, OSDC issued a status report discussing budget developments since August 1993.
The report reaffirmed the financial findings in 0OSDC’s August 10, 1993 report, concluding that aggressive
financial management over the coming months is necessary in order for the City to meet its fiscal year 1994
personnel reduction targets and balance the fiscal year 1994 budget. The report also concluded that the City
must generate recurring and growing resources to reduce the large budget gaps projected for the 1995 and
subsequent fiscal years.

On May 25, 1993 the private members of the Control Board, Heather L. Ruth, Robert R. Kiley and
Stanley S. Shuman, issued a statement which concluded that the City has a structural budget problem which
has worsened into a permanent deficit and which must be resolved through permanent changes in the types
of activities the City undertakes and the types of revenues the City raises. The private members stated that if
the financial plan which was released by the City on May 3, 1993 (the “May Financial Plan”) had been
submitted during a Control Period, they would not have been able to vote for its approval. The private
members stated that the City needs to balance its budget with actions that are reasonably under its control
and that have recurring benefits, and that too many actions presented in the May Financial Plan do neither.
The statement noted that the budget for the 1994 fiscal year set forth in the May Financial Plan was proposed
to be balanced by relying on over $1 billion of non-recurring actions and actions which are unlikely to occur.

On August 5, 1993, the staff of the Control Board issued a report on the then proposed financial plan.
The staff identified risks of $687 million, $1.9 billion, $2.4 billion and $2.5 billion in each of the 1994 through
1997 fiscal years, respectively. The major risks identified in the report include actions that require State and/
or Federal approval and risks associated with the City’s revenue and expenditure estimates, including higher
than planned overtime costs, larger City subsidy payments to HHC and proposed BOE expenditure reduc-
tions. The staff noted that the $131 million of expenditure reductions for the City’s 1994 fiscal year
announced on July 2, 1993 are largely unspecified and. accordingly, there is uncertainty over the ultimate
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value of these proposed reductions. The staff also noted that the then proposed financial plan does not
fundamentally change the structural incompatibility between the City’s revenues and expenditures, and that
the vast majority of the gap-closing actions consist of unspecified actions expected to be taken by the City,
State or Federal governments. In addition, the report concludes that enhanced monitoring and control
systems are needed to insure that savings from the hiring freeze are achieved and that the City’s reliance
upon nonrecurring resources to balance budgets has allowed structural problems to persist and, in some
cases, produced larger future gaps.

On October 12, 1993, the staff of the Control Board issued a report to the members of the Board (the
“Board Report”) on the status of the City’s budget for the 1994 fiscal year. The Board Report identified risks
of $681 million for the 1994 fiscal year, a decrease of $6 million compared to the staff’s August 1993 analysis.
The principal risks continued to include greater overtime costs of approximately $124 million, which could
grow to as much as $200 million; larger City subsidy payments to HHC of approximately $150 million; and
uncertainty concerning the projected receipt of $150 million in Federal aid. The Board Report noted that,
while the risks to BOE’s budget have been significantly reduced, there may be additional costs for asbestos
abatement, overtime and transportation as a result of the asbestos problem in the City’s schools. In addition,
the Board Report noted that, although it is too early in the fiscal year to discern a trend, sales, general
property and non-bank business tax collections through August have been weak, while preliminary Septem-
ber results from the bank tax were extraordinarily large, bringing year-to-date growth in the bank tax to 90%.
The Board Report concluded that additional gap-closing actions will be necessary to assure balance, because
the City does not have many of the additional resources which were available in the 1993 fiscal year, such as
lower than expected headcount, greater pension investment earnings and reduced OTPS expenditures, to
offset shortfalls or failures in the gap-closing program and to fund new needs.

Long-Term Capital and Financing Program

The City makes substantial capital expenditures to reconstruct and rehabilitate the City’s infrastructure
and physical assets, including City mass transit facilities, sewers, streets, bridges and tunnels, and to make
capital investments that will improve productivity in City operations. However, during recessionary periods
when operating revenues come under increasing pressure, funding levels for the carlier years of the City’s.
capital program are reduced from those previously forecast in order to reduce debt service costs. The
Financial Plan reduces the portion of the City’s capital program to be funded from City general obligation
debt by approximately 25% in each of the four years covered by the Financial Plan. For additional informa-
tion regarding the_City’s infrastructure. and. physical assets, see “APPENDIX A—ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL
FACTORS”.

The City utilizes a three-tiered capital planning proccss consisting of the Ten-Year Capital Strategy, the
Four-Year Capital Program and the current-year Capital Budget. The Ten-Year Capital Strategy is a long-
term planning tool designed to reflect fundamental allocation choices and basic policy objectives. The Four-
Year Capital Program translates mid-range policy goals into specific projects. The Capital Budget defines
specific projects and the timing of their initiation, design, construction and completion.

City-funded commitments, which were $344 million in 1979, are projected to reach $3.2 billion in 1994.
City-funded expenditures, which more than. tripled: between.fiscal years 1980 and 1985, are forecast at
$3.8 billion in the 1994 fiscal year; total expenditures are forecast at $4.2 billion in 1994. For additional
information concerning the City’s capital expenditures and the Ten-Year Capital Strategy covering fiscal
years 1994 through 2003, see “SECTION V: CITY SERVICES AND EXPENDITURES—Capital Expenditures”.

The following table sets forth the major areas of capital commitment projected for the 1994 through
1997 fiscal years. See “SECTION V: CITY SERVICES AND EXPENDITURES—Capital Expenditures”.
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1994-1997 CaPITAL COMMITMENT PLAN
1994 1995 1996 1997

City All City All City All City All
Funds Funds Funds Funds Funds Funds Funds Funds

(In Millions)

Mass Transit(1) . ....oovnevarneenmaaraiiannes $ 2738 § 238 $ 547 $ 547 $ 107 § 107 § 106 $ 106
Roadway, Bridges .........coooiooiiiiinn 483 761 512 ni 612 710 414 496
Environmental Protection(2) ...............co.ot. 803 892 1,551 1,634 1,495 1,532 1,364 1,397
EdUucation . .. ..voveoeeeeaeinaaereaes e 958 958 713 713 743 743 670 670
HOUSINE. e v ceeeieiemeane e aeeeees 435 555 329 514 278 401 277 406
HOSPItAlS . . .« v vveeen e 426 427 319 319 313 313 380 380
SANMIEALION .ot eeeneeeecnma e 331 352 204 228 172 622 321 321
City Operations/Facilities .. ................ooviee 1,429 1,493 1449 1,571 572 596 953 990
Economic and Port Development. ................ 303 322 172 174 57 91 17 39
Reserve For Unattained Commitments(3) ......... (2,199) (2,199) (1,856) (1,856)  (569) (569)  (836)  (836)

Total Commitments(4)(6)..........coconrnvnns $3,207 $3.799 $3,939 $4561 $3,779 $4,545 $3,667  $3,969

Total Expenditures(3)(6) .............ocoeennnn $3824 $4167 $3578 $4,136 $3,694 $4,328 $3,741  $4,317

(1) Excludes the Transit Authority’s non-City portion of the MTA’ five-year Capital Program.

(2) Includes water supply, water mains, water pollution control, sewer projects and related equipment.

(3) Reflects a planned reduction in the authorized capital commitment plan to be funded by City general obligation debt by
approximately 25% per year.

(4) Commitments represent contracts registered with the City Comptroller, except for certain projects which are undertaken jointly by
the City and State. Totals may not add due to rounding.

(5) Expenditures represent cash payments and appropriations planned to be expended for financing costs, excluding amounts for
original issue discount.

(6) Total Commitments do not include $937 million of commitments for court facilities during the 1994 thirough 1997 fiscal years. Totat
Expenditures do not include cash p;(?'ments pursuant to such commitments for court facilities. These expenditures are currently
expected to be funded by the dprocce s of ﬁnancin%s by the Dormitory Authority of the State of New York, with the debt service on
such financings to be funded by lease payments rrom the City net of a State subsidy of a portion of the interest costs.

The following table which is based on the Financial Plan sets forth the planned sources and uses of City
funds to be raised through issuances of long-term debt and transfers of monies from the City’s General Fund
during the City’s 1994 through 1997 fiscal years.

1994-1997 FINANCING PROGRAM
1994 1995 1996 1997 Total
(In Millions)
SOURCES OF FUNDS:

City General Obligation Bonds ..........c.ooieviueisns $3,995 $2,709 $2,614 $2,414 $11,732
Water Authority Revenue Bonds ... 1,837 829 1,198 1,405 5,269
HHC Financing(1) -« evveeeeeremunnnieaiiriaanaeees 0 236 336 312 834
Other SOUTCES(2) . rvvvvrrreeerrtiiaaaaes e 255 155 (82) ®) 320
Uo7 ) PR 6,087 3929 4066 4,123 18,205
USES OF FUNDS:
City Capital Improvements ..........ccveeeeiimnnenerooes 3824 3578 3,694 3,741 14,837
City Refunding .......oocveinmeiimnmenneanneeiie e 708 21 0 0 729
Reserve Funds and Other(3) .......oooviviiiinaevenn 354 330 372 382 1,438
Water Authority Refunding and BAN Bonds (4) ... .... 1,201 0 0 0 1,201
Total...ovveeeeie e e ... $6,087 $3,929 84,066 $4,123 $18,205

(1) The financing program assumes that HHC will finance 100% of its capital commitments. Amounts do not reflect a specific

borrowing schedule. The amounts reflected are the projected capital cash flow of HHC program commitments in fiscal years 1994

through 1997 of $1.258 billion less $374 million from the capital proceeds of a bond issuance by HHC in June 1993. The restricted
balances from such bond issuance are included in Other Sources in fiscal years 1994 and 1995, respectively.

(2) Other Sources consists primarily of changes in restricted cash balances and the amount of funds advanced from the general fund
for capital expenditures which have not%)een reimbursed from the proceeds of long-term debt.

(3) Reserve Funds and Other comprises amounts necessary to fund certain reserves in connection with the issuance of Water Authority
revenue bonds, amounts to provide for certain costs of issuance of securities and allocations for original issue discounts in
connection with the issuance of City bonds. The amounts allocated for original issue-discounts-are 9% of the capital cash needs in
the 1994 through 1997 fiscal years.

(4) The amount shown reflects $826 million of refunding bonds and $375 million of bonds to redeem Water Authority bond
anticipation notes.
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A Federal law, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, generally requires that various facilities be
made accessible to disabled persons. The City is currently analyzing what actions are required to comply with
the law. The City may incur substantial additional capital expenditures, as well as additional operating
expenses to comply with the law. Compliance measures which require additional capital measures are
expected to be achieved through the reallocation of existing funds within the City’s capital program.

Currently, if all City capital projects were implemented, expenditures would exceed the City’s financing
projections in the current fiscal year and subsequent years. The City has therefore established capital
budgeting priorities to maintain capital expenditures within the available long-term financing. Due to the
size and complexity of the City’s capital program, it is difficult to forecast precisely the timing of capital
project activity so that actual capital expenditures may vary from the planned annual amounts.

The City’s current four-year financing program and capital program includes the issuance of water and
sewer revenue bonds. The Water Authority is authorized to issue bonds to finance capital investment in the
City’s water and sewer system. Pursuant to State law, debt service on this indebtedness is secured by water
and sewer fees paid by users of the water and sewer system. Such fees are revenues of the Water Board and
the Water Board holds a lease interest in the City’s water and sewer system. After providing for debt service
on obligations of the Water Authority and certain incidental costs, the revenues of the Water Board are paid
to the City to cover the City’s cost for operating the water and sewer system or as rental for the system. The
City’s Ten-Year Capital Strategy covering fiscal years 1994 through 2003 projects City-funded water and
sewer investment at approximately $9.4 billion of the $47.8 billion City-funded portion of the plan. The City
retains the legal authorization to fund any portion of the $10.0 billion strategy with the proceeds of sales of
its general obligation bonds.

The City is subject to statutory and regulatory standards relating to the quality of its drinking water.
State and Federal regulations require the City water supply to meet certain standards to avoid filtration. The
City’s water supply now meets all technical standards and the City’s current efforts are directed toward
protection of the watershed area. The City has taken the position that increased regulatory, enforcement and
other efforts to protect its water supply, relating to such matters as land use and sewage treatment, will
preserve the high quality of water in the upstate water supply system and prevent the need for filtration. The
City has estimated that if filtration of the upstate water supply system is ultimately required, the capital
expenditures required could be between $4 billion and $5 billion. The U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency has granted interim approval to the City filtration’s avoidance plan and intends to issue a final
decision before the end of 1993.

Implementation of the capital plan is dependent upon the City’s ability to market its securities success-
fully in the public credit markets. The terms and the success of projected public sales of City general
obligation bonds and Water Authority and HHC revenue bonds will be subject to prevailing market
conditions at the times of sale. No assurance can be given that the credit markets will absorb the projected
amounts of public bond sales. As a significant portion of bond financing is used to reimburse the City’s
General Fund for capital expenditures already incurred, if the City is unable to sell such amounts of bonds it
would have an adverse effect on the City’s cash position. In addition, the need of the City to fund future debt
service costs from current operations may also limit the City’s capital program. The Ten-Year Capital
Strategy for fiscal years 1994 through 2003 totals $51.6 billion, of which approximately 93% is to be financed
with City funds. Federal tax law provisions which restrict the purposes for which tax-exempt bonds may be
issued may limit the ability of the City to finance certain projects through the issuance of tax-exempt bonds.
For information concerning litigation which, if determined against the City, could have an adverse impact on
the amount of debt the City can have outstanding under the general debt limit (defined as 10% of the
average full value of taxable real estate in the City for the most recent five years), see “SECTION IX: OTHER
INFORMATION—L itigation—Taxes”.

In October 1989, the City completed an inventory of the major portion of its assets and asset systems
which have a replacement cost of $10 million or more and a useful life of at least ten years. In May 1993, the
City issued an assessment of the asset condition and a proposed maintenance schedule for the inventoried
assets. The City released a report which lists for each inventoried asset the capital investment needed from
an engineering perspective to bring the asset to a state of good repair, and compares the recommended
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capital investment with the capital spending allocated by the City in the Four-Year Capital Program to the
specifically identified inventoried assets. The report does not reflect any policy considerations which could
affect the appropriate amount of investment, such as whether there is a continuing need for a particular
facility or whether additional changes are necessary to meet current usage requirements. In addition, the
recommended capital investment for each inventoried asset is not readily comparable to the capital spending
allocated by the City in the Four-Year Capital Program and the Ten-Year Capital Strategy. Only a portion of
the funding set forth in the Four-Year Capital Program is allocated to specifically identified assets, and
funding in the subsequent years of the Ten-Year Capital Strategy is even less identifiable with individual
assets. In large part because of the difficulties in comparability at a detailed asset-by-asset level, the report
indicates a substantial difference between the- amount of investment recommended. in the report for all.
inventoried City assets and amounts allocated to the specifically identified inventoried assets in the Four-
Year Capital Program. OMB estimates that amounts allocated in the Ten-Year Capital Strategy fund
approximately 85% of the total $4.76 billion investment recommended in the report, although the report
concludes that the capital investment in the Four-Year Capital Program for the specifically identified
inventoried assets funds 50% of the recommended investment. In addition, the report sets forth operating-
maintenance recommendations for the inventoried assets totalling $174 million, $111 million, $118 million
and $118 million for the 1994 through 1997 fiscal years, respectively. OMB has estimated that approximately
40% of such maintenance activities for fiscal year 1994 are included in the 1994-1997 Financial Plan.

The Financial Plan reduces the City’s capital program by approximately 25% in each of the four years
covered by the Financial Plan, and such reductions are not reflected in the Ten-Year Capital Strategy or the
Four-Year Capital Program described above.

Seasonal Financing Requirements

The City since 1981 has fully satisfied its seasonal financing needs in the public credit markets, repaying
all short-term obligations within their fiscal year of issuance. The City has issued $1.75 billion of short-term
obligations in fiscal year 1994 to finance the City’s current estimate of its seasonal cash flow needs for the
1994 fiscal year. Seasonal financing requirements for the 1993 fiscal year decreased to $1.4 billion from
$2.25 billion in the 1992 fiscal year. The delay in the adoption of the State’s budget for its 1992 fiscal year
required the City to issue $1.25 billion in short-term notes on May 7, 1991, and the-delay in the-adoption of
the State’s budget for its 1991 fiscal year required the City to issue $900 million in short-term notes on
May 15, 1990. See “SECTION VIL 1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN—Assumptions”.

Seasonal financing requirements were $3.65 billion, $2.45 billion and $1.2 billion in the 1991, 1990 and
1989 fiscal years, respectively.

At the time of the City’s fiscal crisis in 1975, the City had approximately $6 billion of short-term debt
outstanding. As part of a program to deal with this crisis, the State passed the Moratorium Act. This law
provided that, subject to certain conditions, for three years no judgments and liens could be enforced on
account of outstanding City notes and no action could either be commenced or continued upon outstanding
City notes which matured during 1975 or 1976. City notes in an aggregate principal amount of $2.4 billion
were subject to the Moratorium Act. In November 1976, the New York State Court of Appeals declared the
Moratorium Act unconstitutional under the State Constitution. All of the City’s short-term debt outstanding
at the time of the Moratorium Act was either exchanged for MAC bonds or repaid by the City. In the 1975
through 1978 fiscal years, the City was assisted by the Federal and State governments in meeting its seasonal
financing needs.
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SECTION VIII: INDEBTEDNESS

City Indebtedness

Outstanding Indebtedness

The following table sets forth outstanding indebtedness having an initial maturity greater than one year

from the date of issuance of the City, MAC and the PBCs as of September 30, 1993.

(In Thousands)

Gross City Long-Term Indebtedness(1) ........... .....cooennnnt. $21,392,954
Less: Assets Held for Debt Service(2) ....... ........coinnts 1,415,924
Net City Long-Term Indebtedness ....... ............... $19,977,030
Gross MAC Long-Term Indebtedness(3).......... .......oooiiis 5,203,635
Less: Assets Held for Debt Service(3) ....... .......coonnne 661,505
Net MAC Long-Term Indebtedness...... ............... 4,542,130
PBC Indebtedness(4)
Bonds Payable ..........oooiiiiiiiiii i 575,350
Capital Lease Obligations .............cooovn coiiiiinnns 384,442
Gross PBC Indebtedness(5)........ocoor viiivriennen. 959,792
Less: Assets Held for Debt Service ...... ...t 196,502
Net PBC Indebtedness..........coooeeiin i, 763,290
Combined Net City, MAC and PBC Indebtedness ... $25,282,450
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Amount does not reflect the issuance of $600,000,000 principal amount of Fiscal 1994 Series C Bonds on October 14, 1993.
With respect to City long-term indebtedness, “Assets Held for Debt Service” consists of General Debt Service Fund assets, and
$1,166.0 million principal amount of City serial bonds held by MAC.

With respect to MAC indebtedness, “Assets Held for Debt Service™ consists of assets held in MAC'’s debt service funds less accrued
liabilities for interest payable on MAC long-term indebtedness plus amounts held in reserve funds for payment of principal of and
interest on MAC bonds, Other MAC funds, while not specifically pledged for the payment of principal of and interest on MAC
bonds, are also available for these purposes. For further information regarding MAC indebtedness and assets held for debt service,
see “Municipal Assistance Corporation Indebtedness” below and “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial
Statements—Notes C and H”.

“PBC Indebtedness” refers to City obligations to PBCs. For further information regarding the indebtedness of certain PBCs, see
«Public Benefit Corporation Indebtedness” below and “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—
Notes G and H”. “PBC Indebtedness” does not include the indebtedness of individual PBCs which are Enterprise Funds. For
further information regarding the indebtedness of Enterprise Funds PBCs, see “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to
Financial Statements—Notes J, K, L, M and N”.

Amount does not include $262.8 million principal amount of Housing Development Corporation bonds subject to capital reserve
fund arrangements with the City.
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Trend in Qutstanding Net Indebtedness
The following table shows the trend in the outstanding net long-term and net short-term debt of the City
d MAC and in net PBC indebtedness as of June 30 of each of the years 1988 through 1993 and as of

ptember 30, 1993, except for short-term debt information, which is as of November 18, 1993.
Component
City(D) MAC(2) U“é‘it‘;“d
Long-Term  Short-Term  Long-Term Short-Term  Guaranteed
Net Debt(3) Debt(4) Net Debt(5) Debt Debt(3) Total
(In Millions) -
1988 .. $ 7,820 — $6,470 — $714 $15,004
1989 .. 9,332 — 6,082 — 780 16,194
1990 ..oviiiiiaeenes 11,779 — 5,713 — 782 18,274
1991 Lo 15,293 — 5,265 — 803 21,361
1992 i 17,916 _ 4,657 — 782 23,355
1993 o 19,624 — 4,470 —_ 768 24,862
September 30, 1993..... 19,977 1,750 4,542 — 763 27.032

(1) Amounts do not include debt of the City held by MAC. See “QOutstanding Indebtedness—note 2. Amount does not reflect the

@
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issuance of $600,000,000 principal amount of “Fiscal 1994 Series' C Bonds on-October 14, 1993.

MAC reported outstanding long-term indebtedness without reduction for reserves, as follows: $7,636 million, $7,307 million,
$6,901 million, $6,471 million, $5,559 million and $5,304 million as of June 30 of each of the years 1988 through 1993 and
$5,204 million as of September 30, 1993.

Net of reserves. See “Outstanding Indebtedness—note 2”. Component Units are PBCs included in the City’s financial statements
other than PBCs which are Enterprise Funds. For more information concerning Component Unit PBCs, see “Public Benefit
Corporation Indebtedness” below and “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Notes G and
H”. For more information concerning Enterprise Funds PBCs, see “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial
Statements—Notes J, K, L, M and N”,

(4) Amount includes revenue anticipation notes issued on August 10, 1993, $400 million of which mature on April 15, 1994, and

$70g milllion of which mature on June 30, 1994 and $650 million of tax anticipation notes issued on October 21, 1993 which mature
on April 8, 1994.

(5) Calculations of net MAC indebtedness include the total bonds outstanding under MAC’s Second and 1991 General Bond

Resolutions and accrued interest on those bonds less the amounts held by MAC in its debt service and reserve funds.

Rapidity of Principal Retirement
The following table details, as of September 30, 1993, the cumulative percentage of total City general

obligation debt outstanding that is scheduled to be retired in accordance with its terms in each prospective
five-year period.

Cumulative Percentage of

Period Debt Scheduled for Retirement
5 years 25.57%

10 years 47.54

15 years 66.04

20 years 80.79

25 years 92.91

30 years 99.69
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City, MAC and City-guaranteed PBC Debt Service Requirements

The following table summarizes future debt service requirements, as of September 30, 1993, on City and
MAC term and serial bonds outstanding and City-guaranteed debt of and capital lease obligations to certain

PBGs.
City Long-Term Debt
Component
Principal Unétit:;'nd MAC
Serial Guaranteed Funding

Fiscal Years Bonds(1) Interest(1) Debt(2) Requirements Total

(In Thousands)
1994 ... ...l $ 291,041 $ 863,232 § 69262 $ 599,001 $ 1,822,536
1995 .ot 1,152,859 1,314,196 93,786 525,423 3,086,264
1996 ..ot 1,215,826 1,242,564 96,793 514,187 3,069,370
1997 ..o 1,117,608 1,181,942 99,166 577,010 2,975,726
1998 i 1,080,553 1,114,676 99,134 588,707 2,883,070
1999 ... 987,537 1,046,866 99,470 607,226 2,741,099
2000 ... 885,839 997,742 99,466 542,653 2,525,700
2001 through 2147..... 13,295,652 9249476 1,088,164  4,345,064(3) 27,978,356

Total ................ $20,026,915 $17,010,694 $1,745241  $8,299,271 $47,082,121

M
)

&)

Amount does not reflect the issuance of $600,000,000 principal amount of Fiscal 1994 Series C Bonds on October 14, 1993.

Excludes debt service payments on $1,160.0 million principal amount of serial bonds held by MAC.
Component Units are PBCs included in the City’s financial statements other than PBCs which are Enterprise Funds. For additional

information concerning these PBCs,

see “Public Benefit Corporation Indebtedness” below and “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Notes G and H”. For more information concerning Enterprise Funds PBCs, see
““ APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Notes J, K, L, M and N”.

Amount shown is for fiscal years 2001 through 2009.

Certain Debt Ratios

The following table sets forth information, as of December 31, for each of the fiscal years 1988 through
1993, with respect to the approximate ratio of the City’s debt to certain economic factors. As used in this
table, debt includes net City, MAC and PBC debt.

Debt as % of Total
Taxable Real

Property By
Debt Estimated
Per Assessed Full
Fiscal Year Capita  Valuation  Valuation
L7 S 2,041 253 6.0
1980 ittt e e e 2,202 254 4.6
)L L I SRR 2,496 26.1 4.5
3L R T 2,918 28.0 4.5
) 14 R R PR 3,190 28.6 41
5L S AU P 3,396 314 39
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Ratio of Debt to Personal Income

The following table sets forth, for each of fiscal years 1984 through 1990, debt per capita as a percentage
of personal income per capita in current dollars. As used in this table, debt includes net City, MAC and PBC
debt.

Debt Debt per Capita
per Personal Income as % of Personal

Fiscal Year Capita per Capita(1) Income per Capita
107X S R $1,698 $13,895 12.22%
1084 e 1,695 15,188 11.16
1085 oot e 1,723 16,050 10.74
1086 vttt 1,833 16,902 10.84
1087 ottt 1,893 18,009 10.51
1088 ot 2,041 19,669 10.38
1989 ..ttt 2,202 21,119 10.43
1990 ..ot 2,496 22,454 11.12

Source: Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the Comptroiler for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1993:
(1) Personal income is measured before the deduction of personal income taxes and other personal taxes.

Certain Provisions for the Payment of City Indebtedness

The State Constitution requires the City to make an annual appropriation for: (i) payment of interest on
all City indebtedness; (ii) redemption or amortization of bonds; (iii) redemption of other City indebtedness
(except bond anticipation notes. (“BANs”), tax anticipation notes ( “TANs”), revenue anticipation notes
(“RANSs”), and urban renewal notes (“URNs”)) contracted to be paid in that year out of the tax levy or other
revenues; and (iv) redemption of short-term indebtedness issued in anticipation of the collection of taxes or
other revenues, such as TANs, RANs and URNS, and renewals of such short-term indebtedness which are
not retired within five years of the date of original issue. If this appropriation is not made; a sumrsufficient for..
such purposes must be set apart from the first revenues thereafter received by the City and must be applied
for these purposes.

Under the Financial Emergency Act, the proceeds of cach City bond issue are required to be used in the
following order: (i) they are to be held for the payment at maturity of any BANs issued in anticipation
thereof; (ii) they are to be paid into the City’s General Fund in repayment of any advance made therefrom
for purposes for which the bonds were issued; and (iii) any balance is to be held for future expenditures for-
the object or purpose for which the bonds were issued

Pursuant to the Act, the General Debt Service Fund has been established for the purpose of paying
Monthly Debt Service, as defined in the Act. For information regarding the Fund, see “SECTION II: THE
BONDS—Payment Mechanism”. In addition, as required under the Act, a TAN Account has been established
by the State Comptroller within the Fund to pay the principal of outstanding City TANs. After notification by
the City of the date when principal due or to become due on an outstanding issue of TANs will equal 90% of
the “available tax levy”, as defined in the Act, with respect to such issue, the State Comptroller must pay into
the TAN Account from the collection of real estate tax payments (after paying amounts required to be
deposited in the General Debt Service Fund for Monthly Debt Service) amounts sufficient to pay the
principal of such TANS. Similarly, a RAN Account has been established by the State Comptroller within the
Fund to pay the principal of outstanding City RANs. Revenues in anticipation of which RANs are issued
must be deposited in the RAN Account. If revenue consists of State or other revenue to be paid to the City by
the State Comptroller, the State Comptroller must deposit such revenue directly into the RAN Account on
the date such revenue is payable to the City. Under the Act, after notification by the City of the date when
principal due or to become due on an outstanding issue of RANs will equal 90% of the total amount of
revenue against which such RANs were issued on or before the fifth day prior to the maturity date of the
RANS, the State Comptroller must commence on such date to retain in the RAN Account an amount
sufficient to pay the principal of such RANs when duc. Revenues required to be deposited in the RAN
Account vest immediately in the State Comptroller in trust for the benefit of the holders of notes issued in
anticipation of such revenues. No person other than a holder of such RANs has any right to or claim against
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revenues so held in trust. Whenever- the- amount- contained- in- the RAN Account or the TAN Account
exceeds the amount required to be retained in such Account, the excess, including earnings on investments,
is to be withdrawn from such Account and paid into the General Fund of the City.

All money paid from the General Debt Service Fund to the Fiscal Agent for the payment of the
principal of or interest on any Bond that remains unclaimed at the end of two years after such principal or
interest shall have become due and payable will be paid to the City, and the holder of such Bond shall
thereafter look only to the City for payment.

Limitations on the City’s Authority to Contract Indebtedness

The Financial Emergency Act imposes various limitations on the issuance of City indebtedness. No
TANSs may be issued by the City which would cause the principal amount of such issue of TANSs to exceed
90% of the “available tax levy”, as defined in the Act, with respect to such issue; TANs and renewals thereof
must mature not later than the last day of the fiscal year in which they were issued. No RANs may be issued
by the City which would cause the principal amount of RANs outstanding to exceed 90% of the “available
revenues”, as defined in the Act, for that fiscal year; RANs must mature not later than the last day of the
fiscal year in which they were issued; and in no event may renewals of RANs mature later than one year
subsequent to the last day of the fiscal year in which such RANSs were originally issued. No BANs may be
issued by the City in any fiscal year which would cause the principal amount of BANs outstanding, together
with interest due or to become due thereon, to exceed 50% of the principal amount of bonds issued by the
City in the twelve months immediately preceding the month in which such BANs are to be issued; BANs
must mature not later than six months after their date of issuance and may be renewed for a period not to
exceed six months. Budget Notes may be issued only to fund projected expense budget deficits; no Budget
Notes, or renewals thereof, may mature later than sixty days prior to the last day of the fiscal year next
succeeding the fiscal year during which the Budget Notes were originally issued.

The MAC Act contains two limitations on the amount of short-term debt which the City may issue. As.
of November 18, 1993, the maximum amount of additional short-term debt which the City could issue was
approximately $4.40 billion under the first limitation. The second limitation does not prohibit-any issuance
by the City of BANs or short-term debt issued and payable within the same fiscal year, such as TANs and
RANS, but would currently prevent issuance of any City TANs, RANs or Budget Notes issued in a fiscal year
and maturing in a subsequent fiscal year, including issuances and renewals of RANs or TANSs in the current
fiscal year to mature in the next fiscal year. This limitation, and other restrictions on maturities of City notes
and other requirements described above, could be amended by State legislative action.

The State Constitution provides that, with certain exceptions, the City may not contract indebtedness in
an amount greater than 10% of the average full value of taxable real estate in the City for the most recent five
years (the “general debt limit”). For information concerning litigation which, if determined against the City,
could have an adverse impact on the amount of debt the City can have outstanding under the general debt
limit, see “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—Litigation—Taxes”. Certain indebtedness (“excluded debt”)
is excluded in ascertaining the City’s authority to contract indebtedness within the constitutional limit. TANs,
RANs, BANs, URNs and Budget Notes and long-term indebtedness issued for certain types of public
improvements and capital projects are considered excluded debt. The City’s statutory authority for variable
rate debt is limited to 10% of the general debt limit. The State Constitution also provides that the City may
contract indebtedness for low-rent housing, nursing homes for persons of low income and urban renewal
purposes-in-an amount not.to exceed 2% of the average assessed valuation of the taxable real estate of the
City for the most recent five years (the “2% debt limit”). Excluded from the 2% debt limit, after approval by
the State Comptroller, is indebtedness for certain self-supporting programs aided by City guarantees or
loans. Neither MAC indebtedness nor the City’s commitments with other PBCs (other than certain guaran-
teed debt of the Housing Authority) are chargeable against the City’s constitutional debt limits.
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The following table sets forth the current calculation of the debt-incurring power of the City within the
general debt limit and the 2% debt limit as of September 30, 1993.

GENERAL DEBT LIMIT

Total Debt-Incurring Power . .......coooiiiiviiiiin s $55,415,024,789
Gross Debt—Funded . .....oovvneeeiiiii s $21,754,393,565
Less: Excluded Debt . ...vvvvireeeniiiiiinaaciis et 1,249,329,264
20,505,064,301

Less: Assets of Sinking Funds and General Debt Service Fund

and Balance of Appropriations for Redemption of Debt........ 298,532,278

N 013 S PR TR 20,206,532,023
Add: Net Contracts and Other Liabilities..................c..c0e 3,815,830,038  24,022,362,061
Remaining Debt-Incurring Power Within Limit .................. $31,392,662,728

Two PERCENT DEBT LIMIT

Total Debt-Incurring POWEr . ......ovieiiiiiirianien e $ 1,532,707,703
Charges:

Housing Authority Indebtedness ...........coocooviiiaiienenes $ 808,000

Limited Profit Housing Program ............coooiiiiininnnns 15,999,879

Housing and Industrial Urban Renewal Programs ............. 123,852,846 140,660,725
Remaining Debt-Incurring Power Within Limit .................. $ 1,392,046,978

The aggregate amount of the City’s planned debt issues required to fund the Ten-Year Capital Strategy
approaches the general debt limit estimated for the late 1990’s. This estimate is strongly affected by
projected real property values in the City.

The Comptroller’s “Unencumbered Margin” Analysis

The City Comptroller traditionally reports not only on the general debt limit, but also on the “unencum-
bered margin”. The unencumbered margin equals the general debt limit minus certain “reserves” of debt-
incurring capacity for certain items, such as Capital Budget appropriations and commitments to certain
PBCs which are not required to be charged against the general debt limit. At September 30, 1993, when the
debt-incurring capacity under the general debt limit was $31.393 billion, the unencumbered margin was
$19.7 billion. The unencumbered margin represents the amount available to the-City for additional appropri-
ations for capital expenditures that can be made by the City without exceeding the general debt limit. The
unencumbered margin analysis has no impact on the City’s legal debt-incurring capacity.

Federal Bankruptcy Code

Under the Federal Bankruptcy Code, a petition may be filed in the Federal bankruptcy court by a
municipality which is insolvent or unable to meet its debts as they mature. The filing of such a petition would
operate as a stay of any proceeding to enforce a claim against the City. The Code requires the municipality to
file a plan for the adjustment of its-debts, which may modify or alter the rights of creditors and may provide
for the municipality to issue indebtedness, which could have priority over existing creditors and which could
be secured. Any plan of adjustment confirmed by the court must be approved by the requisite majority of
creditors. If confirmed by the bankruptcy court, the plan would be binding upon all creditors affected by it.
Each of the City and the Control Board, acting on behalf of the City, has the legal capacity to file a petition
under the Federal Bankruptcy Code.

Municipal Assistance Corporation Indebtedness

MAC was organized in 1975 to provide financing assistance for the City and also to exercise certain
review functions with respect to the City’s finances. Since its creation, MAC has provided, among other
things, financing assistance to the City by refunding maturing City short-term debt and transferring to the
City funds received from sales of MAC bonds and. notes. MAC.is authorized to issue bonds and notes
payable from certain stock transfer tax revenues and the City’s portion of the State sales tax derived in the
City and State per capita aid otherwise payable by the State to the City. These revenues are paid, subject to
appropriation, directly by the State to MAC to the extent they are needed for MAC debt service, MAC
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reserve fund requirements or MAC operating expenses; revenues which are not needed by MAC are paid by
the State to the City. MAC bonds and notes constitute general obligations of MAC and do not constitute an
enforceable obligation or debt of either the State or the City. Failure by the State to continue the imposition
of such taxes, the reduction of the rate of such taxes to rates less than those in effect on July 2, 1975, failure
by the State to pay such aid revenues and the reduction of such aid revenues below a specified level are
included among the events of default in the resolutions authorizing MAC’s long-term debt. The occurrence
of an event of default may result in the acceleration of the maturity of all or a portion of MAC’s debt.

As of September 30, 1993, MAC had outstanding an aggregate of approximately $5.304 billion of its
bonds. MAC is authorized to issue bonds and notes to refund its outstanding bonds and notes and to fund
certain reserves, without limitation as to principal amount, and to finance certain capital commitments to the
Transit Authority and the New York City School Construction Authority for the 1992 through 1997 fiscal
years in the event the City fails to provide such financing. For additional information regarding MAC
indebtedness, see “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Notes C
and H”.

As of September 30, 1993, the City had received an aggregate of approximately $4.85 billion from MAC
for certain authorized uses by the City exclusive of capital purposes. In addition, the City had received an
aggregate of approximately $2.352 billion from MAC for capital purposes in exchange for serial bonds in a
like principal amount, of which $1.180 billion was held by MAC as of September 30, 1993. MAC has also
exchanged $1.839 billion principal amount of MAC bonds for City debt, of which approximately $99.0 mil-
lion was held by MAC on September 30, 1993.

During fiscal years 1984 through 1988, MAC made $1.075 billion of revenues available to the City,
pursuant to an agreement among the City, MAC and the State in March - 1984: In-April 1986, MAC, the City-
and the State agreed to the availability and use of approximately $1.6 billion in additional revenues in the
1987 through 1995 fiscal years, including $925 million for capital improvements for the Transit Authority. In
May 1989, MAC entered into an agreement with the City and the State which provides for an additional $800
million, including $600 million of revenues for capital projects relating to the City’s public school system. In
July 1990, the City, the State and MAC entered into an agreement amending the 1986 and 1989 agreements
to permit the City to fund the capital commitments to the Transit Authority and the City’s public school
system, which total $1.465 billion over the City’s 1990 through 1997 fiscal years, with proceeds of City or
MAC bonds rather than revenues made available by MAC. The State Legislature has authorized MAC to
finance the capital commitments to the Transit Authority and the New York City School Construction
Authority for the 1991 through 1997 fiscal years through the issuance of additional MAC bonds in the event
and to the extent that the City fails to provide such financing from the issuance of City bonds. The revenues
to be made available by MAC under the 1986 and 1989 agreements for the Transit Authority and the public
school system will instead be used by the City for operating purposes. For fiscal years 1994 through 1997, the
amounts that the City will receive for operating purposes under the agreements as amended are $185
million, $515 million, $75 million and $75 million, respectively.

Public Benefit Corporation Indebtedness
City Financial Commitments to PBCs

PBCs are corporate governmental agencies created by State law to finance and operate projects of a
governmental nature or to provide governmental services. Generally, PBCs issue bonds and notes to finance
construction of housing, hospitals, dormitories and other facilities and receive revenues from the collection
of fees, charges or rentals for the use of their facilities, including subsidies and other payments from the
governmental entity whose residents have benefited from the services and facilities provided by the PBC.
These bonds and notes do not constitute debt of the City unless expressly guaranteed or assumed by the City.

The City has undertaken various types of financial commitments with certain PBCs which, although
they generally do not represent City indebtedness, have a similar budgetary effect. During a Control Period
as defined by the Financial Emergency Act, neither the City nor any Covered Organization may enter into



any arrangement whereby the revenues or credit of the City are directly or indirectly pledged, encumbered,
committed or promised for the payment of obligations of a PBC unless approved by the Control Board. The
principal forms of the City’s financial commitments with respect to PBC debt obligations are as follows:

1. Guarantees—PBC indebtedness may be directly guaranteed by the City.

2. Capital Lease Obligations—These are leases of facilities by the City or a Covered Organization,
entered into with PBCs, under which the City has no liability beyond monies legally available for lease
payments. State law generally provides, however, that in the event the City fails to make any required
lease payment, the amount of such payment will be deducted from State aid otherwise payable to the
City and will be paid to the PBC.

3. Executed Leases—These are leases pursuant to which the City is legally obligated to make the
required rental payments.

4. Capital Reserve Fund Arrangements—Under these arrangements, State law requires the PBC to
maintain a capital reserve fund in a specified minimum amount to be used solely for the payment of the
PBC’s obligations. State law further provides that in the event the capital reserve fund is depleted, State
aid otherwise payable to the City may be paid to the PBC to restore such fund.

The City’s financial statements include MAC and certain PBCs, such as the ECF, the CUCF and the
HDC. For further information regarding indebtedness of these PBCs, see “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Notes F and G Certain other PBCs appear in the financial
statements as Enterprise Funds. For information regarding Enterprise Funds PBCs, see “APPENDIX B—
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Notes J, K, L, M and N”.

New York City Educational Construction Fund
As of September 30, 1993, approximately $126.6 million principal amount of ECF bonds to finance costs
related to the school portions of combined occupancy structures was outstanding. Under ECF’s leases with
the City, debt service on the ECF bonds is payable by the City to the extent third party revenues are not
sufficient to pay such debt service.

New York City Housing Authority

As of September 30, 1993, the City had guaranteed $37.7 million principal amount of HA bonds. The
Federal government has agreed to pay debt service on $43.8 million principal amount of additional HA
indebtedness guaranteed by the City. The City has also guaranteed the repayment of $237.2 million principal
amount of HA indebtedness to the State, of which the Federal government has agreed to pay debt service on
$118.1 million. The City also pays subsidies to the HA to cover operating expenses. Exclusive of the payment
of certain labor costs, such subsidies amounted to $131.6 million in the 1993 fiscal year and are projected to
amount to approximately $136.6 million in the 1994 fiscal year.

New York State Housing Finance Agency
As of September 30, 1993, $318.5 million principal amount of HFA refunding bonds relating to hospital
and family care facilities leased to the City was outstanding. HFA does not receive third party revenues to
offset the City’s capital lease obligations with respect to these bonds. Lease payments, which are made by the
City seven months in advance of payment dates of the bonds, are intended to cover development and
construction costs, including debt service, of each facilitv plus a share of HFA's overhead and administrative
expenses.

City University Construction Fund
As of September 30, 1993, $634.4 million principal amount of bonds, relating to Community College
facilities, of the Dormitory Authority of the State of New York (the “Dormitory Authority”) subject to
capital lease arrangements was outstanding. The City and the State are each responsible for approximately
one-half of the CUCF’s annual rental payments to the Dormitory Authority for Community College facilities
which are intended to cover debt service on the Dormitory Authority’s bonds issued to finance the leased
projects plus related overhead and administrative expenses of the Dormitory Authority. As of September 30,
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1993, approximately $91.0 million was held in certain reserve funds to meet the reserve requirements of the
Dormitory Authority for its bonds relating to Community College facilities. CUCF does not receive third
party revenues to offset the City’s obligations under the rental agreements.

New York State Urban Development Corporation
As of September 30, 1993, $65.9 million principal amount of UDC bonds subject to executed or
proposed lease arrangements was outstanding. This amount differs from the amount calculated by UDC
($71.0 million) because UDC has included certain interest costs relating to Public School 50 and Intermedi-
ate School 229 in Manhattan in its calculation. The City leases schools and certain other facilities from UDC.

New York City Housing Development Corporation

As of September 30, 1993, $262.8 million principal amount of HDC bonds was subject to a capital
reserve fund arrangement with the City. This amount is not included in the amount of gross PBC indebted-
ness included in the table on Outstanding Indebtedness above. Of the total principal amount of outstanding
HDC bonds, $30.2 million relating to the 1982 Multi-Family Housing Bond Program is required to be
secured by a separate $4.78 million capital reserve fund, and $232.6 million relating to the General Housing
Program is required to be secured by a separate $18.1 million capital reserve fund. The combined reserve
requirement for both programs amounts to $22.9 million. HDC receives substantial third party revenues,
and to date the City has not been required to make any payment to HDC'’s capital reserve fund. Although no
such payments are contemplated during the 1994 fiscal year, no assurance-can be given that such payments
will not be required as a result of shortfalls in mortgage payments, subsidies or otherwise. As of Septem-
ber 30, 1993, HDC’s combined capital reserve funds amounted to approximately $31.3 million.
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SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION

Pension Systems

The City maintains a number of pension systems providing benefits for its employees and employees of
various independent agencies (including certain Covered Organizations). The systems combine features of a
defined benefit pension plan with those of a defined contribution pension plan. Membership in the City’s five
major actuarial systems on June 30, 1992 consisted of approximately 342,000 current employees, of whom
approximately 90,000 were employees of certain independent agencies whose pension costs in some cases
are provided by City appropriations. In addition, there are approximately 220,000 retirees and beneficiaries
currently receiving benefits and other vested members terminated but not receiving benefits. The- City also
contributes to three other actuarial systems, maintains five non-actuarial retirement systems for approxi-
mately 10,000 retired individuals not covered by the five major actuarial systems, provides other supplemen-
tal benefits to retirees and makes contributions to certain union annuity funds.

Each of the City’s five major actuarial pension systems is managed by a board of trustees which includes
representatives of the City and the employees covered by such system. The City Comptroller is the custodian
of, and has been delegated investment responsibilities for, the major actuarial systems, subject to the policies
established by the boards of trustees of the systems and State law.

The City’s pension expenditures for the 1994 fiscal year are expected to approximate $1.5 billion. In
fiscal years 1995 through 1997, these expenditures are expected to approximate $1.4 billion, $1.5 billion and
$1.4 billion, respectively. Certain of the systems provide pension benefits of 50% to 55% of “final pay” after
20 to 25 years of service with additional benefits for subsequent years of service. For the 1993 fiscal year, the
City’s total annual pension costs, including the City’s pension costs not associated with the five major
actuarial systems, plus Federal Social Security tax payments by the City for the year, are projected to be
approximately 21% of total payroll costs. In addition, contributions are aiso made by certain component
units of the City and other government units directly to the New York City Employees’ Retirement System,
one of the five major actuarial systems. The State Constitution provides that pension rights of public
employees are contractual and shall not be diminished or impaired.

The City makes pension contributions to the five major systems in amounts equivalent to the pension
costs as determined in accordance with GAAP. Pension costs incurred with respect to the other actuarial
systems to which the City contributes and the City’s non-actuarial retirement systems and supplemental
pension programs for participants in these non-actuarial systems are recorded and paid currently.

The five major actuarial systems are not fully funded. The excess of the present value of future pension
benefits accrued on account of services already rendered (with salary projections to retirement to determine
final salary) over the value of the present assets of the pension systems for the five major actuarial pension
systems (including that which is attributable to independent agencies) as calculated by the City’s Chief
Actuary, on the basis of the actuarial assumptions then in effect, are set forth in the following table.

June 30, Amount(1)
(In Billions)

ST 1S AR $ 6.51

LT R R 6.10

L1 R 4.16

S L1+ O R R 2.67

(1) For purposes of making these calculations, accrued pension contributions receivable from the City were not treated as assets of the
system.
The five major actuarial systems are now being funded on-a basis- which is-designed to reduce gradually
the unfunded accrued liability of those systems. Additionally, the City Actuary estimated that, as of June 30,
1992, there was approximately $336 million of unfunded liability on account of the non-actuarial retirement
systems and supplemental pension programs for participants in these non-actuarial programs.

For further information regarding the City’s pension systems see “ APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATE-
MENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Note R”.
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Litigation

The following paragraphs describe certain material legal proceedings and claims involving the City and
Covered Organizations other than routine litigation incidental to the performance of their governmental
and other functions and certain other litigation arising out of alleged constitutional violations, torts,
breaches of contract and other violations of law and condemnation proceedings. While the ultimate outcome
and fiscal impact, if any, on the City of the proceedings and claims described  below. are not currently
predictable, adverse determinations in certain of them might have a material adverse effect upon the City’s
ability to carry out the 1994-1997 Financial Plan. The City has estimated that its potential future liability on
account of outstanding claims against it as of June 30, 1993 amounted to approximately $2.2 billion. See
“SECTION VII: 1994-1997 FINANCIAL PLAN—Assumptions—Expenditure Assumptions—2. Other Than Per-
sonal Service Costs—Judgments and Claims”.

Taxes

1. Numerous real estate tax certiorari proceedings alleging overvaluation, inequality and illegality are
pending against the City. In response to these actions, State legislation was enacted in December 1981 which,
among other things, authorizes the City to assess real property according to four classes and provides for
certain evidentiary changes in tax certiorari proceedings. Based on historical settlement activity, and includ-
ing an estimated premium for inequality of assessment, the City estimates its potential future liability for
outstanding certiorari proceedings to be $268 million at June 30, 1993. For a discussion of the City’s
accounting treatment of its inequality and overvaluation exposure, sce “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATE-
MENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Note H”.

2 The State Board has certified final class ratios for the 1991 and 1992 assessment rolls. The City
believes that the class ratios determined for class two and class four are invalid and has commenced Article
78 proceedings challenging the class ratios. Class ratios are used in real property tax certiorari proceedings-
involving allegations of inequality of assessments of real property and low class ratios could lead to an
increase in refunds for overpayment of real property taxes paid in the 1992 and 1993 fiscal years. For
additional information, see “SECTION IV: SOURCES OF City REVENUES—Real Estate Tax—Assessment”.

3 On October 11, 1991, an organization calling itself Taxpayers for an Affordable New York com-
menced an action with several other plaintiffs in State Supreme Court, Albany County, against the State
Board, the State and the City seeking, among other things, a declaratory judgment that the Tax Resolution
adopted by the City Council for fiscal year 1992, as it pertains to real property taxation, violates the State
Constitution. Plaintiffs allege that the special equalization ratios calculated by the State Board in 1991 result
in the overstatement of the actual full valuation of real property in the City by hundreds of billions of dollars
with the result that the City’s real estate tax levy for fiscal year 1992 is in excess of the State Constitution’s
real estate tax limit. This limit is based on a percentage of the average full valuation of taxable real property
in the City for the most recent five years. Although plaintiffs do not specify the extent of the alleged real
property overvaluation, an adverse determination significantly reducing such limit could subject the City to
substantial liability for real property tax refunds and could have an adverse impact on the amount of debt the
City can have outstanding under the general debt limit (defined as 10% of the average full value of taxable
real estate in the City for the most recent five years). By motion dated June 10, 1993 plaintiffs moved for
summary judgment. On or about July 2, 1993, the State and City defendants each cross-moved to dismiss the
action and for summary judgment. A similar action relating to the real estate tax levy for fiscal year 1993 has
been commenced by another group of taxpayers and is also pending in State Supreme Court, Albany County.

4. A number of petitions for administrative review of the Commissioner of Finance’s denial of refund
claims are pending in which the taxpayers claim they are due refunds under the Banking Corporation and
General Corporation Tax Laws due to their payment of tax on interest from Federal obligations in violation
of 31 US.C. Section 3124(a). In addition, an action has been commenced by Astoria Federal Savings and
Loan Association in New York Supreme Court, Nassau County, to which the City is not a party, seeking a
declaratory judgment that, inter alia, interest on certain bonds issued pursuant to the Public Authorities Law
are exempt from the City’s franchise taxes. Defendant’s motion to dismiss the action was denied by the
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Court. The City has filed a motion to intervene as a party in the action and expects such motion to be granted
since it has not been opposed. If the taxpayers’ positions are upheld, the City could become liable to pay
substantial refunds and could experience a substantial decrease in revenues earned from such taxes.

Miscellaneous

1. Approximately 50 actions apparently seeking $1.5 billion in damages, one of which purports to be a
class action, are pending in the State Supreme Court, New York County, against the City alleging damages
arising out of a water main break and electrical blackout that occurred on August 10, 1983. On December 18,
1990, the Court dismissed all claims which sought damages for purely economic loss unaccompanied by any
claim for direct physical damage. On September 14, 1993, the Appellate Division, First Department,
modified this order by overturning the dismissal of the claims made against the City’s co-defendant, The
Consolidated Edison Company, for purely. economic loss. The decision did not directly address the claims
against the City and it is not clear what impact it has on those claims. The City has sought a clarification of
the decision from the Appellate Division.

2. On October 30, 1989, a lawsuit was commenced in State Supreme Court, New York County, against
the City and others by 383 Madison Associates alleging, among other things, that the City’s denial of
plaintiff’s application for a special permit to transfer development rights associated with Grand Central
Terminal to a property owned by plaintiff is a taking without just compensation in violation of the United
States and the State Constitutions. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief and damages in the
amount of $480 million. On August 7, 1991 the Court granted the City’s motion for summary judgment and
on May 20, 1993 the Appellate Division, First Department affirmed the decision. On June 21, 1993 plaintiff
filed a notice of appeal to the New York State Court of Appeals. On September 14, 1993, the plaintiff’s
appeal as of right was dismissed by the Court of Appeals for lack of a substantial constitutional issue. The
plaintiffs have moved for leave to appeal to the Court of Appeals. The City will seek to have the motion
denied.

3. Forty actions seeking in excess of $364 million have been commenced in State Supreme Court, New
York County, against the City seeking damages for personal injuries and property damage in connection with
an explosion of a Con Edison steam pipe which occurred in Gramercy Park on August 19, 1989.

4. On April 3, 1990, the New York State Court of Appeals ruled, in a case brought by a group of New
York City recipients of AFDC, that the New York Social Services Law requires that AFDC recipients receive
for housing an adequate allowance that bears a reasonable relationship to the cost of housing and, if so,
whether the law was being implemented properly. The Court remanded the case to the trial court. In a
decision issued in 1988 granting plaintiffs a preliminary injunction pending a full trial, the trial court ruled
that plaintiffs were likely to succeed on the merits of their claim that the shelter allowance was inadequate
and awarded preliminary injunctive relief in the form of payments for rent in excess of the shelter allowance.
The trial on the merits has been completed and the parties have submitted post trial briefs. The shelter
allowance, while determined by the State Department of Social Services (“DSS”), is funded by contributions
from the Federal, State and City governments. The City’s contribution is 25% of the total allowance. If
plaintiffs are ultimately successful in seeking substantial increases in the shelter allowance;, it could result in-
substantial costs to the City.

5. Pursuant to regulations of the DSS, the New York City Human Resources Administration provides
a limited number of medically disabled and/or physically handicapped persons with “sleep-in home attend-
ants” who are assigned to live in the person’s home on a 24-hour basis. In or about 1981, one union
representing a number of sleep-in home attendants filed complaints with the New York State Department of
Labor (“DOL), alleging that they were paid below the state minimum wage for their services since they
actually worked in excess of the 12 hours per day for which they were compensated. The DOL found that for
the first seven months of 1981, the sleep-in attendants worked either 13 hours or, in a limited number of
cases, 14%: hours per day. The City appealed to the New York State Industrial Board of Appeals (“IBA”).
The IBA bifurcated the proceeding to determine, prior to any consideration of the actual number of hours
worked, whether the attendants were excluded from the Minimum Wage Law. In February 1987, the IBA
determined that the attendants were covered by the Minmimum: Wage Law. The City appealed, and on.
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June 12, 1989, the Appellate Division, Second Department affirmed the IBA determination. Hearings on the
issue of the number of hours actually worked by the attendants during the first seven months of 1981 were
completed before the IBA on September 12, 1991, and post-hearing briefs were filed by February 14, 1992.

In May 1984, the union commenced a separate but related action in the Supreme Court, New York
County on behalf of a number of sleep-in attendants claiming, inter alia, that since 1981 the attendants were
entitled to compensation for a 24-hour day and at a rate in excess of the minimum wage. That action has
been stayed pending the outcome of the present proceeding before the IBA.

While the potential cost to the City of adverse determinations in the two proceedings cannot be
determined at this time, such findings could result in substantial costs to the City depending on the number
of hours deemed worked by particular attendants, the extent of State and Federal reimbursements, the
number of attendants actually covered by a final determination and the rate of pay to be applied.

6. OnMay 2, 1988, the Gay Teachers Association, three employees of BOE and the domestic partners
of these employees commenced an action in State Supreme Court, New York County, against BOE, the City,
the State and others, challenging the policy of BOE of providing health insurance benefits to its employees,
their spouses and children, but not to the domestic partners-of gay and lesbian employees. Plaintiffs claimed-
that this policy was discriminatory and violated the equal protection and due process clauses of the State
Constitution, as well as various provisions of State law, the City Administrative Code and State Executive
Order No. 28. Plaintiffs sought injunctive relief and compensatory and punitive damages. On August 16,
1991, the Court denied all but one aspect of the City’s motion to dismiss for failure to state a cause of action,
but did strike plaintiffs’ request for punitive damages. On May 12, 1992, the Appellate Division, First
Department affirmed the lower court’s decision. On October 29, 1993, the parties entered into a settlement.
The City agreed to extend to the registered domestic partners of City employees and retirees the same health
insurance benefits and options as are provided to the married spouses of employees and retirees. In turn, the
plaintiffs agreed to discontinue their action, provided that the extension of benefits contemplated by the
settlement is ratified by the Municipal Labor Committee, a coalition of City labor unions.

7. In an action brought by the New York City Coalition to End Lead Poisoning and other plaintiffs,
against the City and other defendants, the Supreme Court, New York County, on August 2, 1990 ordered the
City to promulgate regulations consistent with local law governing the removal of lead-based paint in
residential buildings. On February 28, 1991, the Appellate Division, First Department affirmed the order
and on May 30, 1991, the Appellate Division, First Department, denied the City’s motion for leave to appeal
to the Court of Appeals. On March 26, 1993, plaintiffs moved for partial summary judgment and a
permanent injunction directing the City to adopt written procedures to ensure adequate enforcement of
local law. On May 4, 1993 the Supreme Court issued a decision holding the City in contempt for failing to
comply with its 1990 order and fined the City approximately $14,000. The City could incur substantial costs if
it is required to issue regulations implementing the law as currently interpreted by the courts. In addition, the
litigation challenges other aspects of the City’s lead poisoning prevention activities such as screening
children for lead poisoning, the timeliness and adequacy of the City’s enforcement programs and inspection
of day care facilities. Adverse determinations on these issues could result in substantial additional costs to
the City. Additionally, legislation was passed in the United States Congress that could impose substantial
costs on municipalities, including the City, in connection with lead paint removal.

8. Numerous actions have been asserted against the City and the Covered Organizations alleging that
the City and the Covered Organizations have failed to provide proper housing and services to homeless
individuals and families. These actions have been brought on behalf of, among others, homeless persons with.
AIDS, homeless families, and homeless mentally ill and allege that the City has failed to provide such
persons with adequate housing in violation of the State Constitution, the State Social Services Law, the State
Mental Hygiene Law, and various related regulations. In one action brought by homeless mentally-ill
patients released from City hospitals, the New York Court of Appeals has ruled that the City must, inter alia,
assist in locating adequate and appropriate housing when such patients are discharged from in-patient care.
It is unclear at present what costs the City may incur as a result of this ruling. Adverse determinations in the
other actions could also result in substantial costs to the City.

61



9. A suit has been commenced in State Supreme Court, New York County, by tenants residing in
housing acquired by the City through in rem tax proceedings challenging the City’s right to vacate unsafe in
rem buildings and asserting instead that they be maintained in accordance with the State’s Multiple Dwelling
Law and the City’s Housing Maintenance Code. On June 9, 1992, the Court granted plaintiffs’ motion for
partial summary judgment and held that, under certain circumstances, the buildings must be maintained in
accordance with the Multiple Dwelling Law and the Housing Maintenance Code. The City has appealed this
decision to the Appellate Division, First Department. An adverse decision could result in substantial costs to
the City.

10. On November 25, 1992, several self-insured employee welfare benefit plans commenced an action
in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York against various State officials
challenging provisions of the State Public Health Law which impose surcharges on certain hospital bills.
Plaintiffs allege that imposition of the surcharges, which are used in part to fund State bad debt and charity
care pools, violate provisions of Federal law which regulate employee benefit plans. In the event that such
surcharges are held invalid and alternative funding sources are not identified, the City could incur substantial
costs to replace a significant portion of the cost of uncompensated health care now covered by the bad debt
and charity care pools.

11. On December 1, 1992, certain New York City Transit Police retirees filed an action in State
Supreme Court, Queens County (later transferred to New York County) challenging legislation that pro-
vides, among other things, for the payment of variable supplement fund benefits only to retired transit police
officers who did not retire by reason of a disability and who retired after July 1, 1987 (the “Transit Police
Variable Supplement Legislation”). Plaintiffs allege that the Transit Police Variable Supplement Legislation
violates the United States and New York Constitutions as well as Federal and State statutes and seek either
to have the legislation declared void or to. obtain benefits equivalent to those to which the statutory
beneficiaries are entitled. On July 16, 1993, however, the Court denied plaintiffs’ motion for a preliminary
injunction to enjoin the payment of variable supplement fund benefits to statutory beneficiaries pending a
hearing. On April 23, 1993, plaintiffs filed a second lawsuit in State Supreme Court, Queens County (also
transferred to Supreme Court, New York County), against the City, the Transit Authority and the unions
representing certain City employees alleging a breach of duty of fair representation and other violations of
law in the enactment of the Transit Police Variable Supplement Legislation and seeking damages of $600
million of which $300 million are sought from the City

Tax Exemption

In the opinion of Brown & Wood, New York, New York, and Barnes, McGhee, Neal, Poston & Segue,
New York, New York, as Bond Counsel, except as provided in the following sentence, interest on the Bonds
will not be includable in the gross income of the owners of the Bonds for purposes of Federal income
taxation under existing law. Interest on the Bonds will be includable in the gross income of the owners
thereof retroactive to the date of issue of the Bonds in the event of a failure by the City to comply with
applicable requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and covenants
regarding use, expenditure and investment of bond proceeds and the timely payment of certain investment
earnings to the United States Treasury, and no opinion is rendered by either firm as to the exclusion from
gross income of the interest on the Bonds for Federal income tax purposes on or after the date on which any
action is taken under the certificate of the Deputy Comptroller for Finance (under which-the Bonds are
being issued) upon the approval of counsel other than such firm.

Interest on the Bonds will be exempt from personal income taxes imposed by New York State or any:
political subdivision thereof, including New York City.

Interest on the Bonds will not be a specific preference item for purposes of the Federal individual or
corporate alternative minimum tax. The Code contains other provisions that could result in tax conse-
quences, upon which Brown & Wood and Barnes, McGhee, Neal, Poston & Segue render no opinion, as a
result of ownership of such Bonds or the inclusion in certain computations (including without limitation
those related to the corporate alternative minimum tax and environmental tax) of interest that is excluded
from gross income. Interest on the Bonds owned by a corporation will be included in the calculation of the
corporation’s Federal alternative minimum tax liability and Federal environmental tax liability.
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Ownership of tax-exempt obligations may result in collateral tax consequences to certain taxpayers,
including, without limitation, financial institutions, property and casualty insurance companies, certain
foreign corporations. doing business in the United States, certain S Corporations with excess passive income,
individual recipients of Social Security or railroad retirement benefits and taxpayers who may be deemed to
have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry tax-exempt obligations. Prospective purchas-
ers of the Bonds should consult their tax advisors as to applicability of any such collateral consequences.

The initial public offering price of the Bonds maturing in 1996, 1998, 2000 (Bonds bearing interest at
5%), 2001 (Bonds bearing interest at 5.20%), 2002-and._thereafter (the “OID Bonds”), is less than the
amount payable at maturity. The difference between the initial public offering price to the public (excluding
bond houses, brokers or similar persons acting in the capacity of underwriters or wholesalers) at which price
a substantial amount of each maturity of the OID Bonds is sold and the amount payable at maturity
constitutes original issue discount, which will be excludable from gross income to the same extent as interest
on the Bonds for Federal, New York State and New York City income tax purposes. The Code provides that
the amount of original issue discount accrues in accordance with a constant interest method based on the
compounding of interest, and that a holder’s adjusted basis for purposes of determining a holder’s gain or
loss on disposition of such OID Bonds will be increased by such amount. A portion of the original issue-
discount that accrues in each year to an owner of an OID Bond which is a corporation will be included in the
calculation of the corporation’s Federal alternative minimum tax liability and Federal environmental tax
liability. Consequently, corporate owners of any OID Bond shouid be aware that the accrual of original issue
discount in each year may result in an alternative minimum tax liability or an environmental tax liability
although the owner of such OID Bond has not received cash attributable to such original issue discount in

such year.

Owners of OID Bonds should consult their personal tax advisors with respect to the determination for
Federal income tax purposes of the amount of original issue discount or interest properly accruable with
respect to such OID Bonds, other tax consequences of owning OID Bonds and the other state and local tax
consequences of holding such OID Bonds.

Legislation affecting municipal bonds is constantly being considered by the United States Congress.
There can be no assurance that legislation enacted or proposed after the date of issuance of the Bonds will
not have an adverse effect on the tax-exempt status or market price of the Bonds.

Ratings

Moody’s has rated the Bonds Baal. Standard & Poor’s has rated the Bonds A —. Fitch Investors Service,
Inc. (“Fitch”) has rated the Bonds A—. Such ratings reflect only the views of Moody’s, Standard & Poor’s
and Fitch, from which an explanation of the significance of such ratings may be obtained. There is no
assurance that such ratings will continue for any given period of time or that they will be revised downward or
withdrawn entirely. Any such downward revision or withdrawal could have an adverse effect on the market

prices of the Bonds..

In 1975, Standard & Poor’s suspended its A rating of City bonds. This suspension remained in effect
until March 1981, at which time the City received an investment grade rating of BBB from Standard &
Poor’s. On July 2, 1985, Standard & Poor’s revised its rating of City bonds upward to BBB+ and on
November 19, 1987, to A—. On July 2, 1993 Standard & Poor’s reconfirmed its A — rating of City bonds,
continued its negative rating outlook assessment and stated that maintenance of such rating depended upon
the City’s making further progress towards reducing budget gaps in the outlying years. Moody’s ratings of
City bonds were revised in November 1981 from B (in effect since 1977) to Bal, in November 1983 to Baa, in
December 1985 to Baal, in May 1988 to A and again in February 1991 to Baal. Since July 15, 1993, Fitch has
rated City bonds A—.

Underwriting

The Bonds are being purchased for reoffering by the Underwriters, for whom Goldman, Sachs & Co.;
Chemical Securities Inc.; Prudential Securities Incorporated; Artemis Capital Group, Inc; Bear, Stearns &
Co. Inc.; CS First Boston Corporation; Lehman Brothers Inc.; Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporated; and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. are acting as lead Managers. The Bonds are being purchased
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at an aggregate purchase price of $662,928,206.74. The aggregate initial public offering pricc is
$668,379,158.10. The Contract of Purchase provides that the Underwriters will purchase all of the Bonds if
any are purchased.

Certain of the Underwriters hold substantial amounts of City bonds and notes and MAC bonds and
may, from time to time during and after the offering of the Bonds to the public, purchase and sell City bonds
and notes (including the Bonds) and MAC bonds for their own accounts or for the accounts of others, or
receive payment or prepayments thereon.

Legal Opinions

The legality of the authorization and issuance- of the Bonds will be covered by the approving legal
opinions of Brown & Wood, New York, New York, and Barnes, McGhee, Neal, Poston & Segue, New York,
New York, Bond Counsel to the City. Reference should be made to the forms of such opinions set forth in
Appendix D hereto for the matters covered by such opinions and the scope of Bond Counsel’s engagement
in relation to the issuance of the Bonds. Such firms are also acting as counsel for and against the City in
certain other unrelated matters.

Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the City by its Corporation Counsel.

Lord Day & Lord, Barrett Smith, New York, New York, Special Counsel to the City, will pass upon
certain legal matters in connection with the preparation of this Official Statement. A description of those
matters and the nature of the review conducted by that firm is set forth in its opinion and accompanying
memorandum which are on file at the office of the Corporation Counsel.

Certain legal matters will be passed upon by Rogers & Wells, New York, New York, and Wood,
Williams, Rafalsky & Harris, New York, New York, Counsel for the Underwriters. Such firms are also acting
as counsel for and against the City in certain other unrelated matters.

Verification

The accuracy of (i) the mathematical computations of the adequacy of the maturing principal of and
interest earned on the government obligations held in escrow to provide for the payment of the refunded
bonds and (ii) certain mathematical computations supporting the conclusion that the Bonds are not “arbi-
trage bonds” under the Code, will be verified by Deloitte & Touche, a firm of independent certified public
accountants.

Financial Advisor

The City retains Public Resources Advisory Group (“PRAG”) and P.G. Corbin & Company, Inc. to act
as financial advisors with respect to the City’s financing program. PRAG is acting as financial advisor for the
issuance of the Bonds.

Further Information

The references herein to, and summaries of, Federal, State and local laws, including but not limited to
the State Constitution, the Financial Emergency Act, the Moratorium Act, the MAC Act and the City
Charter, and documents, agreements and court decisions, including but not limited to the Financial Plan, are
summaries of certain provisions thereof. Such summaries do not purport to be complete and are qualified in
their entirety by reference to such acts, laws, documents, agreements or decisions, copies of which are
available for inspection during business hours at the office of the Corporation Counsel.

Copies of the most recent financial plan submitted to the Control Board are available upon written
request to the Office of Management and Budget, General Counsel, 6th Floor, 75 Park Place, New York, NY
10007, and copies of the most recent published Comprehensive Annual Report of the Comptroller are
available upon written request to the Office of the Comptroller, Deputy Comptroller for Finance; 5th Floor,
Municipal Building, One Centre Street, New York, NY 10007.
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Neither this Official Statement nor any statement which may have been made orally or in writing-shall
be construed as a contract or as a part of a contract with the original purchasers or any holders of the Bonds.

THE CiTY OF NEW YORK
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APPENDIX A

ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL FACTORS

This section presents information regarding certain of the major economic and social factors affecting
the City. All information is presented on a calendar year basis unless otherwise indicated. The data set forth
are the latest available. Sources of information are indicated in the text or immediately following the charts
and tables. Although the City considers the sources to be reliable, the City has made no independent
verification of the information presented herein and docs not warrant its accuracy.

Population Characteristics
New York City has been the most populous city in the United States since 1810. The City’s population is
almost as large as the combined population of the next three most populous cities in the United States.

The population of the City grew steadily through 1950, reaching 7,890,000, and remained relatively
stable between 1950 and 1970. From 1970 to 1980, however, the City’s population declined substantially,
falling 10.4% over the decade. The final results of the 1990 census show a moderate increase in the City’s
population since 1980 due to an influx of immigrants prim arily from Asia, the Caribbean and Latin America.
The following table provides information concerning the City’s population.

POPULATION OF NEW YORK CITY
Distribution of Population By County (Borough)

Total Bronx Kings New York Queens Richmond
Yﬁ{ Population  1970=100  (The Bronx) (Brooklyn)  (Manhattan) (Queens) (Staten Island)
1960 ............ 7,781,984 98.6 1,424,815 2,627,319 1,698,281 1,809,578 221,991
1970 ....ooeen e 7,895,563  100.0 1,471,701 2,602,012 1,539,233 1,987,174 295,443
1980(1) ......... 7,071,639 89.6 1,168,972 2,231,028 1,428,285 1,891,325 352,029
1984(2) ......... 7,234,514 91.6 1,179,413 2,288,807 1,457,879 1,943,568 364,847
1985(2) ......... 7,274,054 92.1 1,187,894 2,304,368 1,464,286 1,949,579 367,927
1986(2) ......... 7,319,246 92.7 1,198,837 2,320,507 1,475202 1,953,616 371,084
1987(2) ..v...... 7,342,476 93.0 1,210,712 2,324,361 1,481,531 1,952,640 373,232
1988(2) ......... 7,353,719 93.1 1,215,834 2,326,439 1,484,183 1,951,557 375,706
1989(1) ......... 7,344,175 93.0 1,213,675 2316966 1,486,046 1,950,425 377,063
1990(1) ......... 7,322,564 92.7 1,203,789 2,300,664 1,487,536 1,951,598 378,977
1991(1) ......... 7,320,510 92.7 1,197,523 2,292,394 1,494,082 1,951,928 384,583

(1) Final census count, which may reflect an undercount of a significant number of persons and is subject to modification as a result of
certain litigation with the Census Bureau.
(2) 1984-1988 based on midyear population estimate of the Bureau of the Census as of September 1589.

Note: Does not include an undetermined number of undocumented aliens.
Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census.

The following table sets forth the distribution of the City’s population by age between 1960 and 1990.

DISTRIBUTION OF POPULATION BY AGE

(In Thousands)
1960 1970 1980 1990
A_gf % of Total % of Total % of Total % of Total
Under5......coovviiiinn. 687 88 616 7.8 471 6.7 510 7.0
St017 v 1,478 19.0 1,619 20.5 1,295 18.3 1,177 16.1
18t024 ..ot 663 8.5 889 11.3 826 11.7 778 10.6
251034 .. 1,056 13.6 1,076 13.6 1,203 17.0 1,369 18.7
35todd .. 1,071 13.8 916 11.6 834 11.8 1,117 15.2
45t064 ...l 2,013 259 1,832 23.2 1,491 211 1,419 19.4
65andOver................ 814 104 948 12.0 952 134 953 13.0

Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census.
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Economic Activity, 1969-1991

For at least a decade prior tc the end of the fiscal crisis in the mid-seventies, New York City’s economy
lagged behind the national economy, as evidenced by certain of the broad economic indicators. The City’s
economy improved after that crisis, and through 1987 certain of the key economic indicators posted steady
growth. From 1987 to 1991 the rate of economic growth in the City slowed substantially as a result of the 1987
stock market crash and the beginning of the national recession. Trends of certain major economic indicators
for the City and the nation are shown in the following table.

Trends of Major Economic Indicators 1969-91

Levels Average Annual Percent Change
192 ﬂé % % 1969-76 1976-88 1988-91
NYC
Population(1) (millions) ......... 7.9 7.4 7.4 73 (0.9) (0.1) 0.1)
Employment(2) (millions) ....... 3.8 3.2 36 34 (24) 1.0 (2.2)
Personal Income(3) (billions) .. .. $38.8 $583 $143.8 $169.6 6.0 7.8 57
Real Per Capita Personal
Income{4) ................... $12,8425 $12,858.8 $15812.2 $16,004.1 0.0 1.7 0.4
United States
Population(1) (miilions) ......... 2013 217.6 2445 2522 1.1 1.0 1.0
Employment(2) (millions) ....... 70.4 79.4 105.2 1083 1.7 24 1.0
Personal Income(3) (billions) .. .. $773.7  $14463 34,0759 $4,8283 9.3 90 58
Real Per Capita Personal
Income(4)-................... $10,4749 $11,676.3- $14,083.8 $14,050.8- 1.6 1.6- 0.1

(1) 1970, 1980 and 1990 figures are based on final census count. All other years are estimates. Source: U.S. Department of Commerce,
Bureau of the Census.

(2) Payroll employment based on Bureau of Labor Statistics (“BLS") establishment survey. Source: U.S. Department of Labor,
Bureau of Labor Statistics and New York State Department of Labor, Division of Research and Statistics.

(3) In current dollars. Income by place of residence. Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis.
(4) In average dollars for 1982-1984.

Employment Trends

From 1969 to 1977, economic activity in the City declined sharply while the U.S. economy expanded,
despite two national recessions (1969 to 1970 and 1973 to 1975) during this period. Locally, total employ-
ment dropped 16.1 percent, from 3,798,000 jobs to 3;188,000 jobs; or 2.2 percent per year over the eight-year
period. A loss of 287,000 jobs, or 5.2 percent per year, to 539,000 jobs in the manufacturing sector accounted
for nearly half of the City’s total employment loss during this period. Employment in the finance, insurance
and real estate (“FIRE”)-sector declined by 50,000 jobs, or 1.4 percent- per year, to-414,000-jebs; while
service sector employment remained relatively constant at 783,000 jobs.

The ripple effects of the decline in the manufacturing and FIRE sectors of the City’s economy, along
with stagnation in the services sector, caused declines during the 1969 to 1977 period in other sectors
sensitive to the health of the rest of the local economy. In particular, government employment fell 0.9 per-
cent per year to 508,000 jobs; transportation and public utilities employment dropped 2.8 percent per year to
258,000 jobs; wholesale and retail trade employment declined 2.3 percent per year to 620,000 jobs; and
construction-employment decreased 6.0 percent per year to 64,000 jobs.

Conversely, from 1969 to 1977, U.S. real GDP rose on average 2.6 percent per year and employment
increased at an average annual rate of 2.0 percent. Thus, as the nation emerged from the OPEC-induced
recession in 1973 to 1975, a continuing local economic decline plunged the City into a fiscal crisis that led it
to the brink of bankruptcy.

The City’s economy during the period from 1977 to 1987 contrasts sharply with the 1969 to 1977 period.
During the 1977 to 1987 period, the City’s economy expanded along with that of the nation. From the iate
1970s to the late 1980s, U.S. real GDP rose 2.5 percent per year, despite a severe recession from 1980 to
1982. But unlike growth in the 1969 to 1977 period when U.S. inflation accelerated and interest rates rose, in
the 1977 to 1987 period, inflation generally decelerated and interest rates dropped by 50 percent from their
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1981 peak. This provided a powerful impetus to the financial markets and the result was a bull market which
nearly tripled stock prices and increased the volume of shares traded by 800 percent. As a consequence, the
City’s FIRE sector employment grew dramatically and carried the rest of the local economy along with it.

Due to the strong growth in the FIRE and service sectors, total City employment rose 1.2 percent a year
to reach 3,590,000 in 1987, the highest level in a decade and a half. More specifically, during the 1977 to 1987
period, FIRE employment grew 2.9 percent per year to 550,000 jobs; service sector employment rose
3.5 percent per year to 1,108,000 jobs; wholesale and retail trade employment increased 0.3 percent per year
to 638,000 jobs; government employment grew 1.3 percent per year to 580,000 jobs; and construction
employment increased 6.3 percent per year to 119,000 jobs. Meanwhile, manufacturing employment contin-
ued its long-term decline, dropping 3.4 percent per year to 380,000 jobs, and transportation and public
utilities employment also continued to decline, decreasing nearly 1.8 percent per year to 215,000 jobs.

Another turning point in the City’s economy was the October 1987 stock market crash. During 1988, the
U.S. economy boomed with real GDP growth of 3.9 percent and an increase in employment of 3.2 percent,
both above their. average annual growth rates for the period from 1969 to 1987 of 2.6 and 2.1 percent,
respectively. The City’s economy, however, stagnated, and the ripple effects of job losses resulting from post-
crash layoffs of more than 20,000 employees in the FIRE sector, where wages are 50 percent above the City
average, caused City growth in 1988 essentially to disappear. After increases of 35,000 jobs a year from 1977
to 1987, City employment increased by only 15,000 jobs, or 0.4 percent, in 1988. All of that increase was
attributable to government employment, which added 15,800 jobs. Service sector employment added 14,600
jobs, less than half its average annual growth in the 1977 to 1987 period, and such growth was more than
offset by declines in employment in the FIRE and manufacturing sectors.

During 1989, the U.S. economy grew moderately with an increase in real GDP of 2.5 percent and-an.
increase in employment of 2.6 percent. The City’s economy, however, continued to stagnate, with continued
declines in employment in the FIRE and manufacturing sectors and very weak growth in government
employment.

The national economic downturn which began in July 1990 adversely affected the local economy, which
had been declining since late 1989. As a result, the City experienced significant job losses in 1990 with total
employment declining by 1.2 percent or 42,000 jobs. Employment increased only in the service, transporta-
tion and public utilities and government sectors, at rates of 0.2 percent, 5.1 percent (due to-a strike in 1989)-
and 1.0 percent, respectively. These increases were, however, more than offset by the job losses in the other
major sectors, specifically, the FIRE, wholesale and retail trade, manufacturing and construction sectors
which experienced decreases of 2.1 percent, 3.5 percent, 6.1 percent and 4.9 percent, respectively.

During 1991, both the national and local economies continued to decline, with the City declining at a
faster rate than the nation. Local employment decreased by 191,000 jobs, or 5.3 percent, and the nation
experienced job losses totalling 1.2 million, or 1.1 percent. In 1992, job losses moderated in the City, with
employment in the City decreasing by 90,000 jobs, or 2.7 percent, and employment in the U.S. increased by
0.2 percent. As of October 1993, employment in the U.S. had increased by 1.9 million jobs and employment
in the City decreased by 3,000 jobs from October 1992.

Certain City employment information is presented in the tables below. These tables are derived from
the Establishment Survey and the Current Population Survey which use significantly different estimation
techniques that are not comparable.
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Non-Agricultural Payroll Employment: Establishment Survey
Non-agricultural payroll employment trends in the City are shown in the table below.

CHANGES IN PAYROLL EMPLOYMENT IN NEW YORK CITY
(In Thousands)
Peak
Empiloyment(1) Average Annual Employment-
Sector Year Level 1985 1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 1992

Private Sector
Non-Manufacturing .. 1989 26472 25237 2575.6 2630.1 2638.8 26472 2621.1 24752 2408.2
Services ........ 1990 11490 10385 10762 11084 11231 11472 11490 10969 1091.1

Wholesale and
Retail trade... 1969  749.1 638.1 638.5 637.6 634.3 6302 6083 5653 547.9

Finance,

Insurance and
Real Estate ... 1987  549.7 507.6 529.3 549.7 542.4 530.5 519.6 494 .4 477.2

Transportation
and Public
Utilities ... ... 1969 3239 2320 2173 2149 2184 2181 229.1 2184 2054
Contract
Construction .. 1962- 1391 1063 1137 1188 1201 1208 1149 99.8 86.2
Mining ......... 1967 25 1.2 0.8 0.7 0.5 0.3 03 0.3 0.4
Manufacturing. . ..... 1960 9468 4077 3915 3796 3701 3595 3375 3078 2931
Durable ........ 1960 303.6 112.2 106.5 100.0 97.7 94.3 88.0 713 72.8
Non-Durable.... 1960 6432 2955 2850 2796 2724 2652 2495 2305 2202
Government(2)-........ 1990 6076 5366. 5735 5804 5961 6015 6076 5926 584.0
Total Non-
agricultural ..... 1969 37977 3488.1 3540.6 35900 36050 36082 35662 3375.6 32852
RECENT MONTHLY TRENDS
(Total Payroll Employment in Thousands)
1985 oo 34273 3439.6 3462.5 3464.1 3485.6 3483.9 3487.4 3495.0 3491.7 3512.8 3547.6 3559.1
1986 . oovieeaaiae 3480.5 34922 3524.0 3525.0 3536.9 3552.5 3543.9 3535.3 3544.0 3566.5 3585.2 3600.7
1987 oo 35233 3537.8 3568.5 3577.9 3583.6 3610.6 3582.0 3584.5 3588.7 3615.3 3641.1 3661.8
1988 oo 3557.8 3575.3 3609.4 3603.9 3603.8 3625.1 3578.3 3583.0 3595.4 3611.2 3651.4 3665.0
1989 ..ot 3566.9 3584.6 3611.2 3617.5 3622.2 3641.5 3592.5 3584.6 3594.7 3601.6 3623.9 3657.6
1990 ... ..ol 3555.9 3563.1 3588.9 3578.2 3601.7 3606.0 3549.4- 3553.9. 3556.2.3540.1 3548.4.3553.1.
1991 ..o 3389.2 3387.7 3407.6 3395.1 3396.9 3406.5 3340.7 3336.6-3343.0 33589 3372.9 33724
1992 ..o 3260.8 3260.5 3284.9 3293.7 3297.7 3302.6 3278.8 3275.7 3264.9 3283.7 3305.2 3313.7
1993 ... 3224.0 3230.8 3257.0 3257.3 32¢4.6 3275.5 3243.8 3243.5 3249.8 32804

(1) For the period 1960 through 1992.
(2) Excludes military establishments.
Note: Details may not add up to totals due to rounding. Payroll employment is based upon reports of employer payroll data

g‘establishment data”), which exclude the self-employed and workess employed by private househelds or agriculture, forestry and
shery.

Sources: U.S. Department of Labor, BLS and State of New York, Department of Labor, Division of Research and Statistics.



Employment, Labor Force and Unemployment: Current Population Survey
Changes in the employment status of the City’s resident labor force are shown in the following table.

EMPLOYMENT STATUS OF THE RESIDENT POPULATION OF NEW YORK CITY

Labor Force

Civilian Labor Force Participation Rate(1) Unemployment Rate(2)
Year I(Ea_l Employed Unemployed New York City  United States  New York City United States
— (In Thousands)
1982 ...oiiienens 3,093 2,798 296 55.2% 64.3% 9.6% 9.7%
1983 ............ 3,047 2,759 288 538 64.4 9.4 9.6
1984 ............ 3,081 2,806 275 53.9 64.7 8.9 1.5
1985 ...oiintn 3,227 2,965 261 56.1 65.1 8.1 72
1986 ............ 3,220 2,983 237 55.5 65.6 7.4 7.0
1987 ..ooiineit 3,244 3,058 186 55.6 65.9 57 6.2
1988 .......oens N/A N/A N/A N/A 66.2 N/A 5.5
1989(3)..... ...t 3,441 3,201 240 58.8 66.8 7.0 53
1990 ............ 3,339 3,111 228 570 66.7 6.8 5.5
1991 .....oeennn 3,307 3,023 284 56.4 66.3 8.6 6.8
1992 ...l 3,311 2,952 359 56.3 66.6 10.8 7.4

RECENT MONTHLY TRENDS

Unemployment

1985 .. 82% 9.6% 90% 9.1% 84% 74% 69% 77% 81% 84% 13% 71%
1986 ... vveiiiinnnn 7.3 84 79 87 19 7.3 7.9 6.9 6.6 6.9 6.1 6.2
1987 vt 7.4 60 58 52 54 6.0 6.0 51 4.5 58 66 50
1988(3)...vvvniennns 53 42 46 N/A NA NA NA NA N/A N/A NA NA
1989(3)...cviinannn N/A NA NA NA NA NA N/A NJA NA NA 65 7.0
1990 ....ooiiiiiinnnn 70 65 68 59 6.9 60 72 62 79 7.7 74. 6.3
1991 ...oviiinnnn 74 13 8.1 8.9 8.4 8.7 8.8 9.3 7.7 85 102 93
1992 i 10.4 109 103 95 105 115 121 111 114 11.0 105 11.0
1993 ... 134 113 96 9.8 9.5 94 9.5 9.5 87 103

(1) Percentage of civilian non-institutional population, age 16 and over, in labor force, employed or seeking employment.

(2) Percentage of civilian Jabor force unemployed: excludes those persons unable to work and discouraged workers (i.c., persons not
actively seeking work because they believe no suitable work is available).

(3) From April 1988 through October 1989, the monthly Current Population Survey was discontinued. The annual 1989 employment
information for the City represents year-end (December) data.

Note: Monthly and semi-annual data are not seasonally adjusted. Because thiese estimates are ‘based on a-sample rather than a full

count of population, these data are subject to sampling error. Accordingly, small differences in the estimates over time should be

interpreted with caution. The Current Population Survey includes wage and salary workers, domestic and other household workers,
self-employed persons, and unpaid workers who work 15 hours or more during the survey week in family businesses.

Source: U.S. Department of Labor, BLS.
Consumer Prices and Wage Rates

The City’s economic growth during 1977 to 1987, fueled by the boom in the financial sector, aggravated
local inflationary pressures. Since 1983, the local Consumer Price Index increased more than the national
average, rising 4.6 percent per year on average through 1989 versus 3.6 percent per year for the nation. This
was a reversal of the trend in the 1970s and early 1980s, when local inflation lagged the national rate by a
percentage point. In 1988, local prices rose 4.9 percent, or (1.8 percentage points faster than the national rate,
and in 1989, local inflation measured 5.6 percent compared to the national 4.8 percent rate. In 1990, prices at’
the local and national levels experienced a sharp increase over 1989, climbing 6.1 percent and 5.4 percent,
respectively. Largely responsible for the surge in prices in 1990 was a steep upturn in energy prices created by
an OPEC agreement and the Middle East crisis. In 1991, the local inflation rate was 4.5 percent, which was
0.3 of a percentage point higher than the -national. rate of 4.2 percent. In 1992, inflation was generally
subdued both locally and nationally with prices in the New York area rising 3.6 percent compared to 3.0
percent nationally. The discount of the New York area inflation rate over the national rate was 0.5
percentage points in October 1993, with local inflation running at a rate of 2.2 percent and national inflation
running at a rate of 2.8 percent.
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The growth in the financial sector in the 1980s accelerated wage rate increases in the City, which had run
at about the national average of 7.6 percent per year from 1975 to 1981, a period of double-digit inflation.
Inflation has subsided since 1981; however, bolstered by high bonus payments in the financial sector, with its
multiplier effects on other industries, overall wage rates climbed 7.1 percent per year from 1982 to 1988, or
approximately 2.5 percentage points above the U.S. rate. In 1988, the premium over the national wage rate
increased to nearly 4 percentage points, as local wages, boosted by record bonus payments on Wall Street for
1987, rose 8.5 percent compared to 4.6 percent for the nation.

In 1989, given the sharp decrease in FIRE sector bonus payments and base compensation, local wage
rates rose only 3.4 percent, versus the national increase of 3.1 percent. As the stock market stabilized, local
wage rates increased 6.6 percent versus 4.6 percent for the nation in 1990. In 1991, local wage rates increased
4.0% versus 3.6% for the nation. In 1992, boosted by FIRE sector bonus payments, local wage rates
increased 11.3% versus 3.5% for the nation.

The following table presents information on consumer price trends for the New York-Northeastern
New Jersey and four other metropolitan areas, and the nation.

CHANGES IN CONSUMER PRICE INDEX: SELECTED AREAS

All Items—Urban Areas
Percent Increase Over Prior Year

Areact) 1970 1975 1980 1981 1952 1983 1984 1985 1986 1967 1988 1989 19% 1991 19%2
New York-NE. N.J.(2) ..... 74 76113 98 58 47 50 37 33 51 49 56 6.1 45 36
Philadelphia, Pa.-N.J. ..... 68 83 13.1 102 49 29 47 45 25 48 48 48 59 47 31
Chicago, Iil.-Northwestern

Ind. ...oovvivviiiinnenn. 57 79 144 96 68 40 38 38 21 41 39 51 54 41 29

San Francisco-Oakland(3).. 51 9.9 151 130 69 10 58 40 30 35 44 49 45 44 33

L.A.-Long Beach,
Anaheim, Calif. ......... 52 106 158 97 60 18 46 46 33 42 46 51 59 41 3.6

U.S. city average .......... 50 01 135104 62 32 44 35 19 37 41 48 54 42 30

(1) Area is generally the Standard Metropolitan Statistical Area (the “SMSA”), exclusive of farms. L.A.-Lon Beach, Anaheim, Calif.
is a combination of two SMSA's, and N.Y., N.Y.-Northeastern N.J. and Chicago, TIl.-Northwestern Ind. are the more extensive
Standard Consolidated Areas. Area definitions are those established by the U.S. Office of Management and Budget im 1973: Cities

in the respective areas had a population of one million or more according to the 1990 census.

(2) Since January 1987, the New York area coverage has been expanded. The New York-Northeastern New Jersey area comprises the
five boroughs of New York City, Nassau, Suffolk, Westchester, Rockland, Putnam, and Orange Counties in New York State;
Bergen, Essex, Hudson, Hunterdon, Middlesex, Monmouth, Morris, Ocean, Passaic, Somerset, Sussex, and Union counties in New
Jersey; and Fairfield County and parts of Litchfield and New Haven Counties in Connecticut.

(3) The Consumer Price Index for San Francisco-Oakland was reported bi-monthly prior to 1987.
Source: U.S. Department of Labor, BLS.

Information on consumer price trends in the New York-Northeastern New Jersey metropolitan area for
certain items is set forth in the table below.

By EXPENDITURE CLASS

% Increase
Average Annual October 1993 -over-
% Increase 1982-92 % Increase 1992 October 1992
Expenditure Class l_J_S_ New York-NE. NJ. E New York-NE. NJ. E - New York-NE, NJ.

AllTtems ....ovvviiiiininnnnnnn 3.8 4.6 3.0 3.6 2.8 22
Food and Beverages........... 3.6 4.1 1.4 1.2 22 1.6
Housing .........oveveeeaennnn 3.6 4.8 2.9 39 2.7 24

Apparel and Upkeep.......... 3.0 2.8 25 32 0.8 1.9)
Transportation ................ 27 3.2 22 28 3.0 33
Medical Care .........ceveent. 7.5 8.1 7.4 72 5.7 4.2
Entertainment ................ 4.0 44 2.8 4.0 2.6 3.6
Other Goods and Services . .. .. 7.2 7.8 6.8 7.8 2.9 3.0

Note: Monthly data are not seasonally adjusted.
Source: U.S. Department of Labor, BLS.
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Personal Income

While per capita personal income for City residents, unadjusted for the effects of inflation and the
differential in living costs, has increased in recent years and remains higher than the average for the United
States, it fell from 1950 through 1979 as a proportion of both the national and New York metropolitan area
levels. This relative decline in per capita income of City residents was partially because the incomes of
households moving into the City were substantially lower than those of departing households, which
relocated mostly to the City’s suburbs. As a result of the surge in wage rates and employment, growth in
personal income in New York City also increased in the mid-1980s. From 1971 to 1981, income growth in the
City was below the U.S. rate by nearly four percentage points, as U.S. employment grew and City employ-
ment for most of that period declined. From 1982 to 1991 (the most recent year for which local personal
income data are available), New York City personal income averaged 6.7 percent growth, the same as in the
nation. The following table sets forth recent information regarding personal income in the City.

PERSONAL INCOME IN NEW YORK CITY(1)

Personal Income Per Capita Personal Income

NYC Average Annual Average Annual New York City as a Percent of

Total _____% Change ______._% Change Suburban Metropolitan
Y_CE[ (In Billions) E ﬁ &C _N_YC_ E E Counties(2) Area(3)
1983.. $102.1 7.4% 64% $14215 63% 54% 1161% 84.1% 82.1%
1984.. 112.3 10.0 10.2 15,520 9.2 9.2 116.0 83.2 82.0
1985.. 1184 55 71 16,278 4.9 6.2 114.6 81.2 81.7
1986.. 126.1 6.5 6.2 17,234 59 53 115.3 79.9 81.6
1987.. 133.0 55 5.9 18,120 5.1 49 115.5 77.7 81.2
1988.. 143.8 8.1 7.2 19,557 79 6.2 117.3 77.1 81.0
1989.. 154.3 73 7.5 21,006 74 6.5 118.4 76.6 80.8
1990. . 165.0 6.9 6.5 22,528 72 5.7 120.1 78.3 81.1
1991.. 169.6 2.8 3.5 23,174 29 21 121.0 79.8 81.4

(1) In current dollars. Personal Income is a place of residence measure of income which includes wages and salaries, other labor
income, proprietors’ income, personal- ividend income, personal.interest. income,_rental income of persons, and iransfer

payments.
(2) Suburban Counties consists of the counties of Nassau, Putnam, Rockland, Suffolk, and Westchester in New York State.

{3) Based on Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area (“PMSA”) which includes New York City, Putnam, Rockland and Westchester
counties:

Sources: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis and the Bureau of the Census.

Sectoral Distribution of Employment and Income

Data on the sectoral distribution of employment and income reflect a growing concentration of FIRE
and services employment and a shrinking manufacturing base in the City relative to the nation. Within FIRE
and services, the expanding trend is especially more marked in finance, business and related professional
services. There are important implications of this structural shift from the manufacturing to the FIRE and
services sectors. First, average employee income in finance and related business and professional services
has been considerably higher than in manufacturing. Although the employment share of the FIRE sector
increased by 2 percentage points during 1977 to 1989, its carnings share increased by about 9 percentage
points, which reflects its high per employee income. However, the sudden shock in the financial industry of
the October 1987 stock market crash had a disproportionally adverse effect on the City’s employment and
income relative to the nation. Payroll employment data indicates that through December 1991 the City’s
FIRE sector lost 71,000 jobs since the October 1987 crash, significantly offsetting the employment gains in
other sectors. The City’s and the nation’s employment and income by industry sector are set forth in the
following table.
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SECTORAL DISTRIBUTION OF EMPLOYMENT AND EARNINGS(1)

Employment Earnings(2)
1977 1991 1977 1991
Sector WC  Us. WMC  Us.  WC  US MC DS
Private Sector
Non-Manufacturing .............. 672% 57.8% 733% 660% 70.7% 56.7% 718.4% 639%
SerVIEES . ..o 246. 185 32.5 262 26.0 19.6 337 270
Wholesale and Retail Trade....  19.5 22.5 16.7 234 16.7 16.6 12.1 16.3
Finance, Insurance and Real
Estate .......cocoiiienenenss 13.0 54 14.6 6.2 14.4 5.6 222 6.8
Transportation and Public
Utilities . .. coveevineennnnn.. 8.1 5.7 6.5 53 11.2 75 7.0 6.8
Contract Construction ......... 2.0 4.7 30 43 2.3 59 32 55
1% 117117 R 0.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 1.5 0.0 0.9
Manufacturing................... 16.9 23.9 9.1 17.0 15.6 26.1 8.0 19.3
Durable ......ccoovveveniaiinns 5.1 14.1 23 9.8 4.5 16.6 1.9 11.7
Non-Durable ......c.ooovie.nt 11.8 9.8 6.8 72 11.1 9.5 6.1 7.6
Government(3) ..........oiiiiiinn 15.9 183 17.6 17.0 13.7 17.2 13.6 16.8
Total Non-Agricultural ............. 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 100.0

(1) The sectoral distributions are obtained by dividing each industry’s employment or earnings by total non-agricultural employment
or earnings.

(2) Includes the sum of wage and salary disbursements, other labor income, and proprietors’ income. The latest information available
for New York City is 1991 preliminary data.

(3) Excludes military establishments.

Sources: The two primary sources of employment and earnings information are U.S. Dept. of Labor, BLS, and U.S. Dept. of
Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis (“BEA”), respectively.

Public Assistance

Between 1960 and 1972, the number of persons in the City who were recipients of some form of public
assistance more than tripled from 324,200 to 1,265,300. The bulk of the long-term increase occurred in the
Aid to Families with Dependent Children (“AFDC”) program, which more than quadrupled during that
period.

Between 1972 and 1982, the number of recipients, including those in the Supplemental Security Income
(“SSI”) program, declined fairly steadily, except for temporary increases noted in 1975 and 1976, when the
City was experiencing the effects of a national recession. From 1983 until 1987, the number of recipients
increased, reflecting lingering effects of the 1982 recession. While figures for 1988 and 1989 indicate a
decrease in public assistance recipients, the number of recipients has increased throughout 1990, 1991 and
thus far in 1992.

Public assistance and SSI recipients rose as a proportion of total City population from 4.2% in 1960 to
16.5% in 1975. Between 1975 and 1985, that proportion decreased to 15.8% of total population.
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The following tables set forth the number of persons receiving public assistance in the City.

PERSONS RECEIVING PUBLIC ASSISTANCE IN NEW YORK CItY
(Annual Averages in Thousands)

Average AFDC AFDC
Annual Home Unemployed Predetermination

Year(1) Total Change (%)  Relief AFDC Parent Grant
1986 . o e et 911.5 (16) 1743 7176 19.6 —
1987 oo 8715  (44) 1620 6942 153 —
B SO P 840.1 (3:6) 1558 671.2 13.0. —
1989 . .ttt 817.9 (2.6) 1493 6420 12.0 14.6(2)
1990 . .ot 858.3 49 139.7 641.4 12.8 64.5
199 . o 939.4 95 166.5 677.5 15.0 80.4
1992 . i ey 1,007.7 73 189.3 710.1 15.9 923

(1) Figures do not include aged, disabled or blind persons who were transferred from public assistance to the SSI program, which is
primarily Federally funded. According to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the SSI program su&iorted, as of
December of each year, a total of 227,068 persons in 1979; 223,934 persons in 1980; 217,274 persons in 1981; 207, ersons in
1982; 206,330 persons in 1983; 211,728 persons in 1984; 217.852 persons in 1985; 223,404 in 1986 and 227,918 in 1987.

(2) Figure compriscs persons receiving public assistance as predetcrmination grant recipients pending AFDC eligibility for only
October through December of 1989.

Note: Due to a change in statistical measurements, the decline in public assistance recipients for 1987 may be slightly overstated.

RECENT MONTHLY TRENDS
(Total Recipients In Thousands)

1985........ 9239 9210 9312 9357 9245 9251 9258 9305 9226 9276 9220 9229
1986........ 9202 917.8 9189 9197 9165 9130 5156 9068 9049 907.8 8976 8989
1987........ 8948 890.1 8939 8940 8895 8859 8735 8593 8540 8452 8312 8470
1988........ 8394 8522 8563 865.1 8526 8463 8389 8363 8262 8259 8201 8223
1989........ 813.4 8162 821.1 8167 8153 8150 813.0 8207 817.8 8251 8243 8230
1990........ 8236 827.6 8390 8417 8497 £596 8598 871.4 8717 880.2 8831 8923
1991........ 8959 8999 9140 9232 9292 9368 945.1 9538 9552 969.5 9728 9772
1992........ 988.8 985.4 987.1 9891 9944 9997 1,0052 10116 1,0183 1,031.9 1,027.3 1,053.7
1993........ 1,047.5 1,053.9 1,068.0 1,078.9 10818 1,089.0 1,0920 1,09.7 1,101.0 1,103.7

Note: Due to a change in statistical measurements, the figures for 1987 may be slightly overstated.
Source: The City of New York, Human Resources Administration, Office of Budget and Fiscal Affairs, Division of Statistics.

Retail Sales

The City is a major retail trade market, and has the greatest volume of retail sales of any city in the
nation. After a very large increase in 1980, retail sales growth in New York City moderated in 1981. Between
1984 and 1986, retail sales, particularly of durable goods, grew at an increased rate, outpacing the nation in
1985 and 1986. Retail sales increased slightly by 0.2 percent in 1987 mainly because consumers shifted-their
purchases into 1986 (sales increased 17.3%) to take advantage of the expiring sales tax deductibility on
federal income tax returns. The October 1987 stock market crash had a temporary dampening effect on
retail sales, but in 1988, sales increased by 10.8 percent. By 1989 and 1990, however, the local recession
became apparent as retail sales in the City increased only slightly by 0.4% and then declined by 0.8%,
respectively, over the previous years’ figures. Retail sales decreased in 1991 by 4.4% and by 3.4% in 1992.
The August 1993 figures indicate a decrease of 4.6 percent over August 1992. The retail sales figures for 1992
are based on a different sample of data than for 1991; th erefore, year over year comparisons for 1992 may be
distorted. Retail sales figures prior to 1992 were based, and, for 1993 and thereafter will be based, on the
same sample of data as the prior year figures. Trends in the City’s retail sales are shown in the table below.
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RETAIL SALES IN NEW YORK CITY
Annual Percent Change

Total Retail Sales Total Retail Non-
(In Billions) Sales Durable(1) Durable(2)

1982 e $26.4  $1,067.5 0.7% 28% (.0)% 26% 74% 32%
1983 e 29.0 1,167.4 9.8 9.4 55 6.2 20.0 16.3
1984 o 30.9 1,283.8 6.3 10.0 4.5 6.8 10.0 16.2
1985 o e 338 1,373.8 9.4 7.0 6.4 5.6 153 9.7
1986 . oo 39.6 1,449.2 17.3 55 9.1 37 32.1 8.6
1987 (e 39.7 1,538.6 0.2 6.2 1.7 6.1 (2.1) 6.3
1988 .. 44.0 1,650.0 10.8 72 11.6 6.0 9.6 9.3
1989 et 42 17620 04 68 33 79  (42) 50
1990 .. e 438 1,849.9 (0.8) 5.0 3.7 6.8 (8.7) 1.9
1991 e 419  1,8658 (44) 09 00 28 (130) (26)
1992 40.4 1,956.2 (34) 48 2.9 34 (17.6) 75

(1) Includes food stores, eating and drinking places, gasoline stations, liquor stores, drug stores, fuel dealers, florists, hay-grain-feed
stores, farm and garden supply stores, stationery stores, newsstands and newsdealers, cigar stores and ice dealers and general
merchandise and apparel stores.

(2) Includes building materials, hardware, garden supply and mobile home deaiers, automotive dealers, and-farniture, irome furnish-
ings and equipment stores.

Sources: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, Current Business Reports, Monthly Retail Trade.

Business Activity Index
The City has a highly diversified economic base, and sustains a substantial volume of business activity in
the service, wholesale and retail trade and manufacturing industries.

The largest aggregate of economic activity in the City is the corporate headquarters complex, together
with ancillary services. The City is the location of a large number of major securities, banking, law,
accounting and advertising firms. While the City had experienced a substantial number of business reloca-
tions during the previous decade, the number of relocations declined significantly after 1976, although
declines in back office employment continued. Most of the corporations which relocated moved to sites
within the City’s metropolitan area, and continue to rely in large measure on services provided by businesses
which are still located in the City.

The City is a leading center for the banking and securities industry, life insurance, communications,
publishing, fashion design and retailing, among other fields. The City is a major seaport and focal point for
international business. Many of the major corporations headquartered in the City are multinational in scope
and have extensive foreign operations. Numerous foreign-owned companies in the United States are also
headquartered in the City. These firms, which have increased in number substantially over the past decade,
are found in all sectors of the City’s-economy, but are concentrated in trade, manufacturing sales offices,.
tourism and finance. Foreign banking activities have increased significantly since the early 1970s and
continued to grow rapidly through the 1980s. Real estate dollar value purchases in the United States
disclosed by foreigners are heavily concentrated in the City in terms of dollar value. The City is the location
of the headquarters of the United Nations, and several affiliated organizations maintain their principal
offices in the City. A large diplomatic community exists in the City to staff the 157 missions to the United
Nations and the 88 foreign consulates.

The Business Activity Index (“BAI”) for the City, which is a measure of the overall health of the
economy, reflects both long-term trends in the City’s economic base and short-term fluctuations in the
performance of the national economy. Due to a partial erosion of its economic base, the City was particularly
vulnerable to national economic downturns, while lagging behind in times of national expansion during the
1970s. The impact of the national economic recession of 1974-1975 was particularly severe. From a peak of
111 early in 1973, the BAI for the City declined to a low of 96 during the spring of 1975. The effects of the
1980 and 1981-1982 national recessions were less severe to the City’s economy. The table below shows the
City and State BAI for the past several years.
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BUSINESS ACTIVITY INDEX
(Annual Average, 1977=100)

1984 1985 1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993(1)

| e e m— — m— — e

New York City ....covvnnne 109 112 116 121 124 125 126 122 120 121
New York State ............ 114 119 124 129 135 137 137 135 135 136

(1) January 1993.
Source: State of New York, Department of Commerce, Division of Economic Research and Statistics.
Note: The Business Activity Index comprises eight basic business activities, which include: factory output; retail; service; wholesale;
construction; transportation; communications and public utilities; and finance, insurance and real estate.

Many factors have been cited as placing the City during the early 1970s at a competitive disadvantage as
a business location in relation to its suburbs and the Sunbelt region and contributing to the erosion of the
City’s economic base. Among these factors were the City’s tax burden, energy costs, labor costs, office space
market and cost of living.

The combined state and local tax burden on residents of the City is one of the highest among all cities in
the United States. In the 1988 fiscal year, average per capita City taxes were $1,812 and average per capita
State taxes paid by residents of the State were $1,462, a combined tax burden of $3,274 per capita.
Nationwide, per capita local taxes averaged $698 and per capita state taxes averaged $1,074 for the 1988
fiscal year for a combined tax burden of $1,772.

The cost of energy in the City.is one of the highest in the nation, particularly for electricity. In May 1991,
electric costs in the City for industrial users was ranked the third highest among electric utility service areas
in the nation.

During certain prior periods, in particular the mid-1960s and from 1977 through most of 1982, the
demand for office space in the City greatly exceeded the available supply, and as a result, the rental cost of
available space escalated sharply. However, at the end of 1982 and in early 1983, construction activity
increased and the office market softened. Recent data from Cushman & Wakefield indicate that the office
market in the City, particularly in the downtown area where older, poorly maintained buildings have been
vacated, has been softening due to an increased availability of office space, with the overall vacancy rate in
Manhattan at approximately 18.4%.

Hotel Occupancy Rate

A major world center for culture and the arts, the City is the nation’s leading tourist center, and tourism
is a major revenue producing industry in the City. In 1979, the City hosted a record number of tourist and
business visitors, 17.5 million, who injected nearly $2.3 billion into the local economy and filled the City’s
hotels to 81 percent of capacity. Despite current economic conditions worldwide, tourism continues as one
of the City’s major economic strengths. Based on revised estimates, during 1988, 25.5 million people visited
the City, a sharp rise over 1987, and they spent a total of $9.76 billion, a 9.7 percent increase from 1987. A
significant rise in overseas visitor business occurred, with the number of foreign visitors increasing to almost
4.6 million in 1988, a 15 percent increase from 1987. In 1988, overseas visitors continued to increase for the
fourth consecutive year after three years of declines in visitor business from abroad. The number of
conventions increased to 973 in 1988 from 965 in 1987, and the number of delegates attending stood at
3.0 million in 1988. The table below shows the number of visitors to the City and the City’s hotel occupancy
rate for each year since 1980.

-
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NUMBER OF VISITORS AND HOTEL OCCUPANCY RATE IN NEW YORK CITY

Visitors(1) Hotel Occupancy Rate(2)

E (In Millions)  Annual Average of Monthly Rates
1980 171 78.4%

1081 . 170 72.8

1982 16.9 69.7

1983 . 17.1 71.9

1084 .. e 17.2 751

198 s 17.1 72.2

1980 . 17.4 76.0

1087 i s 19.8* 76.2

1988 ..ot e 25.5* 76.7

1989 . 25.4* 74.5

1990 ... 25.3* 72.6

1991 L e N/A 67.1

(1) Source: New York City Convention & Visitors Bureau, Inc.
(2) Source: Pannell, Kerr, Forster & Company, Statistics and Trend of Hotel and Motor Hotel Survey and Report.
* 1987 through 1990 figures have been revised and are inconsistent with the rest of this series.

Infrastructure

The physical infrastructure of a city, its systems of watcr supply, sewers, bridges, streets and mass transit,
is the underlying component of its economic base and is vital to its economic health.

The City owns and operates an upstate reservoir system covering in excess of 1,950 square miles. Water
is carried to the City by a transmission system, consisting of three aqueducts, two tunnels and over
5,700 miles of trunk and distribution lines. The City has undertaken construction of a third water tunnel
project to enhance the delivery capabilities and proper maintenance of the City’s distribution system. In
addition to supplying the needs of its residents and businesscs, the City is required by State law to sell water
to municipalities in counties where its water supply facilitics are located. The City and its upstate watershed
areas are subject to periodic drought conditions, which led the City to impose mandatory water conservation
measures during 1965, 1981 and 1985.

The sewer system contains approximately 6,300 miles of sewer lines and the City’s water pollution
system includes 14 operating treatment facilities. The City’s road network consists of some 6,200 miles of
streets and arterial highway, and more than 1,300 bridges and tunnels.

The Department of Sanitation operates the City’s one landfill. The capacity of the Fresh Kills landfill is
expected to last until approximately 2015. The City’s Ten-Year Capital Strategy reflects the estimated costs of
capital improvements necessary to maximize current waste disposal capacity and to provide for the construc-
tion of six resource recovery plants at an estimated cost »f $2.4 billion. The City has also entered into an
administrative settlement with the State Department of Environmental Conservation which will require the
City to spend approximately $200 million over ten years to install pollution control systems at the Fresh Kills
landfill.

The City’s mass transit system includes a subway system which covers over 238 route-miles with
469 stations and is the most extensive underground system in the world. The concentration of employment in
the City and its metropolitan area in the Manhattan central business district increases the importance of the
City’s mass transit system to the City’s economy. Two-fifths of all workers residing in the New York area use
public transportation to reach their workplace, the larges: proportion among 26 large areas surveyed. New
York City’s subway system continues to undergo its most ¢ xtensive overhaul since it was completed 50 years
ago.

The City has developed a ten-year capital program, the Ten-Year Capital Strategy, for fiscal years
1994-2003 which projects available capital funds over this period of $51.6 billion, of which approximately
93% will be financed with City sources. A portion of these funds is for rehabilitation or replacements of
various elements of the infrastructure.



Housing

The housing stock in the City in 1991 consisted of 2,980,762 housing units, excluding units in special
places, primarily institutions such as hospitals and universities. The 1991 housing inventory represented an
increase of 140,505 units, or 5.0%, since 1987. While the total population of the City grew by 1.7% between
1987 and 1991, housing in the City remains in short supply. The following table presents the housing
inventory in the City.

HOUSING INVENTORY IN NEW YORK CITY
(Housing Units in Thousands)

Ownership/Occupancy Status ﬂ _1_922 1_9_81 _19_&
Total Housing URits..........ooeemiiiiiiiiari i, 2,792 2,803 2,840 2,980
10,721 G 01911 ¢ PRI O 755 807 837 858
OWNer-Occupied ... ...oovirnaeeriiaii e 746 795 817 829
Conventional HOmME ..o e iiiii e enanes 581 598 576 555
Cooperative(1) ......oovvriiiieiii e 165 197 242 238

Vacant For Sale .. ovvviiiiriiieii et e 9 12 19 10

Rental UnItS .ottt ittt iieemaeenaiee mreamaaansnesaens 1,976 1,940 1,932 2,027
Renter-Occupied .. ....ooviveiiiiinnnin oo 1,934 1,901 1,884 1,951

Vacant for ReNt. ...ooueritiiiiieeies ciriirvnaanranns 42 40 47 76

Vacant Not Available For Sale Or Rent(2) . ................. 62 56 72 94

(1) Includes condominiums.
(2) Vacant units that are dilapidated, intended for seasonal use, held for occasional use, held for maintenance purposes or other
reasons. Note: Details may not add up to totals due to rounding.

Sources: Stegman, Michael A., Housing and Vacancy Report: New York City, The City of New York Department of Housing Preservation
and Development (New York: April 1988 and May 1993).

The 1991 Housing and Vacancy Report indicates that rental housing units predominate in the City. Of
all occupied housing units in 1991, 29.8% were conventional home-ownership units, cooperatives or condo-
miniums and 70.2% were rental units. Most of the recent growth in owner-occupied units has come from the
conversion of existing rental units to cooperatives rather than through the new construction of housing for
sale to occupants in the City. The vacancy rate for rental housing was 3.78% in 1991, and median rent
consumed 29% of the gross income of tenants. The housing condition of occupied rental units improved
greatly since 1984, with a decrease in the proportion of rental units in dilapidated or deficient condition. This
significant reduction is primarily a result of the City’s housing improvement efforts.

After a significant decline during the early 1970s, a slight recovery in housing construction occurred
between 1975 and 1979. However, in 1980, new housing construction declined again. Of all new housing
units constructed in the City between 1975 and 1978, over two-thirds were government financed or govern-
ment aided; of privately financed housing units, nearly half received full or partial tax exemptions. Rehabili-
tation of existing housing units and conversion of housing units from other uses, through private financing
and City-administered Federal funds or tax abatement programs, has increased substantially in recent years,
and is now a significant segment of the City’s housing market.

Construction.

Office building construction in the Manhattan Central Business District is currently undergoing a
substantial decline after experiencing significant growth during the 1980s. Between 1954 and 1968, an annual
average of more than 4.7 million square feet of new office space was completed. An unusual surge of
construction activity occurred between 1969 and 1972, when 61 new office building completions added a
total of 51.2 million square feet of office space to the market, during a period of substantial decline in
employment in the City. Construction activity declined after 1972 and by 1979 only 110,000 square feet of
office space entered the market as a result of building completions. However, in 1980, new office building
completions in the Manhattan Central Business District increased the level of remtable space by
412,000 square feet, and construction was started on a number of new projects, raising the value of all new
construction in the City to over $1 billion, then the largest amount since 1973.
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During the late 1970s demand for office space, as a result of increased employment in the service and
finance sectors of the City’s economy and an increase in office space per employee, reduced the vacancy rate
in the office space market from an estimated 15% in 1972 to 2% in 1981. The vacancy rate rose to 5.4% in
1983, 7.1% in 1984 and 8.2% in 1985 due to the strong upswing in construction activity. This trend continued
during 1986 indicating a vacancy rate of 8.4%. In 1987, construction in the City had increased while
commercial rents declined. Vacancy rates have continued to rise as a result of the 1987 stock market crash
and subsequent retrenchment of the FIRE sector. By the end of 1990, vacancy rates for the Manhattan
commercial market were close to 17%, as office construction continued and very little new. space. was.
occupied. As of August 1992, the overall office vacancy rate in Manhattan was 18.4%.

With respect to housing construction between 1975 and 1979, the number of building permits for new
housing units and the value of all new construction increased, indicating that a partial recovery in construc-
tion activity in the City occurred, although at a level much reduced from the 1962 peak. During 1980, permits
were issued for 7,800 new housing units, compared to 14,524 issued in 1979, and the value of all new
construction rose to $1.063 billion, up from $589 million in 1979.

Since 1988, office building and housing construction activity has slowed substantially.

Real Estate Valuation

The following tables present data on a fiscal year basis regarding recent trends in the assessed valuation
of taxable real property in the City. For further information regarding assessment procedures in the City, see
“SECTION IV: FINANCIAL INFORMATION—Sources of City Revenues—Real Estate Tax.”

TRENDS IN ASSESSED VALUATION OF TOTAL TAXABLE REAL PROPERTY IN NEW YORK CITY
(In Millions)

Fiscal Year

County (Borough) .19£ 251(3 Uﬂ Ez % 1994
Bronx (The Bronx) ....................... $ 3670 $ 3973 $4330 $4,516 $ 4719 $ 4,983
Kings (Brooklyn) ......................... 8363 9023 9,723 9806 9,950 10,440
New York (Manhattan) ................... 38,928 42889 47227 48,755 49,143 46,892
Queens (Queens)......................... 10,807 11,543 12386 12,666 12,776 13,185
Richmond (Staten Island)................. 2,374 2,627 2,669 2,635 2,590 2,678

Total ..., $64,142  $70,054 $76,334 $78,468 $79,179 $78,178

Note: Details may notadd up fo totals due to rounding. Totals do not inctude the value of certain property eligible for the veterans’ real
property tax exemption.

Source: The City of New York, Department of Finance, Bureau of Real Property Assessment.
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ASSESSED VALUATION OF TOTAL TAXABLE REAL ESTATE BY COMPONENTS FOR NEwW YORK CITY

Fiscal Year 1989 Fiscal Year 1990 Fiscal Year 1991 Fiscal Year 1992 Fiscal Year 1993 Fiscal Year 1994
A d P B A d  Percentage A d  Per A d  Percentage A d P " A d P
Value  OF Taxable Value  Of Taxable Value  Of Taxable Value  Of Taxable Value  Of Taxable Valve  Of Tuxable
Type of Property (In Millions) Real Estate (In Millions) Real Estate (In Millions: Real Estate (In Millions) Real Estate (In Millions) Real Estate ~(In Millions) Real Estate
One Family Dwellings .. . .. $ 3,722.2 5.8% $ 39114 5.6% $ 4,054.¢ 53% $ 4,1005 52% $ 4,0924 5.2% §$ 3,918.7 5.0%
Two Family Dwellings . . . .. 29212 46 3,051.9 44 3,146.¢ 4.1 3,156.4 40" 3,1002- 39 30468 39
Walk-Up Apartments ... .. 4,487.8 7.0 5,019.8 72 5,597.6 73 6,209.4 79 6,576.8 83 6,720.1 8.6
Elevator Apartments . ... .. 12,0946 189 13,1769 1838 14,6224  19.2 15,1528 193 15,5178 196 14,914.0 191
Warehouses . .. ........... 668.2 1.0 767.1 11 895.5 1.2 926.8 1.2 989.8 13 1,031.5 13
Factory and Industrial
Buildings. .............. 1,263.4 2.0 1,429.1 2.0 1,629.5 21 1,688.7 2.2 1,702.9 2.2 1,633.7 21
Garages and Gasoline
Stations................ 779.2 12 883.5 1.3 1,028.6 13 1,107.3 14 1,191.3 1.5 1,248.2 1.6
Hotels .................. 1,219.7 1.9 1,429.7 2.0 1,610.” 21 1,775.4 23 1,821.7 23 1,742.8 22
Hospitals and Health ..... 400.9 0.6 374.6 0.5 391.6 0.5 4026- 05- 4252 05 481.0 0.6
Theatres ................ 151.5 0.2 165.5 0.2 186.4 0.2 1774 02 186.9 0.2 189.1 0.2
Store Buildings........... 3,897.9 6.1 4,479.3 6.4 5,289.0 6.9 4,221.1 54 4,416.4 5.6 4,360.2 5.6
Loft Buildings............ 2,1354 33 2,467.1 3.5 2,524.: 33 2,398.1 31 2,317.8 29 2,100.3 27
Churches, Synagogues, etc. 309 0 30.5 0 543 0.1 41.1 0.1 53.8 0.1 68.1 0.1
Asylums and Homes . ... .. 47.9 0.1 53.4 0.1 70.8 0.1 78.8 0.1 94.5 01 101.2 01
Office Buildings .......... 18,4949 288 20,9808 299 23,4105 307 24,1345 308 23,9076 302 21,817.1 279
Places of Public Assembly . 99.6 02 107.9 0.2 1231 0.2 135.3 0.2 138.3 0.2 145.2 0.2
Outdoor Recreation
Facilities . .............. 75.0 0.1 854 0.1 80.6 0.1 82.7 0.1 845 01 108.3 0.1
Condominiums ........... 2,144.4 33 2,812.9 4.0 3,345.2 44 3,963.1 5.1 43228 5.5 4,195.9 54
Residence Multi-Use . .. ... 228.7 04 267.5 0.4 318.1 04 1,004.5 13 1,034.6 13 1,111.1 1.4
Transportation Facilities . .. 244 0 26.5 0 325 0 322 0 354 0 44.2 0.1
Utility Burcau Properties . . 01 0 0.1 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0
VacantLand ............. 613.4 1.0 758.8 1.1 811.7 1.1 8391 1.1 906.8 1.1 916.2 1.2
Educational Structures .... 106.4 02 119.4 0.2 138 0.2 1429 02 170.1 0.2 175.1 0.2
Selected Government
Installations ............ 25 0 24 0 38 0 44 0 8.1 0 174 0.0
Miscellaneous . .. ......... 219.6 0.3 2219 03 285.7 04 303.0 0.4 2757 03 264.1 03
Real Estate of Utilit
Corporations and gpecial
Franchises.............. 83119 130 74246 106 6,682.1 8.8 6,389.4 8.1 5,807.8 7.3 78272 100
Total . ........... $64,141.7 100.0% $70,053.9 100.0% $76,333.6 100.0% $78,467.6 100.0% $79,179.1 100.0% $78,177.5 100.0%

Note: Details may not add up to totals due to rounding. Totals do not include the value of certain property eligible for the veterans’ real property tax
exemption.

Source: The City of New York, Department of Finance, Bureau of Real Property Assessment.

A-15



No single taxpayer accounts for 10% or more of the City’s real property tax. For the 1994 fiscal year, the
assessed valuation of real estate of utility corporations is $6.3 billion. The following table presents the
40 non-utility, non-residential properties having the greatest assessed valuation in the 1994 fiscal year as

indicated in the tax rolls.

LARGEST REAL ESTATE TAXPAYERS(1)

1994
Fiscal Year
Assessed

Property Valuation
Met Life Building ...............c.oiuit $252,007,335
Empire State Building .................... 192,609,270
Exxon Building .............cocoiiin 191,250,000
Sperry Rand Building .. ................... 181,280,000
American Brands. .. ....... ..ot 177,750,000
55 Water Street Building .................. 175,502,745
General Motors Building .................. 166,509,990
International Building. . ................... 158,850,000
McGraw-Hill Building .................... 153,000,000
Equitable Life Center..................... 148,500,000
Bristol-Meyers . ... .....iieiiiai 148,414,000
Equitable Tower .............co.coovenen. 146,250,000
Time Life Building . ..........c..coovinn 144,000,000
One Liberty Plaza . ..........c.cocoivinns 137,701,080
Morgan Guaranty Trust ................... 137,000,000
Solow Building. . ...........ccoiiiiins 132,750,000
Paramount Plaza ...................cooutn 128,700,000
Celanese Building ................c.ooou 126,000,000
J.C. Penney Building. . ..............coo.o 123,750,000
OnePennPlaza........coviiininnnnns 122,400,000

(1) Excludes real estate of public utilities.

1994
Fiscal Year
Assessed

Property Valuation
The Chase Manhattan Building ............ $115,000,000
Burlington House ..........c.coooemnenens 112,500,000
Carpet Center ...........cooviiinnannenn. 112,500,000
Simon & Schuster Building ................ 112,050,000
Manufacturers Hanover Plaza.............. 110,000,000
666 Fifth Avenue. .. ......covvveraeeneens 110,000,000
One New York Plaza ..................... 109,803,780
Shearson Lehman Operation Center ........ 107,550,000
Kalikow Building ... ... ....covveinnaienatn 105,750,000
Park Avenue Plaza . ...t 103,500,000
595 Lexington Avenue .................... 101,250,000
Continental Illinois Center ................ 99,500,000
Citicorp Center Condos .. .........ovvvnnnn 99,000,000
WR. Grace Building. ............... ... 97,202,160
American Express Plaza................... 93,604,860
Waldorf AStoria . .......cvvviriiieraeenens 92,795,500
1411 Broadway.........coovieiiiiaiines 91,750,410
Park Avenue Atrium. .. .......ooveaecnn. 91,408,500
One Bankers Trust Plaza .. ................ 89,000,000
Bank of America Plaza ................... 88,650,000

Source: The City of New York, Department of Finance, Bureau of Real Property Assessment.
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Mitchell,
Titus & Co.

One Banery Park Piaza
New York NY 10004-1461
Phone. 212 709 450C

Ell ERNST & YOUNG

787 Seventh Avenue
New York, New York 10019
Phone: 212 773 3000

Report of Independent Auditors

The People of the City of New York

We have audited the accompanying general purpose financial statements of The City of New York ("The City") as
of and for the years ended June 30, 1993 and 1992, as listed in the accompanying index. These general purpose
financial statements -are the responsibility-of the City’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion.on
these financial statements based on our audits. We did not audit the financial statements of the entities disclosed
in Note B. Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us, and
our opinion on the general purpose financial statements, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for such entities,
is based solely on the reports of the other auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits and
the reports of other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the reports of the other auditors, the general purpose financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The City of New York at

June 30, 1993 and 1992, and the results of its operations and cash flows of its proprietary fund type for the years
then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

th
Mcﬁ&é T les +Co

October 29, 1993
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THE CITY OF NEW YORK

COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
ALL GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES AND EXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1993

REVENUES:
Real estate taxes
Sales and use taxes
IDCOME LAXES . o . oo v v ve e
OhEr taXES . <o v oo cvvmvamameae e
Federal, State and other categorical aid
Unrestricted Federal and State aid
Charges for services . .. ................
Other revenues
Total revenues
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES:
Transfer from OTB Enterprise Fund . .. . .. ..
Transfers and otber payments for debt service .
Net proceeds from sale of notes and bonds . . .
Refunding bond proceeds
Total revenues and other financing
sources
EXPENDITURES:
Current Operations:
General government . . ..............
Public safety and judicial
Board of Education
City University
Social services . . . ... ...
Environmental protection
Transportation services
Parks, recreation and cultural activities . . .
Housing
Healtb (including payments to HHC) .. ..
Libraries
Pensions
Judgments and claims-. . .......... ..
Fringe benefits and other benefit payments
Other
Capital Projects ... .............. ...
Debt Service:
Interest
Redemptions
Lease payments
Refunding escrow
Total expenditures
OTHER FINANCING USES: -
Transfers and other payments for debt service
Payment to refunded bond escrow holder . ..
Total expenditures and other
financing uses
EXxCESS (DERCIENCY) OF REVENUES AND OTHER
FINANCING SOURCES OVER EXPENDITURES AND
OTHER FINANCING USES
FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) AT BEGINNING OF YEAR
FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) AT END OF YEAR . ..

.....................
...................

................

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
*Eliminated

(in thousands)
G tal Types rm “'irw

overnmen' d Total
manpihl Debt 'E':ﬁ-izu’ (Mm:nndnm

General Projects Service Trust Only)
$ 7,886,256 s — s —_— $ — $ 7,886,256
2,739,834 —_ —_ —_— 2,739,834
5,783,138 —_— _— —_ 5,783,138
1,211,629 — — — 1,211,629
9,535,006 172,857 182,201 —_ 9,890,154
707,109 -— _ —_— 707,109
e 915,971 183.165 7.522 Yo
7 135 3,165 17,527 077,631
TRId  TTORSE® 365366 1153 31599920
28,796 —_— —_ —_— 28,796

— — 2,439,538 —_ *
—_ 1,929,936 —_ _ 1,929,936
— — 2.656,309 — 2,656,309
30,157,000 3,018,764 5,461,213 17,522 36,214,961
862,402 — —_— _ 862,402
3,759,343 — — — 3,759,343
7,212,682 —_ — —_ 7,212,682
" 571,346 —_ _ —_ 571,346
7,430,017 _— — — 7,430,017
1,093,792 — —_ —_ 1,093,792
1,023,460 —_ —_— _— 1,023,460
229,019 — —_ —_ 229,019
515,821 — — -— 515,821
1,451,697 —_ —_ _— 1,451,697
146,463 — — — 146,463
1,426,896 — —_ —_ 1,426,896
230,731 — —_— — 230,731
1,492,177 —_ _ —_— 1,492,177
266,519 — 33,687 —_ 300,206
— 3,617,042 —_— — 3,617,042
— —_— 1,730,573 _ 1,730,573
— —_ 1,154,580 —_ 1,154,580
— = Moes - 108
SIS IEU00  30lE®s T —  HAR3

2,439,538 —_ —_— —_ .
— —_ 2,656,309 — 2,656,309
30,151,903  _3.617.042 5735135 - 37,064,542
a7 T mmy o G

74 63

§ e80TI SO6LETY goEse Smael  §12000




THE CITY OF NEW YORK

COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
ALL GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES AND EXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1992
(in thousands)

Fiduciary
Governmental Fund Types Fund Type Total
Capital Debt Expendable  (Memorandum
General Projects Service Trost Only)
REVENUES:
Real eState taxes . .. .........ovvcuenns 3 7.817,785 § — $ — S — $ 7,817,785
Sales and USE LAXES . . . ..o iaiaaa e 2,621,186 —_ —_ —_ 2,621,186
INCOME LAXES . - . o« v o eveeam e eens e nns 5,388,953 —_ — —_ 5,388,953
Oher taxes . ... oo v v v ma i eoe e 1,221,019 — —_ —_ 1,221,019
Federal, State and other categorical aid . . ... 8,879,579 172,256 180,378 — 9,232,213
Unrestricted Federal and State aid . ........ 826,078 — — — 826,078.
8harges fOP SEIVICES . -« v v v evceceesonn s 1,194,597 —_ —_ —_— 1,194,597
BET TEVENUES . . -« o v oo coen e ee e 1,039,379 720,164 264,290 175,533 2,199,366
Total FEVENUES . .« v cvvv v s mae e s 28,988,576 802,420 444,668 175,533 30,501,197
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES:
Transfer from OTB Enterprise Fund . . . ... .. 33,259 — — — 33,259
Transfers and other payments for debt service. . — — 2,968,101 — *
Net proceeds from sale of notes and bonds . . . — 3,355,035 — — 3,355,035
Refunding bond proceeds ... ...........- — — 2,031,790 — 2,031,790
Total revenues and other financing
SOUTCES . . o v v vmee cea e e 29,021,835 4,247.455 5,444,559 175,533 35,921,281
EXPENDITURES:
Current Operations:
General government . ............c.- 852,888 — — _— 852,888
Public safety and judicial ............ 3,585,890 — — — 3,585,890
Board of Education . ............... 6,626,289 — — — 6,626,289
City University . .........ooovenns 458,490 —_ — —_ 458,490
Social SErvViCeS . . . v i i 7,107,722 — —_ — 7,107,722
Environmental protection . ........... 988,898 — — — 988,898
Transportation services . ............. 1,044,109 — — — 1,044,109
Parks, recreation and cultural activites . . . 202,335 — — — 202,335
HOUSING . .« o vvoovmem e cnene 541,086 — —_— — 541,086
Health (including payments to HHC) . . .. 1,275,878 _— —_ — 1,275,878
Libraries . .. oovoiie s 129,169 — — — 129,169
PENSIONS . o oo oo ea e 1,370,717 — — — 1,370,717
Judgments and claims . .. ... ... ... 231,480 — — — 231,480
Fringe benefits and other benefit payments 1,377,663 — — 74,572 1,452,235
OET . o oo e 256,816 — 109,283 — 366,099
Capital Projects ... ............ o oo — 3,892,814 — — 3,892,814
Debt Service:
INIETESl . . . oo —_ —_— 1,690,287 —_ 1,690,287
Redemplions . ............c.ccoco-- — — 1,090,026 —_ 1,090,026
Lease payments ... ..........------ — — 139,716 — 139,716
Refunding escrow ... .............- — — 435,280 — 435,280
Total expenditures . . ..........-- 26,049,430 3,892,814 3,464,592 74,572 33,481,408
OTHER FINANCING USES:
Transfers and other payments for debt service 2,968,101 — —_ — *
Payment to refunded bond escrow bolder . .. — — 2,031,790 —_ _ 2,031,790

Total expenditures and other
financing USES . .. ... ... e+ 20,017,531 3,802,814 5,496,382 74,572 _35,513,198
EXCESS (DERCIENCY) OF REVENUES AND OTHER
FINANCING SOURCES OVER EXPENDITURES AND

OTHER FINANCING USES . .. ... .....--¢ ;,304 3532431 ) g}.g?) ;gggg; 9]23’(3)%
FUND -BALANCES-(DEFICIT) AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 78,670 (718,234) 414,551 2,769,
FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) AT END OF YEAR . .. $ 82974 $ 5‘363,5932' $ 2,362,728 $ 1,005,344 $ 3,177453

*Eliminated
See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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REVENUES:

Real Estate taxes
Sales and use taxes
Income taxes

Other taxes
Federal, State and other
categorical aid
Unrestricted Federal and State aid .
Charges for services
Otber revenues
Total revenues

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES:
Transfer from OTB Enterprise Fund
Total revenues and other

financing sources . .....

EXPENDITURES:
General government
Public safety and judicial
Board of Education
City University
Social services
Environmental protection
Transportation services
Parks, recreation and cultural
activities
Housing

Health (including payments to HHC) . ...

Libraries
Pensions
Judgments and claims
Fringe benefits and other benefit

payments

OTHER FINANCING USES:
Transfers and otber payments for
debt service
Total expenditures and other
financing uses
EXCESS OF REVENUES AND OTHER
SOURCES OVER EXPENDITURES
AND OTHER USES

FUND BALANCE AT BEGINNING OF YEAR . . ..

FUND BALANCE AT END OF YEAR

THE CITY OF NEW YORK

GENERAL FUND
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 1993 AND 1992
(in thousands)

1993 1992
Budget Budget
Adopted Modifled Actual Adopted Modified Actual

..... $ 7929000 $ 79395000 3 7,886,256 $ 7,824,000 $ 7,870,000 § 7.817,785
..... 2,663,200 2,711,700. 2,739,834 2,664,700 2,620,700 2,621,186
..... 5,453,000 5.832.000° 5,783,138 4,902,700 5,312,000 5,388,953
..... 1,128,600 1,204,100 1,211,629 1,132,300 1,232,800 1,221,019
..... 8,990,357 9,848,717 9,535,096 8,349,235 9,107,692 8,879,579
..... 677,391 699,834 707,109 677,184 818,414 826,078
..... 1,334,033 1,348,161 1,304,169 1,274,802 1,293,002 1,194,597
..... 1,065,760 980.658 960,973 1,575,763 1,003,028 1,039,379
..... 29,241,341 30,564,170 30,128,204 28,400,684 29,257,636 28,988,576
..... 36,200 30,700 28,796 39,300 33,200 33.259
..... 29.277.541 30.594,870 30,157,000 28.439.984 29,290,836 29-021;835
..... 893,419 922,181 862,402 852,930 906,878 852,888
..... 3,557,468 3,792,595 3,759,343 3,478,649 3,624,288 3,585,890
..... 6,775,432 7,235,608 7,212,682 6,484,920 6,818,341 6,626,289
..... 532,111 571,284 571,346 443 460 462,056 458,490
..... 7.415.849 7,748,119 7.430,017 6,850,971 7,196,255 7,107,722
..... 1,197,671 1,210,640 1,093,792 1,056,402 1,112,022 988,898
..... 878,096 1,039,231 1,023,460 901,536 1,048,241 1,044,109
..... 219,000 230,468 229,019 182,382 203,202 202,335
..... 544,585 589,562 515,821 526,568 606,958 541,086
1,300,255 1,497,966 1,451,697 1,182,980 1,332,182 1275878

..... 143.618 146,689 146,463 124,227 129,239 129,169
..... 1,423,120 1,428,320 1,426,896 1,458,927 1,401,568 1,370,717
..... 219,255 231,255 230,731 190,350 231,500 231,480
...... 1,482,047 1,494 853 1,492,177 1,425,635 1,385,232 1,377,663
..... 429,880 289.774 266,519 728.769 358.290 256,816
..... 27,011,806 28,428,545 27,712,365 25,888,706 26,816,252 26,049,430
..... 2,265.735 2,166,325 2439538 _ 2,551,278 2474584 _ 2968101
..... 29,277,541 30,594.870 30,151,903 _ 28.439,984 29,290,836 29.017,531
..... N — § — 5097 § — 8 — 4,304
I X1 8670

..... $____ 88071 S___82974

See accompanying notes o financial statements.
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THE CITY OF NEW YORK

COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN
FUND EQUITY — PROPRIETARY FUND TYPE

AND SIMILAR TRUST FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1993

OPERATING REVENUES:

Patient service revenues, net . .. ... .ot eos

Charges for services
Other revenues

Employer, employee contributions . ............

Investment income, net

Total operaling revenues . ...........

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Personal SEIVICES . - . .« v v v s ar s

Affiliation
Racing industry compensation

Operations and MaINcRANCE . ..o« v cvmev e e

Interest expense

Administrative, selling, and program . ..........

Depreciation and amortization
Bencfit payments and withdrawals
Provision for bad debts

011" S

Distributions to the State and other local
governments

Total operating EXpenses . ... ... .. -+

Operating income (loss)

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
Interest income
Interest expense

Amounts from other OTB communities ... ......
(o117 S
Total non-operating revenues (expenses) . . . .

Income (loss) before transfers, extraordinary

jlem and cumulative effect . ........... .-

EXTRAORDINARY ITEM: loss on advance refunding . . .

CUMULATIVE EFFECT: reclassification of funds
Income (Joss) before transfers

OPERATING TRANSFERS:
Transfer to the General Fund

Netincome (10S8) . .- coevonroorocnors

FUND EQUITY AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

Contributed fixed assets . .. ....cccvvanocnns
Net decrease in donor restricted funds . .. ..... ..

FUND EQUITY AT END OF YEAR:

Contributed CARAl . .« e eeeeorrrernereeeens

Reserved
Reserved for Supplemental Benefits
Reserved for Pension Benefits

Unreserved (deficit) . ... ....cooenecnrnnnes

FuND EQUITY AT END OF YEAR

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

..............................

(in thousands)

Proprictary Fiduciary
Fund Type Fund Type
Housing and Water Pension
Health and Off-Track  Economic and Total and
Hospitals Betting Development  Sewer Enterprise Similar
Corporation Corporation Funds System Fund Trust
$ 3,080,201 s — $ - 3 — $3080201 § —
— — —_ 1,087,369 1,087,369 —
387,416 193,286 271,530 — 858,232 —_
—_ —_ —_ —_ - 1,906,948
— — 34382 39.993 74375 7,135,066
3,467,617 193,286 311,912 1,127,362 5,100,177 9,042,014
2,115,591 72,400 20,651 —_ 2,208,642 —_
471,701 —_— —_— — 471,701 —
— 49,601 —_ —_ 49,601 —
613912 _ —_ 680,780 1,294,692 —
— —_ 139,247 281,226 420,473 —
— 3,246 114,524 9,811 127,581 —
143,801 2378 1,117 166,080 313376 —
—_ — — — —_ 3,595,987
319,185 —_ —_— —_ 319,185 -
— 19.380 49,128 — 68,508 —
—_ 21,612 — — 21612 —
3,664‘190 168,617 324,667 1,137,897 5,295,371 3x595,987
(196,573) 24,669 (12,755 (10,535) (195,194) 5,446,027
4914 631 31 5,440 14,103 —_
(96,679) 15 — — (96,694) —_
— 6,012 — —_— 6,012 —
— — (33.343) —_ 3,345 306,079
(91,765) 6,628 520,1_21) 5.440 (109,924) (306,079)
(288,338) 31,297 (42,982) (5.095) (305,118) 5,139,948
(968) — — (109,423) (110,391) —_
— — — — — 102,704
(289.306) 31,297 (42,982) (114,518) (415,509) 5,242,652
—_ (28.796) —_ - (28,796) —
(289,306) 2,501 (42,982) (114,518) (444 305) 5,242,652
1,265,232 8,868 454,184 $,603,021 7331305 48,268,845
169,125 —_ — 64,646 233,771 —_
(1,601) — - - (1,601) —
719,018 - —_ 5,204,599 5,923,617 —_
10,494 12,471 329,446 —_ 352,411 —_
—_ — —_ —_ —_ 1,506,924
— —_ — —_ —_ 52,004,573
413938 (1,102) 81,756 348,550 843,142 —
$ 1,143.450 $ 11369 S 411202 $5553,149 S 7119170  $53.511497
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COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN

THE CITY OF NEW YORK

FUND EQUITY — PROPRIETARY FUND TYPE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1992

OPERATING REVENUES:
Patient service revenues, net
Charges for services
Other revenues
Employer, employee coptributions
lnvestment income, net
Total operating revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Personal services
Affiliation
Racing industry compensalion
Operations and maintenance
Ipterest expense
Administrative, selling and program
Depreciation and amortization
Benefit payments and withdrawals
Provision for bad debts
Other
Distributions to the State and other local governments

Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
Interest income
Interest expense
Amounts from other OTB communities
Other

Total nop-operating revenues (expense)

Iocome (loss) before transfers and
extraordipary fem . ... ...t

EXTRACRDINARY 1TEM:
Loss on advance refunding
Income (loss) before transfers

OPERATING TRANSFERS:
Transfer to the General Fund
Net income (loss)
FUND EQUITY AT BEGINNING OF YEAR
Contributed fixed assets
Net decrease in donor restricied funds

Funp EQUITY AT END OF YEAR:
Reserved
Reserved for Pension Benefits
Unreserved

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

AND SIMILAR TRUST FUND

(in thousands)
Proprietary Fidudiary
Fiduciary Fund Type
Housing and Water
Health and Off-Track  Economic and Total
Hospitals Betting  Development Sewer Enterprise Pension
Corporation Corporation _ Funds System Fund Trust
$3,055195 § — s — $ — $3,055195 § —
—_ - — 1,082,066 1,082,066 —
349,158 210,785 273,683 — 833,626 —
— — — — —_ 1,737,635
— — 46,607 50,874 97,481 5641 I500
3,404,353 210,783 320,290 1,132,940 5,068,368 7,379,135
1,970,931 74,525 19,484 — 2,064,940 —
430,816 —_ — —_ 430,816 —_
— 53,916 — —_ 53916 —
616,526 — — 711,927 1,328,453 —_
— — 153,011 256,735 409,746 —_
— 5419 72,119 4,444 81,982 —_—
140,935 2,767 1,006 153,674 298,382 —
— — — — — 3,391,663
335,404 —_ —_ — 335,404 —
—_ 20,200 39,259 — 59,459 —_—
— 24,192 — — 24,192 —
3,494,612 181,019 284,879 1,126,780 5,087,290 3,391,663
(90,259) 20.766 35411 6,160 (18,922) 3,087,472
4,831 1,009 3,461 2,837 12,138 —
(81,641) (44) — — (B1,685) —
— 6,868 —_ —_ 6,868 —
— — 19,736 — (19,736) 91,797
(76.810) 7.833 (16,275) 2.837 (82,415) (91,797)
(167,069) 37,599 19,136 8,997 (101,337) 3,895,675
— — — 6,034 26,034 —
(167.069) 37,599 19,136 (17,037) (127,371) 3,895,675
— (3259 __ — — @325 ___—
(167,069) 4,340 19,136 (17,037) (160,630) 3,895,675
1,242,972 4528 435,048 5,534,547 7,217,095 43,288,668
191,743 —_ —_ 85,511 277,254 —_
— 2319 — = = 2414 —
1,166,441 8,868 363,749 5239175 6,778,233 -—
— - - — — 47,184,343
98 791 — 90,435 363,846 553,072 —
§l’.265.232' $ 8868 - 454184 $5603021 $7.331305 $ 47,184,343




THE CITY OF NEW YORK
COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUND TYPE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1993
(in thousands)

Housing and Water
Health and Off-Track Economic and
Hospitals Betting Development Sewer
Corporation Corporation Funds System Total

Operating Activities:
Operating income (0ss) . ... ..ot s (196.573) § 24669 $ (12.755) $ (10.535) 3 (195.194)
Adjustments 1o reconcile operating income
(loss) 1o pet cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization . ............. ..o 143,801 2,378 1,117 166,080 313,376
Extraordinary loss on advance refunding . ................. (968) — — (109,423) (110,391)
Provisionforbad debts . ... ....... ... ... eennn 319,185 — —_ — 119,185
Increase in patient service receivables . ................... {209,901) — — — (209,901)
Decrease (increase) in accounts and
otherreceivables . ... oot it e 2,639 — 6,500 (33.341) (24.200)
Decrease in prepaid expense .. ... ...l — — —-— 202,808 202,808
Increase in accounts payable and accrued babilites . ... ....... 10,611 720 12,797 52,321 136.449
Increase in accrued vacation and sick leave . ............... 23,608 — - — 23,608
Decrease in accrued pension Liability . ......... ... ..l {2.595) 70) — — (2,665)
Decrease in deferred revenues . ... ... .. c i — —_ (1,212) (18,468) (19,680)
Distribution to the City of New York . . ................... — {30,021)- —_ —_ (30,021)
Iocrease in program loansissued . ... ... .. ... ..l —_ — (59.149) — (59,149)
Receipt from collections of program loans . ................ — — 19,166 — 19,166
Distributions to State and Jocal governments . .. ............. — (22,228) —_ — (22,228)
Decrease in payable to the City of New York . .............. — — — (179.460) (179,460)
(0111 2.716 21,411 71,827 (51,225) 44,729
Tolal AdJUSIMEDLS . . ..ot vt ot e e 349,006 (27.810) 51,046 20,202 401,624
Net cash providéd by (used in}°

OPErating ACUVIUES . .o vvevnr e ancaam e e 152.523 (3.141) 38,291 18.757 206,430

NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuing bonds. notes and

Other BOITOWIDES « <o v vvimie e iaea e o ianes 290.000 — — — 290,000
Repayments of bonds, notes and other borrowings . . .......... (290.000) —_ (103,334) — (393,334)
Amounts from other OTB communies . .. .- ---....coewnan — 6,012 —_— _ 6,012
0017 SN U — — (28.130) — (28,130)

Net cash provided by (used in)

poncapital financing activities . ................. — 6,012 (131,464) — (125.452)
CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
AdGitons 10 fiXed @SSes . . .o vt i (240,504) (8.479) (1.502) (720,359) (970,844) -
Proceeds from issuing bonds. potes and

Other BOMTOWIDES - - .. oo vt ieinriaeaenacasens 546,846 — — 1,662,300 2,209,155
Repayment of bonds, notes and

OtheT DOITOWIDES . ..\ o v e ie i isasans (33,979) —_ () (1,013,084) (1,047,070)
Payments from the City-other than for Operations, .. ... .. +oxeee 169,125 - — — 169,128
Interest paid on bonds, notes and other

BOTTOWIDES <\ o evvoicaeia e in i nnsaen e {96.679) (15)- — — (96.654)

Net cash provided by (used in) capital

and related finanang activities . ...... ... ..o e 344.809 (8.494) (1,509) (71,134) 263,672

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Excess (deficiency) of proceeds from sales

of investments net of purchases .. ..........cc.ootnn (471,453) — 97,797 398,422 24,766
Interest OD IDVESIMEDLS . . .. v oo oo v ceevnsnrooaronananans 4914 631 3,118 5,440 14,103

Net cash provided by (used in)
iDVeSting ACUVILES . .. vcovvetinian e (466.539) 631 100,915 403,862 38,869
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS . ........- 30,793 (4,992) 6,233 351,485 383,519
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BEGINNING OF YEAR . ... ... .ottt 119,108 21,041 68,788 453,974 662,911
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ENDOF YEAR . ... ... .. .cntnans $ 149901 § 16049 § 75021 $  B05459 8 1‘046.430
Cash and Cash Equivalents . . ........c.oviiaranaenenenaan $135,303 s 16049 § 75021 § 20,581 $ 246,954
Restricted cash and InVeStMEDLS . ... - cvovvvvocecosvsarossaacnse 499,633 —_ _— 784,878 1,284,511
Less restricted inVESUDEDLS . . .. v vvvvvevarscanroosssasasones 485,035 — —_ —_ 485,035
Cash and cash equivalents, June 30,1993 .................0nnn s 149,901 3 16049 § 75021 § 805,459 $ 1,046,430

The above is a reconcilliation of cash and cash equivalents per the statement of cash flows to the balance sheet

The following are the noncash investing, capital and financial activities.

HHC received capital assets of $169 million for fiscal year 1993 which represents contributed capital from the City.

The Water Board received capital assets of $64.6 million for fiscal year 1993 which represents contributed capital from the City.

See accompanying notes to financial statemeots.
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating income (foss)

THE CITY OF NEW YORK

COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS'

PROPRIETARY FUND TYPE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1992
(in thousands)

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (foss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Extracrdivary loss on advance refunding .
Provision for bad debts . . ............

Increase in patient service receivables
Increase in accounts and other receivables
Increase in prepaid expenses

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued

Liabilities

Increase in accrued vacation and sick leave

Decrease in accrued pension liability

Increase (decrease) in deferred revenues . .

Distribution to The City of New York
Program loaans issued
Receipt from collections of program loaas

Distribution to State and local governments
Increase in payable 10 The City of New York

Total Adjustments

Net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities

NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from issuing bonds, notes and other borrowings - . . . . . .
Repayments of boods, notes and other botrowings . . ..........
Amounts from other OTB communities . .

Other

Net cash provided by (used in) noncapital

financing activities

CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES: .
Additons to fixed assets . ............

Proceeds from issuing bonds, notes and other barrowings
Repayments of bonds, notes and other borrowings . . . . .
Payments from The City other thao for operations . . .. .
Interest paid on bonds, notes and other borrowings

Net cash provided by (used in) used in capital

and related financing activities .

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Excess (deficiency) of proceeds from sales of

investments pet of purchases . ........

Interest on investments

Net cash provided by (used in) investing

acuviues

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CasH EQUIVALENTS BEGINNING OF YEAR
CasH AND CaSH EQUIVALENTS END OF YEAR .
Cash and Cash Equivalents . ..............

Restricted cash and investments
Less restricted investments
Cash and cash eguivalents, June 30, 1992

Housing and Water
Health and Off-Track Economic and
Hospitals Betting Development Sewer
Corporation Corporation Funds System Total
................. $ (90,259) $ 20766 $ 35411 $ 6,160 3 (18922
................. 140,935 2,767 1,006 153,674 298,382
................. —_ —_ —_ (26,034) (26,034)
................. 335,404 —_ —_ - 335,404
................. (236,310) -— —_— -— (236,310)
................. (6,182) — 9,027) (64,799) (80,008)
................. — — —_ (134,306) (134,306)
................. (201} (1,038) 9,168 (5,249) 2,680
................ 12,903 — — _ 12,903
e e e (2,381 ©7) — — (2:448)-
................. — — 670) 16,200 15,530
................. — (33,835 — — (33,835)
................. — —_ (63,472) _— (63,472)
................. — — 16,884 —_ 16,884
................ — (24,318) _ —_ (24,318)
............... _ — —_— 84,479 84,479
................. (9.847) 25,807 (38,192) 51,735 29,503
................. 234,321 (30.684) (84,303) 75,700 195,034
................. 144,062 (918) (48,892) 81.860 176,112
125,000 — 160,560 —_ 285,560
(125.000) — (230,097) — (355,097)
................. —_ 6,868 —_ — 6,868
................. — — 414D — (4,141)
................. — 6,868 (73,678) — (66,810)
................. (210,717) .187) (1,230) (790,899) (1,005,033)
....... — _— —_ 1,086,835 1,086,835
....... (7,965) (243) %4) (293,190) (301,492)
....... 191,743 —_ — — 191,743
........... (81.641) 44 = et (81,685)
................. (108.580) 474 (1,324) 2,746 (109.632)
................. — — 113,149 (36,282) 76,867
................. _4.831 1,009 3461 2,837 12.138
................. 4,831 1,009 116,610 33,445) 89,005
.......... 40,313 4,485 (7,284) 51,161 88,675
............. 78,795 16,556 76,072 402,813 574,236
................. $ 119,108 § 21041 $ 68788 § 453974 § 662,911
................. $ 107,013 $ 21,041 $ 68788 % 23333 § 220,175
................. 25,671 — —_ 829,063 854,740
................. 13,582 — — 398,422 412,004
................. S 119,108 § 21041 S 68788 § 453974 $ 662,911

The above is a reconcilliation of cash and cash equivalents per the statement of cash flows 10 the balance sheet.
‘The following are the noncash investing, capital and financial activities:
HHC received capital assets of $192 million for fiscal year 1992 which represents contributed capital from the City.
The Water Board received capitel assets of $85.5 million for fiscal year 1992 which represents coptributed capital from the City.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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THE CITY OF NEW YORK
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 1993 AND 1992

A. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying general purpose financial statements of The City of New York (City) are presented in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for governments as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (GASB). The amounts shown in the "Total (Memorandum Only)" column of the accompanying combined financial
statements are presented only to facilitate financial analysis and are not the equivalent of consolidated financial statements.
Reclassification of certain prior year amounts has been made to conform with the current year presentation.

The following is a summary of significant accounting policies and reporting practices of the City:
Reporting Entity

The financial statements present the-accounts of the-City, including the Board of Education and the community colleges
of the City University of New York, and the financial statements of those separately administered organizations that provide
services within the geographic boundaries of the City and where the City exercises oversight responsibility, including the
appointment of the majority of the Boards of Directors, has special financing relationships and those whose scope of service
primarily benefits the City or its residents.

Manifestations of oversight responsibility include:
¢ Financial interdependency,
e Selection of the governing authority,
¢ Designation of management,
 Ability to significantly influence operations, and
¢ Accountability for fiscal maters.

The scope of public service criterion considers whether the activity of the potential component unit is for the benefit of
the City and/or its residents and whether the activity is conducted within the geographic boundaries of the City and is
generally available to City residents.

Those organizations include the following:

Municipal Assistance Corporation For The City of New York (MAC)

New York City Samurai Funding Corporation (SFC) (This entity was incorporated in fiscal year 1993)
New York City Health and Hospitals Corporation (HHO)

New York City Off-Track Betting Corporation (OTB)

New York City Educational Construction Fund (ECH

City University Construction Fund (CUCF)

New York City School Construction Authority (SCA)

Housing and Economic Development Enterprise Funds:
¢ New York City Housing Development Corporation (HDC)
e New York City Industrial Development Agency (IDA)
* New York City Economic Development Corporation (EDC)
« Business Relocation Assistance Corporation (BRAC)
e New York City Rehabilitation Mortgage Insurance Corporation (REMIC)
(This entity was dissolved in fiscal year 1993)
* Brooklyn Navy Yard Development Corporation (BNYDC)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

Water and Sewer System:
* New York City Water Board (Water Board)
* New York City Municipal Water Finance Authority (Water Authority)

Expendable Trust Funds:
* Transit Police Superior Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (TPSOVSF)
* Housing Police Superior Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (HPSOVSF)

Pension and Similar Trust Funds:
* New York City Employees’ Retirement System (NYCERS)
* New York City Teachers’ Retirement System—Qualified Pension Plan (TRS)
* New York City Board of Education Retirement System—Qualified Pension Plan (BERS)
* New York Police Department Pension Fund—Subchapter 2 (POLICE)
* New York Fire Department Pension Fund—Subchapter 2 (FIRE)
* o New York Police Department Police Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (POVSF)
* o New York Police Department Police Superior Officers” Variable Supplements Fund (PSOVSF)
* o New York Fire Department Firefighters' Variable Supplements Fund (FFVSEF)
* e New York Fire Department Fire Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (FOVSF)
* o Transit Police Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (TPOVSE)-
* * Housing Police Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (HPOVSF)

* These Funds were reported as Expendable Trust Funds in fiscal year 1992 (see Note R).

Agency Funds:
* Deferred Compensation Plan for Employees of The City of New York and Related Agencies and
Instrumentalities (DCP)
* Other

Significant accounting policies and other matters concerning the financial information of these organizations are
described elsewhere in the Notes to Financial Statements.

The City’s operations also include those normally performed at the county level and, accordingly, transactions
applicable 10 the operations of the five counties which comprise the City are included in these financial statements.

The New York City Transit Authority is an affiliated agency of the Metropolitan Transportation Authority of the State
of New York which is a component unit of New York State and is excluded from the City’s reporting entity.

Fund Accounting

The City uses funds and account groups to report on its financial position and the results of its operations. Fund
accounting is designed to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid financial management by segregating transactions related
to certain government functions or activities.

A fund is a separate accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts. An account group, is a financial reporting
device designed to provide accountability for certain assets and liabilities that are not recorded in the funds because they do
not directly affect net expendable available financial resources.

Funds are classified into three categories: govemmental, proprietary, and fiduciary. Each category, in turn, is-divided
into separate "fund types.”



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

Governmental
General Fund

The General Fund is the general operating fund of the City. Substantially all tax revenues, Federal and State aid (except
aid for capital projects), and other operating revenues are accounted for in the General Fund. This Fund also accounts for
expenditures and transfers as appropriated in the Expense Budget, which provides for the City’s day-to-day operations,
including transfers to Debt Service Funds for payment of long-term obligations.

Capial Projects Fund

The Capital Projects Fund accounts for resources used to construct or acquire fixed assets and make capital
improvements. Such assets and improvements include substantially all land, buildings, equipment, water distribution and
sewage collection system, and other elements of the City’s infrastructure-having a minimum useful life of five years, having.
a cost of more than $15,000, and having been appropriated in the Capital Budget (see Budgets). The Capital Projects Fund
includes the activities of SCA. Resources of the Capital Projects Fund are derived principally from proceeds of City bond
issues, payments from the Water Authority, and from Federal, State, and other aid. The cumulative deficit of $962 million
and $364 million at June 30, 1993 and 1992, respectively, represents the amount expected to be financed from future bond
issues or intergovernmental reimbursements. To the extent the deficit will not be financed or reimbursed, a transfer from the
General Fund will be required.

Debt Service Funds

The Debt Service Funds account for the accumulation of resources for payment of principal and interest on long-term
obligations. Separate funds are maintained to account for transactions relating to: (i) the City’s Debt Service Funds including
its General Sinking Fund and the General Debt Service Fund required by State legislation; (ii) certain other public benefit
corporations whose indebtedness bas been guaranteed by the City, or with whom the City has entered into lease purchase and
similar agreements; (iii) MAC and SFC; and (iv) ECF and CUCF as component units of the City.

Proprietary
Enterprise Funds

The Enterprise Funds account for the operations of HHC, OTB, HDC and other component units comprising the
Housing and Economic Development Funds, and the Water and Sewer Sysiem. These activities are accounted for in a manner
similar to private business enterprises, in which the focus is on the periodic determination of revenues, expenses, and net
income.

Fiduciary
Trust and Agency Funds

The Trust and Agency Funds account for the assets and activities of the Expendable Trust Funds, Pension and Similar
Trust Funds, and Agency Funds.

The Expendable Trust Funds account for the operations of TPSOVSF and HPSOVSF, and are accounted for in
essentially the same manner as governmental funds.

The Pension and Similar Trust Funds account for the operations of NYCERS, TRS, BERS, POLICE, and FIRE
employee retirement systems, and POVSF*, PSOVSF*, FFVSF®, FOVSF*, TPOVSF*, and HPOVSF*. These activities are
accounted for in essentially the same manner as proprietary funds where the focus is on the periodic determination of
revenues, expenses, and nel assets available for pension benefits. The asterisked Funds were reported as Expendable Trust
Funds in fiscal year 1992 (see Note R).

The Agency Funds account for the operations of DCP, which was created in. accordance with Internal Revenue Code

Section 457 and Other Agency Funds which account for miscellaneous assets held by the City for other funds, governmental
units, and individuals. The Agency Funds are custodial in nature and do not involve measurement of results of operations.
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Account Groups
General Fixed Assets Account Group

The General Fixed Assets Account Group accounts for those fixed assets which are used for general governmental
purposes and are not available for expenditure. Such assets include all capital assets, except for the City’s infrastructure
elements that are not required to be capitalized under generally accepted accounting principles. Infrastructure elements include
the roads, bridges, curbs and gutters, streets and sidewalks, park land and improvements, and subway tracks and tonnels. The
fixed assets of SCA are included in the City’s General Fixed Assets Account Group. The fixed assets of the water distribution
and sewage coilection system are recorded in the Water and Sewer System Enterprise Fund -under a lease agreement between.
the City and the Water Board.

General Long-term Obligations Account Group

The General Long-term Obligations Account Group accounts for unmatured long-term bonds payable which at maturity.
will be paid through the Debt Service Funds. In addition, the General Long-term Obligations Account Group includes other-
long-term obligations for: (i) capital leases; (ii) real estate tax refunds; (iii) judgments and claims; (iv) certain unpaid deferred
wages; (v) unpaid vacation and sick leave; and (vi) certain unfunded pension liabilities.

Basis of Accounting

The accounting and financial treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement focus. The measurement
focus of the governmental fund types and the Expendable Trust Funds is on-the flow of current financial resources. This focus.
emphasizes the determination of, and changes in financial position, and only current assets and current liabilities generally
are included on the balance sheet. These Funds use the modified accrual basis of accounting, whereby revenues are recognized
in the accounting period in which they become both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the fiscal period.
Expenditures are recorded when the related liability is incurred, except for interest on long-term obligations and cenain
estimated liabilities recorded in the General Long-term Obligations Account Group.

The measurement focus of the Enterprise Funds and the Pension and Similar Trust Funds is on the flow of economic
resources. This focus emphasizes the determination of net income and financial position. With- this measurement focus, all
assets and liabilities associated with the operation of these Funds are included on the balance sheet. These Funds use the
accrual basis of accounting whereby revenues are recognized in the accounting period in which they are earned, and expenses
are recognized in the period incurred:

The Agency Funds use the modified accrual basis of accounting and do not measure the results of operations.
Budgets and Financial Plans
Budgets

Annual Expense Budget appropriations, which are prepared on the modified accrual basis, are adopted for the General
Fund, and unused- appropriations - lapse at fiscal year-end. The City also makes appropriations in the Capital Budget to
authorize the expenditure of funds for various capital projects. Capital appropriations, unless modified or rescinded, remain
in effect until the completion of each project

The City is required by State Law to adopt and adhere to a budget that would not bave General Fund expenditures in
excess of revenues.

Expenditures made against the Expense Budget are controlled through the use of quarterly spending allotments and units
of appropriation. A unit of appropriation represents a subdivision of an agency’s budget and is the level of control within each
agency'’s budget at which expenditures may not legally exceed the appropriation. The number of units of appropriation and
the span of operating responsibility which each unit represents, differs from agency to agency depending on the size of the
agency and the level of control required. Transfers between units of appropriation and supplementary appropriations may be
made by the Mayor subject to the approval provisions set forth in the City Charter. Supplementary appropriations increased
the Expense Budget by $1,317 million and $851 million subsequent to its original adoption in fiscal years 1993 and 1992,

respectively.
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Financial Plans

The New York State Financial Emergency Act for The City of New York, as amended in 1978, requires the City 10
operate under a "rolling"” Four-Year Financial Plan (Plan). Revenues and expenditures, including operating transfers, of each
year of the Plan are required to be balanced on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. The Plan is
broader in scope than the Expense Budget; it comprehends General Fund revenues and expenditures, Capital Projects Fund
revenues and expenditures, and all short and long-term financing.

The Expense Budget is generally consistent with the first year of the Plan and operations under the Expense Budget
must reflect the aggregate limitations contained in the approved Plan. The City reviews its Plan periodically during the year
and, if necessary, makes modifications to incorporate actual results and revisions to assumptions.

Encumbrances

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments for expenditures are recorded
to reflect the use of the applicable spending appropriations, is used by the General Fund during the fiscal year to control
expenditures. The cost of those goods received and services rendered on or before June 30 are recognized as expenditures.
Encumbrances not resulting in expenditures by year-end, lapse.

Cash and Investments

The City considers all highly liquid investments (including restricted assets) with a maturity of three months or less
when purchased, to be cash equivalents.

Cash and cash equivalents include compensating balances maintained ‘with certain banks in lieu of baymems for services
rendered. The average compensating balances maintained during fiscal years 1993 and 1992 were approximately $484 million
and $368 million, respectively.

Investments in marketable fixed income securities are recorded at cost or amortized cost, plus accrued interest
Securities purchased pursuant to agreements to resell are carried at the contract price, exclusive of interest, at which the
securities will be resold. Marketable equity securities are carried at market in the Pension and Similar Trust Funds and cost
in the Expendable Trust Funds. Realized gains or losses on sales of securities are based on the average cost of securities.

Investments of DCP are reported at market value.

Inventories

Materials and supplies are recorded as expenditures in governmental funds at the time of purchase. Inventories on
hand at June 30, 1993 and 1992 (estimated at $208 million and $213 million, respectively, based on average cost) have not
been reported on the Governmental Funds balance sheets.

Restricted Cash and Investments

Certain proceeds of Enterprise Fund bonds, as well as certain resources set aside for their repayment, are classified as
restricted cash and investments on the balance sheet because their use is limited by applicable bond covenants.

Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are generally stated at historical cost, or at estimated historical cost based on appraisals or on other
acceptable methods when historical cost is not available. Donated fixed assets are stated at their fair market value as of the
date of the donation. Capital leases are classified as fixed assets in amounts equal to the lesser of the fair market value or
the present value of net minimum leasc payments at the inception of the lease (see Note G).

Accumulated depreciation and amortization are reported as reductions of fixed assets. Depreciation is computed using
the straight-line method based upon estimated useful lives of 40 to 50 years for buildings and 5 to 35 years for equipment.
Capital lease assets and leasehold improvements are amortized over the term of the lease or the life of the asset, whichever

is less.

See Notes K, L, and N for fixed asset accounting policies used by HHC, OTB, and the Water and Sewer System,
respectively.
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Allowance for Uncollectible Morigage Loans

Mortgage loans angd interest receivable in the Debt Service Funds are net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts
of $1,023.8 million and $997.5 million for fiscal years 1993 and 1992, respectively. The allowance is composed of the balance
of first mortgages one or more years in arrears and the balance of refinanced mortgages where payments to the City are not
expected to be completed for approximately 25 to 30 years.

Vacation and Sick Leave

Earned vacation and sick leave is recorded as an expenditure in the period when it is payable from current financial
resources. The estimated value of leave earned by employees which may be used in subsequent years or paid upon termination
or retirement, and therefore payable from future resources, is recorded in the General Long-term Obligations Account Group,
except for leave of the employees of the Enterprise Funds which is accounted for in those Funds.

Treasury Obligations

Bonds payable included in the General Long-term Obligations Account Group and investments in the Debt Service:
Funds are reported net of "treasury obligations.” Treasury obligations represent City bonds held as investments of the Debt
Service Funds which are offset and reported as if these bonds had been redeemed.

Judgments and Claims

The City is uninsured with respect to most risks including, but not limited to, property damage, personal injury, and
workers' compensation. Expenditures for judgments and claims (other than workers’ compensation and condemnation
proceedings) are recorded on the basis of settlements reached or judgments entered within the current fiscal year. Expenditures
for workers' compensation are recorded when paid. Settlements relating to condemnation proceedings are reported in the
Capital Projects Fund when the liability is estimable. The estimated liability for judgments and claims which have not been
adjudicated, settled, or reported at the end of a fiscal year is recorded in the General Long-term Obligations Account Group.
The current liability for settlements reached or judgments entered but not yet paid is recorded in the General Fund.

General Long-term Obligations

For general long-term obligations, only that portion expected to be financed from expendable available financial
resources is reported as a fund liability of a governmental fund. The remaining portion of such obligations is reported in the
General Long-term Obligations Account Group. Long-term liabilities expected o be financed from proprietary fund operations
are accounted for in those funds.

Real Estate Tax

Real estate tax payments for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1993 were due July 1, 1992 and January 1, 1993 except
that payments by owners of real property assessed at $40,000 or less and cooperatives whose individual units on average are
valued at $40,000 or less were due in quarterly installments on the first day of each quarter beginning on July 1.

The levy date for fiscal year 1993 taxes was June 30, 1992. The lien date is the date taxes are due.

Recognized real estate tax revenue represents payments received during the year and payments received within the first
two montbs of the following fiscal year (against the current fiscal year and prior years’ levies) reduced by tax refunds.

An allowance for estimated uncollectible real estate taxes is provided against the balance of the receivable. Delinquent
real estate taxes receivable that are estimated to be collectible but which are not collected in the first two months of the next

fiscal year are recorded as deferred revenues:
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The City is permitted to levy real estate taxes: (i) for general operating purposes in an amount up (o 2.5% of the
average full value of taxable real estate in the City for the last five yzars; and (i) in unlimited amounts for the payment of
principal and interest on long-term City debt. Amounts collected for payment of principal and interest on long-term debt in
excess of that required for that purpose in the year of the levy must be applied towards future years’ debt service. For the
fiscal years ended June 30, 1993 and 1992, excess amounts of $123 million and $47 million, respectively, was transferred
to the Debt Service Funds.

Other Taxes and Other Revenues

Sales, income, and other taxes are recognized based on payments received during the current fiscal year and represent
amounts, net of estimated refunds, collected by the State in the current fiscal year on behalf of the City but received by the
City in the next fiscal year.

Licenses, permits, privileges and franchises, fines, forfeitures, and other revenues are recorded when received in
cash. The City receives revenue from the Water Board for operating and maintenance costs and rental payments for use of
the Water and Sewer System. These revenues are recorded when the services are provided by the City for the Water Board.

Federal, State, and Other Aid

Categorical aid, net of a provision for estimated disallowances, is reported as revenue when the related reimbursable
expenditures are incurred. Unrestricied aid is reported as revenue in the fiscal year of entitlement.

Bond Discounts/Issuance Costs

In governmental fund types, bond discounts and issuance costs are recognized as expenditures in the period incurred.
Bond discounts and issuance costs in the proprietary fund type are deferred and amortized over the term of the bonds using
the bonds-outstanding method, which approximates the effective interest method. Bond discounts are presented as a reduction
of the face amount of bonds payable, whereas issuance COSIs are recorded as deferred charges.

Transfers

Payments from a fund receiving revenue to a fund through which the revenue is to be expended are reported as
operating transfers. Such payments include transfers for debt service, OTB net revenues, and Expendable Trust Funds.

Subsidies

The City makes various payments to subsidize a number of organizations which provide services to City residents.
These payments are recorded as expenditures in the year paid.

Pensions

The provision for pension costs is recorded on the accrual basis (see Note R). The provision includes normal costs,
interest on pension costs previously accrued but not funded, and amortization of past service costs as determined by the
actuary employed by the Boards of Trustees of the City’s major actuarial pension systems.

Pronouncements: Issued Bur Not Yet Effective

In May, 1990, the GASB issued Statement No. 11, Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting—Governmental Fund
Operating Statements. The Staiement establishes an accrual basis of accounting with 2 financial resources measurement focus
for govemnmental funds. The operating results expressed using the financial resources measurement focus show the extent (0
which financial resources obtained during a period are sufficient to cover claims against financial resources incurred during
that period. The City currently follows the modified accrual basis. Using the modified accrual basis, revenues are recognized
in the accounting period in which they become measurable and available and expenditures are recognized when the fund
liability is incurred, if measurable, except for unmatured interest on general long-term debt, which is recognized when due.

B-21



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

The effective date of the Statement has been deferred by GASB' Statement No. 17, Measurement- Focus and Basis of
Accounting — Governmental Fund Operating Statements: Amendment of the Effective Dates of GASB Statement No. 11 and
Related Statements, to periods beginning approximately two years after an implementation standard is issued. Early
implementation of Statement No. 11 is not permitted. The City has not yet completed the complex analysis required to
estimate the financial statement impact of Statement No. 11.

In June, 1991, the GASB issued Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Enziry. This Statement establishes standards
for reporting on the financial reporting entity. The entity, currently reported on by the City, is based upon National Council
On Governmental Accounting (NCGA) Statements 3 and 7 and NCGA Interpretation 7. The application of the standards in-
Statement No. 14 may result in changes in the entities included in the City’s financial statements as well as changes in the
manner in which such entities are reported. The City will first be required to comply with Statement No. 14 for the fiscal year
ending June 30, 1994. The City bas not yet completed the analysis required to assess the financial statement impact of
Statemem No. 14.

In November, 1992, the GASB issued Statement No. 16, Accounting for Compensated Absences. This Statement
provides guidance for the measurement of accrued compensated absences liabilities by state and local governmental entities,
regardless of the reporting model or fund type used to report the transactions. The City currently follows NCGA Statement
4 and is in the process of revising its current model for estimating the liability for time earned to comply with the standards
in Statement No. 16. The Statement will be effective for the Citv's June 30, 1994 financial statements.

In August, 1993, the GASB issued Statement No. 18, Accounting for Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Closure and
Posiclosure Care Costs. This Statement is based on the October 9, 1991, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) rule,
"Solid Waste and Disposal Facility Criteria," which obligates Municipal Solid Waste Landfill (MSWLF) owners and operators
to perform certain closing functions and postclosure monitoring and maintenance functions as a condition for the right 10
operate the MSWLF in the current period. For landfills that use proprietary accounting, this Staiement requires a portion of
the estimated total current cost of the closure and postclosure case to be recognized as an expense and as a liability in each
period the landfill accepts solid waste. For governmental funds, the measurement and recognition of the accrued liability for
closure and postclosure care should be consistent with the proprietary funds. Expenditures and fund liabilities should be
recognized using the modified accrual basis of accounting. The remainder of the liability should be reported in the General
Long-term Obligations Account Group. The City is required to implement this Statement for the fiscal year ending June 30,
1994 and is in the process of compiling the cost and statistical data needed.

B. AUDIT RESPONSIBILITY

In fiscal years 1993 and 1992, respectively, the most significant separately administered organizations included in the
financial statements of the City audited by auditors other than Emst & Young and Mitchell, Tiws & Co., the City’s auditors,
are the Municipal Assistance Corporation For The City of New York, the New York City Health and Hospitals Corporation,
the major entities comprising the Housing and Economic Development Funds, the New York City Municipal Water Finance
Autbority, and the New York City Water Board.

The following describes the proportion of certain key financial information that is andited by other auditors in fiscal years
1993 and 1992:

Fund Types Account Groups
Trust General General
Capital Debt and Fixed Long-term
Geperal Projects Service  _Enterprise Agency Assets Obligations
1993 1997 1993 1997 1993 1992 1993 1992 1993 19% 1993 1m 1993 19%
(percent)
Total assets/liabilities . . . 0 0 18 9 75 73 99 9 2 1 22 16 18 20

Operating revenues and
other financing sources 0 0 24 15 17 25 96 9% 0 0 NA NA NA NA

NA: Not Applicable
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C. MUNICIPAL ASSISTANCE CORPORATION FOR THE CITY OF NEW York (MAC)

MAC is a corporate governmental agency and instrumentality of the State constituting a public benefit corporation. MAC
was created in June, 1975 by the Municipal Assistance Corporation For The City of New York Act (Act) to assist the City
in providing essential services to its inhabitants without interruption and in reestablishing investor confidence in the soundness
of City obligations. Pursuant to the Act, MAC is empowered to issue and sell bonds and notes, pay or loan to the City funds
received from such sales, and exchange its obligations for those of the City. Also pursuant to the Act, MAC provides certain
oversight of the City’s financial activities.

MAC has no taxing power. All outstanding bonds issued by MAC are general obligations of MAC and do not constitute
an enforceable obligation or a debt of either the City or the State and neither the City nor the State is liable thereon. Neither
the City nor a creditor of the City has any claim to MAC’s revenues and assets. Debt service requirements and operating
expenscs are funded by allocations from the State’s collection of certain sales and compensating use taxes (imposed by the
State within the City at rates formerly imposed by the City), the stock transfer tax and certain per capita aid, subject in each
case (o appropriation by the State Legislature. Net collections of taxes and per capita aid are retumed to the City by the State
after MAC debt service requirements are met. The MAC bond resolutions provide for liens by bondbolders on certain monies
received by MAC from the State.

MAC was authorized by the Act to issue, until January 1, 1985, obligations in an aggregate principal amount of $10
billion, of which MAC issued approximately $9.445 billion, exclusive of obligations issued to refund outstanding obligations
of MAC and of notes issued to enable the City to fulfill its seasonal borrowing requirements. In July, 1990, State legislation
was enacted which, among other things, authorized MAC to issue up to an additional $1.5 billion of bonds and notes to fund
a portion of the capital programs of the New York City Transit Authority and SCA. This legislation also provides for a
reduction in the July, 1990 issuance authority to the extent that the transit and schools capital programs are funded by the
City. As of June 30, 1993 and 1992, the City bas funded $615 million and $440 million of these programs, respectively.

MAC continues to be authorized to issue obligations to renew or refund outstanding obligations, without limitation as
to amount. No obligations of MAC may mature later than July 1, 2008. MAC may issue new obligations provided their
issuance would not cause certain debt service limitations and debt service coverage ratios 1o be exceeded.

As indicated in Note A, the MAC transactions and account balances are included in the accompanying financial
statements because MAC's financing activities are considered an essential part of the City’s financing activities. In order to
include the financial statements of MAC with those of the City, the following eliminations were made: (i) July 1st bond
redemptions and interest on bonds payable which are reflected on MAC’s statements at June 30; and (ii) certain City
obligations purchased by MAC (see Note G). MAC account balances and transactions are shown in the Debt Service Funds
and Genera! Long-term Obligations Account Group; revenues appropriated and paid by the State of New York to MAC are
first included in General Fund revenues and then transferred to the Debt Service Funds in the fiscal year of such payments.

D. NEW YORK CITY SAMURAI FUNDING CORPORATION (SFC)

The City created SFC on August 25, 1992. This is a special-purpose nonprofit entity, created o issue Yen-denominated
bonds. The members, directors, and officers of SFC are all elected officials or employees of the City.

SFC issued its first Yen-denominated bonds to investors on May 27, 1993 and simultaneously bought general obligation
bonds from the City. Such bonds require the City to make floating rate interest and principal payments in U.S. dollars to SFC.
SFC entered into currency and interest rate exchange agreements to swap the City’s payments into fixed rate Yen to uvse to
pay SFC’s bondholders. SFC’s bonds are included in the City’s General Long-term Obligations Account Group. Proceeds from
this issue will be used for housing and economic development projects that do not qualify for tax-exempt bond stats.
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E. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS
Deposits

The City’s bank depositories are designated by the Banking Commission, which consists of the Comptroller, the Mayor,
and the Finance Commissioner. Independent bank rating agencies are used to determine the financial soundness of each bank,
and the City’s banking relationships are under periodic operational and credit reviews.

The City Charter limits the amount of deposits at any time in any one bank or trust company to a maximum of one-half
of the amount of the capital and net surplus of such bank or trust company. Component units included in the City’s reporting
entity maintain their own banking relationships which generally conform with the City’s. Bank balances are currently insured
up to $100,000 in the aggregate by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) for each bank for all funds other than
monies of the retirement systems, which are insured by the FDIC up to $100,000 per retirement system member. At June 30,
1993 and 1992, the carrying amount of the City’s cash and deposits was $563 million and $556 million, respectively, and
the bank balances were $455 million and $690 million, respectively. Of the bank balances, $81 million and $235 million,
respectively, were covered by federal depository insurance or collateralized with securities held by the City’s agent in the
City's name, and $374 million and $455 million, respectively, were uninsured and collateralized.

The uninsured, collateralized cash balances carried during the year did not fluctuate appreciably as they represent
primarily the compensating balances to be maintained at banks for services provided. It is the policy of the City to invest all
funds in excess of compensating balance requirements.

Investments

The City's investment of cash in its governmental fund types 1s limited to U.S. Government securities purchased directly
and through repurchase agreements from primary dealers. The repurchase agreements must be collateralized by U.S.
Government securities in a range of 100% to 103% of the matured value of the repurchase agreements.

The investment policies of the component units included in the City’s reporting entity generally conform to those of the
City's. The criteria for the Pension and Similar Trust Funds’ investments are as follows:

(1) Fixed income investments may be made in U.S. Government securities, securities of government agencies
backed by the U.S. Government, securities of companies rated single A or better by both Standard & Poor’s Corporation
and Moody's Investors Service, Inc., and any bond that meets the qualifications of the New York State Retirement-and-
Social Security Law, the New York State Banking Law, and the New York City Administrative Code.

(2) Equity investments may be made only in those stocks that meet the qualifications of the New York State
Retirement and Social Security Law, the New York State Banking Law, and the New York City Administrative Code.

(3) Short-term investments may be made in the following:

(a) U.S. Government securities or govemnment agencies’ securities fully guaranteed as t0 principal and interest
by the U.S. Government.

(b) Commercial paper rated Al or P1 by Standard & Poor’s Corporation or Moody's Investors Service, Inc.,
respectively.

(c) Repurchase agreements collateralized in a range of 100% to 103% of matured value, purchased from primary
dealers of U.S. Government securities.

(4) Investments in bankers’ acceptances and certificates of deposit — time deposits are limited to banks with
world-wide assets in excess of $50 billion that are rated within the highest categories of the leading bank rating services

and selected regional banks also rated within the highest categories.

(5) Investments up to 7 1/2% of total pension fund assets in instruments not specifically covered by the New York
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State Retirement and Social Security Law.

All securities are held by the City’s custodial banks (in bearer or book-entry form) solely as agent of the Comptroller
of The City of New York on behalf of the various accounts involved. Payments for purchases are not released until the.
purchased securities are received by the City’s custodial bank.

Investments of the City and its component units are categorized by level of credit risk (the risk that a counterparty 10 an
investment transaction will not fulfill its obligations). Category 1, the lowest risk, includes investments that are insured or
registered or for which the securities are held by the entity or its agent in the entity’s name. Category 2 includes uninsured
and unregistered investments for which the securities are beld by the counterparty’s trust department or agent in the entity’s
name. Category 3, the highest risk, includes uninsured and unregistered investments for which the securities are held by the
counterparty, or by its trust department or agent but not in the entity’s name.

The City's investments, including those of the component units, as of June 30, 1993 and 1992 are classified as follows:

1993
Category Total
Carrying Market

1 2 3 Amount Value

(in millions)
Repurchase agreements . . .. ............. $2688 § — $ — $ 2681 § 2735
U.S. Government securities . .. ... . .... ... 15,180 — —_ 15,180 16,187
Commercial paper . ................... 1,051 — — 1,051 1,052
Corporate bonds . .. ... .. ... 5,099 — — 5,099 5,301
Corporate StockS . . ... oo 30,191 — — 30,191 30,191
Other . ... . s 3,402 181 — 3,583 3,598
$57.604 § 181 § — 57,785 59,064
Mutual Funds (1) . .. ... . ...t 228 228
International Investment Fund--Fixed Income (1) 366 539
International Investment Fund--Equity (1) . . .. 2,763 2,763
Guaranteed investment contract {1). ... ... .. 870 870
Management investment contract (1) . ...... 179 179
Total investments . .. ..........- $62,191 § 63,643

(1) These securities are not categorized because they are not evidenced by securities that exist in physical or book entry form.

In fiscal year 1993, the restricted cash and investments include $799.4 million of cash, of which the repayment of $769.3'
million was insured and collateralized and $30.1 million was uninsured and collateralized. Restricted investments, principally
in U.S. Government securities with a cost and approximate market value of $485 million are fully collateralized with securities
held by the trustee in the entity’s name of which none have maturities of three months or less.
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1992
Category Total
Carrying Market
1 2 3 Amount Value
(in millions)
Repurchase agreements . .. .............. $ 3,541 $ — 5 — $ 3,541 $ 3,541
U.S. Government securities . . ............ 15,536 — —_ 15,536 16,062
Commercial paper . ................... 560 — — 560 560
Corporate bonds . .................... 4,775 — — 4,775 4,939
Corporate stocks . .................... 26,005 — — 26,005 26,107
Other ......... . . i 2,406 135 — 2,541 2,550
$52,823 $ 135 $ — 52,658 53,759
Mutwal Funds (1) . .. ... ... .. ... 163 163
International Investment Fund—Fixed Income (1) 367 485
International Investment Fund—Equity (1) . .. 1.734 1,734
Guaranteed investment contract (1) .. ... ... 867 867
Management investment contract (1) ... .... 79 79
Total investments . . . . ............ $ 56,168 $ 57,087

(1) These securities are not categorized because they are not evidenced by securities that exist in physical or book entry form.

In fiscal year 1992, the restricted cash and investments include $56 million of cash, of which the repayment of $49.1
million was insured and collateralized and $6.9 million was uninsured and uncollateralized. Restricted investments, principally
in U.S. Government securities with a cost and approximate market value of $798.7 million are fully collateralized with
securities held by the trustee in the entity’s name of which $38¢ 7 million have maturities of three months or less.
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F. GENERAL FIXED ASSETS ACCOUNT GROUP

The following is a summary of changes in general fixed assets for the fiscal years ended-June 30, 1992 and-1993:

Balance
June 30,
_1991 Additions
Land ............ $ 547419 $ 2,018
Buildings ......... 5,689,500 178,683
Equipment ........ 2,905,891 187,640
Construction work-in-
progress . ........ 3,195.330 _1,005.726
12,338,140 1,374,067
Less accumulated
depreciauon and
amortization . .. ... 4,018,267 299,931

Total changes in
net fixed assets . .

$8,319.873 $1,074,136

Balance Balance
June 30, June 30,
Deletions 1992 Additions Deletions 1993
(in thousands)

26,034 5,842,149 337,496 31,384 6,148,261
284,326 2,809,205 172,496 188,543 2,793,158
178,683 4,022,373 990,901 337496 _4,675778
489,043 13,223,164 1,500,893 557,423 14,166,634
246,202 4,071,996 308,872 138,080 _4,242,788

$2421841 $9,1511168 311921021 3419,343 5919231846

The following are the sources of funding for the general fixed assets for the years ended June 30, 1993 and 1992 Sources

of funding for fixed assets are not available prior to fiscal year 1987.

Capital Projects Fund:

Prior to fiscal year 1987 .. ..

City bonds . . ... ..
Federal grants . ...
Swate grants ... ...
Private grants . . . ..

Total funding sources . . .

1993 1992

(in thousands)
$ 6815790 $ 6,820,286
7,092,725 6,151,461
178,935 177,393
62,403 59,992
16,781 14,032
$ l4l166‘634 $ 13i223il64

At June 30, 1993 and 1992, the General Fixed Assets Account Group includes approximately $1.3 billion and $1.4 billion,
respectively, of City-owned assets leased for $1 per year to the New York City Transit Authority which operates and
maintains the assets, In addition, assets leased to HHC and to the Water and Sewer System are excluded from the General
Fixed Assets Account Group and are recorded in the respective Enterprise Funds.

Included in land and buildings at June 30, 1993 and 1992 are leased properties capitalized at $107 million and $135
million, respectively, with related accumulated amortization of $49 million and $68 million, respectively.

Centain categories of the City’s infrastructure are not required to be capitalized in the General Fixed Assets Account
Group under generally accepted accounting principles although the acquisition and construction of such items are expenditures
of the Capital Projects Fund (see Note A). For this reason, expenditures of the Capital Projects Fund for the fiscal years ended
June 30, 1993 and 1992 exceed the $1.501 billion and $1.374 billion increases recorded as general fixed assets by $2.116

billion and $2.519 billion, respectively.
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G. LEASES

The City leases a significant amount of property and equipment from others. Leased property having elements of
ownership are classified as capital leases in the General Fixed Assets Account Group. The related obligations, in amounts
equal to the present value of minimum lease payments payable during the remaining term of the leases, are recorded in the
General Long-term Obligations Account Group. Other leased property not having elements of ownership are classified as
operating leases. Both capital and operating lease payments are recorded as expenditures when payable. Total expenditures
on such leases for the fiscal years ended June 30, 1993 and 1992 were approximately $316 million and $305 million,

respectively.

As of June 30, 1993, the City (excluding Enterprise Funds) had future minimum payments under capital and operating
leases with a remaining term in excess of one year as follows:

Capital Operating
Leases Leases Total
(in thousands)
Fiscal year ending June 30:
1994 ... ... ... $ 59,713 $ 141212 $ 200925
1995 . ... 57,790 121,609 179,399
1996 . .. ... . 59,338 112,657 171,995
1997 ... ... ... ... 61,382 101,029 162,411
1998 . ... ... .. 60,063 88,065 148,158
Thereafter until 2086 .. ... .. 655,344 564,637 1,219,981
Future minimum payments . 953,660 $_1,120.209 $ 2082869
Less interest . .. ......... 439,162
Present value of future minimum
payments ... ........ 3§ 514498

The City also leases City-owned property 1o otbers, primarily for markets, ports, and terminals. Total rental revenue on
these operating leases for the fiscal years ended June 30, 1993 and 1992 was approximately $162 million and $158 million,
respectively. As of June 30, 1993, the following future minimum rentals are provided for by the leases:

Amount
(in thousands)
Fiscal year ending June 30:

1994 . . . e $ 49,680
1995 . ... e 46,838
1996 . .. 44,609
1997 . .. 42,267
1098 . .. e 40,296
Thereafter unti] 2086 . ........ .... 1,189,791

Future minimum rentals . .. .... $ 1,413,481
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H. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
Long-term Debt
Following is a summary of the bond transactions of the City, MAC, SFC, and certain public benefit corporations that

are component units of the City and/or whose debt is guaranteed by the City. For information on notes and bonds payable
of the Enterprise Funds, see Notes K, L, M, and N.

Balance Balance Balance
June 30, Repaid or June 30, Repaid or June 30,
1991 Issued Defeased 1992 Issued Defeased 1993
{(in thousands)
City debt:
Termbonds ......... $ 80,000 §% — 3 $ 80,000 § — $ 80000 § —

General obligation bonds  _16,732479 _ 5100451 _ 2420509 _ 19412421 4484078 2,987,525 _20.,908.974
16812479 _ 5100451 _ 2420509 _ 19492421 _ 4,484,078 3,067,525 _20,908.974

MAC debt:
First general resolution
bonds ............ 994,738 — 994,738 — — — _—
Second general resolution
bonds ............ 5.571,570 — 233,455 5.338,115 —_ 380,890 4,957,225
1991 general resolution
bonds ............ 138,440 380,650 — 519,090 32,135 145,185 506,040
6,704,748 380,650 _ 1,228,193 5,857,205 32,135 526,075 _ 5,463,265
Samurai debt:
Japanese Yen bonds . . . _— — — —_ 200.000- — 200,000-
Guaranteed debt:
New York City Housing
Authority . ........ 44,306 — 2,750 41,556 —_ 2,840 38,716
Component unit debt:
City University Construction
Fund® .. ......... 403,610 4,725® — 408,335 2,705 — 411,040
New York City Educational
Consuruction Fund . . . 133,425 — 3,210 130,215 — 3,585 126,630
537,035 4,725 3,210 538,550 2,705 3.585 537,670
Total before treasury
obligations .. ... ..... 24,098,568 5,485,826 3,654,662 25,929,732 4818918 3,600,025 27,148,625
Less treasury obligations . . 1,509,229 — 115,545 1,393,684 200,000 114,769 1,478,915

Total summary of
bond transactions . $22,589.339 § 5.485,826 $3.539,117 § 24,536,048 $4.6189]18 $3.485.256 $25,6€9,710

(1) The debt of CUCF and ECF are reported as bonds outstanding as of June 30, 1992 and 1993 pursuant to their treatment as component units
(See Note A).

(2) Excludes $298.051 in 1992 and $297.722 in 1993 to be provided by the State.

(3) Net adjustment based on allocation of debt between New York State and New York City.

The bonds payable, net of treasury obligations, at June 30, 1993 and 1992 summarized by type of issue are as follows:

1993 1992
General General
Obligations Revenue Total Obligations Revenue Total
(in thousands)
Bonds payable:

Citydebt ............. $ 19,430,059 $ — $ 19,430,059 §$ 18,098,737 § — $ 18,098,737
MACdebt. ........... 5,463,265 —_ 5,463,265 5,857,205 —_ 5,857,205
SFCdebt. ............ 200,000 —_ 200,000 —_ — —
Guaranteed debt . . . ... .. 38,716 _ 38,716 41,556 —_ 41,556

67 537,670 538,550 538,550
6

Component unit debt . . .. — 537,670 —
otal bonds payable . § 75.32,080 ¥ 337,670 I 75,660.710 997498 $ 338350 3 24.536.048
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The following table summarizes future debt service requirements as of June 30, 1993:

City Debt Component
General Unit and City
Obligation Interest on Guaranteed
Bonds Bonds (1) MAC SFC(2) Debt Total
{in thousands)
Fiscal year ending June 30:
1994 ... .. ... ... $ 906,596 § 1,300,987 $ 747941 $ 8000 $ 53,619 $ 3,017,143
1995 . ... ..., 1,029,876 1,252,355 529,132 8.000 55,054 2,874,417
1996 .. ... ....... 1,058,075 1,181,387 522,230 8,000 55,562 2,825,254
1997 ... ... 1,084,516 1,118,786 510,954 8,000 55,428 2,771,684
1998 ... ..., 988.022 1,053,570 572,583 8,000 55,406 2,677,581
Thereafter until 2147 . . 14,362,974 10,569,134 6,010,292 224.000 769,937 31,936,337
19,430,059 16,476,219 8,893,132 264,000 1,045,006 46,108,416
Less interest component — 16,476,219 3.429.867 64,000 468,620 20,438,706
Total future debt service

requirements . .. ... $ 19430059 §$ — $5463265 $200000 $ 576,386 $ 25,669,710

(1) Includes interest on adjustable rate bonds estimated at 4% rate.
(2) Interest estimated at 4% rate.

The average (weighted) interest rates for outstanding City general obligation bonds as of June 30, 1993 and 1992 were
7.2% (range 3.0% to 13.6%) and 7.6% (range 2.5% to 13.6%), respectively, and the interest rates on-outstanding MAC bonds
as of June 30, 1993 and 1992 ranged from 2.5% to 8.5% and 3.0% tw 8.5%, respectively. The last maturity of the outstanding
City debt is in the year 2147.

In fiscal year 1993, the City issued $2.528 billion of general obligation bonds to advance refund general obligation bonds
of $2.229 billion aggregate principal amount issued during the City's fiscal years 1971 through 1993. The net proceeds from
the sales of the refunding bonds were irrevocably placed in escrow accounts and invested in United States Government
securilies. As a result of providing for the payment of the principal and interest to maturity, and any redemplion premium,
the advance refunded bonds are considered to be defeased and, accordingly, the liability is not reported in the General Long-
term Obligations Account Group. The refunding transactions will decrease the City’s aggregate debt service payments by $77
million and provide an economic gain of $98 million. At June 30, 1993, $5.122 billion of the City’s outstanding general
obligation bonds were considered defeased.

In fiscal year 1993, bonds issued for refunding purposes by MAC reduced debt service payments by $33.3 million during
the calendar years 1993 through 2008, producing net present value savings of $15.6 million. At June 30, 1993, $1,271.8
million of MAC bonds which have been advance refunded were considered defeased.

During fiscal year 1993, the City entered into interest rate swap agreements to facilitate the issuance and sale of certain
variable rate bonds by providing protection to the City against variable rate risk. The agreements effectively change the City’s
interest rate exposure on its obligation 1o pay a floating amount of interest due on: (1) $92.8 million Short RITES bonds to0
a fixed constant rate of 6.4% on $32.8 million to fiscal year 1998 and to constant rates ranging from 6% 10 7% on $60 million
to fiscal year 2000, and on (2) $63.2 million principal adjustable rate bonds to a fixed rate of 3.05% on $53.2 million to
August 1, 1995 and of 2.54% on $10 million principal to August 1, 1994.

Deposits into the General Sinking Fund for the redemption of the principal of term bonds were $1.1 million and $1.2
million in fiscal years 1993 and 1992, respectively. During fiscal year 1993, the remaining term bonds to be retired from the
resources of the General Sinking Fund were included among those bonds refunded. The accumulated assets of the Fund, no
longer required for the purpose intended, were applied towards payment of fiscal year 1993 debt service on other City bonds.

The State Constitution requires the City to pledge its full faith and credit for the payment of the principal and interest
on City term and serial bonds and guaranteed debt. The general debt-incurring power of the City is limited by the Constitution
10 10% of the average of five years’ full valuations of taxable real estate. Additional debt may be incurred for housing
purposes and is limited to 2% of the average of five years’ assessed valuations, Excluded from these debt limitations is certain
indebtedness incurred for water supply, certain obligations for transit, sewage, and other specific obligations which exclusions
are based on a relationship of debt service to net revenue.

As of June 30, 1993, the 10% general and 2% additional limitations were approximatcly $55.415 billion and $1.533

billion, respectively, of which the remaining debt-incurring amounts within such limits were $19.681 billion and $1.392
billion, respectively. See Note C for information related to MAC debt authorization and issuance limitations.
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Pursuant to Stale legislation on January 1, 1979, the City established a General Debt Service Fund administered and
maintained by the State Comptroller into whick: payments of real estate taxes and other revenues are deposited in advance
of debt service payment dates. Debt service on all City notes and bonds is paid from this Fund.

Subsequent to June 30, 1993, the City incurred long-term general obligation debt of $1.788 billion to finance expenditures
for various capital improvements. The debt consists of $1.118 billion of fixed rate bonds bearing interest rates ranging from
3.5% 10 5.8%, $440 million of adjustable rate bonds, $86 million of various inverse floating rate securities, $69 million of
capital appreciation bonds, $44 million of various auction rate securities, and $31 million of residual interest bonds.

Judgments and Claims

The City is a defendant in lawsuits pertaining to material matters, including those claims asserted which are incidental
to performing routine governmental and other functions. This litigation includes but is not limited to, actions commenced and
claims asserted against the City arising out of alleged torts, alleged breaches of contracts, alleged violations of law and
condemnation proceedings. As of June 30, 1993 and 1992, claims in excess of $343 billion and $341 billion, respectively,
were optstlanding against the City for which the City estimates its potential future liability to be $2.2 billion and $2.3 billion,
respectively.

As explained in Note A, the estimate of the liability for unsettled claims has been reported in the General Long-term
Obligations Account Group. The liability was estimated by categorizing the various claims and applying a historical average
percentage, based primarily on actual settlements by type of claim during the preceding ten fiscal years, and was supplemented
by information provided by the New York City Law Department with respect to certain large individual claims and
proceedings. The recorded liability is the City's best estimate based on available information and application of the foregoing
procedures.

In addition to the above claims and proceedings, numerous real estate tax certiorari proceedings are presently pending
against the City on grounds of alleged overvaluation, inequality and illegality of assessment. In response 10 these actions, in
December, 1981, State legislation was enacted which, among other things, authorizes the City to assess real property according
10 four classes and makes certain evidentiary changes in real estate tax certiorari proceedings. Based on historical settlement
activity, the City estimates its potential liability for outstanding certiorari proceedings to be $268 million as reported in the
General Long-term Obligations Account Group.

Wage Deferral
In fiscal year 1991, the Board of Education entered into an agreement whereby teachers would defer a portion of their
fiscal year 1991 salary. The City will repay the deferred wages in two installments: (i) one-half to be repaid on September
1, 1995; and (ii) the second half plus interest at 9% per annum on the unpaid balance from September 1, 1995 to be repaid
on September 1, 1996.
Changes In Certain Long-term Obligations

In fiscal years 1992 and 1993, the changes in long-term obligations other than for bonds were as follows:

Balance Balance Balance
June 30, June 30, June 30,
1991 Additions Deletions 1992 Additions Deletions 1993
(in thousands)
Capital lease obligations .. ...... $ 515284 § — $ 13975 $ 501,309 § 25238 $ 12050 § 514,497
Real estate tax refunds .. ....... 217,574 149,202 124,290 242,486 89,278 64,000 267,764
Judgments and claims . . .. ... ... 2,074,519 446,965 231,480 2,290,004 139,076 230,731 2,198,349
Deferred wages .. ............ 46,696 — — 46,696 —_ — 46,696
Vacation and sick leave (1) .. .. .. 1,563,318 _— 278,048 1,285,270 103,752 — 1,389,022
Pension Liability . . ............ 2,687,431 — 59,995 _ 2,627,436 — 64,904 2,562,532

Total changes in certain

long-term obligations $ 7,104,822 $ 596167 $ 707,788 $6,993,201 § 357,344 $ 371,685 $ 6,978,860

(1) The amount of additions and deletions is not available.
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1. INTERFUND RECEIVABLE AND PAYABLE BALANCES

At June 30, 1993 and 1992, individual fund interfund receivable and payable balances were as follows:

1993 1992
Interfund Interfund. Interfund Interfund
receivable payable receivable payable
(in thousands)
General Fund . ........ ... .. ... ..., $ 895,943 $ 82,018 $ 981,020 $ 38273
Capital Projects Fund ... ................. 21,887 704,008 184,912 797,279
Debt Service Funds:
General Debt Service Funds . .. ........... 103,934 14,448 58,058 43,077
Enterprise Funds:
Off-Track Betting Corporation ............ 825 — — 400
Housing Development Corporation . .. ...... — 206,074 — 149,460
WaterBoard . .. ......... .. ... ... ... 5,846 — 5,149 15,738
Municipal Water Finance Authority . .. ... ... — 21,887 — 184,912
Total interfund receivable
and payable balances . .. .. .. $ 1,028 435 $ 1,028.435 $ 1,220,139 $ 1,229,139

J. SEGMENT INFORMATION FOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Due to their nonhomogeneous nature, the City has presented separate columns for HHC, OTB, the Housing and Economic
Development Funds, and the Water and Sewer System in the Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in
Fund Equity and the Combined Statement of Cash-Flows. The following. segment_information is provided for the assets,
liabilities, and fund equities for HHC, OTB, the Housing and Economic Development Funds, and the Water and Sewer System

at June 30, 1993 and 1992:

1993
Housing and
Health and Off-Track Economic Water and
Hospitals Betting Development Sewer
Corporation_  Corporation Funds System Total
(in thousands)
Assels:
Current . ... $ 717420 $ 16874 $ 750449 $ 388477 § 1,873,220
Mortgage and interest receivable . . . —_ —_ 1,973,910 — 1,973,910
Land ......... ... .. ..... 38,817 —_ — — 38,817
Buildings and leasehold improvements 952,199 17,824 16,396 — 986,419
Equipment .................. 1,862,760 11,469 _ 11,689,567 13,563,796
Less accumulated depreciation . . . . . (1,575,142) (8,318) (4,880) (2,622,666) (4,211,006)
Other .........0.ccoviie.-. 553,672 3,162 22 988 850,898 1,430,720
Totalassets . .............-. §$2549726 § 41011 $ 2,758,863 § 10,306.276 $ 15,655,876
Liabilities:
Cumrent ... ......covivinennn- $ 750659 $ 21983 § 463,113 § 616924 § 1,852,679
Longterm . .................. 655,617 7,659 1,884,548 4,136,203 6,684,027
Total liabilities ............. 1,406,276 29,642 2,347,661 4,753,127 8,536,706
Equity ......... ...t 1,143,450 11,369 411,202 5,553,149 7,119,170
Total labilities and equity ... .. $2549726 §_41011 3 2,758,863 § 10,306276 $ 15,655,876
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1992
Housing and
Health and  Off-Track Economic Water and
Hospitals Betting Development Sewer
Corporation Corporation Funds System Total
(in thousands)
Assets:
Current . . ... $ 838945 §& 21,041 $ 847749 & 559,999 § 2267734
Mortgage and interest receivable ... ... — — 1,948,810 — 1,948,810
Land ....... oot 38,004 — — — 38,004
Buildings and leasehold improvements . . 776.490 14,572 14,896 — 805,958
Equipment ..................... 1,800,635 10,410 — 10,935,835 12,746,880
Less accumnlated depreciation ... .... (1,433,198) (10,108) 4,514) (2,493,419) (3,941,239)
Other ...... .. i 17,127 3,097 23,661 891,810 935,695
Total assets . ................. $ 2038003 $ 39012 $2830602 § 9,894,225 § 14,801,842
Liabilities:
Current . . . oi i $ 646,540 $ 22415 $ 386,953 $ 241,783 § 1,297,691
Longterm ....................- 126,231 7,729 1,989.465 4049421 6,172,846
Total liabilities .. .............. 772,771 30,144 2,376,418 4,291,204 7,470,537
Equity ..o 1,265,232 8,868 454,184 5,603,021 7,331,305
Total liabilities and equity .. ...... $ 2038003 $ 39.012 $ 2,830,602 $_0.894,225 $ 14,801,842

K. NEW YORK CITY HEALTH AND HOSPITALS CORPORATION (HHC)

General

HHC, a public benefit corporation, assumed responsibility for the operation of the City’s municipal bospital system in
1970. HHC s financial staiements include the accounts of HHC and its-wholly-owned subsidiaries, HHC Nurse Referrals, Inc,,
Outpatient Pharmacies, Inc., and HHC Capital Corporation. All significant intercompany accounts and transactjons have been

eliminated.

The City provides funds to HHC for care given to uninsured indigent patients, members of the uniformed services and
prisoners, and for other costs and expenses not covered by other payors. In addition, the City has paid the corporation’s COSts
for settlements of claims for medical malpractice, negligence and other miscellaneous torts and contracts, as well as certain
other corporation costs including interest on capital acquisitions, and on those assets acquired through lease purchase
arrangements. HHC does not reimburse the City for such costs. HHC records both a revenue and an expense in an amount
equal w expenditures made on its bebalf by the City. For fiscal years 1993 and 1992, the City’s cash subsidy was $143
million and $112 million, respectively; the payments made by the City on behalf of HHC were $176 million and $176 million
for fiscal years 1993 and 1992, respectively.

Revenues

Patient service accounts receivable and revenues are reported at estimated collectible amounts. Substantially all direct
patient service revenue is derived from third-party payors. Generally, revenues from these sources are based upon cost
reimbursement principles and are subject to routine audit by applicable payors. HHC records adjustments resulting from audits
and from appeals when the amount is reasonably determinable. Included in other revenues are transfers from donor restricted

funds of $49 million and $41 million in fiscal years 1993 and 1992, respectively.

Fund Accounting

HHC maintains separate accounts in its financial records to assure compliance with specific restrictions imposed by the
City and other grantors or contributors.
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Plant and Equipment

All facilities and equipment are leased from the City at $1 per year. In addition, HHC operates certain facilities which
are financed by the New York State Housing Finance Agency (HFA) and leased to the City on bebalf of HHC. HHC records
as revenue and as expense the interest portion of such lease purchase obligations paid by the City. Because HHC is
responsible for the control and maintenance of all plant and equipment, and because depreciation is a significant cost of
operations, HHC capitalizes plant and equipment at cost or estimated cost based on appraisals. Depreciation is computed for
financial statement purposes using the straight-line method based upon estimated useful lives averaging 10 years. As a result
of modernizing programs and changes in service requirements, HHC has closed certain facilities and portions of facilities
during the past several years. It is the policy of HHC to reflect the financial effect of the closing of facilities or portions
thereof in the financial statements when a decision has been made as to the disposition of such assets. HHC records the cost
of construction that it controls as costs are incurred. Costs associated with facilities constructed by HFA are recorded when
the facilities are placed in service.

Donor Restricted Assets

Contributions which are restricted as to use are recorded as donor restricted funds.

Pensions

Substantially all HHC employees are eligibie to participate in NYCERS (see Note R). The provisions for pension costs
were actuarially determined and amounted 10 $46 million and $50 million for fiscal years 1993 and 1992, respectively. These
amounts were fully funded.

Affiliation Expenses

Affiliation expenses represent contractual expenses incurred by affiliated institutions and charged to HHC for participation
in patient service programs at HHC's facilities.

Debt Service.

In fiscal year 1993, HHC issued Series A revenue bonds in the amount of $550 million. The bonds were issued to fund
HHC's capital program and to refund $19 million of fiscal year 1985 Series A bonds. The loss based upon the defeasance
of these bonds was $1 million and is shown as an extraordinary item.

The following table summarizes future debt service requirements as of June 30, 1993:

Principal Interest Toul
(in thousands)
Fiscal year ending June 30:
1994 . ... ... ..., s .. § 85 $ 23110 § 31,700
1905 . e 9,525 31,083 40,608
1906 . o .. — 30,745 30,745
1007 . it 9,145 30,745 39,890
1908 . .o o 9,530 30,356 39,886
Thereafter until 2023. . .. ... ... ... ... .. 513,210 483,583 996,793
Total future debt
SETVICE FEQUITEMENtS . . .. ..o vooverusnrnenn - $ 550,000 $ 629622 $ 1,179,622

The interest rates on the bonds as of June 30, 1993 range from 3.4% 10 6.3%.
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The following is a summary of revenue bond transactions for HHC for the fiscal years ended June 30, 1992 and 1993:

Balance Balance Balance
June 30, June 30, June 30,
1991 Issued Retired 1992 Issued Retired 1993
(in thousands)
Revenue bonds $35,550 $ — $7.965 $27,585 § 550,000 $27,585 $550,000

Capital Lease Obligations

HHC entered into a long-term agreement which involves the construction of a parking garage at Elmburst Hospital Center.
The future minimum lease payments under the capitalized lease are as follows:

Amount
Fiscal year ending June 30: (in thousands)
1904 e e $ 661
1905 e e e 990
1906 . e e 991
1997 e e e 991
1998 e e 991
Thereafter until 2022 . . . o oo e e 16,485
Future minimum lease payments . .. ......... ..« ocoaaa e 21,109
LSS AMEEIES © & v v oo o e e e e e e e e e 8,339
Present value of future minimum
168SE PAYIENLS . . . o .. oo e e e $ 12,770
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Changes in Fund Equity

Presenied below are the changes in Fund Equity for the fiscal years ended June 30, 1992 and 1993:

Balance, June 30,1991 . ................
Excess of expenses over revenues . ........
Reduction in bonds payable . .. ... ........
Additions to plant and equipment

funded by:

The City of New York . .. ............

HHC ..... .. .. ... . . . ..

Donor restricted fund activity:
Grants and other increases . ...........
Transfers to statement of revenues
and expenses to support related
activiies . .. ...... ... ... ... ...,
Depreciation charged to plant and
equipment leased . .. .......... .. ...
Balance, June 30,1992 . ... ... ... ... .. ..
Excess of expenses over revenues . ........
Increase in bonds payable . .. ............
Increase in capital leases . .. .. ........ ...
Additions to plant and equipment
funded by:
The City of New York . .. ............
HHC . ... ... ... ... .
Donor restricted fund activity:
Grants and otber increases . ...........
Transfers to statement of revenues
and expenses to support related
activiies . .. ........ ... ... ...
Depreciation charged to plant and
equipment leased . . .. ...............
Balance, June 30,1993 ... ..............

Contributed
Unreserved Capital Plant Reserve Total
Retained and for Donor Fund
Earnings Equipment Restrictions Equity
(in thousands)
$ 151.864 $1,076,599 $ 14,509 $ 1,242972
- (167,069) — — (167,069)
(7.965) 7,965 -— —_
—_ 191,743 —_ 191,743
(18.974) 18,974 — —_
— —_ 38,781 38,781
— —_ {41,195) (41,195)
140,935 (140,935) — —
$ 98791 $1,154,346 $ 12,095 § 1,265,232
(289.306) — — (289,306)
519.261 (519,261) —_— —
12.770 (12,770) — —_
_ 169,125 — 169,125
(71.379) 71,379 —_ —
— —_ 47,806 47.806
—_— —_ (49,407) (49,407)
143,801 (143,801) — —
§ 413938 $ 719,018 $ 10,494 $ 1,143,450
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L. NEW YORK CITY OFF-TRACK BETTING CORPORATION (OTB)
General

OTB was established in 1970 as a public benefit corporation to operate a system of off-track betting in the City. OTB
earns: (i) revenues on its betting operations ranging between 17% and 25% of wagers bandled, depending on the type of
wager; (ii) a 5% surcharge and surcharge breakage on pari-mutuel winnings; (iii) a 1% surcharge on multiple, exotic, and
super exotic wagering pools; and (iv) breakage, the revenue resulting from the rounding down-of winning-payoffs. Pursuant
to State law, OTB: (i) distributes various portions of the surcharge and surcharge breakage to other Jocalities in the State; (ii)
allocates various percentages of wagers handled 1o the racing industry; (iii) allocates various percentages of wagers handled
and breakage togetber with all uncashed pari-mutuel tickets to the State; and (iv) allocates the 1% surcharge on exotic
wagering pools for the financing of capital acquisitions. All remaining net revenue is distributable to the City. In addition,
OTB acts as a collection agent for the City with respect w surcharge and surcharge breakage due from other community off-
track betting corporations.

OTB had an operating deficit of $1.1 million after provision for mandatory transfers in fiscal year 1993.
Nei Revenue Retained for Capital Acquisitions

For the years ended June 30, 1993 and 1992, the changes in net revenue retained for capital acquisition were as follows:

1993 1992
(in thousands)

Balance, June 30 . .. ... ... $ 8,868 $ 4528
Capital acquisition surcharge . .......... .........- 4,240 4,660
Depreciation of assets purchased

with funds restricted for capital

ACQUISION . . ... ... e 637 (320)
Balance, June 30 . .. ... ... s $ 12471 $ 8868

Since inception of this surcharge at December 31, 1990, surcharges of approximately $13.4 million have been collected
and approximately $12.8 million has been used to finance leasehold improvements and the acquisition of property and
equipment through June 30, 1993.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is recorded at cost. Depreciaiion and amortization is computed using the straight-line method
based upon estimated useful lives ranging from three to fifteen years. Leasehold improvements are amortized principally over
the term of the lease.

Rental expense for Jeased property for the fiscal years ended June 30, 1993 and 1992 was approximately $11.8 million
and $11.4 million, respectively. As of June 30, 1993, OTB had future minimum rental obligations on noncancelable operating
leases as follows:

Amount
Fiscal year ending June 30: (in thousands)

S Y S $ 10743
L+ O 9,571

L - R 8,790
L7 O R 8,708
L. S R 8,428
Thereafter until 2000 . . . ..ot i i e 18,923
Total future minimum rental obligations. . ................... $ 65163
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Pensions

Substantially all full-time employees of OTB are members of NYCERS (see Note R). The provisions for pension costs
were actuarially determined and amounted to $2.8 million and $3.1 million for fiscal years 1993 and 1992, respectively. These
amounts were fully funded.

M. HoUSING AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ENTERPRISE FUNDS
General

The Housing and Economic Development Enterprise Funds are comprised-of six separate public corporations: the New
York City Housing Development Corporation (HDC), the New York City Industrial Development Agency (IDA), the New-
York City Economic Development Corporation (EDC), the Business Relocation Assistance Corporation (BRAC), the New
York City Rehabilitation Mortgage Insurance Corporation (REMIC) (This entity was dissolved in fiscal year 1993), and the
Brooklyn Navy Yard Development Corporation (BNYDC), the largest of which is HDC.

On January 27, 1993, REMIC was dissolved and transferred cash and cash equivalent assets to the City. Simultaneously
with the transfer of the cash assets, HDC capitalized a new public benefit corporation as one of its subsidiaries, the New York
City Residential Mortgage Insurance Corporation, with an equivalent amount of funds. The new corporation is the successor
to REMIC and assumed all of REMIC's obligations and liabilities and acquired its assets, except for REMIC’s cash and cash
equivalent assets.

BNYDC had deficit retained earnings of $1.0 million and $2.0 million, respectively, for fiscal years 1993 and 1992.
HDC

HDC was established in 1971 to encourage private housing development by providing low interest mortgage loans. The
combined financial statements include the accounts of HDC and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Housing Assistance
Corporation, and Housing New York Corporation. HDC finances multiple dwelling mortgages substantially through issuance
of HDC bonds and notes, and also acts as an intermediary for the sale and refinancing of certain City multiple dwelling
mortgages. HDC has a fiscal year ending October 31.

HDC is authorized to issue bonds and notes for any corporate purpose in a principal amount outstanding, exclusive of
refunding bonds and notes, not to exceed $2.8 billion and certain other limitations.

HDC is supported by service fees, investment income, and interest charged to mortgagors and has been self-sustaining.
Mortgage loans are carried at cost. Mortgage loan interest income, fees, charges, and interest expense are recognized on the
accrual basis. HDC maintains separate funds in its financial records to assure compliance with specific restrictions of its
various bond and note resolutions.

Substantially all HDC employees are eligible to participate in NYCERS (see Note R). The provisions for pension costs
were actuarially computed, determined, and funded by HDC.
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The future debt service requirements on HDC bonds and notes payable at Octobter 31, 1992, its most recent fiscal
year-end, were as follows:
Principal Interest Total
(in thousands)

Fiscal year ending October 31:

1993 . $ 27,882 $ 126,706 $ 154,588
1994 L 30,207 124,726 154,933
1995 32,806 122,590 155,396
1996 . .. ... . 37,130 120,187 157,317
1997 . 40,142 118,449 158,591
Thereafter until 2030 . . ... .............. 1,714,578 2,100,153 3,814,731
Total-future debt
service requirements . ................ $ 1,882,745 $2712,811 $ 4,595,556

The bonds and notes will be repaid from assets and future earnings of the assets. The interest rates on the bonds and notes
as of October 31, 1992 range from 1.0% to 11.125%.

HDC had $264.9 million and $285.6 million, respectively, of general obligation bonds and notes outstanding at
October 31, 1992 and 1991 for which HDC is required to maintain a capital reserve fund equal to one year’s debt service.
State law in effect provides that the City shall make up any deficiency in such fund. There have not been any capital reserve
fund deficiencies.

The following is a summary of bond transactions of HDC for the fiscal years ended October 31, 1991 and 1992

Balance Balance Balance
October 31, October 31, October 31,
1990 __Issved Retired” 1991 __Issued Retired 1992
(in thousands)

General obligation . .. .. $ 288,060 5 — $ 2430 §$ 285630 § — $20,760- $- 264,870
Revenue ............ 1,767,662 160,560 227,684 1,700,538 — 82,663 1,617,875

Total summary of

bond transactions . . .. 521055:722 $160,560 $230.114 $1,986,168 $ — 51031423 512882‘745

N. WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM
General

The Water and Sewer System, consisting of two legally separate and independent entities, the New York City Water
Board (Water Board) and the New York City Municipal Water Finance Authority (Water Authority), was established on
July 1, 1985. The Water and Sewer System provides for water supply and distribution, and sewage collection, treatment, and
disposal for the City. The Water Authority was established to issve debt to finance the cost of capital improvements to the
water distribution and sewage collection system. The Water Board was established to lease the water distribution and sewage
collection system from the City and to establish and collect fees, rates, rents, and other service charges for services furnished
by the system to produce cash sufficient to pay debt service on the Water Authority’s bonds and to place the Water and Sewer
System on a self-sustaining basis.

Under the terms of the Water and Sewer System General Revenue Bond Resolution, which covers all outstanding bonds
of the Water Authority, operations are required to be balanced on a cash basis. At June 30, 1993 and 1992, the Water
Authority has a cumulative deficit of $1,042 million and $701 million, respectively, which is more than offset by a surplus
in the Water Board.
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Financing Agreement

As of July 1, 1985, the City, the Water Board, and the Water Authority entered into a Financing Agreement. The
Agreement, as amended, provides that the Water Authority will 1ssue bonds to finance the cost of capital investment in the
water distribution and sewage collection system serving the City. It also sets forth the funding of the debt service costs of
the Water Authority, operating costs of the water distribution and sewage collection system, and the rental payment to the
City.

Lease Agreement

As of July 1, 1985, the City entered into a long-term lease with the Water Board which transferred all the water and
sewer related real and personal property valued at historical cost, net of depreciation and all work-in-progress, at cost, to the
Water Board for the term of the lease. The City- administers, operates, and maintains the water distribution and. sewage
collection system. The lease provides for payments to the City 10 cover the City’s cost for operation and maintenance, capital
costs not otherwise reimbursed, rent, and for other services provided.

Contributed Capital

City financed additions for the fiscal years ended June 30, 1993 and 1992 amounted to-$64.6 million and $85.5 million;
respectively, and are recorded by the Water Board as contributed capital.

Utility Plant-in-Service

All additions to utility plant-in-service are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed on all utility plant-in-service using
the straight-line method based upon estimated useful lives as follows:

Years
Bulldings . .. ... e 40-50
Water supply and wastewater treatment SYSIEIM . . . .. . .. ... .. e 15-50
Water distribution and sewage collection system . .. ... ... ... ... ... ... ... 15-75
EQUIPIENL . .. ... e 5-35

Depreciation on contributed utility plant-in-service is allocated to contributed capital after the computation of net income.

Debr Service

During fiscal years 1993 and 1992, the Water Authority issued Series A revenue bonds in the aggregate principal amount
of $1,142.6 million and $583.2 million, respectively, which include capital appreciation bonds at the matured value; and Series
B revenue bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $125 million and $332.1 million, respectively; Series C revenue bonds
were issued in the aggregate principal amount of $100 million and $200 million, respectively; and Series D in the aggregate
principal amount of $40 million in fiscal year 1993. During fiscal year 1993, the Water Autbority issued Series A Bond
Anticipation Notes in the aggregate principal amount of $375 million. Outstanding bonds and notes at June 30, 1993 and
1992 total $5.1 billion and $4.3 billion, respectively, which include capital appreciation bonds at their matured value.
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The following table summarizes future debt service requirements as of June 30, 1993:

Principal Interest Total
(in thousands)
Fiscal year ending June 30:
1994 . . $ 458,468 $ 271,148 $ 729616
1995 . e 89,700 257,796 347,496
1996 . . ... e 95,655 252,070 347,725
1997 e 101,926 245,829 347,755
1998 .. e 108,716 239,026 347,742
Thereafterunti} 2022 . .. ... ... ... . ....... 4183486 3,330,871 7,514,357
Total future debt
service requirements. . .......... e $ 5.037.951 $_4,596.740 $ 9,634,691

The interest rates on the outstanding bonds and notes as of June 30, 1993 and 1992 ranged from 2.75% to 8.9% and from
49% to 8.9%, respectively.

The following is a summary of bond and note transactions of the Water Authority for the fiscal years ended June 30, 1992
and 1993:

Balance Balance Balance
June 30, June 30, June 30,
1991 Issued Retired 1992 _ Issued Retired 1993
(in thousands)
Revenue bonds . ...... $3,446,369 $1,115,296 $293,190 $4,268475 $1,407,560 $1,013,084 $4,662,951
Bond anticipation notes . — — — — 375,000 — 375,000

Total summary of bond
and note transactions .  $3.446,369 $1,115296 $293.190 $4,268475 $1,782,560 $1.013,084 $5,037.951

In fiscal year 1987, the Water Authority defeased in substance $162.2 million of revenue bonds. As of June 30, 1993
and 1992, respectively, none of the defeased bonds had been retired from the assets of the escrow account.

In fiscal year 1992, the Water Authority sold $276.9 million aggregate principal amount of revenue bonds to refund
certain revenue bonds of $247.5 million aggregate principal amount issued during fiscal years 1987 and 1988. The proceeds
from the sale, after payment of certain expenses incurred in connection with the issuance and sale of the bonds, bave been
placed in an irrevocable escrow account and invested in U.S. Treasury obligations. As a result of providing for the payment
of the principal, redemption premiums, and interest due on the bonds at various dates from June 15, 2008 through June 15,
2017, the refunded bonds are considered to be defeased, and the Liability has been removed from the Water Authority’s long-
term obligations. Although the refunding transaction resulted in an accounting loss of $26 million which is shown as an
extraordinary item, the refunding transaction will decrease the Water Authority’s aggregate debt service payments by $29.7
million and provide an economic gain of $21.3 million over the life of this issue.

On August 13, 1992, the Water Authority sold fiscal 1993 Series A Water and Sewer System revenue bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of $1.143 billion which include capital appreciation bonds at the matured value, to pay cost of
issuance and to advance refund bonds of $893.4 million aggregate principal amount. The refunding bonds are as follows:
fiscal 1986 Series B bonds maturing on June 15, 2002, fiscal 1988 Series B bonds maturing on June 15, 2009, fiscal 1989
Series A bonds maturing on June 15, 2009, fiscal 1989 Series B bonds maturing on June 15, 2007, fiscal 1991 Series A
bonds maturing on June 15, 2016, and fiscal 1991 Series C bonds maturing on June 15, 2008. Although the refunding
transaction resulted in an accounting loss of $109 miilionr which is shown-as anextraordinary item, the refunding transaction
will decrease the Water Authority’s aggregate debt service payments by $176 million and provide an economic gain of $66.1
million over the life of this issue.
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On October 15, 1992, the Water Authority issued $125 million fixed rate fiscal 1993 Series B revenue term-bonds and
$100 million adjustable rate fiscal 1993 Series C revenue term bonds to finance a capital renovation and improvement program
of the System, to fund certain reserves, and to pay costs of issuance.

On June 14, 1993, the Water Authority issued $40 million of Series D bonds which were repaid by the end of the fiscal
year.

On June 23, 1993, the Water Authority sold fiscal 1993 Senies A Water and Sewer System Bond Anticipation Notes in
the aggregate principal amount of $375 million to finance a capital renovation and improvement program of the system and
to pay costs of issuance.

Restricted Assets

Proceeds from the issuance of debt and funds set aside for the operation and maintenance of the water distribution and
sewage collection system are classified as restricted assets since their use is limited by applicable bond indentures.

Changes in Contributed Capital

Changes in contributed capital for the fiscal years ended June 30, 1993 and 1992 are as follows:

1993 199
(in thousands)
Balance, June 30 . .. ... e $5,239,175 $5,251,968
Plant and eguipment contributed ... ... ..... ... ... L 64,646 85,511
Allocation of depreciation to contributed capital . ......... ... ............. {99,222) (98,304)
Balance, June 30 . ... ... e $5,204,599 $5,239.175

Operating Revenues

Revenues from metered customers, who represent 53% of water customers, are based on billings at rates imposed by the
Water Board that are applied to customers’ consumption of water and include accruals based upon estimated usage not billed
during the fiscal year.

Commitments and Contingencies
Legal

The City is a defendant in a number of lawsuits pertaining to the Water and Sewer System. As of June 30, 1993, claims
in excess of $2.6 billion were outstanding against the City for which the City estimates its potential future liability to be $257
million. This amount is included in the City’s General Long-term Obligations Account Group.

Construction

The Water and Sewer System has contractual commitments of approximately $1.5 billion at June 30, 1993, for water and
sewer projects.

O. EXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS

The New York Police Department maintains the Police Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (POVSF) and the Police
Superior Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (PSOVSF). These Funds operate pursuant to the provisions of Title 13, Chapter
2, of the Administrative Code of The City of New York.

1. POVSEF provides supplemental benefits to retirees who retired for service with 20 or more years as police
officers of the New York Police Department Pension Fund—Subchapter 1 or Subchapter 2, and who retired on or
after October 1, 1968.
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2. PSOVSF provides supplemental benefits to retirees of the uniformed force of the New York Police Deparument
who retired holding the rank of sergeant or higher, or detective, and who retired for service with 20 or more years
of the New York Police Department Pension Fund—Subchapter 1 or Subchapter 2, and who retired on or after
Ociober 1, 1968.

The New York Fire Department maintains the Firefighters’ Variable Supplements Fund (FFVSF) and the Fire Officers’
Variable Supplements Fund (FOVSF). These Funds operate pursuant to the provisions of Title 13, Chapter 3, of the
Administrative Code of The City of New York.

3. FFVSF provides supplemental benefits to retirees who retired for service with 20 or more years as firefighters
of the New York Fire Department Pension Fund—Subchapter 1 or Subchapter 2, and who retired on or after October
1, 1968.

4. FOVSF provides supplemental benefits to retirees of the uniformed force who retired holding the rank of
lieutenant or higher and all pilots and marine engineers (uniformed), and who retired for service with 20 or more
years of the New York Fire Department Pension Fund—Subchapter 1 or Subchapter 2, and who retired on or after
QOctober 1, 1968.

The New York City Employees’ Retirement System (NYCERS) maintains the Transit Police Officers’ Variable
Supplements Fund (TPOVSF), the Transit Police Superior Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (TPSOVSF), the Housing
Police Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (HPOVSF), and the Housing Police Superior Officers’ Variable Supplements
Fund (HPSOVSF). These Funds operate pursuant to the provisions of Title 13, Chapter 1, of the Administrative Code of The
City of New York.

5. TPOVSF provides supplemental benefits 1o retirees. who retired for service with 20 or more years as transit
police officers, and who retired on or after July 1, 1987 Prior to calendar year 2007, when this plan provides for
a guaranteed schedule of defined supplemental benefits, total supplemental benefit payments cannot exceed the assets
of the fund.

6. HPOVSF provides supplemental benefits to retirees, who retired for service with 20 or more years as Housing
Police Officers on or after July 1, 1987. Prior to calendar year 2007, when this plan provides for a guaranteed
schedule of defined supplemental benefits, total supplemental benefits cannot exceed the assets of the fund.

TPSOVSF and HPSOVSF provide supplemental benefits to retirees as designated by their respective Boards of Trustees.
No benefits have yet been authorized. The supplemental benefits of these funds cannot exceed the assets of the funds.

Beginning in fiscal year 1993, the City is reporting POVSF., PSOVSF, FFVSF, FOVSF, TPOVSF, and HPOVSF with
its Pension and Similar Trust Funds for financial reporting purposes only (see Note R), as the supplemental benefits to be
provided to participants of these variable supplements funds (VSF) are based on defined schedules of benefits (with benefits
prior to calendar year 2007 limited to available assets for the TPOVSF and HPOVSF).

For fiscal year 1992, the supplemental benefits payable to the participants of the POVSF, FFVSF, and TPOVSF were
based on a defined schedule of benefits.

The Board of Trustees of the PSOVSF, FOVSF, and HPOVSF determined the benefit payments to provide to participants
of these funds and the supplemental benefits payable from these funds could not exceed their assets in fiscal year 1992.

The Administrative Code provides that the New York Police Department Pension Fund—Subchapter 2 (POLICE), the
New York Fire Department Pension Fund—Subchapter 2 (FIRE), and NYCERS pay to the respective VSF an amount equal
{0 certain excess eamnings on equity investments. The excess earnings are defined as the amount by which earnir.gs on equity
investments exceed what the earnings might have been had such funds been invested in fixed income securities, less any

cumulative deficiencies.
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The excess eamnings payable from NYCERS as of June 30, 1993 to TPSOVSF and HPSOVSF were as follows:

Variable Supplements Funds 1993
(in millions)

TPSOVSFE . ... . e $10.1

HPSOVSF ... . .. i 7.1

Total excess earnings payable . .. ... ..... 17.2

The excess eamings payable from POLICE, FIRE, and NYCERS as of June 30, 1992 to the respective VSF were as
follows:

Variable Supplements Funds 1992
(in millions)

POVSF ... . $ —
PSOVSF . ... ... . 47.1
FFVSF .. 1.7
FOVSF ... i 142
TPOVSF ... .. . o 119
TPSOVSF . ... 44
HPOVSF . ... . i 5.1
HPSOVSF . ... .. .. ... .. ... .... Co 32

Total excess earnings payable . .. ... ... .. $ 876

State legislation effective July 1, 1988 pertaining to the POVSF and the FFVSF provides, among other things, for a fixed
annual supplemental benefit payment and a change in the way excess earnings or losses are computed, affecting the payments
to the funds. The legislation initiates a City-guaranteed payment which is estimated to be offset over time by future excess
earnings from POLICE and FIRE. The actuarial present value of the accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) for these funds
as of June 30, 1992 is as follows:

1992
(in millions)
POVSF ... ... i B $ 5715
FEVSF . e 280.3
Total actuarial present value of ABO .. ... § 8518

Chapter 577 of the Laws of 1992 pertaining to the TPOVSF became effective July 24, 1992, and provides, among other
things, for potential supplemental benefit payments and defines the computation of excess earnings or deficiencies. The
revisions to the TPOVSF initiates a defined schedule of benefit payments beginning calendar year 1992. Prior to calendar year-
2007, this defined schedule of benefits is payable only if there are sufficient assets available in the TPOVSF, or if the City
guarantee comes into effect.

The City guarantee of benefits comes into effect prior to calendar year 2007 if the actarial calculations required by
statute determine that the market value of assets of the TPOVSF exceeds the actuarial present value of the defined schedule
of benefits payable through the-year 2006 plus 15% of the TPOVSEF assets at-that time.

Chapter 577 also provides that whenever the guarantee of the defined schedule of benefits comes into effect, the TPOVSF
will then ransfer 15% of the market value of its assets to the City’s General Fund.
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The ABO of the TPOVSF at June 30, 1992 is as follows:

1992
(in millions)
TPOVSF ... .. $ 241

The more significant assumptions used-in- the June 30, 1992 calculations . of the. ABO. for. the POVSF, FFVSF, and
TPOVSF are as follows:

Assumed rate of return on investments . .. ........ 9.0% per annum for POVSF and FFVSF and 7.0% per
annum for TPOVSF.

Post-retirement mortality . . . .................. Tables based on current experience.

Active service —

Withdrawal, death and disability ... ............ Tables based on current expenience.

Retirement . ..............uie verneeennns Tables based on current experience, varies from earliest
age a member is eligible to retire until age at end of
tables.

Percent of all active pension fund members who will retire

for service with twenty or more years of service as police

officers or firefighters . .. ... ... . ... ........ 57% for POVSF
68% for FFVSF
57% for TPOVSF

Percentage of all active police (fire) superior officers who
will retire for service with twenty or more years of service
as police (fire) superior officers . ... ............ 100%

P. AGENCY FUNDS
Deferred Compensation Plan For Employees of The City of New York and Related Agencies and Instrumentalities (DCP)

The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section
457. DCP is available to certain employees of The City of New York and related agencies and instrumentalities. It permits
them to defer a portion of their salary until future years. The compensation deferred is not available to employees until
termination, retirement, death, or unforeseen emergency (as defined by the Internal Revenue Service).

All amounts of compensation deferred, all property and rights purchased with those amounts, and all income attributable
to those amounts, are (until paid or made available to the employee or beneficiary) solely the property and rights of the City
(without being restricted to the provisions of benefits under DCP), subject to the claims of the City’s general creditors.
Participants’ rights under DCP are equal to the fair market value of the deferred account for each participant.

It is the opinion of the City’s legal counsel that the City has no liability for losses under DCP but does have the duty
of due care that would be required of an ordinary prudent investor. The City believes that it is unlikely that it will use the
assets to satisfy the claims of general creditors in the future.
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Investments are managed by DCP’s trustee under one of four investment options or a combination thereof. The choices
of the investment options are made by the participants.

The following is a summary of the increases and decreases of the fund for the calendar years ended December 31, 1992
and 1991:

1992 1991
(in thousands)
Fund assets, December 31 . . . . ... ... .. $ 563,726 § 382,040
Deferrals Of COMPENSAUON . . . . ..o\ttt e it e e et iae e 164,014 138,318
Earnings and adjustment tomarket value . ............... .. ... ..o 47,063 61,985
Payments to eligible participants and beneficiaries . .. ...... ... .......... .... (21,016) (17,130)
AAMINISTAIVE XPEMSES . - . o o« o v e et eeee et e et e e (2,044) (1,487)
Fund assets, December 31 . . . ... .. ... $- 751,743 §. 563726
Other

Other Agency Funds account for miscellaneous assets held by the City for other funds, governmental units, and
individuals.

Q. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

In accordance with collective bargaining agreements, the City provides Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) which
include basic medical and hospitalization (health care) benefits to eligible retirees and dependents at po cost to 90.9% of the
participants. Basic health care premium costs which are partially paid by the remaining participants vary according to the
terms of their elected plans. To qualify, retirees must: (i) have worked for the City witb at least five years of credited service
as a member of an approved pension system (requirement does not apply if retirement is as a result of accidental disability),
(ii) have been employed by the City or a City related agency prior to retirement; (iii) have worked regularly for at least twenty
hours a week prior to retirement; and (iv) be receiving a pension check from a retirement system maintained by the City or
another system approved by the City. The City’s OPEB expense 1s recorded on a pay-as-you-go basis.

The amounts expended for health care benefits for fiscal years 1993 and 1992 are as follows:

In addition, the City sponsors a supplemental (Superimposed Major Medical) benefit-plan for City managerial employees
to refund medical and hospital bills that are not reimbursed by the regular health insurance carriers.

1993 1992
Active Retired Active Retired
Number of employees ... ......... 331,902 160,627 333,302 156,371
Cost of health care (in thousands) . ...  $958309 $ 325271 $ 899,722 296,169

The amounts expended for supplemental major medical benefits for fiscal years 1993 and 1992 are as follows:

1993 1992
Active Retired Active Retired
Number of claims ............... 16,406 4,534 17,516 4,163
Cost of Superimposed Major Medical
(in thousands) . ........... § 2923 $ 433 $ 3364 420
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R. PENSION AND SIMILAR TRUST FUNDS

Pension Systems

Plan Descriptions

The City sponsors or participales in pension systems providing benefits to its employees. The pension systems function
in accordance with existing State statutes and City laws. Each system combines features of a defined benefit pension plan
with those of a defined contribution pension plan. Contributions are made by the employers and the employees.

The majority of City employees are members of one of the following five major actuarial pension systems:

1. New York City Employees’ Retirement System (NYCERS), a cost-sharing multiple-employer public employee
retirement_ system, for_employees. of the City not covered by one of the other pension systems and employees of
certain component units of the City and certain other government units.

2. New York City Teachers’ Retirement System—~Qualified Pension Plan (TRS), a cost-sharing multiple-employer
public employee retirement system for teachers in the public schools of the City and certain other specified school
and college employees.

3. New York City Board of Education Retirement System—Qualified Pension Plan (BERS), a cost-sharing multiple
employer public employee retirement system, for non-pedagogical employees of the Board of Education and certain
employees of SCA.

4. New York Police Department Pension Fund—Subchapter 2 (POLICE), a single employer public employee
retirement system, for full-time uniformed employees of the Police Department.

5. New York Fire Department Pension Fund—Subchapter 2 (FIRE), a single employer public employee retirement
system, for full-time uniformed employees of the Fire Department.
At June 30, 1993 and 1992, the pension-systems membership consisted of:

1993
NYCERS TRS BERS POLICE FIRE TOTAL

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving

benefits . ............ .. 125462 46379 6181 30342 11,757 220,121
Terminated but not receiving benefits . . . . . 5,191 1,698 96 34 11 7,030
Total retirees, beneficianies, etc. . . . . .. 130,653 48,077 6,277 __ 30376 _ 11,768 227,151

Current employees:

Vested ...... ... 76,400 48438 3,878 4,565 4,265 137,555
Nonvested . .. ..........covueenennn 117,017 39457 20,716 __23.870 7,141 208,201
Total current employees . .......... 193426 87,805 24594 _ 28435 1 1,406 345,756
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1992
NYCERS TRS BERS POLICE FIRE TOTAL

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving

Benefits . . i 122,403 45,662 4484 29,970 11,607 214,126
Terminated but not receiving benefits . . . .. 4,185 1,663 86 52 48 6,034
Toual retirees, beneficiaries, €tc. . . . . .. 126,588 47,325 4,570 30,022 11,655 220,160
Current employees:
VESted . v oo 76,317 46,477 3,248 5,192 4,192 135,426
Nonvested . . . . oo oo oo aia e 117362 38,637 _20358 _22,472 7,266 206,095
Total current employees ... ........ 193,679 85,114 23,606 27,664 11458 341,521

The acwarial pension systems provide pension benefits 10 retired employees based on salary and length of service. In
addition, the actuarial pension systems provide cost-of-living and other supplemental pension benefits 10 certain retirees and
beneficiaries. In the event of disability during employment, participants may receive retirement allowances based on
satisfaction of certain service requirements and other provisions The actuarial pension systems also provide death benefits.

Subject to certain conditions, members become fully vested as to benefits upon the completion of 10 or 15 years of
service. Permanent, full-time employees are generally required Lo become members of the actuarial pension systems upon
employment with the exception of NYCERS. Permanent full-time employees who are eligible to participate in NYCERS are
required to become members within six months of their employment but may elect 10 become members earlier. Other
employees who are eligible to participate in NYCERS may become members at their option. Upon termination of employment
before retirement, certain members are entitled to refunds of thexr own contributions including accumulated interest less any

loans outstanding.

The City's annualized covered and total annualized covered payroll for each actuarial pension system at June 30, 1993
and 1992 are as follows:

1993 1992
City’s Total City’s Total
Annualized Annualized Annpualized Annualized
Covered Covered Covered Covered
Payroll Payroll Payroll Payroll
(in millions)
NYCERS . ... ... ....... $ 3,420 $ 6,366 $ 3,382 $ 6,179
TRS .. 3,062 3,160 2,884 2,989
BERS ...... ... ....... 450 459 424 434
POLICE . ... ........... 1,380 1,380 1,333 1,333
FIRE ................ 602 602 598 598
Total annualized

covered payrolls . ... $ 8914 $11,967 $ 8621 $11,533

The annualized covered payrolls were reduced by excluding all pending withdrawals (five year outs, et al.) In addition,
salaries were increased for some members 0 reflect overtime earnings.

The salary data reported to the Actuary upon which actuarial computations are based generally do not include contractual
salary increases for employees whose unions are still negotiating collective bargaining agreements with their employers.

June 30, 1993 and 1992 salaries were adjusted by the Actuary t0 be consistent with labor settlements that had been
reached and/or estimated to be achieved.

The City’s total payroll for the years ended June 30, 1993 and 1992 were approximately $11.1 billion and $10.6 billion,
respectively.
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Funding Status and Progress

The-amount shown as "pension-benefit obligation” (PBO) is-a standardized disclosure measure.of the present value. of.
pension benefits, adjusted for the effects of projected salary increases and any step rate benefits, estimated to be payable in
the future as a result of employee service-to-date. The measure is the actuarial present value of credited projected benefits,
prorated on service, and is intended to belp users assess the pension systems’ funding status on a going-concern basis, assess
progress made in accumulating sufficient assets to pay benefits when due, and make comparisons among public employee
retirement systems. The measure is independent of the actuarial funding method used to determine contributions to the pension
systems.

An actuarial valuation, including a review of the continued reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions, is performed
annually as of June 30, for each of the five major actuarial pension systems. The latest valuation to determine the PBO was
made as of June 30, 1993,

The more significant assumptions used in the June 30, 1993 and 1992 calculations of PBOs are as follows:

Assumed rate of return on
investments . .................. 9.0% for NYCERS, TRS, and BERS (4.0% per
annum for benefits payable under the variable annuity
programs), and 8.5% for POLICE and FIRE.

Post-retirement mortality . .. ... ....... Tables based on current experience.

Active service withdrawal, death, and

disability . . . ..... ... . Tables based on current experience.

Retirement . ..................... Tables based on current experience, varies from
earliest age a member is eligible to retire until age at
end of ables.

Salary . ..., ... In general, merit and promotion increases plus as-

sumed general wage increase of 5.5% per year.

These actuarial assumptions are the same as those used to determine employer contributions to the actuarial pension
systems.

In particular, the investment return assumptions used for determining employer contributions to the actuarial pension
systems are enacted by the New York State Legislature upon the recommendations of the Boards of Trustees and the Actuary,
and the rates shown are currently in use for determining employer contributions to those actuarial pension systems for fiscal
years 1991 through 1995.

All actuarial assumptions used to determine employer contributions to the actarial pension systems, including the
investment return and general wage increase assumptions, are scheduled for periodic review during fiscal year 1995. These
financial statements present PBOs for the actuarial pension systems based upon the same actuarial assumptions that are used
to determine employer contributions. Of course, PBOs, as well as other figures based upon PBOs (e.g., Funded Ratios), are
highly dependent upon and reflective of the actarial assumptions employed.
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The following is a comparison of the PBO and net assets available for benefits for the five major actuarial pension
systems as of June 30, 1993 and 1992:

1993
PBO

Retirees and

beneficiaries

currenty

receiving PBO Current Employees:

benefits and Accumulated

terminated employee

vested contributions

participants including

not yet allocated Employer- Employer- Net assets Unfunded

receiving investment  financed financed Total available (Overfunded)

benefits income vested nonvested PBO(a) for benefits PBO

(in millions)
NYCERS ...... $11,4370 3 1,600.1 $ 4,1957 $ 32656 $204984 $22,1538 $ (1,655.4)
TRS . ......... 8,477.1 1,657.8 5,207.6 2,390.6 17,733.1- 17,8524 {119:3)
BERS .. ....... 3952 108.6 172.6 1674 843.8 8453 (1.5)
POLICE ... ... 5,544.7 4044 1,205.6 20305 9,185.2 7,966.8 1,2184
FIRE ......... 24233 111.3 907.0 7879 4,229.5 3,186.3 1,043.2
Total ...... $282773 § 38822 §$ 11,6885 $ 86420 $524900 $52,004.6 $ 4854
1992
PBO

Retirees and

beneficiaries

currently

receiving PBO Current Emplovees

benefits and Accumulated

terminated employee

vested contributions

participants including

not yet allocated Employer- Employer- Net assets Unfunded

receiving investment financed financed Total available (Overfunded)

benefits income vested nonvested PBO(a) for benefits PBO

(in milkions)
NYCERS ...... $10,7379 $1,4470 § 43297 $3,1344 §19,649.0 $20,103.7 $ 4547
TRS .......... 8,101.2 1,433.6 4,805.1 22472 16,587.1 16,150.7 436.4
BERS ......... 33138 949 166.0 151.3 7440 740.7 33
POLICE ....... 5,334.1 385.0 1,291.0 1,804.7 8,814.8 7,251.0 1,563.8
FIRE ......... 23394 717 8727 770.7 4,060.5 29383 1,122.2
Total . ...... $268444 334382 $114645 $81083 $49.8554  $47,1844  $2,671.0

(@) The PBO is the actuarial present value of credited projects benefits produced by the credited projected benefit attribution
approach prorated on service as required by GASB Statement No. 5, and should be considered with reference to the

actuarial assumptions used.

The PBO for the active participants is based on current salaries with projected increases to retirement.

Investments in marketable fixed income securities are recorded at cost or amortized cost, plus accrued interest; securities
purchased pursuant to agreements 1o resell are carried at the contract price, exclusive of interest, at which the securities will

be resold; and marketable equity securities are carried at market. Realized gains or losses on sales of securities are based on-
the average cost of securities.
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The market value of net assets available for benefits as of June 30, 1993 and 1992 are as follows:

1993 1992

- (in millions)—
NYCERS ... . . $ 22,8744 $ 20,4547
TRS . 18,218.1 16,3874
BERS . ... 869.9 761.5
POLICE . ... ... . . . . 8,118.6 7,361.7
FIRE . ... . . e 32577 29854

Total market value of net

assets available forbenefits . ................ $ 53,3387 $ 47,9507

The City also has three pension systems closed to active members, whose retirees and beneficiaries are not covered by
any of the five major actuarial pension systems. The PBO for these three pension systems as of June 30, 1993 and 1992 are
approximately $302 million and $346 million, respectively, and exceeded their respective net assets of $13 million and $10
million, by $289 million and $336 million, respectively. These three pension systems are funded by the City on a
pay-as-you-go basis. The City’s contribution to these three pension systems for fiscal years 1993 and 1992 was $67 million
and $71 million, respectively.

The net assets available for benefits shown in the City’s financial statements as of June 30, 1993 and 1992 exclude the
accrued pension contribution of $2.562 billion and $2.627 billion, respectively, for amortization of the two-year payment lag
reported in the General Long-term Obligations Account Group, $112 million and $115 million, respectively, reported in the
Enterprise Funds and $382 million and $391 million, respectively, from other government units. Prior to fiscal year 1981,
pension contributions had been made on a statutory basis which reflected pension costs incurred two years earlier and a
phase-in of certain actuarial assumptions. The City’s liability resulting from the two-year lag was being amortized over 40
years. As of June 30, 1990, legislation changed the amortization period from 40 years to 20 years. The City’s expenditure
for pension costs for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1993, included the third contribution to amortize this liability over the
20-year period.

Contributions Regquired and Contributions Made

The City’s funding policy is to provide for periodic employer contributions at actuarially determined rates that, expressed
as percentages of annualized covered payroll, are designed to accumulate sufficient assets to pay benefits when due.

The actuarial cost method used to determine both the fiscal year 1993 and 1992 pension expense and the employer
contributions to the five major actuarial systems is the Frozen Entry Age actuarial cost method.

Under this method, the excess of the actuarial present value of projected benefits of members of the retirement system
as of the valuation date, over the sum of the actuarial value of assets plus the unfunded actuarial accrued liability, is allocated
on a level basis over the future earnings of members who are on payroll as of the valuation date. Actuarial gains and losses
are reflected in the employer normal contribution rate.

Contributions are accrued by the actuarial pension systems and are funded by the employers on a current basis and
amounted to $1.7 billion and $1.6 billion at June 30, 1993 and 1992, respectively.

Unfunded actuarial accrued liabilities are amortized as follows for June 30, 1993 and 1992:

Unfunded Accrued Liabilities (UAL) and the Balance Sheet Liabilities (BSL) as of June 30, 1990 are being
amortized over 20 years using schedules of payments for the UAL and BSL components combined, comparable
in patiern to the previous schedules of payments for the first five years, with the balances of the UAL and BSL
components at the end of five years being amortized over the remaining 15 years. The BSL components are
being amortized using level payments over 20 years from June 30, 1990.
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Actuarial assumptions used to compute the PBO are the-same as those-used to compute the contribution requirements
for the five major actuarial pension systems.

The City’s expenditures for pension costs, for the fiscal years ended June 30, 1993 and 1992 were approximately $1.5
billion, and were equal to the amounts recommended'by'thefpensrion—systems? Actuary.

The City’s pension contributions including those recommended by the Actuary for the actuarial pension systems for the

fiscal year ended June 30, 1993 were as follows:
Contributions-as a-

percentage of City’s
Contributions for annualized payroll
Amortization Amortization
of actuarial of actuarial
Normal accrued Normal accrued
cost liability Total cost liability
(in millions)
*NYCERS . ... . . $191.1 $125.5 $ 3166 5.6% 3.7%
RS . e 2619 127.8 389.7 86 42
*BERS ... 221 96 31.7 49 21
POLICE ...... ... ¢t 3103 151.8 462.1 225 110
FIRE . . oottt 111.2 126.0 2372 18.5 209
OTHER ... . .. . i N/A N/A 97.1
Total pension contributions . ... ... $1,5344

* NYCERS, TRS, and BERS are cost-sharing multiple-employer public employee retirement systems. The City’s total
actuarial determined contributions as a percent of contributions for all employers to NYCERS, TRS, and BERS were
61.42%, 96.02%, and 97.79%, respectively.

NA: Not Available.

The City's pension contributions including those recommended by the Actuary for the actuarial pension systems for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 1992 were as follows:

Contributions as 2
percentage of City’s
Contributions for snnualized payroll
Amortization Amortization
of actuarial of actuarial
Normal accrued Normal accrued
cost Liability Total cost Liability
(in millions)
*NYCERS . ...t $2170 $1264 § 3434 6.4% 3.7%
ATRS ... e 2330 935 326.5 8.1 32
SBERS ... e 246 9.7 343 58 23
POLICE . ...t 279.8 1524 4322 210 114
FIRE ... oot o ieeeeeanaaaaanns 114.8 126.2 2410 19.2 211
OTHER . ... i iiiae s NA NA 99.6
Total pension contributions . ....... $1,4770

* NYCERS, TRS, and BERS are cost-sharing multiple-employer public employee retirement systems. The City’s total
actuarial determined contributions as a percent of contributions for all employers to NYCERS, TRS, and BERS. were
61.17%, 95.30%, and 97.93%, respectively.

NA: Not Available.
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Included in the above June 30, 1993 and 1992 totals are approximately $40.0 million and $41.1 million, respectively of
payments (net of revenue received from the State as reimbursement) for State employees in the City’s pension systems and
payments made on behalf of certain employees in the New York City Transit Authority and the New York City Housing
Authority. These payments and the related reimbursements are recorded as either expenditures Or revenues in individual
program categories rather than as pension expenditures in the Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
in Fund Balance.

Other pension expenditures represent contributions to other actuarial and pay-as-you-go pension systems for certain
employees, retirees, and beneficiaries not covered by any of the five major actuarial pension Systems. The City also
contributes per diem amounts into certain union-administered annuity funds. Employee contributions- for fiscal vears 1993 and-
1992 amounted to:

1993 1992
Employee Employee
contributions contributions
Employee as a percentage Employee as a percentage
contributions of total contributions of total
(net of loans annualized (net of loans annualized
to members) covered payroll to members) covered payroll
(in thousands)
NYCERS ................ $ 130,993 2.1% $(12,892) —%
TRS .. 69,916 22 69,687 23
BERS ... ... .. ... ... ..., 12,079 26 5,933 14
POLICE ................. (3.647) — 15,226 1.1
FIRE ................... 16,795 2.8 16,302 2.7
Total employee
contributions . . . . ....... $ 22611 36 $ 941256

Trend Information

Trend information for the three fiscal years ended June 30, 1993, 1992, and 1991 is as follows:

1993 1 1991
Net assets available for benefits as a percentage of PBO (a):
NYCERS ... . 108.1% 102.3% 97.3%
TRS ot 100.7 974 95.7
BERS . .. . : 1002 99.6 94.8
POLICE . ... .. i : 86.7 823 79.7
FIRE ... ittt eans : 753 724 68.0
Unfunded (Overfunded) PBO as a percentage of total annualized covered
payroll (a):
NYCERS ... i (26.0)% (14)% 8.5%
TRS . oottt e (3.8) 146 216
BERS ..t e e 3) 08 82
POLICE ... oottt s tnaneaian s 883 1174 130.1
2114 ST 173.2 187.6 2100

B-53



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

Employer contributions (all made in accordance with actuarial
determined requirements) as a percentage of total annualized
covered payroll:

3 1R 19
NYCERS ... e e . 7.1% 8.7% 10.1%
TR . e . 12.8 113 119
BERS . .. e e . 6.9 79 8.0
POLICE ... ..ttt e i e i e . 325 316 336
FIRE ... .. i e et e e . 38.1 395 422

(a) The PBO is the actuarial present value of credited projected benefits produced by the credited projected benefit-attribution-
approach prorated on service as required by GASB Statement No. S, and should be considered with reference to the
actuarial assumptions used.

Ten-year historical trend information is presented in the pension systems’ separately issued publicly available financial
statements. The information is presented to enable the reader to assess the progress made by the pension systems in
accumulating sufficient assets to pay pension benefits as they become due. Selected ten-year historical trend information on
the actuarial pension systems is also presented in the statistical section of the City's Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.

The trend information included in Note R and the statistical section of the City’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report’
differs from the trend information for those years shown in the pension systems financial statements. The trend information
for net assets shown in the City’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report excludes the long-term Employer Contribution
Receivable. As a resull, the net assets available for pension benefits as a percentage of PBO as of June 30, 1993 in the-
pension systems financial statements for NYCERS, TRS, BERS. POLICE, and FIRE are 113.5%, 106.0%, 104.8%, 92.3%,
and 86.0%, respectively.

Similar Trust Funds

Fund Descriptions

Per enabling State legislation, certain retirees of POLICE, FIRE, and NYCERS are eligible to receive fixed supplemental
benefits from certain variable supplements funds (VSF).

Beginning in fiscal year 1993, the City is including these Funds with its Pension and Similar Trust Funds for financial
reporting purposes only. Prior to fiscal year 1993, these Funds were reported as Expendable Trust Funds (see Note O). Under
current law, these Funds are not to be construed as constituting pension or retirement system funds. Instead, they provide
defined supplemental payments, other than pension or re irement system allowances, in accordance with applicable statutory
provisions. While these payments are guaranteed by the City, the Legislature has reserved to itself and the State of New York
the right and power to amend, modify or repeal the VSFs and the payments they provide.

The cumulative effect of this reclassification of $102.7 million resulted from changing the carrying basis of the Funds’
marketable equity securities from the cost basis 10 the market value basis.

The New York Police Department maintains the Police Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (POVSF) and the Police
Superior Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (PSOVSF). These Funds operate pursuant to the provisions. of Tite 13,
Chapter 2, of the Administrative Code of The City of New York.

1. POVSF provides supplemental benefits to retirees who retired for service with 20 or more years as police officers
of the New York Police Department Pension Fund—Subchapter 1 or Subchapter 2, and who retired on or after
October 1, 1968.

2. PSOVSF provides supplemental benefits to retirees of the uniformed force of the New York Police Department
who retired holding the rank of sergeant or higher, or detective, and who retired for service with 20 or more years
of the New York Police Department Pension Fund—Subchapter 1 or Subchapter 2, and who retired on or after
October 1, 1968.
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The New York Fire Department maintains the Firefighters' Variable Supplements Fund (FFVSF) and the Fire Officers’
Variable Supplements Fund (FOVSF). These Funds operate pursuant to the provisions of Tide 13, Chapter 3, of the
Administrative Code of The City of New York.

3. FFVSF provides supplemental benefits to retirees who retired for service with 20 or more years as firefighters
of the New York Fire Department Pension Fund—Subchapter 1 or Subchapter 2, and who retired on or after October
1, 1968.

4. FOVSF provides supplemental benefits to retirees of the uniformed force who retired bolding the rank of
lieutenant or higher and all pilots and marine engineers (uniformed), and who retired for service with 20 or more
years of the New York Fire Department Pension Fund—Subchapter 1 or Subchapter 2, and who retired on or after
October 1, 1968.

The New York City Employees’ Retirement System (NYCERS) maintains the Transit Police Officers’ Variable
Supplements Fund (TPOVSF) and the Housing Police Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (HPOVSF). These Funds operate
pursuant to the provisions of Title 13, Chapter 1, of the Administrative Code of The City of New York.

5. TPOVSF provides supplemental benefits to retirees, who retired for service with 20 or more years as transit police
officers, and who retired on or after July 1, 1987. Prior to calendar year 2007, when this plan provides for a
guaranteed schedule of defined supplemental benefit payments, total supplemental benefits cannot exceed the assets
of the fund.

6. HPOVSF provides supplemental benefits to retirees, who retired for service with 20 or more years as bousing
police officers, and who retired on or after July 1, 1987. Prior to calendar year 2007, when this plan provides for
a guaranieed schedule of defined supplemental benefits, total supplemental benefits cannot exceed the assets of the
fund.

At June 30, 1993, membership in the defined benefit VSF consisted of:

1993

POVSF PSOVSF FFVSF FOVSF TPOVSF HPOVSF TOTAL

Retirees currently receiving benefits . . 7,809 6,598 3,374 1,536 311 186 19,814

Terminated but not receiving benefits . — — — — — — —

Total retirees, €tc. . .. .......... 7,809 6,508 3,374 1,536 311 186 19.814
Current employees:

vested . ... 925 2,986 1,449 1,638 139 72 7,209

Nonvested .................... 18,483 5,772 7,347 907 3,132 1,572 37,213

Total current employees ... ... .. 19.408 8,758 8,796 2,545 3,271 1,644 44422

Funding Status and Progress

A calculation is performed annually as of June 30, by the actuary for certain VSFs. The latest calculation to determine
the present value of the accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) was made as of June 30, 1993.

The more significant assumptions used in the June 30, 1993 calculations of the ABO:s for the VSFs are as follows:

Assumed rate of return on
INVESHMENTS . . ... ..o ovueccrnnnannannns 8.5% per annum for POVSF, PSOVSF, FFVSF, and FOVSF

and 6.5% per annum for TPOVSF and HPOVSF.

Post-retirement mortality . ................ Tables based on current experience.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

Active service withdrawal, death and
disability ............. ... ... Tables based on current experience.

Retirement . ............... ... ... Tables based on current experience, varies from earliest age a
member is eligible to retire until age at end of tables.

Percent of all active pension fund members who will
retire for service with twenty or more years of
service as police officers or firefighters ... .. .. 50% for POVSF & PSOVSF
68% for FFVSF & FOVSF
60% for TPOVSF
50% for HPOVSF
Percentage of all active police (fire) superior
officers who will retire for service with twenty
or more years of service as police (fire) superior
OffICETS .« o o oo ot e e 100%

The following is a comparison of the ABO and net assets available for supplemental benefits for the VSF’s as of June
30, 1993:

1993

ABO

Retirees

currently

receiving ABO Current Employees

benefits and  Accumulated

terminated-  employee

vested contributions

participants  including Net assets

pot yet allocated Employer- Employer- available for

receiving investment financed financed Total supplemental Unfunded

benefits income vested nonvested ABO(a) benefits ABO

(in millions)
POVSF.... § 5241 § — $ NA $§ 790 §$ 6031 3 5899 $ 132
PSOVSF . .. 4523 — N/A 2065 658.8 440.9(b) 2179
FFVSF . ... 2259 — N/A 777 303.6 2923 113
FOVSF . . .. 925 — N/A 819 1744 125.4(b) 490
TPOVSF . .. 319 — N/A 266 58.5(c) 40.2 183
HPOVSF .. 19.2 — N/A 103 29.5(c) 183 11.2
Total .... $13459 § — $ NJA § 4820 § 18279 $ 15070 $ 3209

N/A = Not Applicable

(A) Total ABO have been reduced by accrued benefits payable. This basis of reporting the total ABO is consistent with that
used 1o report net assets available for supplemental benefits in these financial statements, but may differ from the bases
used for other purposes.

®) Includes $51.75 million and $14.385 million for the PSOVSF and FOVSF, respectively, which are transferable to the
City’s General Fund during fiscal year 1994.

«© Includes ABO for benefits payable prior 10 calendar year 2007 that are not yet guaranteed.

For these defined benefit VSFs, the ABO is the actuarial present value of credited projected benefits produced by the
credited projected benefit attribution approach prorated on service as required by GASB Statement No. 5.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

For the above, investments in marketable fixed income securities are recorded at cost or amortized cost, plus accrued
interest; securities purchased pursuant to agreements to resell are carried at the contract price, exclusive of interest, at which
the securities will be resold; and marketable equity securities are carried at market. Realized gains or losses on sales of
securities are based on the average cost of securities.

The market value of net assets available for supplemental benefits for the defined benefit VSFs as of June 30, 1993 are
as follows:

1993
(in millions)
POVSF .. e $ 6059
PSOVSF . 4475
FEVSFE . 2994
FOVSE . e 127.8
TPOVSF . . e 40.3
HPOVSF . . i 18.4
Total market value of net assets
available for supplemental
benefits .. ......... .. ... ... $ 11539.3

As a result of labor negotiations, legislation effective July 1, 1988 pertaining to the POVSF and the FFVSF provides,
among other things, for a fixed annual supplemental benefit payment and a change in the way excess earnings or losses are
computed. Consequently, the payments to-the funds are-affected The-revisions-to-these VSFs.initiated-a City. guaranteed
defined schedule of benefit payments which is estimated to be offset over time by future excess eamnings from POLICE and
FIRE.

As a result of labor negotiations, Chapter 577 of the Laws of 1992 (Chapter 577/92) effective July 24, 1992 pertaining
to the TPOVSF, provides, among other things, changes to the way excess eamings or deficiencies are computed and for
potential supplemental benefit payments to transit police officers of the New York City Transit Police Department who retire
for service as transit police officers on and after July 1, 1987. The revisions 1o the TPOVSF initiated a defined schedule of
benefit payments beginning calendar year 1992. Prior to calendar year 2007, this defined schedule of benefits is payable only
if there are sufficient assets available in the TPOVSF, or if the City guarantee comes into effect. The City guarantee of
benefits comes into effect prior to calendar year 2007 if the actuanial calculations required by statute determine that the market
value of assets of the TPOVSF exceeds the actuarial present value of the defined schedule of benefits payable through
calendar year 2006 plus 15% of the assets of the TPOVSF at that time. Chapter 577/92 also provides that whenever the
guarantee of the defined schedule of benefits comes into effect, the TPOVSF will then transfer 15% of the market value of
its assets to the City’s General Fund.

As a resuli of labor negotiations, legislation enacted July, 1993 pertaining io the PSOVSF and FOVSF provides, among
other things, for a defined schedule of benefit payments and a-change-in-the way excess earnings or losses are compuied.
Consequently, the payments to the funds will be affected. The revisions to these VSFs will initiate a City guaranteed payment
which are estimated 1o be offset over time by future excess earnings from POLICE and FIRE.

As a result of labor negotiations, Chapter 375 of the Laws of 1993 (Chapter 375/93) effective July 24, 1993 pertaining
to the HPOVSF, provides, among other things, changes to the way excess earnings or deficiencies are computed, and for
potential supplemental benefit payments to housing police officers of the New York City Housing Authority Police
Department who retire for service as housing police officers on afier July 1, 1987.

The revisions to the HPOVSF initiate a defined schedule of benefit payments beginning calendar year 1992. Prior to
calendar year 2007, this defined schedule of benefits is payable only if there are sufficient assets available in the HPOVSF,
or if the City guarantee comes into effect. The City guarantee of benefits comes into effect prior to calendar year 2007 if the
actuarial calculations required by statute determine that the market value of assets of the HPOVSF exceeds the actuarial
present value of the defined schedule of benefits payable through the calendar year 2006 plus 15% of the assets of the
HPOVSF at that time. Chapter 375/93 also provides that whenever the guarantee of the defined schedule of benefits comes
into effect, the HPOVSF will then transfer 15% of the inarket value of its assets to the City’s General Fund.
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The excess earnings payable from NYCERS as of June 30, 1993 and 1992 to the TPSOVSF and HPSOVSF are shown
in Notz O.

Contributions Required and Contributions Made

The Administrative Code provides that POLICE, FIRE, and NYCERS pay to the respective VSF an amount equal to
certain excess earnings on equity investments limited to the unfunded ABO for each VSF. The excess earnings are defmed
as the amount by which earnings on equity investments exceed what the eamings would have been had such funds been
invested in fixed income securities, less any cumulative deficiencies.

The excess earnings payable from POLICE, FIRE, and NYCERS to the defined benefit VSF as of June 30, 1993 are as
follows:

Excess Earnings
Payable as of
Variable Supplements Funds June 30, 1993
(in millions)
POVSF . .. .. . 3 —_
PSOVSF ... .. ... .. .. ... 1114
FFVSF .. ... . 862
FOVSF . .. ... ... 339
TPOVSF . .. ... 243
HPOVSF ............ e 10.7
Total excess earnings payable . . . §$ 2665

Trend Information

Since this is the first year the VSF are being reported with the Pension and Similar Trust Funds, including the required
foomote disclosures, trend information prior to fiscal year 1993 is unavailable.

Trend information for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1993 1s as follows:

1%
Net assets available for supplemental benefits as a percentage of ABO (a):

POVSE . o e 97.8%

PSOVSE . o e e 66.9

FEVSE . ottt e e e 96.3

FOVSFE ..ttt e iiane e iaannaees 719

TPOVSE . oot et 68.7

BPOVSE . vttt it ceaiaaaanaasanns 620
(a) The ABO is the actuarial present value of credited projected benefits produced by the

credited projected benefit attribution approach prorated on service as required by GASB
Statement No. 5.

The ratios shown here are based on figures presented in a table earlier in these financial statements and should be
considered with reference to the footnotes of that table.
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S. CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS

At June 30, 1993, the outstanding contract commitments relating to projects of the Capital Projects Fund amounted to
approximately $6.3 billion.

Capital Requirements
To address the need for significant infrastructure and public facility capital investments, the City has prepared a ten-year
capital spending program which contemplates expenditures of $51.6 billion over fiscal years 1994 through 2003. To belp meet

its capital spending program, the City borrowed $1.9 billion in the public credit market in fiscal year 1993. The City plans
to borrow $3.1 billion in the public credit market in fiscal year 1994.
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BONDS TO BE REFUNDED

APPENDIX C

The City expects to refund City bonds through issuance by the City of its Fiscal 1994 Series D Bonds by
providing for the payment of the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on such bonds to the

payment dates set forth below. The refunding is contingent upon delivery of the Bonds.

The bonds to be refunded are being refunded in whole or in part as indicated in the notes.

Series
1986C
1986D

1987B

1987D

1988A

1989A

1989B
1989E

Dated Date
March 1, 1986

June 15, 1986
June 15, 1986
June 15, 1986
June 15, 1986
June 15, 1986
June 15, 1986
June 15, 1986
June 15, 1986
June 15, 1986
June 15, 1986
June 15, 1986
June 15, 1986
June 15, 1986
June 15, 1986

August 15, 1986
August 15, 1986
August 15, 1986

May 15, 1987
May 15, 1987
May 15, 1987
May 15, 1987

November 12, 1987
November 12, 1987
November 12, 1987
November 12, 1987

August 25, 1988
August 25, 1988
August 25, 1988
August 25, 1988
August 25, 1988
August 25, 1988

December 15, 1988
June 14, 1989

Tax-Exempt Maturities
Being Refunded

September 1, 2010

August 1, 2003
August 1, 2004
August 1, 2005
August 1, 2006
August 1, 2007
August 1, 2008
August 1, 2009
August 1, 2010
August 1, 2011
August 1, 2012
August 1, 2013
August 1, 2014
August 1, 2015
August 1, 2016

August 15, 2014
August 15, 2015
August 15; 2016

August 1, 2007
August 1, 2008
August 1, 2009
August 1, 2010

November 1, 1996

November 1, 1997

November 1, 1998
November 1, 1999

August 15, 2006
August 15, 2007
August 15, 2008
August 15, 2009
August 15, 2010
August 15, 2011

December 1, 1993
December 1, 1993

C1

Payment Date
March 1, 1996

August 1, 1996
August 1, 1996
August 1, 1996
August 1, 1996
August 1, 1996
August 1, 1996
August 1, 1996
August 1, 1996
August 1, 1996
August 1, 1996
August 1, 1996
August 1, 1996
August 1, 1996,
August 1, 1996

August 15, 1996
August 15, 1996
August 15, 1996

August 1, 1997
August 1, 1997
August 1, 1997
August 1, 1997

November 1, 1996
November I, 1997
November 1, 1998
November 1, 1999

August 15, 1996
August 15, 1996
August 15, 1996
August 15, 1996
August 15, 1996
August 15, 1996

December 1, 1993
December 1, 1993

Amount
Being
Refunded

$16,045,000(1)

$20,120,000(3)
20,120,000(3)
160,000(3).
160,000(3)
160,000(3)
160,000(3)
160,000(3)
160,000(3)
160,000(3)
160,000(3)
160,000(3)
160,000(3)
160,000(3)
160,000(3)

$11,700,000(1)
11,700,000(1)
11,700,000(1)-

$18,235,000(3)
18,235,000(3)
6,175,000(3)
6,175,000(3)

$ 9,610,000(3)
23,500,000(3)
24,400,000(3)
25,250,000(3)

$ 8,590,000(1)
12,870,000(1)
12,870,000(1)
6,500,000(1)
6,500,000(1)
6,500,000(1)

$25,125,000(1)
$10,250,000(3)

(continued on next page)
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Series

1991A

1991B

1991D

1991F

1992C-2
1992D

Dated Date

September 26, 1990
September 26, 1990
September 26, 1990
September 26, 1990
September 26, 1990

December 20, 1990
December 20, 1990

February 1, 1991
February 1, 1991
February 1, 1991

May 15, 1991
January 7, 1992
February 1, 1992

(1) All of the bonds of this description are being refunded.

Tax-Exempt Maturities

Being Refunded

March 15, 1995
March 15, 2014
March 15, 2015
March 15, 2016
March 15, 2017

June 1, 1994
June 1, 1995

August 1, 1995
August 1, 2016
August 1, 2017

November 15. 1995

August 1, 1994

February 1, 1997

Payment Date

March 15, 1995
March 15, 2000
March 15, 2000
March 15, 2000
March 15, 2000

June 1, 1994
June 1, 1995

August 1, 1995
August 1, 2001
August 1, 2001

November 15, 1995

January 1, 1994

February 1, 1997

Amount
Being
Refunded

$48,000,000(1)
14,650,000(3)
20,500,000(2)
35,290,000(2)
23,500,000(3)

$22,000,000(4)
11,500,000(3)

$ 2,000,000(3)
20,000,000(3)
34,590,000(3)

$20,700,000(3)
$ 8,000,000(3)
$12,890,000(5)

(2) All of the bonds of this description are being refunded, except for those that have previously been

refunded.
(3) A portion of the bonds of this description is being refunded.

(4) All of the 6% fixed rate current interest bonds backed by a Standby Bond Purchase Agreement provided
by Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York of this description are being refunded, except for
those that have previously been refunded.

(5) A portion of the 6.80% fixed rate current interest bonds of this description is being refunded.
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APPENDIX D

555 CALIFORNIA STREET B ROWN & WO OoOD 815 CONNECTICUT AVENUE, N.W.

SAN FRANCISCO, CA, 94104-1715 WASHINGTON, D.C. 200086-4004

TELEPHONE: 415-398-3809
FACSIMILE: 415-397-462]

TELEPHONE: 202-223-0220-
ONE WoORLD TrRAaDE CENTER FACSIMILE: 202-223-048%
New York, N.Y. 10048-0557
172 WEST. STATE. STREET
TRENTON, N.J. o8608-1104
TELEPHONE: 609-393-0303
FACSIMILE: 609-393-19%90

10900 WILSHIRE BOULEVARD
LOS ANGELES, CA. 90024-3959 TELEPHONE 212-839-5300
TELEFHONE: 310-443-0200 FACSIMILE: 212-839-5599
FACSIMILE: 310-208-5740

BLACKWELL HOUSE
GUILDHALL YARD
LONDON EC2V 5AB
TELEPHONE: O71-806-i8886"
FACSIMILE: O71-796-1807

SHIROYAMA JT MORI BUILDING, ISTH FLOOR
3-1, TORANOMON 4-CHOME, MINATO-KU
TOKYO 105, JAPAN
TELEPHONE: O3-5472-5360
FACSIMILE: 03-5472-5058

November 30, 1993

HONORABLE ELIZABETH HOLTZMAN
Comptroller

The City of New York

Municipal Building

New York, New York 10007

Dear Comptroller Holtzman:

We have acted as bond counsel in connection with the issuance on this date by The City of New York
(the “City”), a municipal corporation of the State of New York (the “State”), of $674,345,000 General
Obligation Bonds, Fiscal 1994 Series D (the “Bonds”).

The Bonds are issued pursuant to the provisions of the Constitution of the State, the Local Finance Law
of the State, and the Charter of the City, and in accordance with a certificate (the “Certificate”) of the
Deputy Comptroller for Finance of the City dated the date hereof.

Based on our examination of existing law, such legal proceedings and such other documents as we deem
necessary to render this opinion, we are of the opinion that:

1. The Bonds have been duly authorized, executed and issued in accordance with the Constitution
and statutes of the State and the Charter of the City and constitute valid and legally binding obligations
of the City for the payment of which the City has validly pledged its faith and credit, and all real property
within the City subject to taxation by the City is subject to the levy by the City of ad valorem taxes,
without limit as to rate or amount, for payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds.

2. Interest on the Bonds is exempt from personal income taxes imposed by the State or any
political subdivision thereof, including the City.

3. Except as provided in the following sentence, interest on the Bonds is not includable in the gross
income of the owners of the Bonds for purposes of Federal income taxation under existing law. Interest
on the Bonds will be includable in the gross income of the owners thereof retroactive to the date of issue
of the Bonds in the event of a failure by the City to comply with the applicable requirements of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™), and the covenants regarding use, expendi-
ture and investment of bond proceeds and the timely payment of certain investment earnings to the
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United States Treasury; and we render no opinion as to the exclusion from gross income of interest on
the Bonds for Federal income tax purposes on or after the date on which any action is taken under the
Certificate upon the approval of counsel other than ourselves.

4. Interest on the Bonds is not a specific preference item for purposes of the Federal individual or
corporate alternative minimum tax. The Code contains other provisions that could result in tax conse-
quences, upon which we render no opinion, as a result of ownership of such Bonds or the inclusion in
certain computations (including without limitation those related to the corporate alternative minimum
tax and environmental tax) of interest that is excluded from gross income.

5. The difference between the principal amount payable at maturity of the Bonds that mature in
1996, 1998, 2000 (Bonds bearing interest at 5%), 2001 (Bonds bearing interest at 5.20%), 2002 and
thereafter and the initial offering price of such Bonds to the public, represents original issue discount
which is excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes to the same extent as interest on
the Bonds. The Code further provides that such original issue discount excluded as interest accrues in
accordance with a constant interest method based n the compounding of interest, and that a holder’s
adjusted basis for purposes of determining a holde:’s gain or loss on disposition of such Bonds will be
increased by the amount of such accrued intercst.

The opinions expressed herein are based on an analysis of existing laws, regulations, rulings and
court decisions. Such opinions may be adversely affectcd by actions taken or events occurring, including
a change in law, regulation or ruling (or in the application or official interpretation of any law,
regulation or ruling) after the date hereof. We have not undertaken to determine, or to inform any
person, whether such actions are taken or such cvents occur and we have no obligation to update this
opinion in light of such actions or events,

The rights of the owners of the Bonds and the ¢nforceability thercof may be subject to bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights heretofore or
hereafter enacted, to the extent constitutionally applicable, and the enforcement of related contractual
and statutory covenants of the City and the State may also be subject to the exercise of the State’s police
powers and of judicial discretion in appropriate cases.

Very truly yours,
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HoONORABLE ELIZABETH HOLTZMAN

Comptroller
The City of New York
Municipal Building

New York, New York 10007

Dear Comptroller Holtzman:

1114 AVENUE OF THE AMERICAS

161H + LOOR
NEW YORK, NEW YORK 10036

{212) 944-1095 FAaX {212} 944-9212

FLORIDA OFFICE
155 SOUTH MIAM! AVENUE
PENTHOUSE 1
MIAMI, T ORIDA 33130
(305) 3508-3344
FAX: (305) 5639-8733

TEXAS OFFICE
1300 MAIN STREET, SUITE 600
HOUSTON, TEXAS 77002
(713) 739-9522
FAX: {213) 655 9545

100 RENAISSANCE CENTLH
SWITE 1850
DETRONT, MICHIGAN 49434
{313) 259-6344
FAX i313) 204 HY /6

NEW HRSEY OkRICE
1 RIVERERONT PLAZA  LTH FLOOR

NEWARK, NEW IERSEY 02102
{200 5722 700
FAX (2007 K22 1000

November 30, 1993

We have acted as bond counsel in connection with the issuance on this date by The City of New York
(the “City”), a municipal corporation of the State of New York (the “State”), of $674;345;000 General
Obligation Bonds, Fiscal 1994 Series D (the “Bonds™).

The Bonds are issued pursuant to the provisions of the Constitution of the State, the Local Finance Law
of the State, and the Charter of the City, and in accordance with a certificate (the “Certificate™) of the
Deputy Comptroller for Finance of the City dated the date hereof.

Based on our examination of existing law, such legal proceedings and such other documents as we deem
necessary to-render this opinion; we-are of the opinion that:

1. The Bonds have been duly authorized, exccuted and issued in accordance with the Coustitution

and statutes of the State and the Charter of the City and constitute valid and legally binding obligations
of the City for the payment of which the City has validly pledged its faith and credit, and all real property
within the City subject to taxation by the City is subject to the levy by the City of ad valorem taxes,
without limit as to rate or amount, for payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds.

2. Interest on the Bonds is exempt from personal income taxes imposed by the State or any
political subdivision thereof, including the City.

3. Except as provided in the following sentence. interest on the Bonds is not includable in the gross
income of the owners of the Bonds for purposes of Federal income taxation under existing law. Interest
on the Bonds will be includable in the gross income of the owners thereof retroactive to the date of issue
of the Bonds in the event of a failure by the City 10 comply with the applicable requirements of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™), and the covenants regarding use, expendi-
ture and investment of bond proceeds and the timely payment of certain investment earnings to the
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United States Treasury; and we render no opinion as to the exclusion from gross income of interest on
the Bonds for Federal income tax purposes on or after the date on which any action is taken under the
Certificate upon the approval of counsel other than ourselves.

4. Interest on the Bonds is not a specific preference item for purposes of the Federal individual or-
corporate alternative minimum tax. The Code contains other provisions that could result in tax conse-
quences, upon which we render no opinion, as a result of ownership of such Bonds or the inclusion in
certain computations (including without limitation those related to the corporate alternative minimum
tax and environmental tax) of interest that is excluded from gross income.

5. The difference between the principal amount payable at maturity of the Bonds that mature in
1996, 1998, 2000 (Bonds bearing interest at 5%), 2001 (Bonds bearing interest at 5.20%), 2002 and
thereafter and the initial offering price of such Bonds to the public, represents original issue discount
which is excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes to the same extent as interest on
the Bonds. The Code further provides that such original issue discount excluded as interest accrues in
accordance with a constant interest method based on the compounding of interest, and that a holder’s
adjusted basis for purposes of determining a holder’s gain or loss on disposition of such Bonds will be
increased by the amount of such accrued interest.

The opinions expressed herein are based on an analysis of existing laws, regulations, rulings and
court decisions. Such opinions may be adversely affected by actions taken or events occurring, including
a change in law, regulation or ruling (or in the application or official interpretation of any law,
regulation or ruling) after the date hereof. We have not undertaken to determine, or to inform any
person, whether such actions are taken or such events occur and we have no obligation to update this
opinion in light of such actions or events.

The rights of the owners of the Bonds and the enforceability thereof may be subject to bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other sumilar laws affecting creditors’ rights heretofore or
hereafter enacted, to the extent constitutionally applicable, and the enforcement of related contractual
and statutory covenants of the City and the State may also be subject to the exercise of the State’s police
powers and of judicial discretion in appropriate cases.

Very truly yours,
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believes: (1) has the knowledge and expertise necessary to evaluate the merits and risks of the investment; and (2) is
not purchasing for more than one account, with a view toward distributing the securities
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17. MSRB rule G-34 requires that CUSIP numbers be assigned to each new issue of municipal securities unless the issue is
ineligible for CUSIP number assignment under the eligibility criteria of the CUSIP Service Bureau.

O Check here if the issue is ineligible for CUSIP number assignment.

State the reason why the issue is ineligible for CUSIP number assignment:

18. Submlt two coples of the completed form along wi

th two copies of the official statement to Municipal Securities Rulemaking '
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